

Postoperative care: From pain management to delirium

Edited by Zhongheng Zhang

Published in Frontiers in Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2868-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2868-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Postoperative care: From pain management to delirium

Topic editor

Zhongheng Zhang — Department of Emergency Medicine, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

Citation

Zhang, Z., ed. (2023). *Postoperative care: From pain management to delirium*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2868-6

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: Postoperative care: from pain management to delirium

Zhongheng Zhang

07 Dexmedetomidine Combined With Butorphanol or Sufentanil for the Prevention of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Microvascular Decompression: A Randomized Controlled Trial

> Guangjun Xu, Jing Zhao, Zunyuan Liu, Guoying Liu, Lei Liu, Chunguang Ren and Yanchao Liu

- 17 A Weak Response to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Is Associated With Postoperative Organ Failure in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery With Cardiopulmonary Bypass Thomas Clavier, Zoé Demailly, Xavier Semaille, Caroline Thill, Jean Selim, Benoit Veber, Fabien Doguet, Vincent Richard, Emmanuel Besnier and Fabienne Tamion
- 27 Association of Nutritional Risk Index With Postoperative Pain Outcomes in Elderly Patients Undergoing Gastrointestinal Surgeries: A Retrospective Cohort Study Hua Zheng, Guangyou Duan, Shiqian Shen and Xianwei Zhang

35 Clonidine as an Additive to Local Anesthetics in Caudal Block for Postoperative Analgesia in Pediatric Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

> Ye Wang, Qianqian Guo, Qi An, Lin Zhao, Meng Wu, Zhenggang Guo and Changsheng Zhang

50 The Optimal Dose of Intraoperative Dexmedetomidine for Antiemetic Effects of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Elective Thoracic Surgery: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Bing Li, Ying Zhao, Xinmin Liu, Yao Liu, Jiaqiang Zhang and Wei Zhang

58 Transcutaneous Electrical Acupoint Stimulation Combined With Auricular Acupressure Reduces Postoperative Delirium Among Elderly Patients Following Major Abdominal Surgery: A Randomized Clinical Trial

Qianqian Fan, Chong Lei, Yonghui Wang, Nannan Yu, Lini Wang, Jingwen Fu, Hailong Dong, Zhihong Lu and Lize Xiong

69 Effect of Preoperative Thoracic Paravertebral Blocks on Emergence Agitation During Tracheal Extubation: A Randomized Controlled Trial Wei Liu, Taijun Luo, Fei Wang, Ding Zhang, Tao Liu, Jiapeng Huang

and Shaofa Xu

76 Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Female Patients Undergoing Breast and Gynecological Surgery: A Narrative Review of Risk Factors and Prophylaxis

Marco Echeverria-Villalobos, Juan Fiorda-Diaz, Alberto Uribe and Sergio D. Bergese

- 89 Have we forgotten something when caring for patients for surgery? Zhiyi Zuo
- 93 Peripheral interleukin-6-associated microglial QUIN elevation in basolateral amygdala contributed to cognitive dysfunction in a mouse model of postoperative delirium Jing-Lan Mu, Xiao-Dong Liu, Ye-Hong Dong, Ying-Ying Fang, Shi-Da Qiu, Fu Zhang and Ke-Xuan Liu
- Analgesic efficacy and risk of low-to-medium dose intrathecal morphine in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: An updated meta-analysis
 I-Wen Chen, Cheuk-Kwan Sun, Ching-Chung Ko, Pei-Han Fu,
 I-Chia Teng, Wei-Cheng Liu, Chien-Ming Lin and Kuo-Chuan Hung
- 123 Is esketamine-based opioid-free anesthesia more superior for postoperative analgesia in obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing bariatric surgery? A study protocol Yongle Guo, Lina Chen, Zhongquan Gao, Min Zhang, Mengjie Liu, Xiaojun Gao, Yang Liu, Xiaoning Zhang, Na Guo, Yongtao Sun and Yuelan Wang
- 133 Post-operative delirium in the patient with hip fracture: The journey from hospital arrival to discharge Danielle Ní Chróinín and Alwin Chuan
- 139 Efficacy and safety of ciprofol for agitation and delirium in the ICU: A multicenter, single-blind, 3-arm parallel randomized controlled trial study protocol Guo Liang Liu, Guo Zhi Wu, Dong Ge, Heng Jie Zhou, Song Cui, Kai Gao, Wei Jia Sun, Dong Hai Yu, Si Bo Liu and Jin Jie Liu
- 147 Delirium in the intensive care unit and its importance in the post-operative context: A review Danielle Ní Chróinín, Evan Alexandrou and Steven A. Frost

Frontiers in Medicine

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Dong-Xin Wang, Peking University First Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhongheng Zhang ⊠ zh_zhang1984@zju.edu.cn

RECEIVED 04 March 2023 ACCEPTED 31 May 2023 PUBLISHED 15 June 2023

CITATION Zhang Z (2023) Editorial: Postoperative care: from pain management to delirium. *Front. Med.* 10:1179358. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1179358

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Postoperative care: from pain management to delirium

Zhongheng Zhang*

Department of Emergency Medicine, Key Laboratory of Precision Medicine in Diagnosis and Monitoring Research of Zhejiang Province, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China

KEYWORDS

postoperative care, pain, delirium, analgesia, sedation: propofol

Editorial on the Research Topic

Postoperative care: from pain management to delirium

Postoperative care is important for the success of surgical operations. Pain and delirium are among the most important adverse events especially for the elderly (1). It has been reported that postoperative delirium (POD) has a negative impact on prognosis, length of stay and the burden of care. Many efforts have been made to predict the POD in the literature (2). Many novel biomarkers such as the changes in plasma tau and neurofilament light (NfL) are found to be associated with increased risk of POD (3, 4). Pain management is directly related to the development of postoperative delirium. And thus, improved control of pain can not only improve the patients' comfort but also reduce the risk of POD. Thus, the management of pain and delirium are usually inseparable. For some elderly patients with major operation, appropriate management of pain and delirium are also of vital importance to the postoperative rehabilitation (5). In this regard, I launched a special topic in Frontiers in Medicine to report most updated advances in postoperative care of pain and delirium management.

A total of 15 articles are finally published after rigorous peer review process. Zheng et al. explored nutritional status and postoperative pain outcome in elderly patients. They found that high nutritional risk/malnutrition was associated with poor postoperative pain outcomes (i.e. inadequate analgesia, cumulative consumption of analgesics) in older patients following gastrointestinal surgery, and further proposed a cut-off value of 88 for geriatric nutritional risk index (GNRI) for clinical utility. In a randomized controlled trial, Xu et al. compared dexmedetomidine combined with butorphanol or sufentanil for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) in patients undergoing microvascular decompression. The authors tested the analgesics in this special population because patients undergoing microvascular decompression are often accompanied with high risk of post-operative nausea and vomiting. They concluded that butorphanol combined with dexmedetomidine could reduce early PONV and the number of patients requiring rescue antiemetics. Acupuncture is an important component in the traditional Chinese medicine and many studies have proven its efficacy in alleviating symptoms such as postoperative delirium (6). In this special issue, Fan et al. compared transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure vs. usual care on the incidence of postoperative delirium among older patients undergoing major abdominal surgery. The postoperative delirium is significantly reduced by the use of this intervention [19/105 (18.1%) vs. 8/105 (7.6%), difference, -10.5% (95% CI, -1.5% to -19.4%); hazard ratio, 0.41 [95% CI, 0.18 to 0.95); P = 0.023]. In addition to clinical investigations, we also published

experimental studies. Mu et al. developed an animal model of postoperative delirium and found that interleukin-6 played an pivotal role in the pathological process.

Author contributions

ZZ design and drafted this editorial.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Zhang B, Zhang Z. Mediation analysis to unravel mechanisms underlying association between platelet transfusion and postoperative delirium. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:342. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1513-0

2. Neto PCS, Rodrigues AL, Stahlschmidt A, Helal L, Stefani LC. Developing and validating a machine learning ensemble model to predict postoperative delirium in a cohort of high-risk surgical patients: a secondary cohort analysis. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2023) 40:365–74. doi: 10.1097/EJA.000000000001811

3. Fong TG, Vasunilashorn SM, Ngo L, Libermann TA, Dillon ST, Schmitt EM, et al. Association of plasma neurofilament light with postoperative delirium. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 88:984–94. doi: 10.1002/ana.25889 4. Ballweg T, White M, Parker M, Casey C, Bo A, Farahbakhsh Z, et al. Association between plasma tau and postoperative delirium incidence and severity: a prospective observational study. *Br J Anaesth.* (2021) 126:458–66. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2020.08.061

5. Bonnet F, Marret E. Postoperative pain management and outcome after surgery. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol.* (2007) 21:99–107. doi: 10.1016/j.bpa.2006.1 2.007

6. Huang K-Y, Liang S, Chen L, Xu Y-Y, Grellet A. Transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation for the prevention of postoperative delirium in elderly surgical patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2023) 15:1046754. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2023.1046754





Dexmedetomidine Combined With Butorphanol or Sufentanil for the Prevention of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Microvascular Decompression: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Guangjun Xu, Jing Zhao, Zunyuan Liu, Guoying Liu, Lei Liu, Chunguang Ren and Yanchao Liu*

Department of Anaesthesiology, Liaocheng People's Hospital, Liaocheng, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: fano Busani.

Stefano Busani, University Hospital of Modena, Italy

Reviewed by:

Roberto Tonelli, University Hospital of Modena, Italy Laura Rinaldi, University Hospital of Modena, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Yanchao Liu 289048370@qq.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 14 July 2020 Accepted: 31 August 2020 Published: 30 October 2020

Citation:

Xu G, Zhao J, Liu Z, Liu G, Liu L, Ren C and Liu Y (2020) Dexmedetomidine Combined With Butorphanol or Sufentanil for the Prevention of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Microvascular Decompression: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Med. 7:583031. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.583031 **Background:** Patients undergoing microvascular decompression are often accompanied with high risk of post-operative nausea and vomiting (PONV). In this study, we compare the antiemetic efficacy of butorphanol or sufentanil combined with dexmedetomidine in patients undergoing microvascular decompression.

Methods: Patients undergoing microvascular decompression were randomized into two groups. The primary outcome was the occurrence and severity of PONV during the 72 h after surgery. Secondary outcomes included levels of pain intensity and sedation and consumption of opioids at 1, 2, 6, 12, 24, 48, and 72 h after surgery. We also recorded the intraoperative hemodynamics, consumption of narcotic drugs, operation and anesthesia time, estimated blood loss, infusion volume and urine output, requirements of rescue antiemetics or analgesics, the satisfaction scores of patients and surgeons, complications, and length of stay.

Results: The overall incidence rates of nausea and vomiting during the 72 h after surgery were significantly reduced in group DB (76.00 and 44.00% in group DS vs. 54.17% and 22.92% in group DB, P < 0.05). Patients in group DB had a lower incidence of nausea than those in group DS at intervals of 1–6 and 6–24 h (P < 0.05). However, patients in group DB had a lower incidence of vomiting than those in group DS only at intervals of 1–6 h (P < 0.05). Similarly, the number of patients requiring rescue antiemetics was also significantly reduced in group DB compared with that in group DS at intervals of 1–6 h (P < 0.05). The number of patients experiencing moderate to severe PONV was comparable between the two groups during 72 h after surgery (P > 0.05). The consumption of opioid morphine equivalent was significantly reduced in group DB (P < 0.05). Compared with those in group DS, the satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons were significantly increased in group DB (P < 0.05).

7

Conclusion: Butorphanol combined with dexmedetomidine could reduce early PONV and the number of patients requiring rescue antiemetics, especially at intervals of 1–6 h, while the satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons were significantly increased.

Keywords: post-operative nausea and vomiting, microvascular decompression, butorphanol, sufentanil, dexmedetomidine

BACKGROUND

Post-operative nausea and vomiting (PONV) is one of the most common post-operative complications in neurosurgical patients (1). It can cause electrolyte imbalance, pulmonary aspiration, elevated intracranial pressure, and delayed discharge and even result in disastrous consequences such as intracranial hemorrhage and cerebral hernia (2, 3). A previous study has reported that the incidence of PONV exceeded 50% in neurosurgical patients during the first 48 h after surgery (4). Vagal afferents of the gastrointestinal tract, chemoreceptor trigger zone in the area postrema, and the vestibular system may all have an effect on the PONV (5).

Trigeminal neuralgia (TN) is a syndrome of unilateral, paroxysmal, stabbing facial pain, originating from the trigeminal nerve and can severely affect a patient's daily lifestyle (6). Its diagnosis is extremely complicated, and careful characteristic clinical symptoms are crucial (7). The number of patients undergoing microvascular decompression (MVD), which is the best surgical modality for TN, is increasing worldwide (8). Several studies have reported that the pain-free rate was 70-80% in patients undergoing MVD at 5-10 years (9, 10). However, a previous study reported that MVD is an independent stronger risk factor for PONV even within the scope of neurosurgery (11). Though a previous study revealed that ondansetron significantly reduced PONV, the incidence of PONV was still higher than 60% within 24h after MVD despite preventive use of ondansetron. The reason may be partly due to the operation region near the chemoreceptor trigger zone and vestibular system (12). Besides, previous study has reported that PONV may exhibit a bimodal pattern up to 48-72 h after neurosurgery (13).

Butorphanol has been widely used for musculoskeletal pain, headaches, and perioperative analgesia through the analgesia effect is only about 0.5% of sufentanil. However, there are few studies about butorphanol after neurosurgery. Dexmedetomidine (Dex), a highly selective α 2-adrenergic receptor agonist, has sedative, analgesic, and anxiolytic effects (14). A recent study has also showed that sufentanil or butorphanol combined with Dex can be used safely and effectively in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery with no increase in the incidence of adverse reactions (15). There have been no effective solutions to reduce both the incidence and severity of PONV in neurosurgery. As a result, we performed this prospective randomized clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy of butorphanol or sufentanil combined with Dex for the prevention of PONV in patients undergoing MVD.

METHODS

Patients

All patients who underwent MVD in our hospital between November 2018 and January 2020 were recruited. This study was also approved by the ethics committee in our hospital and registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (ChiCTR1800018946). All patients or their representative have provided written informed consent.

Patients were included if they met the following criteria: diagnosed as idiopathic TN (ITN) (16) and were of American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) grades I and II. Patients were excluded if they have diabetes mellitus; use antiemetics or glucocorticoids; have a history of PONV or motion sickness, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy; have a body mass index (BMI) > 30 kg/m²; have ischemic heart disease; have a history of long-term abuse of or addiction to alcohol, opioid(s), or sedative– hypnotic drug(s); are a smokers; have an allergy to opioids or Dex; have benign or malignant tumors or arteriovascular malformations confirmed with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). All patients completed the Penn Facial Pain Scale (PFPS, formerly known as Brief Pain Inventory-Facial) on admission.

Randomization and Blinding

A computer-generated randomization table was used to divide patients randomly into two groups by an independent anesthetist prior to surgery [group DS: Dex 4 μ g/kg with sufentanil 1.0 μ g/kg in the patient controlled intravenous analgesia (PCIA) pump, n= 50; group DB: Dex 4 μ g/kg with butorphanol 0.1 mg/kg in the PCIA pump, n = 48]. The study drugs in the PCIA pump were prepared by an independent anesthetic nurse, while two other anesthetic nurses were responsible for recording the results of this study. The attending anesthesiologists, surgeons, anesthetic nurses in the acute pain service (APS), and patients were all blinded to this study.

Anesthetic Management

None of the patients had received any medication before the induction of anesthesia. After patients entered the operating room, a peripheral venous access was established, and five-lead electrocardiogram, invasive arterial blood pressure, and oxygen saturation were continuously monitored by an automated system. An intravenous infusion of Dex 0.5 μ g/kg was used before anesthesia induction within 15 min, followed by 0.1 mg/kg of dexamethasone, 0.3 μ g/kg of sufentanil, 1–2 mg/kg of propofol, and 2.0 mg/kg of cisatracurium; we implemented trachea intubation 3 min later. Anesthesia was maintained with sevoflurane (1.5–2.5%), remifentanil (0.1–0.2 μ g/kg/min), and

Dex ($0.4 \mu g/kg/h$). The bispectral index was maintained between 40 and 60. The pressure of arterial carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) was maintained at 35–40 mmHg during surgery. Both groups received 1 mg butorphanol and 5 mg tropisetron 30 min prior to the end of surgery. The concentrations of sevoflurane and remifentanil were adjusted according to both hemodynamic changes and the bispectral index. Under the premise of satisfactory depth of anesthesia, intraoperative vasoactive drugs (ephedrine, phenylephrine, urapidil, and atropine) were used to maintain hemodynamic stability.

All patients were extubated and observed in the postanesthetic care unit (PACU) until they meet Aldrete's criteria and then transferred to the functional neurosurgery ward. PCIA (Dex 4 μ g/kg with sufentanil 1.0 μ g/kg in the DS group and Dex 4 μ g/kg with butorphanol 0.1 mg/kg in the DB group, up to a total volume of 100 ml) was programmed to deliver 1 ml bolus (lockout 8 min) with a continuous background infusion of 1 ml/h at the end of surgery. The PCIA was used for the first 72 h after surgery. Ten milligrams of metoclopramide was administered if the scores of PONV were >6 or if there was vomiting. Fifteen milligrams of ketorolac was administered if VRS scores of pain (VASm) were >3. The PCIA was stopped if hypoventilation (respiratory rate of <10 breaths per minute) or hypoxia (pulse oxygen saturation of <88% though intranasal oxygen inhalation at 5 L/min) happened.

MVD Procedure

The operative technique was performed according to the previous studies (17, 18). Briefly, patients were placed in a lateral position after general anesthesia, and a small retromastoid craniectomy was made behind the ear after undergoing scalp nerve block (2% lidocaine combined with 1:200,000 adrenaline) before the operation in this study; then the Cshaped dura was opened. The cerebellar hemisphere was retracted gently in a superolateral-to-inferomedial direction to visualize the trigeminal nerve. The proximal part of the nerve adjacent to the brainstem was closely examined, and any compressing artery was mobilized away from the nerve. A small piece of Teflon was then interpositioned between the nerve and the artery to prevent recontact. If venous rather than arterial compression was present, the vein was coagulated and divided. When no compressing vessel was identified, internal neurolysis was performed by separating nerve fibers longitudinally. After hemostasis, the dura was closed, and the bony defect covered with gel foam before musculofascial closure in layers. Intraoperative auditory brainstem evoked response was also monitored in this surgery. Post-operative CT was performed on the day after surgery except the patient's condition deteriorated.

Date Collection

The primary outcome was the occurrence and severity of postoperative nausea (defined as a subjectively unpleasant sensation associated with the awareness of an urge to vomit; the severity of nausea was graded using a verbal 11-point rating scale, with 0 indicating no nausea and 10 indicating the worst nausea) and vomiting (defined as a single episode of the forceful expulsion of gastric contents through the mouth) during the 72 h after surgery (19). Secondary outcomes included levels of pain intensity [visual analog scale (VAS) both at rest and with movement: 0, no pain; 10, the worst pain], sedation (LOS: recorded on a 5-point scale: 0, fully awake; 1, drowsy/closed eyes; 2, asleep/easily aroused with light tactile stimulation or a simple verbal command; 3, asleep/arousable only by strong physical stimulation; 4, unarousable), and consumption of opioids at 1, 2, 6, 12, 24, 48, and 72 h after surgery. We also recorded the intraoperative hemodynamics [recorded at the following time points: arrival at the operating room (T1); before intubation (T2); at intubation (T3); at 5 min (T4) and 10 min (T5) after intubation; at start of surgery (T6); at end of surgery (T7); at extubation (T8); and at 5 min (T9) and 10 min (T10) after arrival at the PACU], consumption of narcotic drugs, operation and anesthesia time, estimated blood loss, infusion volume and urine output, requirements of rescue antiemetics or analgesics, the satisfaction scores of patients and surgeons (11-point scale: 0, poorest; 10, excellent), complications (such as headaches, intracranial hemorrhage, wound infection, confusion, transient facial numbness, and diplopia), and length of stay.

Statistical Analysis

In our pilot study, 49% of patients receiving Dex–sufentanil experienced vomiting during the 72 h after surgery. We considered a 27% reduction to be clinically significant; 45 patients were needed in each group at a level of 0.05 and with power of 80%. Assuming a dropout rate of 10%, we included 50 patients in each group.

The Kolmogorov–Smirnov and Levene tests were used to assess data distribution and homogeneity of variance, respectively. Continuous data were expressed as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range (IQR). Between-group comparisons were performed using repeatedmeasures analysis of variance. Mann–Whitney *U* test was used for non-normal distribution of continuous data. Categorical data were expressed as frequency and percentage and analyzed using chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests when appropriate. A probability P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS for Windows version 23.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

A CONSORT diagram was used during the enrollment of patients (**Figure 1**). One hundred eighty-eight patients who underwent MVD in our hospital between November 2018 and January 2020 were recruited. Ninety patients were excluded: 25 patients with diabetes mellitus; 12 patients with an ASA grade >II; 3 patients who used antiemetics or glucocorticoids; five patients with a history of PONV or motion sickness, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy; six patients with a BMI of >30 kg/m²; 2 patients with ischemic heart disease; 12 patients with abuse of or addiction to alcohol, opioid(s), or sedative–hypnotic drug(s); 11 patients who smoked; and 14 patients with benign or malignant tumors or



arteriovascular malformations confirmed through MRI. Finally, 98 patients were included in the primary analysis and divided into two groups: 50 patients for group DS and 48 patients for group DB. Age, BMI, ASA grade, sex, comorbidity, history of TN, trigeminal nerve pain distribution, neurovascular compression, and PFPS score were all comparable between the two groups (P > 0.05, **Table 1**).

Intraoperative Variables

There were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of operation and anesthesia time; intraoperative hemodynamics; consumption of sevoflurane, remifentanil, Dex, and cisatracurium; estimated blood loss; infusion volume; and urine output (P > 0.05, **Table 2**, **Figure 2**). The number of patients using atropine, ephedrine, phenylephrine, and urapidil was also comparable between the two groups during operation (P > 0.05, **Table 2**).

Post-operative Variables

Compared with those in group DS, the overall incidence rates of nausea and vomiting during the 72 h after surgery were significantly reduced in group DB (76.00% and 44.00% in group DS vs. 54.17 and 22.92% in group DB, P < 0.05, **Table 3**). Patients in group DB had a lower incidence of nausea than patients in group DS at intervals of 1–6 and 6–24 h (P < 0.05, **Table 3**). However, patients in group DB had a lower incidence of vomiting than patients in group DS only at intervals of 1–6 h (P < 0.05, **Table 3**). Similarly, the number of patients requiring rescue antiemetics was also significantly reduced in group DB compared with group DS at intervals of 1–6 h (P < 0.05, **Table 3**). The number of patients who experienced moderate to severe PONV (severity of nausea >3 and vomiting) was comparable between the two groups during 72 h after surgery (P > 0.05, **Figure 3**).

Patients requiring rescue analgesia and length of stay were comparable between the two groups (P > 0.05,

BLE 1 Comparison of patient characteristics between the two group	s.
---	----

Variable	Group DS (<i>n</i> = 50)	Group DB (<i>n</i> = 48)	P-values	
Age (years)	58.53 ± 3.89	56.72 ± 3.21	0.069.	
Body weight (kg)	68.22 ± 6.03	72.55 ± 7.70	0.281.	
BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	24.34 ± 1.68	24.59 ± 2.11	0.517	
ASA I/II (n)	26/24	22/26	0.542	
Sex (Male/Female)	17/33	19/29	0.567	
Left-sided pain, <i>n</i> (%)	24 (60.00%)	22 (45.83%)	0.830	
History of TN (month)	35.43 (21.45–55.67)	37.53 (20.34–54.56)	0.188	
Comorbidity, n (%)			0.931	
Hypertension	22 (44.00%)	18 (37.50%)		
cerebral infarction	5 (10.00%)	4 (8.33%)		
Coronary heart disease	6 (12.00%)	7 (14.58%)		
Trigeminal nerve pain			0.882	
distribution, n (%)				
V1	12 (24.00%)	13 (27.08%)		
V2	43 (86.00%)	40 (83.33%)		
V2 V3	26 (52.00%)	22 (45.83%)		
Neurovascular compre	ession, <i>n</i> (%)		0.921	
Artery	35 (70.00%)	32 (66.67%)		
Vein	9 (18.00%)	11 (22.92%)		
Artery and vein	4 (8.00%)	3 (6.25%)		
None	6 (12.00%)	5 (10.42%)		
PFPS score			0.421	
General function	6.38 (5.64–6.78)	6.45 (5.61–6.85)		
facial function	7.65 (6.43-8.86)	7.32 (6.29-8.71)		

Variables presented as mean ± SD, median (interquartile range) or number of patients n (%). BMI, body mass index; ASA, American Society of Anesthesiology; TN, Trigeminal neuralgia; PFPS, Penn Facial Pain Scale.



 TABLE 2 | Comparison of intraoperative variables between the two groups.

Variable	Group DS ($n = 50$)	Group DB (<i>n</i> = 48)	P-values
Duration of surgery (min)	163.58 (125.10–197.23)	175.57 (127.34–198.21)	0.231
Duration of anesthesia (min)	215.83 (185.99–256.83)	230.52 (196.87–270.516)	0.096
Remifentanil dosage (mg)	1.02 ± 0.29	1.12 ± 0.35	0.126
Dexmedetomidine dosage (µg)	122.38 ± 17.82	125.71 ± 23.19	0.426
Cisatracurium dosage (mg)	22.34 ± 1.89	21.83 ± 2.05	0.203
Sevoflurane (%)	1.74 (1.35–2.28)	1.59 (1.32–2.37)	0.108
Estimated blood loss (ml)	63.27 (45.38–102.74)	73.29 (52.23–109.21)	0.276
Fluids (ml)	1523.98 (683.28–2312.32)	1322.74 (836.28–2271.38)	0.075
Urine output (ml)	873.28 (462.81–1327.98)	809.72 (530.29–1529.87)	0.387
Number of patients using vasoactive dru	gs, n (%)		
Atropine	6 (12.00%)	5 (10.42%)	0.804
Ephedrine	4 (8.00%)	3 (6.25%)	1.000
Phenylephrine	17 (34.00%)	13 (27.08%)	0.458
Urapidil	6 (12.00%)	8 (16.67%)	0.509

Variables presented as mean \pm SD, median (interquartile range) or n (%).

TABLE 3 | Incidence of PONV and rescued antiemetics between the two groups.

Variable	Group DS (<i>n</i> = 50)	Group DB (<i>n</i> = 48)	P-values
Nausea, n (%	ó)		
1-6h	29 (58.00%)	18 (37.50%)*	0.042
6–24 h	22 (44.00%)	12 (25.00%)*	0.048
24–48 h	13 (26.00%)	9 (18.75%)	0.39
48–72 h	10 (20.00%)	8 (16.67%)	0.67
Vomiting, n (%)		
1–6 h	15 (30.00%)	8 (16.67%)*	0.049
6–24 h	12 (16.00%)	5 (10.42%)	0.121
24–48 h	5 (10.00%)	6 (12.50%)	0.695
48–72 h	3 (6.00%)	3 (6.25%)	0.959
Rescued ant	iemetics, n (%)		
1–6 h	22 (44.00%)	11 (22.91%)*	0.027
6–24 h	16 (32.00%)	9 (18.75%)	0.133
24–48 h	9 (18.00%)	7 (14.58%)	0.647
48–72 h	8 (16.00%)	5 (10.42%)	0.415

Variables presented as number of patients n (%). *P < 0.05 vs. Group DS.



Table 4). Compared with group DS, the satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons were significantly increased in group DB (P < 0.05, Table 4). Pain scores and LOS were not significantly different between the two groups (P > 0.05, Figures 4, 5). The consumption of PCIA was similar between the two groups. However, the consumption of opioid morphine equivalent was significantly reduced in group DB (P < 0.05, Figure 6). Complications after the surgery are summarized in Table 5. There were no mortalities in this study.

DISCUSSION

The results of this study indicated that butorphanol combined with Dex could reduce early PONV and the number of patients TABLE 4 | Comparison of post-operative variables between the two groups.

Variable	Group DS (<i>n</i> = 50)	Group DB (<i>n</i> = 48)	P-values
Number of rescue analgesia, n (%)	5 (10.00%)	8 (16.67%)	0.331
Patient satisfaction score	7.50 (6.25–8.50)	8.50 (7.25–9.50)*	0.021
Surgeons satisfaction score	8.00 (7.50–9.50)	8.75 (8.00–9.75)*	0.028
Length of stay (d)	6.45 (5.53–8.24)	6.83 (5.48–8.31)	0.398

Variables presented as number of patients n (%) or median (interquartile range). *P < 0.05 vs. Group DS.



requiring rescue antiemetics, especially at intervals of 1–6 h, while the satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons were significantly increased. At the same time, pain scores, LOS, the number of patients requiring rescue analgesia, and complications had not increased.

Although the exact etiology of PONV is unknown, female sex, non-smokers, history of PONV or motion sickness, postoperative use of opioids, and type of surgery are the most





Variable	Group DS (<i>n</i> = 50)	Group DB (<i>n</i> = 48)	P-values
Headaches	5 (10.00%)	4 (8.33%)	1.000
Dizzy	2 (4.00%)	2 (4.17%)	1.000
Transient facial numbness	3 (6.00%)	2 (4.17%)	1.000
Intracranial hemorrhage	1 (2.00%)	0 (0.00%)	1.000
Prolonged confusion	0 (0.00%)	1 (2.08%)	0.490
Cerebrospinal fluid leak	1 (2.00%)	1 (2.08%)	1.000
Diplopia	1 (2.00%)	1 (2.08%)	1.000

Variables presented as number of patients n (%).

important independent risk factors for PONV (20). As a result, we excluded patients with a history of PONV or motion sickness

and smokers in this study. In consideration of the same operation and without statistical difference about sex ratio in the two groups in this study, post-operative use of opioids has become the major factor of PONV. MVD, the most effective procedure in terms of long-term pain relief for patients with TN until now, has been considered as a surgical factor for PONV according to the consensus guidelines for managing PONV (21). As a result, combination of antiemetics with different mechanisms such as histamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 (5-HT3), acetylcholine, dopamine type 2, substance P, neurokinin, several opioid receptors, and other biomolecules is recommended for PONV (22). However, there has been no effective scheme to significantly reduce the PONV of patients undergoing MVD.

Opioid-based PCIA has been widely used in post-operative analgesia for its analgetic effectiveness; however, it can also associate with a number of side effects such as PONV, respiratory depression, pruritus, and urinary retention (23). A PCIA pump was used for 72 h after surgery in this study because a previous study found that air around the surgical sites may trigger nearby-area postrema and that pneumocephalus resolves by 31% per day after craniotomy, which was also a risk factor of PONV (24). Ha et al. reported that the antiemetic efficacy of ramosetron was similar to that of ondansetron and only reduced the severity of nausea between 6 and 24 h after MVD, which suggested that ramosetron or ondansetron alone may be too weak to prevent PONV in high-risk patients (25). Although administration of dexamethasone 4 mg and ondansetron 4 mg was found to decrease the incidence of PONV, this decrease was not significantly different because MVD is a high probability in PONV (12). Fabling et al. suggested using ondansetron 8 mg at the time of wound closure for adults who underwent infratentorial craniotomy. However, patients undergoing MVD still had a high frequency of nausea (26). Palonosetron, the latest 5-HT3 receptor antagonist and more effective than ramosetron, has been proven to prevent PONV during the first 24 h after surgery when administered during anesthetic induction. This may be due to the long peak concentration time and duration of action. This study has also reported that the incidence of PONV was only significantly reduced when prophylactic palonosetron and sugammadex were used together under propofol-maintained anesthesia (27). However, most of the above studies had not focused on the post-operative use of opioids.

It has been reported that Dex at 0.5 or 1.0 μ g/kg effectively reduced the incidence of PONV compared with placebo. The mechanism may involve inhibiting inflammatory mediators and enhancing the antiemetic efficacies of 5-hydroxytryptamine type (5-HT) receptor antagonists and α -adrenergic receptors (28). Besides, our previous study has also supported an opioid-sparing effect as the underlying mechanism of the antiemetic effect of Dex (29). As a result, we adopt Dex as the adjuvant drug in the opioid-dominated PCIA. The incidence of PONV was significantly reduced in our study compared with the previous study. The reason may be the preventive application of 0.1 mg/kg dexamethasone during the period of anesthesia induction and 5 mg tropisetron 30 min prior to the end of surgery. We used higher doses of dexamethasone compared with the previous study for its characters of inhibition of inflammatory mediators

and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis, activation of a2adrenoreceptors, and antiemetic sparing effect of Dex (11). Another possible explanation for the lower incidence of PONV may be the different anesthetic technique. Less muscle relaxants with lower doses of volatile agent and higher doses of Dex were used to allow recording of intraoperative auditory brainstem evoked response in our study. As a result, only a few patients undergoing MVD received neostigmine at the end of surgery, where it has been reported that reversal agents are associated with PONV (30). All patients underwent scalp nerve block with 2% lidocaine combined with 1:200,000 adrenaline before the operation in this study for the previous study has reported that local anesthesia or peripheral nerve block can contribute to reducing the amount of opioid used for post-operative analgesia (31). Another previous study reported that rebound pain is a very severe type of pain that appears when the peripheral nerve block wears off (32). We still observed this phenomenon, especially in the last 48-72 h post-operatively, despite adopting the multimodal analgesia regime in our study.

Butorphanol, a lipid-soluble narcotic agent with a strong κreceptor agonist, weak u-receptor agonist/antagonist activity, and no obvious activity on δ -opioid receptors, has been widely used for musculoskeletal pain, headaches, and perioperative analgesia (33). However, there are few studies about the application of butorphanol during neurosurgery (34). In our study, we found that the consumption of opioid was significantly reduced in group DB, which may also contribute to the lower PONV and higher satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons. Moderate sedation of patients following neurosurgery is necessary to maintain hemodynamic stability, provide sufficient analgesia, and reduce anxiety without interfering with the evaluation of the conscious state (35). As a result, the level of sedation was maintained at 1-2 in most patients during the first 12 h after surgery. Dex combined with butorphanol after neurosurgery may cause excessive sedation. However, no excessive sedation was observed during post-operative PCIA in our study. This may be due to less dosage used than the previous study (15). At the same time, pain scores and the number of patients requiring rescue analgesia had not increased. Further studies are required to establish the effect-dose balance between optimal post-operative analgesia and PONV in the Dexbutorphanol analgesic regimen.

Consistent with previous report, the age of onset for most idiopathic cases is between 50 and 60 years, and there is a higher proportion of females in our study (36). In our study, there were no mortalities or life-threatening morbidities in each group. There were still 12 vs. 10.42% patients without compressing vessel during surgery in our study, and internal neurolysis was performed by dividing the nerve. The result was similar to previous studies (7% of endoscopic MVD vs. 11% of microscopic MVD). Though endoscopic MVD has the benefit of improved visualization during surgery, the disadvantages are obvious such as having a 2D view, occupying space by itself, and generating heat that could potentially harm adjacent structures (37). The other frequently reported complications of MVD include headaches, diplopia, facial weakness, intracranial infarct/hematoma, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leak. However, most of these complications are mild and transient. The incidence of complications in our study is lower than that in previous studies, the reasons for which may be the careful surgical technique (move the compressed artery distally and attach it to the dura mater using a polytetrafluoroethylene sheet, preserve the superior petrosal vein, and try to not use the retractor), absolute hemostasis, immaculate wound closure, and use of intraoperative auditory brainstem evoked response (38). It should be noted that one patient in group DB has facial paralysis immediately after surgery, which failed to resolve until discharge. However, no changes in the intraoperative auditory brainstem evoked response were observed.

There are some limitations in this study. First, we adopted the volatile-maintained anesthesia in this study due to low prices. However, a previous study reported that the incidence of PONV may be lower under propofol-maintained anesthesia in patients undergoing craniotomy (39). Second, we have no long-term follow-up about the effect of operation in this study. Third, we only reported results of patients with ITN, which are not applicable for patients with atypical and recurrent TN. Fourth, PONV decreased in the last 72 h though PCIA doses were doubled in both groups. The reasons may be complex and need further study to clarify. Finally, the result of this study only represented the practice of our center and therefore may lack generalizability to other hospitals.

In conclusion, butorphanol combined with Dex could reduce early PONV and the number of patients requiring rescue antiemetics, especially at intervals of 1–6 h, while the satisfaction scores of both patients and surgeons were significantly increased. At the same time, pain scores, LOS, the number of patients requiring rescue analgesia, and complications had not increased.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee in Liaocheng People's Hospital and registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (ChiCTR1800018946). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

The authors intend to share participants' data collected during the trial. This includes, study protocol, statistical analysis plan, informed consent forms, and clinical study report. It will be available based on the request of investigators whose proposed use of the data has been approved by an independent review committee by sending an email to the corresponding author. Data are available immediately after publication and with no end date.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GX, JZ, ZL, and LL conceived and designed the trial. GL and LL collected the date. CR and JZ analyzed the date. GX, JZ, ZL, and

REFERENCES

- 1. Wang Y, Liu B, Zhao T, Zhao B, Yu D, Jiang X, et al. Safety and efficacy of a novel neurosurgical enhance recovery after surgery protocol for elective craniotomy: a prospective randomized controlled trial. *J Neurosurg.* (2018) 1:1–12. doi: 10.3171/2018.1.JNS171552
- Jangra K, Kumari K, Panda NB, Samagh N, Luthra A. Postoperative nausea and vomiting in neurosurgical patients: Current concepts and management. *Neurol India*. (2018) 66:1117–23. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886. 236970
- 3. Neufeld SM, Newburn-Cook CV. The efficacy of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after craniotomy: a meta-analysis. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol.* (2007) 19:10–17. doi: 10.1097/01.ana.0000211025.41797.fc
- Uribe AA, Stoicea N, Echeverria-Villalobos M, Todeschini AB, Gutierrez AE, Folea AR, et al. Postoperative nausea and vomiting after craniotomy: an evidence-based review of general considerations, risk factors, and management. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. (2019). doi: 10.1097/ANA.00000000000667
- Gan TJ. Mechanisms underlying postoperative nausea and vomiting and neurotransmitter receptorantagonist-based pharmacotherapy. CNS Drugs. (2007) 21:813–33. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200721100-00003
- Tohyama S, Hung PS, Cheng JC, Zhang YJ, Halawani A, Mikulis DJ, et al. Trigeminal neuralgia associated with a solitary pontine lesion: clinical and neuroimaging definition of a new syndrome. *Pain.* (2019) 161:916– 25. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001777
- Antonini G, Di Pasquale A, Cruccu G, Truini A, Morino S, Saltelli G, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging contribution for diagnosing symptomatic neurovascular contact in classical trigeminal neuralgia: a blinded case-control study and meta-analysis. *Pain.* (2014) 155:1464–71. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2014.04.020
- Maarbjerg S, Wolfram F, Gozalov A, Olesen J, Bendtsen L. Significance of neurovascular contact in classical trigeminal neuralgia. *Brain.* (2015) 138(Pt 2):311–9. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu349
- Panczykowski DM, Jani RH, Hughes MA, Sekula RF. Development and evaluation of a preoperative trigeminal neuralgia scoring system to predict long-term outcome following microvascular decompression. *Neurosurgery*. (2019). 87:71–9. doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyz376
- Wang DD, Raygor KP, Cage TA, Ward MM, Westcott S, Barbaro NM, et al. Prospective comparison of long-term pain relief rates after first-time microvasculardecompression and stereotactic radiosurgery for trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg. (2018) 128:68–77. doi: 10.3171/2016.9.JNS16149
- Lee HH, Kim HM, Lee JE, Jeon YT, Park S, et al. The effect of a transdermal scopolamine patch on postoperative nausea and vomiting after retromastoid craniectomy with microvascular decompression: a preliminary single center, double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:156. doi: 10.3390/jcm9010156
- Thongrong C, Chullabodhi P, Kasemsiri P, Kitkhuandee A, Plailaharn N, Sabangban L, et al. Effects of intraoperative dexamethasone and ondansetron on postoperative nausea and vomiting in microvascular decompression surgery: a randomized controlled study. *Anesthesiol Res Pract.* (2018) 2018:6297362. doi: 10.1155/2018/6297362
- Fabling JM, Gan TJ, El-Moalem HE, Warner DS, Borel CO. A randomized, double-blind comparison of ondansetron versus placebo for prevention of nausea and vomiting after infratentorial craniotomy. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol.* (2002) 14:102–7. doi: 10.1097/00008506-200204000-00003

YL wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province (ZR2016HB28).

- Shehabi Y, Howe BD, Bellomo R, Arabi YM, Bailey M, Bass F, et al. Early Sedation with Dexmedetomidine in Critically Ill Patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 380:2506–17. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1904710
- Zhang XK, Chen QH, Wang WX, Hu Q. Evaluation of dexmedetomidine in combination with sufentanil or butorphanol for postoperativeanalgesia in patients undergoing laparoscopic resection of gastrointestinal tumors: a quasi-experimental trial. *Medicine (Baltimore).* (2016) 95:e5604. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005604
- Kawasaki K, Sugawara S, Watanabe K, Hong C, Tu TTH, Watanabe T, et al. Differences in the clinical characteristics of persistent idiopathic facial pain (atypical odontalgia) patients with or without neurovascular compression of the trigeminal nerve. *Pain Med.* (2020) 21:814–21. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnz300
- Hassan S, Lagrata S, Levy A, Matharu M, Zrinzo L. Microvascular decompression or neuromodulation in patients with SUNCT and trigeminal neurovascular conflict? *Cephalalgia*. (2018) 38:393–8. doi: 10.1177/0333102417735847
- Feng BH, Zheng XS, Liu M, Wang XQ, WANG XH, Ying TT, et al. Microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia: zone exploration and decompression techniques. *J Craniofac Surg.* (2015) 26:2381–4. doi: 10.1097/SCS.000000000002147
- Apfel CC, Korttila K, Abdalla M, Kerger H, Turan A, Vedder I, et al. A factorial trial of six interventions for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:2441–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032196
- Son J, Yoon H. Factors Affecting Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Surgical Patients. J Perianesth Nurs. (2018) 33:461– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2016.02.012
- Myklejord DJ, Yao L, Liang H, Glurich I. Consensus guideline adoption for managing postoperative nausea and vomiting. WMJ. (2012) 111:207–13; quiz 214.
- 22. White PF. Prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting—a multimodal solution to a persistent problem. *N Engl J Med.* (2004) 350:2511–2. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe048099
- Colvin LA, Bull F, Hales TG. Perioperative opioid analgesia-when is enough too much? A review of opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:1558–68. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30430-1
- Gore PA, Maan H, Chang S, Pitt AM, Spetzler RF, Nakaji P. Normobaric oxygen therapy strategies in the treatment of postcraniotomy pneumocephalus. *J Neurosurg.* (2008) 108:926– 9. doi: 10.3171/JNS/2008/108/5/0926
- Ha SH, Kim H, Ju HM, Nam DJ, Min KT. Comparison of the antiemetic effect of ramosetron with ondansetron in patients undergoingmicrovascular decompression with retromastoid craniotomy: a preliminary report. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2015) 68:386–91. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2015.68.4.386
- Fabling JM, Gan TJ, Guy J, El-Moalem HE, Warner DS. Postoperative nausea and vomiting. A retrospective analysis in patients undergoing elective craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. (1997) 9:308–12. doi: 10.1097/00008506-199710000-00003
- 27. Kang HY, Park SW, Lee S, Jeon JM, Oh ID, Choi JH. Effect of prophylactic palonosetron and sugammadex on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing microvascular decompression under propofolmaintained anesthesia: A retrospective observational study. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). (2018) 97:e13237. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000013237
- Song Y, Shim JK, Song JW, Kim EY, Kwak YL. Dexmedetomidine added to an opioid-based analgesic regimen for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in highly susceptible patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2016) 33:75–83. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000327

- Su S, Ren C, Zhang H, Liu Z, Zhang Z. The opioid-sparing effect of perioperative dexmedetomidine plus sufentanil infusion during neurosurgery: a retrospective study. *Front Pharmacol.* (2016) 7:407. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00407
- Cheng CR, Sessler DI, Apfel CC. Does neostigmine administration produce a clinically important increase in postoperative nausea and vomiting? *Anesth Analg.* (2005) 101:1349–55. doi: 10.1213/01.ANE.0000180992.76743.C9
- Jiménez-Almonte JH, Wyles CC, Wyles SP, Norambuena-Morales GA, Báez PJ, Murad MH, et al. Is local infiltration analgesia superior to peripheral nerve blockade for pain management after tha: a network meta-analysis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* (2016) 474:495–516. doi: 10.1007/s11999-015-4619-9
- Rice DC, Cata JP, Mena GE, Rodriguez-Restrepoet A, Correa AM, Mehran RJ. Posterior intercostal nerve block with liposomal bupivacaine: an alternative to thoracic epidural analgesia. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 99:1953– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.02.074
- 33. Du BX, Song ZM, Wang K, Zhang H, Xu FY, Zou Z, et al. Butorphanol prevents morphine-induced pruritus without increasing pain and other side effects: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Can J Anaesth.* (2013) 60:907–17. doi: 10.1007/s12630-01 3-9989-4
- Mishra L, Rajkumar N, Singh S, Dubey R, Yadav G. A Comparative Study of Propofol and Isoflurane Anaesthesia using Butorphanol in Neurosurgery. *Indian J Anaesth.* (2009) 53:324–49.
- Kawamata T, Okada Y, Kawashima A, Yoneyama T, Yamaguchi K, Ono Y, et al. Postcarotid endarterectomy cerebral hyperperfusion can be prevented by minimizing intraoperative cerebral ischemia and strict postoperative blood pressure control under continuous sedation. *Neurosurgery.* (2009) 64:447–53; discussion 453–454. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000339110. 73385.8A

- Zakrzewska JM, Wu J, Mon-Williams M, Phillips N, Pavitt SH. Evaluating the impact of trigeminal neuralgia. *Pain.* (2017) 158:1166–74. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000853
- 37. Lee JYK, Pierce JT, Sandhu SK, Petrov D, Yang A. Endoscopic versus microscopic microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia: equivalent pain outcomes with possibly decreased postoperative headache after endoscopicsurgery. J Neurosurg. (2017) 126:1676–84. doi: 10.3171/2016.5.JNS1621
- Sharma R, Phalak M, Katiyar V, Borkar S, Kale SS, Mahapatra AK. Microvascular decompression versus stereotactic radiosurgery as primary treatment modality for trigeminal neuralgia: a systematic review and metaanalysis of prospective comparative trials. *Neurol India*. (2018) 66:688– 94. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886.232342
- Chui J, Mariappan R, Mehta J, Manninen P, Venkatraghavan L. Comparison of propofol and volatile agents for maintenance of anesthesia during elective craniotomy procedures: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Anaesth.* (2014) 61:347–56. doi: 10.1007/s12630-014-0118-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Xu, Zhao, Liu, Liu, Ren and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Weak Response to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Is Associated With Postoperative Organ Failure in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery With Cardiopulmonary Bypass

Thomas Clavier^{1,2*}, Zoé Demailly^{1,2}, Xavier Semaille¹, Caroline Thill³, Jean Selim^{1,2}, Benoit Veber¹, Fabien Doguet^{2,4}, Vincent Richard², Emmanuel Besnier^{1,2} and Fabienne Tamion^{2,5}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Medical Critical Care, Rouen, France

Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

Reviewed by:

Hippokratis Kiaris, University of South Carolina, United States Huaiwu He, Peking Union Medical College Hospital (CAMS), China Jianfeng Xie, Southeast University, China

*Correspondence:

Thomas Clavier thomasclavier76@gmail.com orcid.org/0000-0001-8630-7537

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 02 October 2020 Accepted: 22 December 2020 Published: 15 February 2021

Citation:

Clavier T, Demailly Z, Semaille X, Thill C, Selim J, Veber B, Doguet F, Richard V, Besnier E and Tamion F (2021) A Weak Response to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Is Associated With Postoperative Organ Failure in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery With Cardiopulmonary Bypass. Front. Med. 7:613518. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.613518 **Introduction:** Endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS) is involved in inflammatory organ failure. Our objective was to describe ERS, its unfolded protein response (UPR) expression/kinetics during cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and its association with postoperative organ failure (OF).

¹ Rouen University Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, Rouen, France, ² Normandie Univ, UNIROUEN,

INSERM U1096, FHU REMOD-VHF, Rouen, France, ³ Rouen University Hospital, Department of Biostatistics, Rouen, France, ⁴ Rouen University Hospital, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Rouen, France, ⁵ Rouen University Hospital, Department of

Methods: Prospective study conducted on patients undergoing cardiac surgery with CPB. Blood samples were taken before (Pre-CPB), 2 h (H2-CPB) and 24 h (H24-CPB) after CPB. Plasma levels of 78 kDa Glucose- Regulated Protein (GRP78, final effector of UPR) were evaluated by ELISA. The expression of genes coding for key elements of UPR (*ATF6*, *ATF4*, *sXBP1*, *CHOP*) was evaluated by quantitative PCR performed on total blood. OF was defined as invasive mechanical ventilation and/or acute kidney injury and/or hemodynamic failure requiring catecholamines.

Results: We included 46 patients, GRP78 was decreased at H2-CPB [1,328 (878–1,730) ng/ml vs. 2,348 (1,655–3,730) ng/ml Pre-CPB; p < 0.001] but returned to basal levels at H24-CPB [2,068 (1,436–3,005) ng/ml]. The genes involved in UPR had increased expression at H2 and H24. GRP78 plasma levels in patients with OF at H24-CPB (n = 10) remained below Pre-CPB levels [-27.6 (-51.5; -24.2)%] compared to patients without OF (n = 36) in whom GRP78 levels returned to basal levels [0.6 (-28.1; 26.6)%; p < 0.01]. H24-CPB *ATF6* and *CHOP* expressions were lower in patients with OF than in patients without OF [2.3 (1.3-3.1) vs. 3.0 (2.7-3.7), p < 0.05 and 1.3 (0.9-2.0) vs. 2.2 (1.7-2.9), p < 0.05, respectively].

Conclusions: Low relative levels of GRP78 and weak UPR gene expression appeared associated with postoperative OF. Further studies are needed to understand ERS implication during acute organ failure in humans.

Keywords: bypass, cardiopulmonary, cardiac surgery, endoplasmic reticulum stress, endothelium, inflammation, GRP78 protein, human

INTRODUCTION

Cardio-pulmonary bypass (CPB) is routinely used throughout the world during heart surgery. This procedure often induces an aseptic systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) associated with post-operative morbidity (1–3). This SIRS might lead to hypotension and organ dysfunction, a situation referred to as "post-pump syndrome" (4). Given the association between elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels and negative clinical outcomes [post-operative acute kidney injury (AKI), decreased systemic vascular resistance and lung injury], it has been postulated that modulation of inflammatory processes could improve outcomes after cardiac surgery (2, 5). Despite a progression in knowledge of CPB-induced SIRS pathophysiology, specific therapeutics to control inflammatory process are still lacking.

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and its adaptive response, the unfolded protein response (UPR), represent an archetypal example of adaptive stress responses. The ER plays a crucial role in protein folding and maturation. This folding process is finely regulated, notably by specific proteins known as chaperones, such as the 78 kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein [GRP78, a heatshock protein coded by the Heat Shock 70kDa Protein 5 gene (HSPA5)], which stimulates the correct folding of polypeptide to functional protein complexes (6). Multiple disturbances observed during inflammation can result in a dysfunction of the ER, leading to the accumulation of unfolded proteins within the lumen of the ER, known as ER stress (ERS) (6, 7). The defense against ERS mainly involves the UPR which relies on three signaling pathways: Inositol-Requiring Protein-1 alpha pathway [IRE1a, involving the spliced ribonucleic acid (RNA) of X-box binding protein 1 (sXBP1)], Protein Kinase RNAlike ER kinase pathway [PERK, involving CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homologous protein (CHOP) and Activating Transcription Factor 4 (ATF4)] and Activating Transcription Factor 6 (ATF6) pathway (6). One of the roles of the UPR is to lead the synthesis of new chaperones to allow protein folding (e.g., GRP78, a final effector of UPR). However, if the ERS is severe and prolonged, UPR can lead to cell death by apoptosis (8).

Cytokine synthesis induces a massive increase in protein synthesis and, thus, an ERS which in turn activates NF-kB and thus maintains this synthesis (9). Cellular dysfunction, hallmarked by ERS, is increasingly recognized as an important contributor to the development of organ failure in critical illness, and in particular during systemic inflammation (6, 10, 11). ERS induces dysfunction and apoptosis of cardiomyocytes that can lead to heart failure and UPR have a protective effect on acute or chronic heart failure (12). ERS is associated with endothelial dysfunction and its inhibition improves endothelium-dependent relaxing function (13). In experimental sepsis, a treatment with 4phenylbutyric acid (4BPA; a chemical chaperone which inhibits ERS) decreases the tissue expression level of inflammatory cytokines, reduces organ dysfunction and improves survival (14, 15). In human, ERS is activated in the mononuclear cells of patients with septic acute lung injury, is involved in AKI and its expression is partly correlated with organ failure in patients with septic shock (10, 14, 16). A recent work has shown the feasibility of the non-invasive detection of the ERS in urine in patients undergoing cardiac surgery with CPB and indicates that an early and robust adaptive UPR is critical for endogenous protection to acute renal failure (17).

Thus, we designed a prospective study to describe the kinetics of UPR markers and to evaluate the link between UPR expression and organ failure in patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery with CPB.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This prospective pilot study was conducted in the cardiac surgery ICU of a tertiary care University Hospital between July 2018 and April 2019. The study (N°2017/179/HP) was approved by the ethics committee *Sud-Méditerrannée II* (n° CPP 2017-A03375-48) and was performed in accordance with French laws and with the ethical standards laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments (18).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Adult patients (\geq 18 y/o) who underwent cardiac surgery with an estimated duration of CPB of more than 1 h were eligible to be included in the study. Eligible patients were contacted, and written informed consent was obtained prior to inclusion.

Exclusion criteria were: age under 18 y/o or patient under guardianship, pregnancy/breastfeeding, urgent surgery, predictable CPB of <1 h [single or double coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) or single aortic valve replacement (VR)], surgery without sternotomy, a history of altered left ventricular systolic function (<30%), chronic autoimmune inflammatory disease, neoplasia.

Objectives

Primary Objective

The primary objective was to evaluate the variation in GRP78 plasma levels before CPB (Pre-CPB) and 2 and 24 h after the end of CPB.

Secondary Objectives

Secondary objectives were to evaluate:

- the kinetics of UPR pathway gene (*ATF6*, *ATF4*, *CHOP*, *HSPA5*, and *sXBP1*) expression in whole blood after CPB;
- the association between GRP78 plasma level variations and endothelial dysfunction markers [Syndecan-1, Vascular Cell

Abbreviations: 4PBA, 4-phenylbutyric acid; AKI, acute kidney injury; ATF, Activating Transcription Factor; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CHOP, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homologous protein; CPB, cardio-pulmonary bypass; Ct, cycle threshold; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERS, endoplasmic reticulum stress; GRP78, 78 kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein; HSPA5, Heat Shock 70kDa Protein 5; ICU, intensive care unit; IL, interleukin; IRE1 α , Inositol-Requiring Protein-1 alpha; PERK, Protein Kinase RNA-like ER kinase; Pre-CPB, before cardio-pulmonary bypass; qPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction; RNA, ribonucleic acid; SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score II; SDHA, succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A; SIRS, systemic inflammatory response syndrome; sXBP1, X-box binding protein 1; UPR, unfolded protein response; VCAM-1, Vascular Cell Adhesion Protein 1.

Adhesion Protein 1 (VCAM-1)], or inflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL)-6;

- the association between GRP78 level variations or UPR gene expression and organ failure 24 h after CPB (defined as presence of: invasive mechanical ventilation and/or AKI (Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes score ≥ 1) and/or hemodynamic failure requiring catecholamines) by comparing two groups: patients with and patients without organ failure 24 h after CPB.

Sample Collection and Analysis Surgical Procedure

Induction of anesthesia was achieved with intravenous hypnotic (propofol or etomidate), opioid (sufentanil or remifentanil) and curare (cisatracrium). The anesthesia was maintained with propofol and continuous infusion of opioids. CPB was initiated with a heparinized solution. Oxygenated blood was re-injected into the arterial circulation through a cannula inserted into the aorta downstream of aortic clamping. The heart was stopped by infusion of a cardioplegia solution (potassium and betablockers or Custodiol[©] cardioplegia). During surgery, mean blood pressure was maintained between 55 and 70 mmHg. At the end of the procedure, circulating heparin was neutralized with protamine. Vasoconstrictors or inotropic agents, fluids, and transfusion products were administered at the discretion of the anesthesiologist based on clinical, echocardiographic and biological findings. Patients were transferred to post-operative cardiac ICU and monitored hourly for the first 24 h and then every 3 h for the remaining period of the ICU stay.

For each patient, baseline pre-operative characteristics were evaluated (sex, age, body mass index). The data relevant to the undertaken surgical procedure (type of surgery, surgery/CPB duration) and ICU stay [Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS) II], use of catecholamine, duration of mechanical ventilation, length of ICU stay were collected.

Blood Sampling

All samples were collected from patients' arterial line, using standard hygiene protocols. The Pre-CPB sample was taken after induction of anesthesia and before incision, just after the arterial catheter was placed, postoperative samples were taken 2 and 24 h after the end of CPB, respectively. At each time point, one PAXgene[®] tube [allowing the conservation of ribonucleic acid (RNA) of circulating blood cells; Quiagen, Hilden, Germany; 2.5 ml of blood] and one EDTA tube (4 ml of blood) were collected. The EDTA tube was immediately centrifuged at 3,000 g for 15 min and plasma was aliquoted in microtubes. Samples were kept for a maximum of 7 days in the freezer of the ICU at -20° C and then were stored at -80° C until final analysis.

Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Plasma GRP78 concentrations were determined using the commercial kit GRP78/BiP ADI-900-214 (Enzo Life Sciences, France) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After preliminary analyses, a dilution of our samples to 1:10 was chosen for optimized results. Other protein concentrations were determined using the Thermo Fisher Scientific (MA,

USA) commercials kits IL-6 (ref. EH2IL6), Syndecan-1 (ref. EHSDC1) and VCAM-1 (ref. KHT0601) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Ribonucleic Acid Extraction, Reverse Transcription, and Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

RNA extraction was performed using the commercial kit PAXgene[®] Blood RNA System kit (Quiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Before RNA elution, residual genomic deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) was digested using RNase-Free DNase set (Quiagen, Hilden, Germany). The integrity and quantity of the total RNA were assessed with a Nanodrop 2000 device (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MS, USA). Total RNAs were reverse transcribed into cDNA using M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

A quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed for:

- The mRNA of genes coding for proteins involved in UPR: *ATF6*, *ATF4*, *sXBP1*, *CHOP*, *HSPA5*;
- The mRNA of the gene coding for succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A (SDHA). As *SDHA* has been described as a pertinent housekeeping gene in humans with inflammation and as its cycle threshold (Ct) is close to the Ct of UPR genes in qPCR, it appeared as the best housekeeping gene for our work (19).

The genes that were amplified and the primers that were used are listed in Table 1. Quantitative PCR was performed using the Quantstudio 12K Flex system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The 384well PCR plates were prepared with 1.2 μ L of cDNA (16.7 ng/ μ L) diluted at 1:10 and 3.81 µL of reaction mix. The reaction mix contained the sense and antisense primers at a concentration of 300 nM (0.02 μ L \times 2), Fast Sybr Master mix (2.50 μ L) and water DNase and RNase free (1.27 μ L). The final volume was 5 µL per well. Samples were deposited using the Bravo Automated Liquid Handling Platform pipetting robot (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). The analysis included a first activation step for 20s and then 40 amplification cycles consisting of a new activation phase at 95°C for 1 s followed by an elongation phase at 60°C for 20 s. Ct values were used for quantifying target gene expression relative to the housekeeping gene using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.

Statistical Analysis

In view of a previous work studying UPR expression during septic SIRS, we considered that it was necessary to include at least 45 patients to highlight a significant UPR after CPB (10). Since each subject was taken as its own control, the nonparametric Wilcoxon matched pairs signed rank test was used to assess significant variations in quantitative parameters. For group comparisons, the quantitative variables were compared using a Mann-Whitney test or a Student's test depending on the distribution of the data. The Pearson correlation test was used to assess the strength of the association between two quantitative variables. Continuous data are expressed as

TABLE 1 | Primers used for quantitative PCR.

Gene name	Sense	Sequence (5'-3')
SDHA	Forward	GAGATGTGGTGTCTCGGTCCAT
	Reverse	GCTGTCTCTGAAATGCCAGGCA
ATF4	Forward	GTTCTCCAGCGACAAGGCTA
	Reverse	ATCCTGCTTGCTGTTGTTGG
CHOP	Forward	TCGCCGAGCTCTGATTGAC
	Reverse	CCCTGCGTATGTGGGATTGAG
sXBP1	Forward	TGCTGAGTCCGCAGCAGGTG
	Reverse	GCTGGCAGGCTCTGGGGAAG
ATF6	Forward	CCGCAGAAGGGGAGACACA
	Reverse	TCGGAGGTAAGGAGGAACTGACG
HSPA5	Forward	CGAGGAGGAGGACAAGAAGG
	Reverse	CACCTTGAACGGCAAGAACT

ATF4/6, Activating Transcription Factor 4/6; CHOP, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homologous protein; HSPA5, Heat Shock 70kDa Protein 5; SDHA, succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A; sXBP1, spliced X-box binding protein 1.

median with interquartile range, categorical data are presented as absolute values with percentages. All statistical tests were twosided and the 0.05 probability level was used to establish statistical significance. The statistical analyses were performed by means of the statistical software SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute; Cary, NC). The data were exported to GraphPad Prism 8.0 software for figure creation.

RESULTS

Clinical and Demographic Characteristics of Population

Forty-six patients were enrolled between July 2018 and April 2019. Baseline and peri-operative characteristics of included patients are detailed in **Table 2**. All patients were alive at D28.

GRP78 Plasma Levels

The plasma level of GRP78 was significantly decreased 2 h after CPB but there was no difference in GRP78 levels between pre-operative and 24-h post-CPB samples (**Figure 1A**). Relative changes in GRP78 levels 2 and 24 h after CPB are shown in **Figure 2**. There was no correlation between relative changes in GRP78 plasma level variation at 24 h and duration of CPB [r = -0.19 (-0.45; 0.11); p = 0.22]. There was no correlation between plasma level of C-reactive protein and plasma level of GRP78 at H24 [r = 0.17 (-0.13; 0.44); p = 0.26].

Syndecan-1, VCAM-1, and IL-6 Plasma Levels

The plasma level of VCAM-1 did not show any change at 2 h after CPB but was significantly increased 24 h after CPB (**Figure 1B**) while syndecan-1 and IL-6 levels were increased 2 and 24 h after CPB (**Figures 1C,D**). Relative changes in studied protein levels at 2 and 24 h post-CPB (compared to the value before CPB) are shown in **Figure 2** (as Pre-CPB IL-6 levels were undetectable, it was not possible to perform a relative analysis for this cytokine).

TABLE 2 | Main demographic and clinical characteristics of patients.

Demographic characteristics	
Number of patients	46
Age (years)	70 (63–76)
Sex-ratio (M/F)	3.6 (36/10)
Body Mass Index (kg/m²)	28.1 (25.7–30.5)
Length of stay in hospital (days)	13 (9–17)
Surgical characteristics	
Type of surgery:	
- coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG)	9 (19.6 %)
- mitral valve surgery	10 (21.7 %)
- Bentall or Tirone-David surgery	10 (21.7 %)
- Ross surgery	1 (2.2 %)
- aortic + mitral valve surgery	5 (10.9 %)
- aortic valve surgery + CABG	5 (10.9 %)
- mitral valve surgery + CABG	4 (8.7 %)
- aortic + mitral valve surgery + CABG	2 (4.3 %)
Duration of surgery (min)	221 (186–254)
Duration of CPB (min)	117 (92–139)
Hematocrit (%)	
- before CPB	42 (26–49)
- 2h after CPB	35 (27–40)
- 24 h after CPB	34 (26–41)
ICU stay characteristics	
SAPS II	33 (30–40)
Duration of mechanical ventilation (hours)	6 (4–8)
Length of ICU stay (days)	3 (2–5)

Data are presented as median with interquartile range or absolute value and percentage [n (%)]. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CPB, Cardiopulmonary Bypass; ICU, Intensive Care Unit; SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score II.

Twenty-four hours after CPB, there was no correlation between GRP78 plasma level variations and VCAM-1 [r = 0.04 (-0.33; 0.25); p = 0.79] and Syndecan-1 [-0.29 (-0.53; 0.00); p = 0.05] plasma level variations or IL-6 absolute values [r = 0.12 (-0.18; 0.40); p = 0.43].

There was also no correlation of the absolute values of GRP78 rates with those of IL-6, VCAM-1, and Syndecan-1 at H24 (**Supplemental Figure 1**).

Gene Expression of Unfolded Protein Response

The expression of *CHOP* and *sXBP1* was increased 2 h after CPB and remained stable 24 h after CPB. *ATF4* showed a small increase in expression 2 h after CPB but there was no difference in its expression between pre-operative and 24-h post-CPB samples (**Figure 3**). The expression of *ATF6* was increased 2 h after CPB and kept increasing 24 h after CPB (**Figure 3**).

Correlation Between Unfolded Protein Response and Clinical Outcome

Of the 46 patients, 10 had persistent organ failure 24 h after CPB (9 treated with catecholamines, 4 mechanically ventilated and 2 with acute renal failure; **Supplementary Table 1**). Their



demographical and clinical characteristics are presented in the Table 3. There was no difference concerning Pre-CPB GRP78 levels and UPR gene expression between patients with or without organ failure (Supplementary Table 2). GRP78 plasma levels at 24-h post-CPB in patients with persistent organ failure remained significantly below Pre-CPB levels compared to patients without organ failure in whom GRP78 levels returned to baseline levels (Figure 4). To evaluate the potential bias induced by hemodilution on GRP78 levels according to the presence or absence of organ failure, we analyzed the variations in total protein levels between patients with and without organ failure and found no significant differences between groups (Figure 4). Among the patients with organ failure, the decrease in GRP78 levels between Pre-CPB and H24-CPB was correlated to the number of organ failures [r = -0.76 (-0.94 to -0.24); p = 0.01;Figure 5]. ATF6 and CHOP expressions were significantly lower 24 h after CPB in patients with organ failure while there was no difference concerning *sXBP1* and *ATF4* expression (Figure 6).



FIGURE 2 | Relative levels of studied protein 2 (H2-CPB) and 24 (H24-CPB) hours after cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). The results show a post-operative relative increase in Syndecan-1 and VCAM-1 and a transient decrease (2 h after CPB only) in GRP78. Dosages were performed by Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Values are presented as median with interquartile range. ***p < 0.001 in comparison with Pre-CPB level. GRP78, 78 kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein; VCAM-1, Vascular Cell Adhesion Protein 1.



FIGURE 3 Relative changes in Unfolded Protein Response gene expression after cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). The results show a post-operative increase in the expression of genes coding for the key proteins of unfolded protein response, meaning a postoperative activation of the unfolded protein response. Analyses were performed by quantitative polymerase chain reaction. Gene expression prior to CPB (Pre-CPB) was averaged to 1 for each gene. For each patient, expressions at 2 h (H2-CPB) and 24 h (H24-CPB) after CPB were expressed as relative to Pre-CPB. Values are presented as median with interquartile range. Differences expressed in comparison with preoperative gene expressions: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. Differences expressed in comparison with H2-CPB gene expressions: ##p < 0.01. ATF, Activating Transcription Factor; CHOP, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homologous protein; HSPA5, Heat Shock 70kDa Protein 5; sXBP1, spliced RNA of X-box binding protein 1.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, we describe for the first time the kinetics of all UPR pathways to restore ER homeostasis in patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery with CPB. We found that the plasma level of GRP78, one of the final effectors of the UPR, was decreased at the initial phase of CPB-induced SIRS and that a persistent

	No organ failure (n = 36)	Organ failure (n = 10)	p
Demographic characteristics			
Age (years)	71 (66–75)	69 (51–76)	0.46
Sex-ratio (M/F)	6.2	1.0	0.27
Body Mass Index (kg/m²)	27.0 (24.8–29.3)	31.5 (28.3–34.7)	0.02
Length of stay in hospital (days)	13 (9–16)	19 (11–24)	0.08
Surgical characteristics			
Type of surgery [n (%)]:			
 coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) 	8 (22%)	1 (10%)	0.79
- valve surgery	20 (56%)	6 (60%)	
- valve + CABG surgery	8 (22%)	3 (30%)	
Duration of surgery (min)	212 (179–254)	251 (208–260)	0.12
Duration of CPB (min)	109 (63–198)	138 (81–259)	0.70
ICU stay characteristics			
SAPS II	33 (27–38)	41 (31–49)	0.78
Duration of mechanical ventilation (hours)	5 (4–7)	11 (7–33)	0.02
Length of ICU stay (days)	3 (2-4)	5 (4–6)	0.08

TABLE 3 | Comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics of patients

 with and without organ failure 24 h after cardiopulmonary bypass.

Data are presented as median with interquartile range or absolute value and percentage [n (%)]. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CPB, Cardiopulmonary Bypass; ICU, Intensive Care Unit; SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score II.

decrease in GRP78 levels was associated with postoperative organ failure in this population.

Kinetics of Unfolded Protein Response

The present study demonstrates that CPB stimulated UPR, as reflected by the increased gene expression of the three UPR pathways: IRE1a, PERK, and ATF6.We observed a brief decrease in circulating GRP78 levels 2h after CPB and a return to baseline level 24h after CPB. We didn't find any correlation between changes in GRP78 at 24 h and duration of CPB but our range of CPB times was not wide. Future investigations should examine a broader range of CPB times before really concluding on this point. It is known that heatshock proteins can be secreted extracellularly by many cells (dendritic cells, hepatocytes, myocytes, gut cells, lymphocytes, etc.) through several regulated pathways: lysosome-endosome pathway, secretory-like granules, extracellular vesicles (20). A previous work reported that extracellular GRP78 is mostly due to an active release from intact cells and does not result solely from the leakage of proteins from dead cells (21). It is therefore likely that the decrease in GRP78 plasma level is the result of an adaptive cellular mechanism.

Several studies have shown an increase in GRP78 plasma levels in patients with chronic systemic inflammation (cancer, obesity, atherosclerosis) (22–24). However, in acute systemic inflammation, there is increased demand for intracellular GRP78 to resolve the ERS (6, 25). This may explain the observed early decrease of extracellular GRP78 which is associated with



FIGURE 4 | Relative changes (%) in GRP78 levels at 24 h after cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB; H24-CPB) in patients with or without organ failure. The results show that GRP78 levels remain below baseline in patients with organ failure while they return to baseline in patients without organ failure (with no difference in proteinemia between the two groups), suggesting a less intense unfolded protein response in patients with organ failure. Dosages were performed by Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Values are presented as median with interquartile range. ** ρ < 0.01 between groups. GRP78, 78 kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein.



FIGURE 5 Correlation between relative changes (%) in GRP/8 levels at 24 n after cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB; H24-CPB) and the number of organ failures in the subgroup of patients with organ failure. The results show that a high number of organ failure is correlated with a significant decrease in GRP78 levels compared to the baseline level before CPB. GRP78, 78 kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein.

a rapid activation of UPR gene transcription 2 h after CPB, allowing a return of GRP78 to baseline level 24 h after CPB. It appears normal for the transcription to precede the translation



tailure. Results show that the expression of *AIF6* and *CHOP* genes (which code for unfolded protein response key proteins) is lower in patients with postoperative organ failure than in those without organ failure, suggesting a less intense unfolded protein response in patients with organ failure. Analyses were performed by quantitative polymerase chain reaction. Values are presented as median with interquartile range. *p < 0.05 between groups. Gene expression at 24 h after CPB was relative to preoperative expression. ATF, Activating Transcription Factor; CHOP, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homologous protein; HSPA5, Heat Shock 70kDa Protein 5; sXBP1, spliced RNA of X-box binding protein 1.

and it should be noted that the transcription of HSPA5, which codes for GRP78, is elevated early (from H2). However, the effective recovery of GRP78 plasma levels is only visualized at H24. This suggests that the activation of UPR genes is very rapid after inflammation but that its protein response in plasma is time-shifted. It has been shown that the UPR genes expression of each UPR pathway are highly correlated during ERS with variations among individual (26, 27). Our results show that the three pathways of UPR are activated during aseptic systemic inflammation in humans. However, the kinetics of these pathways appears to be different. The IRE1α (explored by *sXBP1*) and PERK (explored by ATF4 and CHOP) pathways seemed to have a stable level of expression between 2 and 24 h after CPB. On the contrary, ATF6 expression increased significantly 2h after CPB and kept increasing 24h after CPB. During ERS, ATF6 pathway is the first to be initiated and, due to its rapid activation (proteolytic cleavage and direct action on the genome as a transcription factor), it has the most reactive kinetics of the three UPR pathways (28, 29). ATF6 upregulates many protective genes and downregulates many potentially damaging genes, and previous studies have shown that ATF6 activation in cardiac myocytes protects the heart from ischemic damage, while inhibiting ATF6 has the opposite effect (30-32). Given our results and as previously suggested, it is possible that among UPR pathways, ATF6 is the most intensely involved pathway during acute SIRS (which could explain why its activation continued to increase 24 h after CPB) (10). The three UPR pathways have, in part, common effects to resolve ERS: chaperone synthesis, activation of ER associated degradation, activation of Nuclear Factor-Kappa B, etc. (6, 8). It is therefore difficult to propose a hypothesis on the clinical consequences of differential activation of the three pathways of UPR over time. Future works studying the activation kinetics of the UPR pathways in humans are in any case necessary to confirm or invalidate our results and to analyze more precisely the activation/return to normal delays after acute inflammation.

Unfolded Protein Response and Organ Failure

It is known that apoptosis, cytokine release and oxidative stress induced by ERS can lead to organ failure during sepsis (15). To respond to ERS, cells activate an adaptative pathway, the UPR, to synthesize chaperones (including GRP78) and restore normal ER function. It can therefore be assumed that ERS after cardiac surgery can also be a source of organ failure. Circulating GRP78 levels returned to levels comparable to baseline at H24-CPB except in patients with persistent organ failure who maintained GRP78 levels below their initial baseline. They also had a lower UPR gene expression than patients without organ failure. In a previous study, the expression of UPR mRNA gene in urine after cardiac surgery showed that patients with a rapid increase in sXBP1 mRNAs expression in urine (reflecting kidney UPR) had less AKI (17). These data suggest that a robust post-operative activation of the UPR after CPB is critical for protecting against organ failure. Moreover, pre-clinical data show that the resolution of ERS via chemical chaperones (e.g., 4BPA) can correct organ failure induced by a septic SIRS (14, 15). In our study, patients with a relatively strong UPR response (that probably allowed ERS resolution) returned to their baseline chaperone levels with no organ failure, while patients with a weaker UPR response failed to return to their baseline chaperone levels and had persistent organ failure. Our results are therefore consistent with previous data in human and animals on the impact of ERS and UPR on organ failure during SIRS. But, as previously stated, the prognostic value of the markers of ERS response may change with the duration of adaptive responses, which also reflect the duration of the stress (17). While a strong UPR appears necessary in the acute stress phase, excessively prolonged ERS responses promote cell death as a result of an imbalance in favor of proapoptotic pathways rather than antiapoptotic pathways (8).

Extracellular GRP78 is known to have anti-inflammatory properties by inducing the endocytosis of the Toll-Like Receptor 4, reducing the production of inflammatory cytokines and increasing the synthesis of anti-inflammatory cytokines (33, 34). It is therefore possible that patients returning to pre-operative levels of GRP78 may also benefit from its immunomodulatory effect and thus be less likely to develop persistent organ failure than patients remaining at relatively low levels of extracellular GRP78. Nevertheless, our work does not establish a causal link between organ failure after CPB and the level of GRP78, and further works are therefore necessary to confirm or invalidate our observations.

Syndecan-1, VCAM-1, and IL-6 Plasma Levels

It has been shown that ERS is implicated in endothelial dysfunction and that its inhibition in humans improves endothelial dysfunction induced by glucose ingestion (13, 35). Moreover, in a previous study conducted in septic patients, we have shown an association between expressions of *ATF6* and *ET1* (coding for endothelin-1 which is associated with endothelial dysfunction) (10). However, we did not find a link between VCAM-1, Syndecan-1 or IL-6 and GRP78 variations. With regard to the results of previous studies on the link between ERS and endothelial dysfunction, we should be cautious and not conclude the absence of a link between ERS and endothelial dysfunction in patients undergoing cardiac surgery with CPB.

LIMITATIONS

Our work has several major limitations. First, it is a pilot physiological study with a limited number of patients. We included patients with several types of surgery (valve and/or CABG) which could lead to a heterogeneity of the studied population. For example, it is known that valve surgery induces more systemic inflammation than coronary bypass surgery (36). It is therefore possible that ERS may be more pronounced in patients with valve surgery. Second, our work involved gene expression in the whole blood. As some of the proteins studied in our work cannot be measured in blood without complex cell isolation techniques, RNA quantification appeared to be the best compromise. RNA expression on whole blood measured using Paxgen tubes is strongly correlated with RNA expression in circulating leucocytes, we can thus assume that we detected variations in leucocyte gene expression (37). As it is known that UPR plays a crucial role in immune cells, including differentiation, immune activation, antibody production and cytokine expression, it seemed relevant to study the leucocyte expression of UPR genes (38, 39). However, we may have missed a potentially greater variation in gene expression in tissues and organs, as observed in animal models (14, 15). Third, we performed the first sampling after anesthetic induction. It is known that propofol has a mild inhibitory effect on ERS several hours after induction (40). Given the mechanisms involved in UPR activation (gene transcription, protein translation), it is unlikely that there would be significant variations in UPR between pre-induction period and immediate post-induction period (a few minutes). Furthermore, since all patients had a standardized anesthesia protocol, it is likely that the effects of propofol on ERS were identical for all patients. Fourth, our samples were taken at only two post-operative timepoints and it is possible that we were not able to highlight the real peak of UPR expression. Moreover, our data show that the expression of several genes involved in UPR remains high 24 h after CPB compared to baseline. Our work did not allow us to conclude when the genes involved returned to baseline expression. Fifth, we only studied patients with cardiac pathologies, some of which are associated with ERS-inducing pathologies: diabetes, atherosclerosis, obesity, metabolic syndrome (41). It is therefore not certain that GRP78 and UPR kinetics would be identical in a population without pathologies. However, it should be noted that the GRP78 plasma levels found before CPB and 24 h after CPB were very close to those recently described in a group of healthy volunteers, which probably makes our results quite extrapolable to other populations (42). Finally, we defined organ failure according to usual clinical criteria, but we did not use a standardized organ failure score such as the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score. This complicates the interpretation of the results and makes it more difficult to compare our results with those of other works. Further studies will need to be done using this type of score to define organ failure.

CONCLUSION

We describe for the first time the kinetics of all UPR pathways during SIRS induced by cardiac surgery with CPB. We found that the plasma level of GRP78 was decreased at the initial phase of CPB-induced SIRS and that low relative GRP78 levels appeared associated with postoperative organ failure. However, further studies are needed to better understand ERS and UPR implications during systemic inflammation and acute organ failure in humans.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by CPP Sud-Méditerranée II - Hôpital Sainte Marguerite - Pavillon 9 - 270 Boulevard Sainte Marguerite 13274 MARSEILLE. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TC was involved in the study conception and design, in acquisition of data, in analysis and interpretation of data and in manuscript draft. ZD was involved in acquisition of data, in analysis and interpretation of data and in manuscript draft. XS was involved in acquisition and in interpretation of data. CT was involved in statistical analysis and in interpretation of data. EB, JS, and FD were involved in the study conception and design, in interpretation of data and in manuscript revision. VR, BV, and FT were involved in the study conception and design, in analysis and interpretation of data and in manuscript revision. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported Normandie Rouen University, INSERM, and Rouen University Hospital.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Nikki Sabourin-Gibbs, Rouen University Hospital, for her help in editing the manuscript. We thank Vincent Scherrer, Gioia Gastaldi, Elisabeth Surlemont, Nathalie Rey, Geoffrey Kouadri, Véronique Wurtz, Julien Abily (Cardiac Anesthesia, Rouen University Hospital) for their help in including patients. We also thank Assia Ferrane, Cécile Pourcher (Department of Clinical Research, Rouen University Hospital),

REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. (2018) 137:e67– e492. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Bronicki RA, Hall M. Cardiopulmonary bypass-induced inflammatory response: pathophysiology and treatment. *Pediatr Crit Care Med J.* (2016) 17:S272–8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000759
- Clive Landis R, Murkin JM, Stump DA, Baker RA, Arrowsmith JE, De Somer F, et al. Consensus statement: minimal criteria for reporting the systemic inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass. *Heart Surg Forum*. (2010) 13:E116–23. doi: 10.1532/HSF98.20101182
- Day JRS, Taylor KM. The systemic inflammatory response syndrome and cardiopulmonary bypass. *Int J Surg Lond Engl.* (2005) 3:129– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2005.04.002
- Shaefi S, Mittel A, Klick J, Evans A, Ivascu NS, Gutsche J, et al. Vasoplegia after cardiovascular procedures-pathophysiology and targeted therapy. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2018) 32:1013–22. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2017.10.032
- Khan MM, Yang W-L, Wang P. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in sepsis. Shock. (2015) 44:294–304. doi: 10.1097/SHK.00000000000425
- Ron D, Walter P. Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2007) 8:519–29. doi: 10.1038/nrm2199
- Walter P, Ron D. The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. *Science*. (2011) 334:1081– 6. doi: 10.1126/science.1209038
- Kitamura M. Control of NF-κB and inflammation by the unfolded protein response. *Int Rev Immunol.* (2011) 30:4– 15. doi: 10.3109/08830185.2010.522281
- Clavier T, Grangé S, Pressat-Laffouilhere T, Besnier E, Renet S, Fraineau S, et al. Gene expression of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B and endoplasmic reticulum stress during septic shock. *Front Med.* (2019) 6:240. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00240
- Luís A, Hackl M, Jafarmadar M, Keibl C, Jilge JM, Grillari J, et al. Circulating miRNAs associated with ER stress and organ damage in a preclinical model of trauma hemorrhagic shock. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:568096. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.568096
- Wang S, Binder P, Fang Q, Wang Z, Xiao W, Liu W, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in the heart: insights into mechanisms and drug targets. Br J Pharmacol. (2018) 175:1293–304. doi: 10.1111/bph.13888
- Thiebaut P-A, Delile E, Coquerel D, Brunel J-M, Renet S, Tamion F, et al. Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B regulates endothelial endoplasmic reticulum stress; role in endothelial dysfunction. *Vascul Pharmacol.* (2018) 109:36– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2018.05.011
- Kim HJ, Jeong JS, Kim SR, Park SY, Chae HJ, Lee YC. Inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum stress alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation through modulation of NF-κB/HIF-1α signaling pathway. *Sci Rep.* (2013) 3:1142. doi: 10.1038/srep01142
- Liu L, Wu H, Zang J, Yang G, Zhu Y, Wu Y, et al. 4-Phenylbutyric acid reveals good beneficial effects on vital organ function via antiendoplasmic reticulum stress in septic rats. *Crit Care Med.* (2016) 44:e689– 701. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001662

and Sylvanie Renet (INSERM U1096) for logistic support. Finally, we thank David Vaudry and Caroline Theresine (PRIMACEN platform, Rouen University), for their help in quantitative PCR.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2020.613518/full#supplementary-material

- Yan M, Shu S, Guo C, Tang C, Dong Z. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in ischemic and nephrotoxic acute kidney injury. *Ann Med.* (2018) 50:381– 90. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2018.1489142
- Fohlen B, Tavernier Q, Huynh T-M, Caradeuc C, Le Corre D, Bertho G, et al. Real-time and non-invasive monitoring of the activation of the IRE1α-XBP1 pathway in individuals with hemodynamic impairment. *EBioMedicine*. (2018) 27:284–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.12.023
- Toulouse E, Masseguin C, Lafont B, McGurk G, Harbonn A, A Roberts J, et al. French legal approach to clinical research. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med.* (2018) 37:607–14. doi: 10.1016/j.accpm.2018.10.013
- Cummings M, Sarveswaran J, Homer-Vanniasinkam S, Burke D, Orsi NM. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is an inappropriate housekeeping gene for normalising gene expression in sepsis. *Inflammation*. (2014) 37:1889–94. doi: 10.1007/s10753-014-9920-3
- De Maio A, Vazquez D. Extracellular heat shock proteins: a new location, a new function. *Shock.* (2013) 40:239-46. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e3182 a185ab
- Delpino A, Castelli M. The 78 kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78/BIP) is expressed on the cell membrane, is released into cell culture medium and is also present in human peripheral circulation. *Biosci Rep.* (2002) 22:407– 20. doi: 10.1023/A:1020966008615
- Khadir A, Kavalakatt S, Abubaker J, Cherian P, Madhu D, Al-Khairi I, et al. Physical exercise alleviates ER stress in obese humans through reduction in the expression and release of GRP78 chaperone. *Metabolism.* (2016) 65:1409– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.06.004
- Ciortea R, Berceanu C, Mălutan AM, Mocan R, Iuhas C, Bucuri CE, et al. Intraperitoneal fat through GRP78: a risk factor for endometrial cancer. *Anal Cell Pathol.* (2016) 2016:3496538. doi: 10.1155/2016/3496538
- 24. Girona J, Rodríguez-Borjabad C, Ibarretxe D, Vallvé J-C, Ferré R, Heras M, et al. The circulating GRP78/BiP is a marker of metabolic diseases and atherosclerosis: bringing endoplasmic reticulum stress into the clinical scenario. *J Clin Med.* (2019) 8:1793. doi: 10.3390/jcm8 111793
- Leonard A, Grose V, Paton AW, Paton JC, Yule DI, Rahman A, et al. Selective inactivation of intracellular BiP/GRP78 attenuates endothelial inflammation and permeability in acute lung injury. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:2096. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38312-w
- Zhang Y, Lucius MD, Altomare D, Havighorst A, Farmaki E, Chatzistamou I, et al. Coordination analysis of gene expression points to the relative impact of different regulators during endoplasmic reticulum stress. DNA Cell Biol. (2019) 38:969–81. doi: 10.1089/dna.2019.4910
- Havighorst A, Zhang Y, Farmaki E, Kaza V, Chatzistamou I, Kiaris H. Differential regulation of the unfolded protein response in outbred deer mice and susceptibility to metabolic disease. *Dis Model Mech.* (2019) 12: dmm037242. doi: 10.1242/dmm.037242
- Okada T, Yoshida H, Akazawa R, Negishi M, Mori K. Distinct roles of activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) and double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) in transcription during the mammalian unfolded protein response. *Biochem J.* (2002) 366:585– 94. doi: 10.1042/bj20020391
- Yoshida H, Matsui T, Hosokawa N, Kaufman RJ, Nagata K, Mori K. A timedependent phase shift in the mammalian unfolded protein response. *Dev Cell*. (2003) 4:265–71. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00022-4

- Egawa N, Yamamoto K, Inoue H, Hikawa R, Nishi K, Mori K, et al. The endoplasmic reticulum stress sensor, ATF6α, protects against neurotoxininduced dopaminergic neuronal death. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:7947– 57. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.156430
- Wu J, Rutkowski DT, Dubois M, Swathirajan J, Saunders T, Wang J, et al. ATF6alpha optimizes long-term endoplasmic reticulum function to protect cells from chronic stress. *Dev Cell.* (2007) 13:351–64. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.07.005
- Doroudgar S, Thuerauf DJ, Marcinko MC, Belmont PJ, Glembotski CC. Ischemia activates the ATF6 branch of the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:29735–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.018036
- 33. Tang Y, Jiang Q, Ou Y, Zhang F, Qing K, Sun Y, et al. BIP induces mice CD19(hi) regulatory B cells producing IL-10 and highly expressing PD-L1, FasL. *Mol Immunol.* (2016) 69:44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.10.017
- Qin K, Ma S, Li H, Wu M, Sun Y, Fu M, et al. GRP78 impairs production of lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokines by interaction with CD14. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:579. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00579
- Walsh LK, Restaino RM, Neuringer M, Manrique C, Padilla J. Administration of tauroursodeoxycholic acid prevents endothelial dysfunction caused by an oral glucose load. *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130:1881–8. doi: 10.1042/CS20160501
- Kawahito K, Adachi H, Ino T. Influence of surgical procedures on interleukin-6 and monocyte chemotactic and activating factor responses: CABG vs. valvular surgery. J Interferon Cytokine Res. (2000) 20:1– 6. doi: 10.1089/107999000312676
- 37. Feezor RJ, Baker HV, Mindrinos M, Hayden D, Tannahill CL, Brownstein BH, et al. Whole blood and leukocyte RNA isolation for gene expression analyses. *Physiol Genomics*. (2004) 19:247–54. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00020.2004

- So J-S. Roles of endoplasmic reticulum stress in immune responses. *Mol Cells*. (2018) 41:705–16. doi: 10.14348/molcells.2018.0241
- Ma Y, Shimizu Y, Mann MJ, Jin Y, Hendershot LM. Plasma cell differentiation initiates a limited ER stress response by specifically suppressing the PERKdependent branch of the unfolded protein response. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. (2010) 15:281–93. doi: 10.1007/s12192-009-0142-9
- Seo E-H, Piao L, Park H-J, Lee JY, Sa M, Oh C-S, et al. Impact of general anaesthesia on endoplasmic reticulum stress: propofol vs. isoflurane. *Int J Med Sci.* (2019) 16:1287–94. doi: 10.7150/ijms.36265
- Mohan S, Brown L, Ayyappan P. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: a master regulator of metabolic syndrome. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2019) 860:172553. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.172553
- Baek J-H, Mamula D, Tingstam B, Pereira M, He Y, Svenningsson P. GRP78 level is altered in the brain, but not in plasma or cerebrospinal fluid in Parkinson's disease patients. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:697. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00697

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Clavier, Demailly, Semaille, Thill, Selim, Veber, Doguet, Richard, Besnier and Tamion. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association of Nutritional Risk Index With Postoperative Pain Outcomes in Elderly Patients Undergoing Gastrointestinal Surgeries: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Hua Zheng¹, Guangyou Duan², Shiqian Shen³ and Xianwei Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ² Department of Anesthesiology, Second Affiliated Hospital, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ³ MGH Center for Translational Pain Research, Department of Anesthesia, Critical Care and Pain Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yoshiyuki Ikeda, Kagoshima University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Vikas Bansal, Mayo Clinic, United States Akihiro Tokushige, Kagoshima University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Xianwei Zhang ourpain@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 17 February 2020 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 09 September 2021

Citation:

Zheng H, Duan G, Shen S and Zhang X (2021) Association of Nutritional Risk Index With Postoperative Pain Outcomes in Elderly Patients Undergoing Gastrointestinal Surgeries: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front. Med. 8:535627. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.535627 **Background:** Malnutrition is a major health problem, which is common in hospitalized elderly patients and is associated with an increased risk of morbidity and mortality. However, studies on malnutrition and its effect on postoperative pain outcomes in elderly patients have been largely neglected. Here we investigated the relationship between nutritional risk and postoperative pain outcomes in elderly patients.

Methods: Between April 1, 2012, and August 31, 2015, 734 elderly patients (\geq 65 years) who underwent gastrointestinal surgeries were recruited and assigned into two groups according to geriatric nutritional risk index (GNRI). All patients received standard anesthesia procedures and postoperative patient-controlled analgesia for 48 h. The preoperative epidemiology data and postoperative outcome data including pain intensities at rest and movement, the cumulative consumption of analgesics and its common side effects were recorded.

Results: The total number of patients with high nutritional risk (GNRI < 92) was 533 out of 734 (72.62%). When compared with low nutritional risk individuals (GNRI \geq 92), the incidence of inadequate analgesia was significantly higher in elderly patients with GNRI < 92 at different time points. In addition, the cumulative consumption of analgesics was also significantly higher in elderly patients with GNRI < 92 at 0–6 h postoperatively. Through logistic regression analysis, high nutritional risk (OR = 3.113, 95% CI: 1.661–5.834, P < 0.001) and female gender (OR = 0.606, 95% CI: 0.394–0.932, P = 0.023) were identified as significant predictors for postoperative inadequate analgesia. Further sensitivity analyses showed high nutritional risk as a predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia was more prominent in female patients and early elderly patients. Moreover, 88 was determined as an optimal cut-off value of GNRI for postoperative inadequate analgesia using receiver operating characteristic curve analysis.

Conclusion: High nutritional risk is associated with poor postoperative pain outcomes in gastrointestinal elderly patients. Preoperative nutritional evaluation using simple nutritional screening instruments (e.g., GNRI) with the new suggested cut-off value (GNRI = 88) might be included as a standard procedure in routine clinical practice among these patients for postoperative analgesia.

Keywords: geriatric nutritional risk index, postoperative pain, postoperative inadequate analgesia, gastrointestinal surgeries, elderly patients

INTRODUCTION

Population aging is a worldwide phenomenon. It is predicted that persons over 65 years will compose 30% of the total population by the year 2050 (1). Although these aged individuals are expected to increase demand for surgical treatments (2), management of postoperative pain in elderly patients continues to be a major challenge. It is reported that \sim 50–75% of elderly patients experience inadequate postoperative pain relief (3). The under treatment of postoperative pain is associated with serious negative consequences, including increased risk of myocardial, thromboembolic or pulmonary complications, impaired rehabilitation, increased length of hospital stay, increased risk of persistent postoperative pain and elevated mortality rate (4).

The failure to provide appropriate postoperative analgesia in elderly patients is multifactorial. One of the common reasons is inadequate knowledge about physiological or pathophysiological changes and their effects on postoperative pain management in elderly patients (5). As a result of aging processes, elderly patients are at higher risk of malnutrition due to decreased gastric secretions and intestinal motility (6), which has been proven to predict morbidity and mortality among older hospitalized patients (7, 8). However, thus far, there have been no studies examining the relationship between nutritional risk and postoperative pain outcomes in elderly patients.

Geriatric nutritional risk index (GNRI) is a nutritional screening and assessment tool created to predict nutrition-related complications in hospitalized elderly patients (9). A lower value of GNRI indicates a higher nutrition-related risk. In a previous study in elderly patients with acute heart failure, it was found that GNRI < 92 is associated with poor clinical outcomes (10). In another 3-year follow-up study, a GNRI <92 was reported to associated with higher mortality and suggested as a profitable clinical trigger for routine nutritional treatment (11). However, GNRI has not been used to predict postoperative pain outcomes and its optimal cut-off value is unclear.

Accordingly, the main aim of this study was determining whether nutritional risk was associated with postoperative pain outcomes using GNRI and the optimal cutoff value of the GNRI for postoperative inadequate analgesia. Furthermore, we evaluate the influence of nutritional status on postoperative pain outcomes in gastrointestinal elderly patients receiving patient-controlled intravenous analgesia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Data Sources

Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval for this retrospective cohort study was granted through the Ethic Committee of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (TJ-IRB20190403). The requirement for informed consent from participants was waived under the regulations of IRB. Demographic data (gender, age, weight, height, etc.), preoperative data (comorbidity, serum albumin, etc.) and process data (surgical types, surgical methods, anesthesia techniques, intraoperative medication, analgesia technique, etc.) presented in the current study were extracted from the patients' electronic medical records. Outcome data (pain intensities at rest and movement, cumulative analgesics consumption, side effects of analgesics, etc.) were collected by an acute pain service group at different time points postoperatively (12-14). Approximately 82% of the patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgeries were included. All data were assessed and edited by two authors (HZ, GD). If a missing data or an extreme value occurred, the relevant raw data were double checked. Participant's name or other form of identification was deleted before analysis. The reporting of this study followed the STROBE (strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology) (15) and RECORD (reporting of studies conducted using observational routinely collected health data) (16) guidelines.

Participants

Between April 1, 2012, and August 31, 2015, elderly patients (≥ 65 years) who underwent gastrointestinal surgeries were screened. Inclusion criteria were receiving general anesthesia and postoperative patient-controlled analgesia for 48 h. Exclusion criteria were receiving regional anesthesia, undergone repeat surgery during hospitalization and missing data for any variable.

Exposure of Interest

The exposure of interest in this study was high nutritional risk. The risk of nutritional status was assessed by the geriatric nutritional risk index (GNRI), which was designed specifically for the hospitalized elderly patients (9). The GNRI was calculated based on the patient's weight, height and serum albumin as follows: GNRI = $[1.489 \times \text{albumin } (\text{g/L})] + [41.7 \times \text{mm}]$

(weight/WLo)]. The WLo is the ideal weight and was calculated using the Lorentz formula as WLo = $0.75 \times \text{height}$ (cm) - 62.5 for men and WLo = $0.60 \times \text{height}$ (cm) - 40 for women (17). When weight exceeded ideal weight, the ration of weight/WLo was set to 1. Similar to previous studies, the GNRI of 92 was taken as an original cut-off value (10, 11, 18).

Perioperative Pain Management and Outcome Measures

All patients were treated according to the standard procedures at Tongji Hospital. In general, anesthesia induction was performed using 0.3-0.6 µg/kg sufentanil, 0.1-0.2 mg/kg cisatracurium and 1.5-2.5 mg/kg propofol. Anesthesia was maintained with a combination of sevoflurane (1.0-2.0%), remifentanil (0.2-0.4 $\mu g \cdot k g^{-1} \cdot min^{-1})$ and propofol (6–10 $mg \cdot k g^{-1} \cdot h^{-1}).$ At 15 min prior to the surgery, patients without contraindication were given nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs, 40 mg parecoxib sodium) and prophylactic antiemetics (dexamethasone 4 mg and/or tropisetron hydrochloride 2 mg). Immediately after surgery, patient-controlled intravenous analgesia (PCIA) was started with 0.7 µg/mL sufentanil and 4 mg/mL tramadol using a PCIA pump (BCM, BCDB-150, Shanghai, China). The pump was programmed to use a background infusion at 1-2.5 mL/h, a bolus dose of 1 mL, a lockout interval of 10 min, and a dose limit of 12 mL/h.

Patient outcome data were collected by the acute pain service group at 0–6, 18–24, and 42–48 h postoperatively. Pain intensities at rest and movement were assessed using a 100-mm visual analog scale (VAS, 100 being worst pain imaginable). In addition, cumulative PCIA consumption and the common side effects including postoperative nausea and vomiting, respiratory depression, abdominal distention, pruritus, urinary retention, and dizziness were also recorded. Pain trigger for rescue analgesia was VAS \geq 40, which was defined as postoperative inadequate analgesia (13, 19). Under these circumstances, Patients without contraindication were given parecoxib sodium and PCIA parameters were upregulated. The primary outcome we used here was postoperative inadequate analgesia. As secondary outcome we investigated cumulative PCIA consumption and the side effects of PCIA.

Statistical Analysis

In the database, about 8.9% of data were missed. The missing data arose mainly in variable "postoperative cumulative PCIA consumption" but not in variables included in the regression analysis. Thus, traditional statistical analyses were performed and imputation analyses were not considered. Participants with any missing data were excluded from analysis. Demographic data (e.g., age, weight and height) and postoperative cumulative PCIA consumption were presented as median (interquartile range). These data did not pass the Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution and were analyzed by the Mann–Whitney U test. Body mass index (BMI) were presented as mean (\pm standard deviation) and compared using the *t* test. Dichotomous data (e.g., gender and postoperative inadequate analgesia) were expressed as absolute number (and %) and significance was calculated with the chi-square test. To evaluate the role of the preoperative factors

in the prediction of postoperative inadequate analgesia during the entire 0-48 h period, a forward stepwise logistic regression model was applied. Gender, age, BMI, Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score, American society of anesthesiologists (ASA) score, surgical types (gastric or intestinal), surgical methods (endoscopic or non-endoscopic), intraoperative medication and the GNRI were included in the model. Given gender and age were reported to be risk factors for postoperative inadequate analgesia in our previous study (20), sensitivity analyses were further performed in female and male subgroups, as well as in early elderly (age <75 years) and late elderly (age ≥ 75 years) subgroups. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was used to determine an optimal cut-off value of GNRI for postoperative inadequate analgesia. A P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All of the statistical analyses were performed with SPSS software (version 17.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Patients

During the study period, a total of 806 patients were reviewed. Of them, 59 patients with missing data for any variable, 11 patients receiving regional anesthesia and two patients undergone repeat surgery were excluded. Finally, 734 patients were included in the analysis (**Figure 1**).

Taking GNRI of 92 as a cut-off point, the total number of patients with high nutritional risk (GNRI < 92) was 533 out of 734 (72.62%). Demographic characteristics of patients were summarized in **Table 1**. The median age of the whole population was 69 (67–74), whereas patients with GNRI < 92 were slightly older than patients with GNRI \geq 92 (70 (67–74) vs. 68 (66–73); p = 0.002). Weight (57 (50–65) vs. 63 (58–71); p < 0.001), height (1.64 (1.58–1.70) vs. 1.65 (1.60–1.70); p = 0.032) and BMI (21.64 \pm 3.60 vs. 23.70 \pm 2.73; p < 0.001) were lower in patients with GNRI < 92 compared to patients with GNRI \geq 92. In addition, less endoscopic surgeries were performed in patients with GNRI < 92 than patients with GNRI \geq 92 (74.48 vs. 82.09%; p < 0.030). Gender, CCI scores, ASA scores, surgical types and intraoperative medication including dexamethasone, parecoxib and sufentanil were not different among groups.

Postoperative Pain Outcomes in Patients With Different Nutritional Risk

Firstly, we compared postoperative pain outcomes in different nutritional risk groups as classified by the GNRI, which are shown in **Table 2**. At rest, the incidence of inadequate analgesia of the whole population was 13.62% at 0–6 h, 9.54% at 18–24 h and 3.95% at 42–48 h postoperatively; the patients with GNRI < 92 had higher levels of inadequate analgesia at 0–6 h (16.51 vs. 5.97%; p < 0.001), 18–24 h (11.82 vs. 3.48%; p = 0.001), but not 42–48 h postoperatively, in comparison with the patients with GNRI \geq 92. On movement, 20.44% patients at 0–6 h, 14.17% patients at 18–24 h and 8.99% patients at 42–48 h postoperatively presented inadequate analgesia; the incidence of inadequate analgesia in patients with GNRI < 92 was higher than the patients with GNRI \geq 92 at 0–6 h (24.02 vs. 10.95%;



TABLE 1	Comparison of	patient characteristics in	different nutritional risk	groups as classified by the GNRI.	

Characteristic	Total (<i>n</i> = 734)	GNRI ≥ 92 (<i>n</i> = 201)	GNRI < 92 (<i>n</i> = 533)	P value
Gender (male/female)	472 (64.31%)/262 (35.69%)	132 (65.67%)/69 (34.33%)	340 (63.79%)/193 (36.21%)	0.635
Age (years)	69 (67–74)	68 (66–73)	70 (67–74)	0.002
Weight (kg)	60 (51–67)	63 (58–71)	57 (50–65)	< 0.001
Height (m)	1.65 (1.59–1.70)	1.65 (1.60–1.70)	1.64 (1.58–1.70)	0.032
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.20 ± 3.51	23.70 ± 2.73	21.64 ± 3.60	<0.001
CCI score $(0/1/2) \ge 3$)	276 (37.60%)/263 (35.83%)/100 (13.62%)/ 95 (12.94%)	87 (43.28%)/67 (33.33%)/28 (13.93%)/ 19 (9.45%)	189 (35.46%)/196 (36.77%)/72 (13.51%)/ 76 (14.26%)	0.140
ASA score (I/II/III/IV)	262 (35.70%)/287 (39.10%)/114 (15.53%)/ 71 (9.67%)	82 (40.80%)/74 (36.82%)/26 (12.94%)/ 19 (9.45%)	180 (33.77%)/213 (39.96%)/88 (16.51%)/ 52 (9.76%)	0.308
Surgical types (gastric/intestinal)	415 (56.54%)/319 (43.46%)	118 (58.71%)/83 (41.29%)	297 (55.72%)/236 (44.28%)	0.467
Surgical methods (E/non-E)	562 (76.57%)/172 (23.43%)	165 (82.09%)/36 (17.91%)	397 (74.48%)/136 (25.52%)	0.030
Intraoperative medication				
Dexamethasone (yes/no)	415 (56.54%)/319 (43.46%)	106 (52.74%)/95 (47.26%)	309 (57.97%)/224 (42.03%)	0.202
Parecoxib (yes/no)	421 (57.36%)/313 (42.64%)	125 (62.19%)/76 (37.81%)	296 (55.53%)/237 (44.47%)	0.104
Sufentanil (µg)	25 (20–30)	25 (20–30)	25 (20–30)	0.090

Results are presented as median (interquartile range), mean (± standard deviation) or relative numbers [n (%)]. Groups were compared by using Mann-Whitney U test, t test or chi-square test. GNRI, geriatric nutritional risk index; BMI, body mass index; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index; ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; E, endoscopic.

p < 0.001), 18–24 h (16.51 vs. 7.96%; p = 0.003) and 42–48 h (10.51 vs. 4.98%; p = 0.019) postoperatively.

In all patients the postoperative cumulative PCIA consumption was 0.15 (0.08–0.26) mL/kg at 0–6 h, 0.44

(0.27–0.67) mL/kg at 18–24 k and 0.64 (0.41–0.96) mL/kg at 42–48 h postoperatively. Patients with GNRI < 92 received significantly more cumulative PCIA consumption compared to patients with GNRI \geq 92 at 0–6 h (0.16 (0.08–0.27) vs.

Outcome	Total (n = 734)	GNRI ≥ 92 (<i>n</i> = 201)	GNRI < 92 (<i>n</i> = 533)	P value
Postoperative inadequate analgesia at rest				
0–6 h	100 (13.62%)	12 (5.97%)	88 (16.51%)	<0.001
18–24 h	70 (9.54%)	7 (3.48%)	63 (11.82%)	0.001
42-48 h	29 (3.95%)	4 (1.99%)	25 (4.69%)	0.094
Postoperative inadequate analgesia on movement				
0–6 h	150 (20.44%)	22 (10.95%)	128 (24.02%)	<0.001
18–24 h	104 (14.17%)	16 (7.96%)	88 (16.51%)	0.003
42–48 h	66 (8.99%)	10 (4.98%)	56 (10.51%)	0.019
Postoperative cumulative PCIA consumption (ml/kg)				
0–6 h	0.15 (0.08-0.26)	0.15 (0.07-0.22)	0.16 (0.08-0.27)	0.036
18–24 h	0.44 (0.27-0.67)	0.41 (0.28-0.61)	0.46 (0.27-0.70)	0.103
42-48 h	0.64 (0.41-0.96)	0.60 (0.43-0.92)	0.64 (0.40-1.00)	0.246
Side effects of PCIA				
Nausea/vomiting	101 (13.76%)	21 (10.45%)	80 (15.01%)	0.110
Dizziness	36 (4.90%)	12 (5.97%)	24 (4.50%)	0.412
Abdominal distension	29 (3.95%)	6 (2.99%)	23 (4.32%)	0.409
Urinary retention	6 (0.82%)	2 (1.00%)	4 (0.75%)	0.743
Pruritus	4 (0.54%)	1 (0.50%)	3 (0.56%)	0.915
Respiratory depression	2 (0.27%)	0 (0.00%)	2 (0.38%)	0.384

Results are presented as median (interquartile range) or relative numbers [n (%)]. Groups were compared by using Mann-Whitney U test or chi-square test. GNRI, geriatric nutritional risk index; PCA, Patient-controlled analgesia.

TABLE 3 Logistic regression analysis investigating possible predictors for po	ostoperative inadequate analgesia.
---	------------------------------------

Population	Predictors	P value	OR	Lower 95%Cl	Upper 95%Cl
Overall ($n = 734$)	Gender	0.023	0.606	0.394	0.932
Overall ($n = 734$)	GNRI	< 0.001	3.113	1.661	5.834
Female ($n = 262$)	GNRI	0.003	6.349	1.901	21.201
Early elderly (Age < 75 years, $n = 587$)	GNRI	<0.001	4.302	1.932	9.579

GNRI, geriatric nutritional risk index; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.

0.15 (0.07–0.22) mL/kg; p = 0.036), but not at 18–24 h and 42–48 h postoperatively.

During 48 h follow-up, postoperative nausea and vomiting was the most common side effect of PCIA with the incidence of 13.76%, followed by dizziness (4.90%), abdominal distention (3.95%), urinary retention (0.82%), pruritus (0.54%) and respiratory depression (0.27%). No significant differences were noted regarding the side effects of PCIA among the two groups.

Association of Nutritional Risk With Postoperative Inadequate Analgesia

Secondly, we performed a logistic regression analyses in order to identify possible predictors for postoperative inadequate analgesia at rest during 48 h follow-up. The results showed this overall model was significant (P < 0.001). As presented in **Table 3**, high nutritional risk (OR = 3.113, 95% CI: 1.661– 5.834, P < 0.001) but not age (P = 0.172), BMI (P = 0.888), CCI score (P = 0.539), ASA score (P = 0.701), surgical types (P = 0.814), surgical methods (P = 0.859) and intraoperative use of dexamethasone (P = 0.698), parecoxib (P = 0.282) and sufentanil (P = 0.366) was identified as a significant predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia, indicating that the probability of occurrence of postoperative inadequate analgesia in patients with GNRI < 92 was higher than patients with GNRI > 92. In addition, The OR for female gender was 0.606 (95% CI: 0.394–0.932, P = 0.023), indicating that, compared with male patients, female patients would have a higher risk to report postoperative inadequate analgesia. Furthermore, sensitivity analyses showed high nutritional risk as a predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia was more prominent in female patients (OR = 6.349, 95% CI: 1.901–21.201, P = 0.003) and early elderly patients (OR = 4.302, 95% CI: 1.932-9.579, P < 0.001). Collectively, high nutritional risk was associated with postoperative inadequate analgesia in elderly patients after gastrointestinal surgeries, especially in female individuals and early elderly patients.

Given that GNRI was a predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia, we used the ROC curve analysis to obtain the area under the curve and an optimal cut-off value of the GNRI. Area under ROC curve was 0.584 (95% CI: 0.531–0.637, p = 0.007). GNRI = 88 was determined as an optimal cut-off value with maximum discriminative power. Compared with the original cut-off value of 92, the new cut-off value of 88 had higher specificity (0.465 vs. 0.298) but lower sensitivity (0.730 vs. 0.880).

DISCUSSION

In this large sample of elderly patients after gastrointestinal surgery we showed that GNRI is a significant predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia at rest during the first 48 h postoperatively. Elderly patients with lower GNRI values were at higher risk to experience inadequate postoperative pain relief than patients with higher GNRI values. Furthermore, we determined that 88 was an optimal cut-off value of GNRI for postoperative inadequate analgesia.

In the first part of the study, we determined the prevalence of nutrition-related risk according to an original GNRI cut-off value of 92. The results showed that majority (almost three quarters) of elderly patients in the current study were at high nutritional risk. A previous prospective cohort study reports the prevalence of severe and moderate risk of nutritional-related complication in hospitalized elderly patients is 41.2% (21). A recent retrospective study shows that 61.6% critical limb ischemia patients are at high nutritional risk (22). Another population-based survey in community-dwelling older persons finds that 69% of participants are at moderate to high nutritional risk (23). This variability is probably due to the differences of population, measurement instruments and cut-off values. Besides, our results showed that older gastrointestinal patients with high nutritional risk are not uncommon and the prevalence of high nutritional risk has always been underestimated. Thus, using of simple nutritional screening instruments (e.g., GNRI) should be included as a standard procedure in routine clinical practice (17).

Next, we compared patient characteristics and postoperative pain outcomes in different nutritional groups. As expected, we observed that patients with lower GNRI showed significantly higher values of age and lower values of weight, height and BMI. Interestingly, less patients with higher nutritional risk received endoscopic surgeries. The probable reason of this phenomenon might be the higher incidence of cardiopulmonary diseases in patients with higher nutritional risk, which was considered to be a relative contraindication to carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum during endoscopic surgeries (24). Then, our results showed that the prevalence of postoperative inadequate analgesia at rest and movement was higher in patients with GNRI < 92 than patients with GNRI \geq 92 at different time points. This is consist with a previous study, which shows that pain intensities was higher among patients in low nutritional status than normal patients (25). Another cross-sectional study also shows that the mean nutritional risk score is higher in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain than patients without chronic musculoskeletal pain (23). Moreover, postoperative cumulative PCIA consumption was higher in patients with GNRI < 92 than patients with GNRI \geq 92 in the current study. In another word, even the patients with GNRI < 92 received more analgesics, they still experienced severer postoperative pain. Collectively, high nutritional risk may lead to poor pain management in elderly patients after gastrointestinal surgeries and should not be ignored.

In the second part of the study, we explored whether high nutritional risk is a preoperative factor in the prediction of the primary outcome, postoperative inadequate analgesia. Through regression analysis, high nutritional risk was identified as having a negative effect on postoperative pain. This observation consists with the results of Takahashi et al. (25), who found a correlation between the Nutrition Risk Screening 2002 (NRS 2002) scores and the pain intensities. In community-dwelling older persons, nutritional risk was also reported as being independently associated with chronic musculoskeletal pain (23). The association between high nutritional risk and postoperative inadequate analgesia possibly refers to a systemic inflammatory response, which is triggered by undernutrition and might lead to CNS sensitization and amplification of pain through three pathways (26). Firstly, poor nutrition causes peripheral inflammation, which in turn impacts the CNS (27). Secondly, poor nutrition is associated with cell and tissue damage, which triggers Toll-like receptors activation and central immune signaling events (28). Thirdly, poor nutrition can change gutmicrobiota composition that results in systemic inflammation (29). Additionally, the high levels of anxiety, depression and chronic pain in malnourished individuals, which are all risk factors for poor postoperative pain management, might contribute to postoperative inadequate analgesia as well (30-32). In addition, female gender was also identified as a predictor of postoperative inadequate analgesia and women experienced worse postoperative pain relief than men. These results agree with our previous observation in orthopedic patients, which shows that female patients represented severer postoperative pain than male patients (20). Furthermore, high nutritional risk as a predictor for postoperative inadequate analgesia was more prominent in female patients and early elderly patients. Collectively, based on the current study, a better analgesic should be considered for postoperative pain management in elderly patients with high nutritional risk, especially in female patients and early elderly patients.

Next, we determined the optimal value of GNRI using ROC curve analysis. GNRI of 88 was identified as an optimal cut-off value for postoperative inadequate analgesia, which was lower than the original cut-off value of GNRI. The original cut-off value was calculated by using the cut-off values for weight loss and albumin in the elderly (weight/WLo = 0.95 and albumin = 35 g/L) (9). The results in the current study indicate that the optimal cut-off value of GNRI might be different in different conditions. However, the trend is the same that the value of GNRI is lower, the nutrition-related risk is higher. Furthermore, the new cut-off value was more specific but less sensitive than the original cut-off value. Given that inaccurate diagnosis of malnutrition will cause unnecessary treatment and increase the cost of hospitalization, the higher specificity of the new

cut-off value is extremely important in nutritional assessment (33). Collectively, GNRI < 88 could be used as a criterion to screen patients' nutrition-related risk of postoperative inadequate analgesia in clinical practice. Early detection of nutrition-related risk before surgeries might contribute to timely nutritional care and the consequent improved postoperative pain outcomes.

Some risk factors for poor postoperative acute pain outcome were identified in previous studies. A large prospective international multicenter database analysis determined 8 risk factors for severe postoperative pain (numeric rating scale ≥ 7 points) (31). Another meta-analysis of 33 articles identified 9 predictors of poor postoperative pain management (32). However, both studies included more than 50,000 patients with appreciable heterogeneity. Thus, a particular predictor identified might not fit for certain specialties like elderly patients. Through the present analysis focusing on elderly patients, some predictors (e.g., female gender) but not others (such as younger age and higher body mass index) were confirmed. Furthermore, GNRI was added as a novel predictor. These predictors might be useful to stratify inadequate analgesia risk, develop populationspecific clinical care pathways and improve pain outcomes in elderly patients. In elderly patients with high nutritional risk, standardized assessment of nutritional status, adequate implementation of nutritional support and aggressive treatment of postoperative pain should be considered.

The current study has several limitations. Firstly, the results of the current study are based on postoperative data of one single university hospital. However, the single center data may have the strength because of standard treatment, such as similar anesthesia and postoperative analgesic management. Secondly, this is a retrospective cohort study, which has relatively poor control over the exposure factor, covariates, and potential confounders. Therefore, the data obtained in the current study should be cautiously interpreted. Further prospective randomized trials to verify these results are warranted in the future. Thirdly, the new suggested cut-off value of GNRI had relative low sensitivity and specificity. Further studies are needed to evaluate its validity in larger populations. Finally, the generalizability of this study is

REFERENCES

- 1. Bettelli G. Anaesthesia for the elderly outpatient: preoperative assessment and evaluation, anaesthetic technique and postoperative pain management. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* (2010) 23:726–31. doi: 10.1097/ACO.0b013e3283400b6c
- Etzioni DA, Liu JH, Maggard MA, Ko CY. The aging population and its impact on the surgery workforce. *Ann Surg.* (2003) 238:170– 7. doi: 10.1097/01.SLA.0000081085.98792.3d
- Karani R, Meier DE. Systemic pharmacologic postoperative pain management in the geriatric orthopaedic patient. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* (2004) (425):26– 34. doi: 10.1097/01.blo.0000132403.53010.6f
- Falzone E, Hoffmann C, Keita H. Postoperative analgesia in elderly patients. Drugs Aging. (2013) 30:81–90. doi: 10.1007/s40266-012-0047-7
- Herr KA, Garand L. Assessment and measurement of pain in older adults. *Clin Geriatr Med.* (2001) 17:457–78. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0690(05)70080-X
- Atkinson TJ, Fudin J, Pandula A, Mirza M. Medication pain management in the elderly: unique and underutilized analgesic treatment options. *Clin Ther.* (2013) 35:1669–89. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.09.008

limited to elderly patients with gastrointestinal surgery. Whether this conclusion is appropriate for patients undergoing other surgeries needs further analysis and studies in the future.

In conclusion, this retrospective cohort study demonstrated that the majority of the hospitalized elderly patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgeries had high nutritionrelated risk using GNRI. In addition, lower GNRI was association with poor postoperative pain outcomes, which indicated the need for early nutritional evaluation and supplementation in elderly patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgeries.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethic Committee of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (TJ-IRB20190403). The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HZ and XZ contributed to the conception of the idea and the study design. HZ prepared the data set, performed the analysis, and wrote the manuscript. GD contributed to analysis and interpretation of data. SS and XZ provided intellectual inputs for the project and critical comments on the manuscript. All authors discussed the results and commented on the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Feng Gao and Ms. Lifang Ren for their support and help in conducting this study.

- Nicolay RW, Selley RS, Terry MA, Tjong VK. Body mass index as a risk factor for 30-day postoperative complications in knee, hip, and shoulder arthroscopy. Arthroscopy. (2019) 35:874–82. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2018.10.108
- Cho JY, Kim KH, Cho HJ, Lee HY, Choi JO, Jeon ES, et al. Nutritional risk index as a predictor of mortality in acutely decompensated heart failure. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0209088. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0209088
- Bouillanne O, Morineau G, Dupont C, Coulombel I, Vincent JP, Nicolis I, et al. Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index: a new index for evaluating at-risk elderly medical patients. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2005) 82:777–83. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/82.4.777
- 10. Honda Y, Nagai T, Iwakami N, Sugano Y, Honda S, Okada A, et al. Usefulness of geriatric nutritional risk index for assessing nutritional status and its prognostic impact in patients aged \geq 65 years with acute heart failure. *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:550–5. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016. 05.045
- Cereda E, Zagami A, Vanotti A, Piffer S, Pedrolli C. Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index and overall-cause mortality prediction in institutionalised elderly: a 3-year survival analysis. *Clin Nutr.* (2008) 27:717–23. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.07.005

- Zhang Y, Duan G, Guo S, Ying Y, Huang P, Zhang M, et al. To predict sufentanil requirement for postoperative pain control using a real-time method: A prospective observational cohort study. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2016) 95:e3915. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000003915
- Duan G, Guo S, Zhang Y, Ying Y, Huang P, Zhang L, et al. Effects of epidemiological factors and pressure pain measurements in predicting postoperative pain: a prospective survey of 1,002 Chinese patients. *Pain Physician*. (2017) 20:E903–E14.
- Cao X, Zhang X. Comparison of different sufentanil-tramadol combinations for pain relief within the first 24 hours after cesarean section: a retrospective study. J Pain Res. (2018) 11:2445–51. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S177500
- Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Mulrow CD, Pocock SJ, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Med.* (2007) 4:e297. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0040297
- Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, Harron K, Moher D, Petersen I, et al. The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. *PLoS Med.* (2015) 12:e1001885. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001885
- Abd Aziz NAS, Mohd Fahmi Teng NI, Kamarul Zaman M. Geriatric Nutrition Risk Index is comparable to the mini nutritional assessment for assessing nutritional status in elderly hospitalized patients. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2019) 29:77–85. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2018.12.002
- Panichi V, Cupisti A, Rosati A, Di Giorgio A, Scatena A, Menconi O, et al. Geriatric nutritional risk index is a strong predictor of mortality in hemodialysis patients: data from the Riscavid cohort. J Nephrol. (2014) 27:193–201. doi: 10.1007/s40620-013-0033-0
- Sommer M, de Rijke JM, van Kleef M, Kessels AG, Peters ML, Geurts JW, et al. The prevalence of postoperative pain in a sample of 1490 surgical inpatients. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2008) 25:267–74. doi: 10.1017/S0265021507003031
- Zheng H, Schnabel A, Yahiaoui-Doktor M, Meissner W, Van Aken H, Zahn P, et al. Age and preoperative pain are major confounders for sex differences in postoperative pain outcome: A prospective database analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0178659. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178659
- Abd-El-Gawad WM, Abou-Hashem RM, El Maraghy MO, Amin GE. The validity of Geriatric Nutrition Risk Index: simple tool for prediction of nutritional-related complication of hospitalized elderly patients. Comparison with Mini Nutritional Assessment. *Clin Nutr.* (2014) 33:1108–16. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2013.12.005
- Luo H, Yang H, Huang B, Yuan D, Zhu J, Zhao J. Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index (GNRI) Independently Predicts Amputation Inchronic Criticallimb Ischemia (CLI). *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0152111. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152111
- 23. Barbara Pereira Costa A, Andrade Carneiro Machado L, Marcos Domingues Dias J, Keller Coelho de. Oliveira A, Ude Viana J, da Silva SL, et al. Nutritional risk is associated with chronic musculoskeletal pain in community-dwelling older persons: The PAINEL study. *J Nutr Gerontol Geriatr.* (2016) 35:43–51. doi: 10.1080/21551197.2015.1125325
- 24. Galizia G, Prizio G, Lieto E, Castellano P, Pelosio L, Imperatore V, et al. Hemodynamic and pulmonary changes during open, carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum and abdominal wall-lifting cholecystectomy. A prospective, randomized study. *Surg Endosc.* (2001) 15:477–83. doi: 10.1007/s004640000343

- 25. Takahashi H, Chiba T, Tairabune T, Kimura Y, Wakabayashi G, Takahashi K, et al. A retrospective study on the influence of nutritional status on pain management in cancer patients using the transdermal fentanyl patch. *Biol Pharm Bull.* (2014) 37:853–7. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b13-00717
- Nijs J, Elma Ö, Yilmaz ST, Mullie P, Vanderweeën L, Clarys P, et al. Nutritional neurobiology and central nervous system sensitisation: missing link in a comprehensive treatment for chronic pain? Br J Anaesth. (2019) 123:539– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.07.016
- Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Mediterranean dietary pattern, inflammation and endothelial function: a systematic review and metaanalysis of intervention trials. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2014) 24:929–39. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.03.003
- Nicotra L, Loram LC, Watkins LR, Hutchinson MR. Tolllike receptors in chronic pain. *Exp Neurol.* (2012) 234:316– 29. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.09.038
- Pimentel GD, Micheletti TO, Pace F, Rosa JC, Santos RV, Lira FS. Gutcentral nervous system axis is a target for nutritional therapies. *Nutr J.* (2012) 11:22. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-22
- Chabowski M, Polański J, Jankowska-Polańska B, Janczak D, Rosińczuk J. Is nutritional status associated with the level of anxiety, depression and pain in patients with lung cancer? J Thorac Dis. (2018) 10:2303– 10. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.03.108
- Schnabel A, Yahiaoui-Doktor M, Meissner W, Zahn PK, Pogatzki-Zahn EM. Predicting poor postoperative acute pain outcome in adults: an international, multicentre database analysis of risk factors in 50,005 patients. *Pain Rep.* (2020) 5:e831. doi: 10.1097/PR9.0000000000 00831
- 32. Yang MMH, Hartley RL, Leung AA, Ronksley PE, Jetté N, Casha S, et al. Preoperative predictors of poor acute postoperative pain control: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e025091. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025091
- Abd Aziz NAS, Teng N, Abdul Hamid MR, Ismail NH. Assessing the nutritional status of hospitalized elderly. *Clin Interv Aging*. (2017) 12:1615– 25. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S140859

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zheng, Duan, Shen and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Clonidine as an Additive to Local Anesthetics in Caudal Block for Postoperative Analgesia in Pediatric Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Samir G. Sakka, Gemeinschaftsklinikum Mittelrhein gGmbH, Germany

Reviewed by:

Vikas Bansal, Mayo Clinic, United States Ivana Budic, University of Niš, Serbia

*Correspondence:

Zhenggang Guo shouganggzg@163.com Changsheng Zhang powerzcs@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 10 June 2021 Accepted: 24 August 2021 Published: 14 September 2021

Citation:

Wang Y, Guo Q, An Q, Zhao L, Wu M, Guo Z and Zhang C (2021) Clonidine as an Additive to Local Anesthetics in Caudal Block for Postoperative Analgesia in Pediatric Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Med. 8:723191. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.723191 Ye Wang^{1†}, Qianqian Guo^{1†}, Qi An¹, Lin Zhao¹, Meng Wu¹, Zhenggang Guo^{1*} and Changsheng Zhang^{2*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology, Peking University Shougang Hospital, Beijing, China, ² Anesthesia and Operation Centre, First Medical Centre of Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing, China

Background: Clonidine is an anesthetic with favorable efficacy and safety profiles for caudal epidural block, but comparisons with other adjuvants need to be confirmed in pediatric patients.

Aim: To investigate the effects of clonidine as an adjuvant in caudal epidural block to improve the intraoperative and postoperative analgesia in pediatric surgery.

Methods: PubMed, Embase, and the Cochrane Library were searched for available papers published up to February 2021. The outcomes were pain score, duration of analgesia, complications, and number of analgesic requirements. The meta-analysis was performed using random-effects models.

Results: Fifteen randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were included. There were no differences between clonidine and the control drug regarding the duration of analgesia (SMD = -0.71, 95%Cl: -1.64, 0.23; $l^2 = 95.5\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001), pain score (SMD = 0.35, 95%Cl: -0.28, 0.98; $l^2 = 80.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001), and requirement for additional analgesia (OR = 8.77, 95%Cl: 0.70, 110.58, $l^2 = 81.9\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.004), but using clonidine resulted in fewer complications than the control drugs (OR = 0.33, 95%Cl: 0.20, 0.54, $l^2 = 21.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.217). The sensitivity analysis showed that the results were robust. A publication bias was observed.

Conclusion: Clonidine has the same efficacy as the other adjuvants for caudal epidural block for pediatric surgery but fewer complications. These results support clonidine as an adjuvant to local anesthetic, but additional studies should be conducted.

Keywords: anesthesia, caudal, epidural, clonidine, children, meta-analysis
INTRODUCTION

Caudal epidural block is widely popular for procedures below the umbilicus since it is a simple, safe, and reliable technique in pediatric patients (1, 2). Using landmark techniques and blind insertion, the success rate is >96% in pediatric patients (3, 4). The high reliability and ease of performance make caudal block one of the most suitable blocks in pediatric surgical patients. The commonly used local anesthetics for caudal block include bupivacaine, levobupivacaine, and ropivacaine. Still, their duration of action is short, and there are concerns of infection over their repeated use or continuous infusion (5). Therefore, adjuvant drugs are necessary to optimize the action of the local anesthetics (6). Various drugs such as opioids, dexmedetomidine, epinephrine, midazolam, ketamine, and neostigmine have been used as adjuvants for caudal epidural block but with various advantages, disadvantages, and adverse effects (7–10).

Clonidine is also used for single-injection caudal blocks (7). It is an α 2-adrenergic agonist that produces analgesia without causing significant respiratory depression after caudal administration in children (11–13), although its use in children <3 months is debated because of a hypothetic risk of apnea (12, 13). The use of clonidine as an adjuvant for caudal block achieves

appropriate analgesia but with the advantages of prolonged analgesia, reduced residual motor blockade, and increased margin of safety (14-16). A previous meta-analysis of only four trials showed that clonidine is as effective as morphine and with a more beneficial adverse effect profile in children (17), but it did not assess other anesthetics as controls and mainly focused on the side effects. A study compared clonidine vs. dexmedetomidine and showed that adjuvant dexmedetomidine was better than clonidine in terms of sedation, analgesia, and side effects (18), but El-Hennawy et al. (19) reported no differences between the two drugs in pediatric patients undergoing abdominal surgery, and Mota Bonisson et al. (20) reported no change in morphine consumption when adding clonidine to bupivacaine, but the sedation level was higher. Saini et al. (21) reported that clonidine was better than fentanyl as an adjuvant to ropivacaine for infraumbilical pediatric surgery. Evaluating the duration of analgesia and pain are also important factors in pediatric surgery. Given the conflicting results about the use of clonidine in such patients, additional analyses are necessary.

Therefore, this meta-analysis investigated the effects of clonidine as an adjuvant in caudal epidural block to improve the intraoperative and postoperative analgesia in pediatric surgery.



TABLE 1 | Literature search and characteristics of the included studies.

References	Design	Country	ry Surgery	Control	rol Local anesthetics		Sample size		Age (year, mean, or median)		ht, kg	Analgesic concentration and usage		_
					(Clonidine Co	ontrol	Clonidine	Control	Clonidine	Control	Clondine	Bupi/ropi/ levobupi	
Akbas et al. (26)	RCT	Turkey	Inguinal hernia repair and circumcision	Ketamine	Ropivacaine	25	25	6.08 (2.87)	5.92 (3.14)	20.34 (8.27)	20.36 (7.8)	1 μg/kg	0.2%, 0.75 ml/kg	lowe
Amitha et al. (27)	RCT	India	Lower abdominal/lower limb surgery	Tramadol	Bupivacaine	30	30	8.26 (2.98)	9.03 (2.94)	22.16 (7.78)	26.76 (6.74)	2 μg/kg	0.25%, 0.5 ml/kg	lowe
Constant et al. (30)	RCT	France	Bilateral correction of vesicoureteral reflux	Fentanyl	Bupivacaine	16	15	3.6 (0.5–9)	3.8 (1.8–6.5)	15 (5)	16 (4)	1.5 μg/kg	0.25%	lowe
Cook et al. (28)	RCT	UK	Unilateral orchidopecy	Ketamine	Bupivacaine	20	20	5.02 (1.3–9)	6.03 (1.5–9)	20.1 (8.8)	23.1 (7.1)	2 μg/kg	0.25%. 1 mL/kg	lowe
De Negri et al. (31)	RCT	Italy	Hernia repair/orchidopexy	S-ketamine	Ropivacaine	20	19	3 (1.5)	2.7 (1.2)	12 (7)	13 (5)	2 μg/kg	0.2%, 2 mg/kg	lowe
El-Hennawy et al. (19)	RCT	Egypt	Lower abdominal surgery	Dexmedetomidine	Bupivacaine	20	20	3.8 (0.5–5.8)	3.3 (0.7–5)	16 (4.9)	14 (5.2)	2 μg/kg	0.25%, 1 ml/kg	lowe
Fernandes et al. (33)	RCT	Brazil	Infraumbilical urological and genital procedures		Bupivacaine	20	20	4.7 (2.7)	4.8 (2.6)	17.9 (7.4)	21.6 (11.2)	1 μg/kg	0.166%, 1.0 ml/kg	lowe
Luz et al. (29)	RCT	Australia	Orchidopexy, hernia repair, circumcision	Morphine	Bupivacaine	18	18	2.8 (0.6–6)	2.7 (0.7–6.3)	13.9 (7.2–20)	14.2 (7.6–25)	1 μg/kg	0.18%, 1.5 ml/kg	lowe
Parag et al. (36)	RCT	India	Hernia repair	Fentanyl	Bupivacaine	40	40	5.4 (2.46)	5.8 (2.63)	16.58 (3.82)	17.7 (6.3)	1 μg/kg	0.5%,	lowe
Rawat et al. (35)	RCT	India	Perineal surgery	Tramadol	Levobupivacain	e 22	22	4.14 (1.05)	4.23 (2.02)	11.64 (2.25)	12.2 (2.6)	1 μg/kg	0.25%. 1 mg/kg	lowe
Sanwatsarkar et al. (9)	RCT	India	Infraumbilical surgery	Midazolam	Bupivacaine	25	25	6.28 (1.21)	6.16 (1.11)	15.48 (3.34)	14.96 (2.88)	1 μg/kg	0.25%. 1 mg/kg	lowe
Shukla et al. (40)	RCT	Etawah	Infraumblical	Fentanyl	Ropivacaine	45	45	5.1 (3–7)	4.1 (3.3–7.8)	18 (6.2)	15 (7.2)	2 μg/kg	0.25%, 1 ml/kg	
Singh et al. (24)	RCT	Nepal	Below umbilical surgeries	Fentanyl	Bupivacaine	10	20	5.45 (2.5)	5.7 (2.8)	14.7 (3.8)	14.75 (4)	1 μg/kg	0.25%, 0.75 ml/kg	lowe
Singh et al. (24)	RCT	Nepal	Below umbilical surgeries	Ketamine	Bupivacaine	10	20	5.45 (2.5)	5.3 (1.8)	14.7 (3.8)	16.85 (4.19)	1 μg/kg	0.25%, 0.75 ml/kg	lowe
Singh et al. (34)	RCT	India	Upper abdominal surgery	Dexmedetomidine	Bupivacaine	25	25	2.9 (1–6)	2.8 (1.5–6)	11.3 (3.1)	11.8 (2.18)	2 μg/kg	0.2%, 1.25 ml/kg	upp
Vetter et al. (6)	RCT	USA	Ureteral reimplantation	Morphine	Ropivacaine	10	20	3.5 (1.7)	3.4 (1.8)	16 (6)	15 (4)	2 μg/kg	0.2%, 1.0 ml/kg	low
Vetter et al. (6)	RCT	USA	Ureteral reimplantation	Hydromorphone	Ropivacaine	10	20	3.5 (1.7)	3.4 (1.8)	16 (6)	16 (5)	2 μg/kg	0.2%, 1.0 ml/kg	low

Clonidine in Pediatric Surgery

METHODS

Literature Search

This systematic review and meta-analysis was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (22). The research approach was designed using the PICOS principle (23). PubMed, Embase, and the Cochrane Library were searched for available papers published up to February 2021 using the MeSH terms "children," "pediatric," "bupivacaine," "levobupivacaine," "ropivacaine," "clonidine," and "analgesia," as well as relevant key words, followed by screening based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria. The records were first evaluated based on the titles, followed by an assessment based on the abstracts and full-text. In the case of multiple using the same study population, only the most recent one matching the eligibility criteria was included.

Eligibility Criteria

The eligibility criteria were (1) population: children, (2) local anesthetics: bupivacaine, ropivacaine, or levobupivacaine, (3) adjuvant in the intervention group: clonidine, (4) adjuvant in

the control group: any drug other than clonidine, but not a placebo, (5) outcome: pain score, duration of analgesia, complications, and additional analgesia requirements, (6) study design: randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and (7) full-text article published in English. Reviews, meta-analyses, case reports, letters to the editor, and comments were excluded.

Data Extraction

Study characteristics (authors, year of publication, country, and study design), patient characteristics (sex, sample size, weight, and previous surgery), anesthesia characteristics (local anesthetic, analgesia in control group, analgesic concentration, and usage), outcomes (duration of analgesia, pain score, need for additional analgesia, and complications were extracted by two different investigators Qi An and Lin Zhao) according to a pre-specified protocol. In multiple arm studies (6, 24), the sample size was divided by the times it has been compared, and the generated sample size was used as the sample size of each subgroup, as previously described (25). Discrepancies were solved by discussion until a consensus was reached.



Pain Evaluation

The pain was evaluated using the Objective Pain Score (OPS) (24, 26–29), Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario Pain Scale (CHEOPS) (30, 31), Face, Legs, Activity, Cry, and Consolability (FLACC) (6, 9, 19, 32–34), Children and Infants Postoperative Pain Scale (CHIPPS) (35), pinprick at each dermatome (36), or a visual analog scale (30). When possible, the pain was evaluated as a continuous variable for comparisons between the two groups. The studies that reported pain as a categorical variable were analyzed separately.

Quality of the Evidence

The level of evidence of all articles was assessed independently by two authors (YeWang and QianqianGuo) according to Version 2 of the Cochrane risk-of-bias assessment tool for randomized trials (RoB 2) (37, 38). The studies were evaluated using Grading of Recommendations Assessment Development and Evaluation (GRADE) (39). Discrepancies in the assessment were resolved through discussion until a consensus was reached.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using STATA SE 14.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA). The standardized mean difference (SMD) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were used for continuous variables, and odds ratio (OR) with 95%CI were used for categorical variables. Statistical heterogeneity among studies was calculated using Cochran's Q-test and the I² index. An I^2 > 50% and Q-test P < 0.10 indicated high heterogeneity. The meta-analysis was performed using random-effects models. *P*-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the robustness of the original analyses. In addition, subgroup analyses were performed. Finally,



potential publication bias was assessed using Egger's test, Begg's test, and the trim-and-fill method (37).

RESULTS

Selection of the Studies

Figure 1 presents the study selection process. The initial database search identified 657 records. After removing the duplicates, 460 records were screened, and 290 were excluded. Then, 170 abstracts or full-text articles were assessed for eligibility, and 155 were excluded (population, n = 4; study aim/design, n = 79; intervention, n = 34; comparison, n = 25; outcomes, n = 13). Finally, 15 articles were included.

Table 1 presents the characteristics of the studies and patients. Fifteen studies (17 datasets; 770 patients) were included. The control groups included ketamine (24, 26, 28, 31), tramadol (27, 35), fentanyl (24, 30, 36, 40), dexmedetomidine (19, 34), morphine (6, 29, 33), midazolam (9), and hydromorphone (6). The local anesthetics included ropivacaine (6, 26, 31, 40), bupivacaine (9, 19, 24, 27–30, 33, 34, 36), and levobupivacaine (35). **Supplementary Table 1** shows the quality evaluation. Seven studies had a low risk of bias, while eight studies had an unclear risk of bias for at least one item of the RoB 2 tool. **Supplementary Table 2** shows the GRADE analysis. The pain score and the duration of analgesia had critical importance, and both showed moderate certainty. The requirement for additional analgesia was important and showed a high level of certainty. Complications were important and displayed a moderate level of certainty.

Duration of Analgesia

Twelve studies (14 datasets) reported the duration of analgesia. There was no difference between clonidine and the control drug regarding the duration of analgesia (SMD = -0.71, 95%CI: -1.64, 0.23; $I^2 = 95.5\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001) (**Figure 2**). A subgroup analysis was performed according to the type of local anesthetic, and there were no differences between clonidine and the control drug in the presence of bupivacaine (SMD = -0.61, 95%CI: -1.79, 0.57, $I^2 = 95.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001) or ropivacaine (SMD = -1.60, 95%CI: -3.76, 0.56,





FIGURE 5 | Pain score (continuous variables).









 $I^2 = 96.3\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001), but one study favored clonidine with levobupivacaine (SMD = -1.46, 95%CI: 0.79, 2.13) (**Figure 3**). Regarding the dose of clonidine, the use of clonidine 2 µg/kg favored the control drug (SMD = -2.25, 95%CI: -4.12, -0.38, $I^2 = 97.1\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001), while the use of clonidine 1 µg/kg favored clonidine (SMD = 0.65,

95%CI: -0.08, 1.22, $I^2 = 80.4\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.004) (**Figure 4**).

Pain Score

Five studies (seven datasets) analyzed pain (as a continuous variable). There were no differences between clonidine and the





control drugs regarding pain (SMD = 0.35, 95%CI: -0.28, 0.98; $I^2 = 80.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001) (**Figure 5**). Similar results were obtained when considering buvicaine (SMD = 0.45, 95%CI: -0.45, 1.34, $I^2 = 87.0\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001) or ropivacaine (SMD = 0.14, 95%CI: 0.40, 0.68, $I^2 = 0.0\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.929) as the local anesthetic (**Figure 6**), or when considering clonidine 2 µg/kg (SMD = 0.57, 95%CI: -0.60, 1.74, $I^2 = 89.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} < 0.001) or 1 µg/kg (SMD = 0.08, 95%CI: -0.33, 0.49, $I^2 = 0.0\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.440) (**Figure 7**). Two studies examined pain as a categorical variable showed no difference between clonidine and the control drugs (OR = 0.27, 95%CI: 0.05, 1.45, $I^2 = 19.0\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.266) (**Figure 8**).

Requirement for Additional Analgesia

Three studies examined the requirement for analgesia and showed no difference between clonidine and the control drugs (OR = 8.77, 95%CI: 0.70, 110.58, I^2 = 81.9%, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.004) (**Figure 9**). The requirement for analgesia was not influenced by ropivacaine (OR = 1.00, 95%CI: 0.22, 4.54), but using bupivacaine favored the control drugs in terms of the requirement for additional analgesia (OR = 31.61, 95%CI: 1.05, 948.76, I^2 = 77.0%, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.037) (**Figure 10**). The requirement for analgesia was not influenced by clonidine 1 µg/kg (OR = 1.00, 95%CI: 0.22, 4.54), but using clonidine 2 µg/kg favored the control drugs in term of requirement



FIGURE 11 | Subgroup analysis of post-requirements by the dosage of clonidine.





FIGURE 13 | Subgroup analysis of complications by local anesthetic.

for analgesia (OR = 31.61, 95%CI: 1.05, 948.76, $I^2 = 77.0\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.037) (**Figure 11**).

Complications

Twelve studies (14 datasets) reported the complications of caudal epidural block. Using clonidine resulted in fewer complications than the control drugs (OR = 0.33, 95%CI: 0.20, 0.54, $I^2 = 21.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.217) (**Figure 12**). Similar results were observed when using either bupivacaine (OR = 0.36, 95%CI: 0.19, 0.69, $I^2 = 26.8\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.197) or ropivacaine (OR = 0.28, 95%CI: 0.13, 0.57, $I^2 = 16.2\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.310) as the local anesthetic (**Figure 13**), or when using clonidine 2 µg/kg (OR = 0.35, 95%CI: 0.20, 0.61, $I^2 = 19.1\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.284) or clonidine 1 µg/kg (OR = 0.31, 95%CI: 0.11, 0.86, $I^2 = 39.4\%$, P_{heterogeneity} = 0.143), but not clonidine 1.5 µg/kg (OR = 0.08, 95%CI: 0.00, 1.58) (**Figure 14**).

Sensitivity Analysis

Supplementary Figures 1–3 show that the results of analgesia duration, the requirement for additional analgesia, and complications were robust.

Publication Bias

Begg's test (P = 0.049) and Egger's test (P = 0.001) indicate the presence of a significant publication bias. The results of the trimand-fill analysis suggest that an additional 14 RCTs would be necessary to change this conclusion (**Supplementary Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

Clonidine is an anesthetic with favorable efficacy and safety profiles for use in caudal epidural block in children. This metaanalysis aimed to investigate the effects of clonidine as an adjuvant in caudal epidural block to improve the intraoperative and postoperative analgesia in pediatric surgery. The results suggest that clonidine has the same efficacy as the control drugs for caudal epidural block for pediatric surgery but fewer complications. Thus, these results support clonidine as an adjuvant to local anesthetic, but additional studies should be conducted.

A previous meta-analysis compared clonidine and morphine for caudal epidural block using only four studies and only morphine as control (17). Their results showed no differences regarding analgesia duration and the need for rescue analgesia,



as in the present study and a meta-analysis of clonidine vs. Dexmedetomidine (18). Still, many drugs are available besides morphine for caudal block, limiting the generalizability of that previous meta-analysis. A review suggested that epidural clonidine might be more effective than opioids to manage chronic pain (41). A meta-analysis reported that dexmedetomidine had better analgesic effects than clonidine for hysterectomy (42). In the present meta-analysis, many studies reported no difference between clonidine and the comparator regarding analgesia duration (6, 24, 29, 33), while some studies favored either clonidine (9, 26, 34, 35) or the comparator (19, 27, 28, 31). Of

course, the nature of the comparator might play an important role in the conclusions of the individual studies.

Clonidine inhibits the release of nociceptive neurotransmitters (33). The adverse effects of clonidine are mainly related to the excitation of $\alpha 2$ inhibitory neurons in the medulla vasomotor center, leading to decreased norepinephrine secretion (43). In addition, clonidine decreases the electrical activity of preganglionic parasympathetic nerves and reduces sympathetic drive, resulting in bradycardia (43, 44). Still, the other drugs commonly used for caudal epidural block also have adverse effects, like hemodynamic effects for dexmedetomidine

(45), gastrointestinal dysmotility, nausea/vomiting, pruritus, and respiratory depression for opioids (12, 46), and neuronal apoptosis for ketamine (12, 46, 47). In the present study, the complications were less important with clonidine than with the other drugs. The meta-analysis by Goyal et al. (17) also reported less nausea/vomiting with clonidine than with morphine.

In the present meta-analysis, nearly all analyses showed significant heterogeneity. This heterogeneity could be explained by differences among the included studies regarding the age of the children, the type of surgeries, the comparator drug, the local anesthetic, and the dose of clonidine. Subgroup analyses were performed regarding the local anesthetics and the clonidine dose. The results showed that using bupivacaine instead of ropivacaine was associated with a higher requirement for additional analgesia than the control group, while the choice of local anesthetic did not influence the other parameters. Regarding the dose of clonidine, using a higher dose favored the control drugs in analgesia duration and requirement for additional analgesia while having no impact on pain and complications. Therefore, using a lower dose $(1 \mu g/kg)$ could be conducive to better results, especially regarding the duration of analgesia. These results are still surprising because Lee et al. (48) reported longer analgesia with a higher dose. Still, Singh et al. (24) reported that a lower dose of clonidine combined with bupivacaine fared better than the other drug combinations. Therefore, the subgroup analyses in the present study must be taken with caution, especially considering the different combinations of drugs and clonidine doses. Additional studies are necessary on this point.

Assessment of pain is complex in children and can be based only on physiological and behavioral parameters since young children cannot communicate verbally (49). The exact source of pain is difficult to determine, but understanding the various patterns of cues used by children to manifest pain is a complex undertaking (49). Different tools are recommended according to the verbal/non-verbal status of the patients (50). In addition, the included studies used various pain scale assessments, including OPS (24, 26-29), CHEOPS (30, 31), FLACC (6, 9, 19, 32-34), CHIPPS (35), pinprick at each dermatome (36), or a VAS (30), participating in heterogeneity. Even if all these assessments assess pain, they use different indicators (51). CHEOPS is validated for children of 1-7 years, FLACC for 2 months-7 years, CHIPPS for 0-5 years, OPS for 8 months-13 years, and VAS starting from 5 years (51). In addition, Sanwatsarkar et al. (9) and El-Hennawy et al. (19) presented their pain results in categorical variables based on the FLACC pain scale.

The strengths of this meta-analysis include a relatively large number of studies (only RCTs, leading to a high level of evidence)

REFERENCES

- Walker SM. Acute pain management in pediatric patients. Int Anesthesiol Clin. (1997) 35:105–30. doi: 10.1097/00004311-199703520-00008
- Hansen TG, Henneberg SW, Walther-Larsen S, Lund J, Hansen M. Caudal bupivacaine supplemented with caudal or intravenous clonidine in children undergoing hypospadias repair: a double-blind study. Br J Anaesth. (2004) 92:223–7. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeh028

and a large number of patients. Still, this meta-analysis has limitations. As for any such study, a meta-analysis inherits the limitations of all the included studies, and caution must be applied while extrapolating the results. Two studies included multiple arms (6, 24), which were dealt with using a specific method (25). Although this method might introduce bias, it is a feasible way to deal with the problem of multiple arm studies being compared repeatedly.

In conclusion, clonidine has the same efficacy as the other adjuvants for caudal epidural block for pediatric surgery but fewer complications. These results support clonidine as an adjuvant to local anesthetic, but additional studies should be conducted because of a significant publication bias.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YW conceived and coordinated the study, designed, performed and analyzed the experiments, and wrote the paper. QG, QA, LZ, MW, ZG, and CZ carried out the data collection and data analysis and revised the paper. All authors reviewed the results and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Wu Jieping Medical Foundation (320.6750.19018), Peking University Shougang Hospital Scientific Research and Development Funds (2019-yuan-lc-10).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank CZ from Anesthesia and Operation Centre/First Medical Centre of Chinese PLA General Hospital for conducting the systematic literature search.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.723191/full#supplementary-material

- Dalens B, Hasnaoui A. Caudal anesthesia in pediatric surgery: success rate and adverse effects in 750 consecutive patients. *Anesth Analg.* (1989) 68:83–9. doi: 10.1213/00000539-198902000-00002
- 4. Orme RM, Berg JS. The 'swoosh' test–an evaluation of a modified 'whoosh' test in children. *Br J Anaesth.* (2003) 90:62–5. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeg022
- Lloyd-Thomas AR. Pain management in paediatric patients. Br J Anaesth. (1990) 64:85–104. doi: 10.1093/bja/64.1.85

- Vetter TR, Carvallo D, Johnson JL, Mazurek MS, Presson RG Jr. A comparison of single-dose caudal clonidine, morphine, or hydromorphone combined with ropivacaine in pediatric patients undergoing ureteral reimplantation. *Anesth Analg.* (2007) 104:1356–63, table of contents. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000261521.52562.de
- Wiegele M, Marhofer P, Lonnqvist AP. Caudal epidural blocks in paediatric patients: a review and practical considerations. *Br J Anaesth.* (2019) 122:509– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2018.11.030
- de Beer DA, Thomas ML. Caudal additives in children—solutions or problems? Br J Anaesth. (2003) 90:487–98. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeg064
- Sanwatsarkar S, Kapur S, Saxena D, Yadav G, Khan NN. Comparative study of caudal clonidine and midazolam added to bupivacaine during infraumbilical surgeries in children. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. (2017) 33:241– 7. doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.209739
- Abdulatif M, El-Sanabary M. Caudal neostigmine, bupivacaine, and their combination for postoperative pain management after hypospadias surgery in children. *Anesth Analg.* (2002) 95:1215–8, table of contents. doi: 10.1097/00000539-200211000-00018
- Koul A, Pant D, Sood J. Caudal clonidine in day-care paediatric surgery. Indian J Anaesth. (2009) 53:450–4.
- Lundblad M, Lonnqvist AP. Adjunct analgesic drugs to local anaesthetics for neuroaxial blocks in children. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* (2016) 29:626–31. doi: 10.1097/ACO.00000000000372
- Bosenberg A. Adjuvants in pediatric regional anesthesia. *Pain Manag.* (2012) 2:479–86. doi: 10.2217/pmt.12.51
- Ivani G, De Negri P, Conio A, Amati M, Roero S, Giannone S, Lonnqvist AP. Ropivacaine-clonidine combination for caudal blockade in children. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2000) 44:446–9. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.2000.440415.x
- Wolff M, Heugel P, Hempelmann G, Scholz A, Muhling J, Olschewski A. Clonidine reduces the excitability of spinal dorsal horn neurones. *Br J Anaesth.* (2007) 98:353–61. doi: 10.1093/bja/ael379
- Mossetti V, Vicchio N, Ivani G. Local anesthetis and adjuvants in pediatric regional anesthesia. *Curr Drug Targets.* (2012) 13:952–60. doi: 10.2174/138945012800675713
- Goyal S, Sharma A, Goswami D, Kothari N, Goyal A, Vyas V, et al. Clonidine and morphine as adjuvants for caudal anaesthesia in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim.* (2020) 48:265–72. doi: 10.5152/TJAR.2020.29863
- Shaikh SI, Revur LR, Mallappa M. Comparison of epidural clonidine and dexmedetomidine for perioperative analgesia in combined spinal epidural anesthesia with intrathecal levobupivacaine: a randomized controlled doubleblind study. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2017) 11:503–7. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_255_16
- El-Hennawy AM, Abd-Elwahab AM, Abd-Elmaksoud AM, El-Ozairy HS, Boulis RS. Addition of clonidine or dexmedetomidine to bupivacaine prolongs caudal analgesia in children. *Br J Anaesth.* (2009) 103:268–74. doi: 10.1093/bja/aep159
- Mota Bonisson AC, Fernandes ML, Araujo GF, Vieira FE, Noronha LM, Gomez SR. Combination of clonidine-bupivacaine in caudal epidural anesthesia for hypospadias surgery in children: prospective, randomized, blind study. *Braz J Anesthesiol.* (2019) 69:27–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bjane.2018.09.008
- Saini S, Patodi V, Sethi SK, Jain N, Mathur P, Thada B. Comparison of caudal epidural clonidine with fentanyl as an adjuvant to ropivacaine 0.25% for postoperative analgesia in children undergoing various infraumbilical surgeries: a prospective randomized study. *Ains Shams J Anesthesiol.* (2016) 9:493–500. doi: 10.4103/1687-7934.198252
- Selcuk AA. A guide for systematic reviews: PRISMA. Turk Arch Otorhinolaryngol. (2019) 57:57–8. doi: 10.5152/tao.2019.4058
- Aslam S, Emmanuel P. Formulating a researchable question: a critical step for facilitating good clinical research. *Indian J Sex Transm Dis AIDS*. (2010) 31:47–50. doi: 10.4103/0253-7184.69003
- Singh J, Shah RS, Vaidya N, Mahato PK, Shrestha S, Shrestha LB. Comparison of ketamine, fentanyl and clonidine as an adjuvant during bupivacaine caudal anaesthesia in paediatric patients. *Kathmandu Univ Med J.* (2012) 10:25–9. doi: 10.3126/kumj.v10i3.8013
- Bath PM, Lee HS, Everton FL. Swallowing therapy for dysphagia in acute and subacute stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 10:CD000323. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000323.pub3

- Akbas M, Akbas H, Yegin A, Sahin N, Titiz AT. Comparison of the effects of clonidine and ketamine added to ropivacaine on stress hormone levels and the duration of caudal analgesia. *Paediatr Anaesth.* (2005) 15:580–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2005.01506.x
- Amitha S, Metri V, Mahadevaiah T, Yoganarasimha. A comparative clinical study between clonidine and tramadol with bupivacaine in caudal epidural for postoperative analgesia in pediatric surgery. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2019) 13:389–94. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_37_19
- Cook B, Grubb DJ, Aldridge LA, Doyle E. Comparison of the effects of adrenaline, clonidine and ketamine on the duration of caudal analgesia produced by bupivacaine in children. Br J Anaesth. (1995) 75:698–701. doi: 10.1093/bja/75.6.698
- Luz G, Innerhofer P, Oswald E, Salner E, Hager J, Sparr H. Comparison of clonidine 1 microgram kg-1 with morphine 30 micrograms kg-1 for postoperative caudal analgesia in children. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (1999) 16:42–6. doi: 10.1097/00003643-199901000-00009
- Constant I, Gall O, Gouyet L, Chauvin M, Murat I. Addition of clonidine or fentanyl to local anaesthetics prolongs the duration of surgical analgesia after single shot caudal block in children. *Br J Anaesth.* (1998) 80:294–8. doi: 10.1093/bja/80.3.294
- De Negri P, Ivani G, Visconti C, De Vivo P. How to prolong postoperative analgesia after caudal anaesthesia with ropivacaine in children: sketamine versus clonidine. *Paediatr Anaesth.* (2001) 11:679–83. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.2001.00742.x
- Davies K, Wilson G, Engelhardt T. Caudal additives do not improve the analgesia afforded by levobupivacaine after hypospadias repair. *Anesth Pain Med.* (2012) 1:174–7. doi: 10.5812/aapm.2629
- Fernandes ML, Pires KC, Tiburcio MA, Gomez SR. Caudal bupivacaine supplemented with morphine or clonidine, or supplemented with morphine plus clonidine in children undergoing infra-umbilical urological and genital procedures: a prospective, randomized and double-blind study. J Anesth. (2012) 26:213–8. doi: 10.1007/s00540-011-1297-y
- 34. Singh R, Kumar N, Singh P. Randomized controlled trial comparing morphine or clonidine with bupivacaine for caudal analgesia in children undergoing upper abdominal surgery. Br J Anaesth. (2011) 106:96–100. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeq274
- Rawat J, Shyam R, Kaushal D. A comparative study of tramadol and clonidine as an additive to levobupivacaine in caudal block in pediatric patients undergoing perineal surgeries. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2019) 13:620–4. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_127_19
- 36. Parag K, Sharma M, Khandelwal H, Anand N, Govil N. Intraoperative comparison and evaluation of intrathecal bupivacaine combined with clonidine versus fentanyl in children undergoing hernia repair or genital surgery: a prospective, randomized controlled trial. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2019) 13:323–9. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_24_19
- Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.1. Cochrane Collaboration, London (2020). doi: 10.1002/9781119536604
- Sterne JAC, Savovic J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB
 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*. (2019) 366, l4898. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l4898
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Schunemann HJ, Tugwell P, Knottnerus A. GRADE guidelines: a new series of articles in the Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:380–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.09.011
- Shukla U, Prabhakar T, Malhotra K. Postoperative analgesia in children when using clonidine or fentanyl with ropivacaine given caudally. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. (2011) 27:205–10. doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.81842
- Kumar A, Maitra S, Khanna P, Baidya KD. Clonidine for management of chronic pain: a brief review of the current evidences. *Saudi J Anaesth.* (2014) 8:92–6. doi: 10.4103/1658-354X.125955
- 42. Chiruvella S, Donthu B, Nallam SR, Salla BD. Postoperative analgesia with epidural dexmedetomidine compared with clonidine following total abdominal hysterectomies: a prospective double-blind randomized trial. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2018) 12:103–8. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_207_17
- Giovannoni MP, Ghelardini C, Vergelli C, Dal Piaz V. Alpha2-agonists as analgesic agents. *Med Res Rev.* (2009) 29:339–68. doi: 10.1002/med.20134
- Haydar B. Caudal clonidine and apnea risk. Paediatr Anaesth. (2015) 25:327. doi: 10.1111/pan.12605

- Trifa M, Tumin D, Tobias DJ. Dexmedetomidine as an adjunct for caudal anesthesia and analgesia in children. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2018) 84:836–47. doi: 10.23736/S0375-9393.18.12523-5
- Stratmann G. Review article: neurotoxicity of anesthetic drugs in the developing brain. *Anesth Analg.* (2011) 113:1170–9. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e318232066c
- 47. Suresh S, Ecoffey C, Bosenberg A, Lonnqvist PA, de Oliveira GS Jr, et al. The European society of regional anaesthesia and pain therapy/American society of regional anesthesia and pain medicine recommendations on local anesthetics and adjuvants dosage in pediatric regional anesthesia. *Reg Anesth Pain Med.* (2018) 43:211–6. doi: 10.1097/AAP.000000000000702
- Lee JJ, Rubin PA. Comparison of a bupivacaine-clonidine mixture with plain bupivacaine for caudal analgesia in children. Br J Anaesth. (1994) 72:258–62. doi: 10.1093/bja/72.3.258
- Manocha S, Taneja N. Assessment of paediatric pain: a critical review. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. (2016) 27:323–31. doi: 10.1515/jbcpp-2015-0041
- Herr K, Coyne PJ, Key T, Manworren R, McCaffery M, Merkel S, et al. N. American Society for Pain Management: pain assessment in the nonverbal patient: position statement with clinical practice recommendations. *Pain Manag Nurs.* (2006) 7:44–52. doi: 10.1016/j.pmn.2006.02.003
- 51. Zielinski J, Morawska-Kochman M, Zatonski T. Pain assessment and management in children in the postoperative period: a review of the most

commonly used postoperative pain assessment tools, new diagnostic methods and the latest guidelines for postoperative pain therapy in children. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* (2020) 29:365–74. doi: 10.17219/acem/112600

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Wang, Guo, An, Zhao, Wu, Guo and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Optimal Dose of Intraoperative Dexmedetomidine for Antiemetic Effects of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Elective Thoracic Surgery: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Bing Li^{1†}, Ying Zhao^{2†}, Xinmin Liu^{2†}, Yao Liu³, Jiaqiang Zhang^{1*} and Wei Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology, Henan Provincial People's Hospital, Zhengzhou, China, ² Department of Anesthesiology, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ³ Department of Anesthesiology, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou, Zhengzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Somchai Amornyotin, Mahidol University, Thailand

Reviewed by:

Sangseok Lee, Inje University Sanggye Paik Hospital, South Korea Lei Zhao, Capital Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Jiaqiang Zhang hnmzxh@163.com Wei Zhang myhope2005@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 March 2022 Accepted: 05 April 2022 Published: 26 April 2022

Citation:

Li B, Zhao Y, Liu X, Liu Y, Zhang J and Zhang W (2022) The Optimal Dose of Intraoperative Dexmedetomidine for Antiemetic Effects of Post-operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Elective Thoracic Surgery: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front. Med. 9:891096. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.891096 **Background:** Dexmedetomidine (DEX) administration decreases post-operative nausea and vomiting (PONV), but it is a lack of large-scale retrospective cohort study and is unclear whether there is a dose-relationship and optimal dose for antiemetic effects between DEX and PONV. We performed a large-scale retrospective cohort study to explore the optimal dose of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV.

Methods: A total of 5,310 patients aged \geq 18 who underwent elective thoracic surgery from January 2016 to March 2020 under total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) or combined intravenous and inhalation anesthesia in Henan Provincial People's Hospital. Patients were divided into two groups, those who received DEX intraoperatively and those who did not receive DEX. Patients who received DEX after surgery were excluded. Our primary outcomes were the association, the dose-response relationship, and the optimal dose for antiemetic effects between intraoperative DEX and PONV.

Results: Among the 3,878 patients enrolled, 2,553 patients received DEX and 1,325 patients did not receive DEX. The incidence of PONV in patients who received DEX was 21.3%, and the incidence of PONV in patients who did not receive DEX was 46.5% (P = 0.001). After the matched-pairs cohort consisted of 1,325 patients, the incidence of PONV in patients who received DEX was 23.6%, and the incidence of PONV in patients who did not receive DEX was 46.5% (P = 0.001). We analyzed three different models after propensity matching to validate the stability of the prediction model between intraoperative DEX and PONV. A dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV is 50–100 µg in elective thoracic surgery.

Conclusions: Intraoperative DEX was associated with a decreased incidence of PONV in the large-scale retrospective cohort study. A dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV was observed. The optimal dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV is $50-100 \mu g$ in elective thoracic surgery.

Keywords: post-operative nausea and vomiting, dexmedetomidine, thoracic surgery, retrospective cohort, optimal dose

INTRODUCTION

Post-operative nausea and vomiting (PONV) include any nausea, retching or vomiting that occurs during the first 24 post-operative h (1). Vomiting can cause electrolyte imbalance and aggravate pain, even delaying discharge (2). Patients undergoing thoracic surgery experience severe pain after operation when the consumption of analgesic morphine is high, and the use of morphine is associated with nausea, vomiting, sedation and respiratory depression during acute morphine therapy (3, 4).

Fortunately, according to the fourth consensus guideline for post-operative nausea and vomiting management (5), many recommended strategies for routinely reducing the baseline risk of PONV are pointed out, including that perioperative dexmedetomidine (DEX) (evidence A1) (6). DEX 1 μ g/kg before skin incision reduced the incidence of PONV after laparoscopic cholecystectomy, and PONV benefits were confirmed when DEX was added to an IV sufentanil-ondansetron PCA after thoracotomy.

However, in terms of the effect of DEX on PONV, several aspects remain unclear: (1) It is a lack of large sample size retrospective cohort study. (2) It is unclear whether there is a dose-relationship between DEX and PONV. (3) It is unclear about optimal dose of DEX for antiemetic effects.

Therefore, we hypothesized that a dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV in elective thoracic surgery was existed. We conducted a retrospective cohort study to test this hypothesis and to explore the optimal dose of intraoperative DEX on PONV.

METHODS

Overall Design and Data Source

This was a retrospective cohort study based on the Henan Provincial People's Hospital of China. In preparing this article, the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist for cohort studies was cited. The STROBE checklist for cohort studies was referenced when preparing the article. Study design, outcome variables, and analysis plan were identified before performing the data analysis. The main page, medical record and anesthesia record sheet of each in-hospital patient was collected by Information Center Department of Henan Provincial People's Hospital and a uniform data collection system was applied. The data was obtained from an electronic medical record and collected after the fact. Anonymous data about patients' basic information, clinical diagnosis using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (10th revision) codes, surgeryrelevant information, and intraoperative DEX were transferred to a specific data management institution.

Study Population

We analyzed the data of all adult (age ≥ 18 yr) patients who underwent elective thoracic surgery under total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) or combined intravenous and inhalation anesthesia between January 2016 and March 2020. Patients were excluded for the following reasons: (i) data on the classification of regional anesthesia were missing; (ii) data on nausea and vomiting in the first 24 h after surgery were not recorded; (iii) DEX was used after surgery; (iv) the patient went to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) after surgery; (v) more than 20% of patient indicators were missing; (vi) the patient had a history of alcohol, analgesic or other drug abuse and addiction; (vii) the patient had unstable angina pectoris and myocardial infarction occurring within 3 months and New York Heart Association (NYHA) grade \geq 3; and (viii) the patient had severe cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases. For patients who had more than one thoracic surgery during the study period, only the first thoracic surgery was included.

Variables

Variables that may have an association with PONV were selected based on a literature review. Risk factors for PONV in adults included age, non-smoking, history of PONV or motion sickness, volatile anesthesia, risk surgery, female and post-operative opioid analgesics. Patients with completed data regarding age, sex, education, weight, smoking history, drinking history, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status, medical history (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, previous non-thoracic surgery, cerebral vascular and heart diseases and immune system diseases, coagulation dysfunction, History of PONV and Motion sickness), anesthesia method (TIVA and Combined intravenous and inhalation anesthesia), regional anesthesia, intraoperative dexamethasone, sufentanil and prophylactic antiemetics (5HT-3 antagonists), and surgical characteristics (surgical method, type and time), vascular drugs, bradycardia, hypotension, total infusion volume, red blood cell (RBC) transfusion, plasma transfusion, amount of bleeding, urine volume, length of stay (LOS) in the post-anesthesia care unit (PACU), patient controlled intravenous analgesia (PCIA), moderate-to-severe (MOS) pain at rest, moderate-to-severe (MOS) pain during activity, use of medication in PCIA, post-operative salvage opioid analgesics, rescue medication (5HT-3 antagonists) and PONV during the first post-operative 24 h were included in the study.

End Points and Confounders

Nausea and vomiting are two different phenomena; they usually coexist in a patient, post-operative nausea (PON) or post-operative vomiting (POV) notably occur in parallel to PONV. Therefore, we regarded the PONV variables as a substitute for any PON, POV or retching in the trials. The most commonly used time interval to measure the role of antiemetics is 24 h post-operatively (7). We could get the occurrence and frequency of PONV within 24 h after operation. However, we could not distinguish the degree of PON and POV in our retrospective. The primary end point in our study was the incidence of PONV during the first post-operative 24 h. Secondary end points were the dose-response relationship and the optimal dose of DEX and PONV.

Baseline factors thought to have relationships with PONV were regarded as potential confounders for the analysis. Based on clinical experiences and previous studies, we adjusted for the potential confounding effects of age, sex, surgery type, surgery time, regional anesthesia, patient controlled intravenous



analgesia (PCIA), education, smoking history and intraoperative sufentanil. All information concerning potential confounders was retrieved from the medical records.

Statistical Analysis

Baseline data were stratified by categorizing the study population into two groups, dexmedetomidine and non-dexmedetomidine, according to whether dexmedetomidine was used during the operation. Continuous variables of each group are presented as the mean standard deviation (if the data are normal) or quartile, and the categorical variables are expressed as absolute values and percentages. Analysis of variance was used to compare continuous variables. Categorical variables were analyzed by the chi-squared test. A 2-tailed p<0.05 was established as the threshold of statistical significance. We did not adjust for the probability of type I errors; hence, findings concerning secondary outcome was only considered exploratory. Data analysis was performed with R packages (R version 3.4.4).

As this was a retrospective database study, the number of eligible patients was fixed; hence, we estimated the statistical power instead of calculating the sample size. And we used propensity-score matching to exclude systematic bias. Patients were matched using 1:1 nearest-neighbor matching with a caliper size of 0.05 on a propensity score scale. To control for any residual confounding by covariates with a standardized difference >10% after matching, we included these variables as adjustment

for a priori selected risk factors for PONV in the multivariable logistic regression models to analyze the association between exposure and outcome. To test the robustness of our main findings, we conducted an a priori-defined sensitivity analysis, as stated above, three analysis models were devised: "Model 1" was a crude model; "Model 2" was adjusted for age and sex; and "Model 3" included age, sex, surgery type, surgery time, anesthesia method, regional anesthesia, PCIA, education, smoking history and intraoperative sufentanil as the adjustment variables.

The associations between the different doses of dexmedetomidine and PONV were analyzed to determine whether a dose-response relationship exists, in which patients with no dexmedetomidine were excluded. Bonferroni's correction was used, and 99% confidence interval (CI) was calculated in the analysis of the dose-response relationship to adjust the type I error in the multiple comparisons. Different doses of dexmedetomidine were tested to determine whether the dose-response relationship was statistically significant using the Mann-Kendall method.

RESULTS

Of the 5,310 patients undergoing elective thoracic surgery identified in our database, 3,878 were eligible for inclusion (Figure 1).

TABLE 1 | Patients characteristics.

Items		Before matche	ed			After matched		
	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 2,553	P	SMD	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 1,325	Р	SMD
Weight (kg)	65 (57 to 72)	65 (58 to 73)	0.019	0.076	65 (58 to 73)	65 (58 to 73)	0.768	0.009
Age (year)	57 (47 to 66)	57 (49 to 66)	0.254	0.076	57 (47 to 66)	57 (49 to 66)	0.269	0.042
Sex (male)	779 (58.8)	1,583 (62)	0.064	0.064	779 (58.8)	800 (60)	0.842	0.008
ASA physical status			< 0.001	0.154			0.945	0.022
I	152 (11.5)	181 (7.1)			152 (11.5)	94 (7.1)		
II	1,016 (76.7)	2,068 (81)			1,016 (76.7)	1,073 (81)		
III	152 (11.4)	296 (11.6)			152 (11.4)	154 (11.6)		
IV	5 (0.4)	8 (0.3)			5 (0.4)	4 (0.3)		
Education			0.18	0.074			0.776	0.085
Bachelor or above	252 (19)	457 (17.9)			252 (19)	237 (17.9)		
Middle school	533 (40.2)	1,001 (39.2)			533 (40.2)	519 (39.2)		
Primary school	486 (36.7)	955 (37.4)			486 (36.7)	496 (37.4)		
Illiteracy	54 (4.1)	140 (5.5)			54 (4.1)	73 (5.5)		
Smoking history (yes)	491 (37.1)	983 (38.5)	0.414	0.029	491 (37.1)	510 (38.5)	0.842	0.043
Drinking history (yes)	443 (33.4)	888 (34.8)	0.409	0.029	443 (33.4)	461 (34.8)	0.871	0.027
History of non-thoracic surgery (yes)	496 (37.4)	978 (38.3)	0.626	0.018	496 (37.4)	507 (38.3)	0.749	0.039
Cerebral vascular disease (yes)	85 (6.4)	184 (7.2)	0.342	0.034	85 (6.4)	96 (7.2)	0.882	0.015
History of hypertension (yes)	282 (21.3)	597 (23.4)	0.14	0.051	282 (21.3)	310 (23.4)	0.819	0.014
Diabetes History (yes)	139 (10.5)	248 (9.7)	0.47	0.027	139 (10.5)	128 (9.7)	0.278	0.045
History of heart disease (yes)	85 (6.4)	245 (9.6)	0.001	0.117	85 (6.4)	87 (6.6)	0.688	0.016
History of immune system (yes)	9 (0.7)	8 (0.3)	0.121	0.061	9 (0.7)	8 (0.6)	0.117	0.070
History of coagulation dysfunction (yes)	24 (1.8)	102 (4)	<.001	0.131	24 (1.8)	53 (4)	<.001	0.090
History of PONV	49 (3.7)	71 (2.8)	0.032	0.155	49 (3.7)	31 (2.4)	0.019	0.138
Motion sickness	268 (20.3)	385 (15.1)	0.007	0.113	268 (20.3)	115 (8.7)	0.008	0.082

Data are presented as mean (SD) or n (%) or median.

SD, standard deviation; DEX, dexmedetomidine; ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; PONV, Post-operative nausea and vomiting.

Baseline Characteristics

Among the 3,878 patients enrolled, 2,553 patients received DEX and 1,325 patients did not receive DEX. The incidence of PONV in patients who received DEX was 21.3%, and the incidence of PONV in patients who did not receive DEX was 46.5% (P = 0.001). We used a propensity-score matched-pairs analysis of the cohort to evaluate the adjusted association between DEX and PONV. After the matched-pairs cohort consisted of 1,325 patients, the incidence of PONV in patients who received DEX was 23.6%, and the incidence of PONV in patients who did not receive DEX was 46.5% (P = 0.001). There were significant differences between the groups in terms of a history of coagulation dysfunction, history of PONV and motion sickness (Table 1). There were significant differences between the groups in terms of anesthesia method, regional anesthesia, surgery type, hypotension and Urine volume (Table 2). There were significant differences between the groups in terms of PCIA, Pain during activity (MOS), use of medication in PCIA, postoperative salvage opioid analgesics, rescue medication (5HT-3 antagonists) and PONV (Table 3). We analyzed three different models after propensity matching, including Model 1 (OR = 0.497, 95% CI, 0.314–0.77; P = 0.002), Model 2 (OR = 0.485, 95% CI, 0.305–0.755; P = 0.002), and Model 3 (OR = 0.489, 95% CI, 0.305–0.768; P = 0.002), to validate the stability of the prediction model between DEX and PONV (**Table 4**).

Dose-Response Relationship Between DEX and PONV

A dose-response relationship between DEX and PONV was observed (**Figure 2**). The ordinate of **Figure 2** is the odds ratio (0-1), and the abscissa is the dosage of DEX $(0-150 \ \mu g)$. As is evident, the larger the dose of DEX is, the lower the incidence of PONV.

The Optimal Dose of DEX and PONV

The 95% upper confidence interval of OR was 1, and the critical value were 48.995 μ g (OR = 0.0.604, 95% CI, 0.364–1.003) and 49.749 μ g (OR = 0.595, 95% CI, 0.359–0.988) in the dose-response relationship (**Figure 2**). When the dose of DEX >100 μ g, the OR decreases very little, and the curve is gentle (**Figure 2**). We analyzed three different dose range

TABLE 2 | Baseline data of intraoperative patients.

Items		Before matche	After matched					
	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 2,553	Р	SMD	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 1,325	Р	SMD
Anesthesia method			0.037	0.122			0.011	0.100
TIVA	325 (24.5)	835 (32.7)			325 (24.5)	412 (31.1)		
Combined intravenous and inhalation anesthesia	1,000 (75.5)	1,718 (67.3)			1,000 (75.5)	913 (68.9)		
Regional anesthesia			<.001	0.171			0.007	0.128
TPVB	966 (72.9)	2,025 (79.3)			966 (72.9)	1,051 (79.3)		
None	359 (27.1)	528 (20.7)			359 (27.1)	274 (20.7)		
Intraoperative dexamethasone (mg)	5 (4 to 6)	5 (4 to 6)	0.146	0.087	5 (4 to 6)	5 (4 to 6)	0.613	0.083
Intraoperative sufentanil (μg)	35 (30 to 40)	35 (30 to 40)	0.162	0.041	35 (30 to 40)	35 (30 to 40)	0.831	0.015
Prophylactic antiemetics (5HT-3 antagonists) (mg)	4 (3 to 5)	4 (3 to 5)	0.341	0.040	4 (3 to 5)	4 (3 to 5)	0.526	0.047
Surgical method			>.999	0.001			0.912	0.013
Open surgery	188 (14.2)	363 (14.2)			188 (14.2)	188 (14.2)		
Endoscopic surgery	1,137 (85.8)	2,190 (85.8)			1,137 (85.8)	1,137 (85.8)		
Surgery type			<.001	0.237			0.002	0.194
Lung cancer	230 (17.4)	554 (21.7)			230 (17.4)	288 (21.7)		
Lobectomy	615 (46.4)	1,136 (44.5)			615 (46.4)	589 (44.5)		
Esophageal cancer	242 (18.3)	490 (19.2)			242 (18.3)	254 (19.2)		
Mediastinal surgery	102 (7.7)	248 (9.7)			102 (7.7)	129 (9.7)		
Thoracoscopic Sympathectomy	82 (6.2)	15 (0.6)			82 (6.2)	15 (1.1)		
Other types	93 (7)	110 (4.3)			93 (7)	50 (3.8)		
Surgery time (min)	191 (135 to 255)	190 (145 to 260)	0.043	0.057	191 (135 to 255)	190 (145 to 260)	0.872	0.001
Vascular drugs (yes)	580 (43.8)	1,220 (47.8)	0.02	0.080	580 (43.8)	633 (47.8)	0.094	0.009
Bradycardia (yes)	162 (12.2)	347 (13.6)	0.232	0.042	162 (12.2)	180 (13.6)	0.527	0.009
Hypotension (yes)	440 (33.2)	661 (25.9)	<.001	0.150	440 (33.2)	343 (25.9)	<.001	0.164
Total infusion volume (ml)	1,500 (1,000 to 2,000)	1,500 (1,100 to 2,000)	0.167	0.061	1,500 (1,100 to 2,000)	1,500 (1,100 to 2,000)	0.487	0.035
RBC Transfusion (U)	1 (1 to 1)	1 (1 to 1)	0.606	0.030	1 (1 to 1)	1 (1 to 1)	0.687	0.035
Plasma Transfusion (ml)	0 (0 to 0)	0 (0 to 0)	0.697	0.015	0 (0 to 0)	0 (0 to 0)	0.224	0.017
Amount of bleeding (ml)	100 (30 to 100)	100 (50 to 150)	<0.001	0.018	100 (30 to 100)	100 (50 to 150)	0.003	0.002
Urine volume (ml)	350 (200 to 600)	400 (200 to 600)	0.001	0.107	350 (200 to 600)	360 (200 to 600)	0.028	0.055

Data are presented as mean (SD) or n (%) or median.

SD, standard deviation; DEX, dexmedetomidine; TIVA, Total intravenous anesthesia; TPVB, thoracic paravertebral regional anesthesia; LOS, Length of stay; PACU, Post Anesthesia Care Unit; RBC, red blood cell.

of dexmedetomidine for PONV, including 0–50 μ g (OR = 0.776, 95% CI, 0.474–1.220; *P* = 0.291), 50-100 μ g (OR = 0.247, 95% CI, 0.103–0.504; *P* < 0.001), and 100–150 μ g (OR = 0, 95% CI, 0–0; *P* = 0.988) (**Table 5**). Compared with 0 μ g, there was only significant difference between in range of DEX in 50–100 μ g. The optimal dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV is 50–100 μ g.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we reported three main findings: first, intraoperative DEX can reduce the incidence of PONV in

patients undergoing thoracic surgery; second, a dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV was observed; third, the optimal dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV is 50–100 μ g.

Previous small sample prospective studies have shown that perioperative DEX can reduce the incidence of PONV (7– 9). Some meta-analyses demonstrated that intraoperative DEX significantly lowered post-operative pain scores and opioid consumption, which could lead to a reduced opioid-related adverse events, including PONV (6, 10). These studies focused on the specific high-risk factors for PONV, especially in women (breast and gynecological surgery) and gastrointestinal surgery. Clear risk factors independently predicting PONV included female sex, post-operative opioid treatment, prior history of

TABLE 3 | Patients data within 24 h after operation.

Items	Before matched							
	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 2,553	Р	SMD	Without DEX $n = 1,325$	DEX n = 1,325	Р	SMD
LOS in PACU (min)	70 (55 to 95)	70 (55 to 95)	0.054	0.051	70 (55 to 95)	70 (55 to 95)	0.071	0.028
PCIA (yes)	1236 (93.3)	2231 (87.4)	<.001	0.199	1236 (93.3)	1140 (86.0)	<.001	0.146
Pain at rest (MOS)	85 (6.4)	146 (5.7)	0.412	0.035	85 (6.4)	80 (6.1)	0.114	0.035
Pain during activity (MOS)	207 (15.6)	301 (11.8)	0.002	0.103	207 (15.6)	160 (12.1)	0.002	0.084
Use of medication in PCIA (µg)	206 (16.4)	199 (8.3)	0.009	0.171	206 (16.4)	133 (10.1)	0.023	0.098
Postoperative salvageopioid analgesics (μ g)	167 (12.7)	125 (7.5)	0.018	0.107	167 (12.7)	112 (8.5)	0.033	0.055
Rescue medication(5HT-3 antagonists) (mg)	413 (31.2)	398 (15.6)	0.011	0.117	413 (31.2)	246 (18.6)	0.006	0.016
PONV (yes)	616 (46.5)	544 (21.3)	0.001	0.122	616 (46.5)	312 (23.6)	0.003	0.100

Data are presented as mean (SD) or n (%) or median.

SD, standard deviation; DEX, dexmedetomidine; LOS, Length of stay; PACU, Post Anesthesia Care Unit; RBC, red blood cell; PCIA, patient controlled intravenous analgesia; MOS, moderate-to-severe (VAS score >3).

TABLE 4	Multivariable logistic regression analysis of dexmedetomidine for PONV.

Variable	OR (95% CI)	Р
Model 1	0.497 (0.314 to 0.77)	0.002
Model 2	0.485 (0.305 to 0.755)	0.002
Model 3	0.489 (0.305 to 0.768)	0.002

Model 1 was a crude model.

Model 2 was adjusted for age and sex using multivariable logistic regression.

Model 3 was adjusted for age, sex, surgery type, surgery time, anesthesia method, regional anesthesia, PCIA, education, smoking history and intraoperative sufentanil using multivariable logistic regression.

CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; PONV, Post-operative nausea and vomiting; PCIA, patient controlled intravenous analgesia.

motion sickness and/or PONV, and non-smokers, which can increase the risk by 20% (11). Other risk factors for PONV also included preanesthetic medication, anesthetic techniques, and post-operative pain management (12). By reviewing 4 years of patients receiving thoracic surgery in Henan Provincial People's Hospital, including esophageal surgery, lung surgery, mediastinal surgery and so on, we can further determine the relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV. We analyzed three different models after propensity score matching and showed that perioperative DEX could reduce the incidence of PONV, further supporting that this result was very stable, and this is consistent with previous research results. To our knowledge, this is the first large-scale retrospective cohort study of intraoperative DEX and PONV in elective thoracic surgery.

The reasons why DEX could prevent PONV may be as follows: (i) Intraoperative DEX significantly lowered the demand for opioids and inhalation anesthesia during and after operation, which could help to reduce opioid-related adverse events, including PONV (13). (ii) Intraoperative DEX decreases noradrenergic activity as a result of binding to alpha-2 presynaptic inhibitory adrenoreceptors in the locus coeruleus, which may result in an antiemetic effect (14). (iii) It may be





related to reducing sympathetic outflow and total catecholamine release by DEX, while high sympathetic tone and catecholamine release may trigger PONV (12).

Although some prospective studies with small sample sizes have shown that a 0.5 or $1.0 \,\mu$ g/kg bolus infusion could effectively decrease the incidence of PONV (7–9, 15, 16), there have been few studies on other doses, and it is not clear whether there was a dose-dependent antiemetic effect. The optimal dose

TABLE 5 Multivariable logistic regression analysis of different dose range of	
dexmedetomidine for PONV.	

Variable	OR (95% CI)	Р
0–50 μg	0.776 (0.474 to 1.220)	0.291
50–100 μg	0.247 (0.103 to 0.504)	< 0.001
100–150 μg	0 (0 to 0)	0.988

Cl, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; PONV, Post-operative nausea and vomiting.

of DEX for achieving antiemetic effects has not been well-documented. On the basis of the above, we explored the dose-effect relationship between DEX and PONV according to the data in our study. The intraoperative dosage of DEX ranged from 0 μ g to 150 μ g, and with the increase in perioperative dexmedetomidine dose, the incidence of PONV decreased. This beneficial dose-response relationship may be explained by the possible mechanism of DEX reducing the incidence of PONV.

It should be noted that bradycardia and hypotension are the most common adverse events associated with high doses of DEX, which were closely related to the rate of infusion and total dosage. Thus, when determining the optimal dose of DEX for PONV, the potential increased risk of significant hypotension and bradycardia should be balanced against optimal anti-PONV effects. We found a significant dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV, but the range of intraoperative DEX is too extensive in Figure 2. When the 95% upper confidence interval of OR is just <1 in the doseresponse relationship, the corresponding dose of DEX is 49.749 µg, indicating that some patients did not benefit from the DEX in terms of PONV when the DEX is $<49.749 \ \mu$ g. When the dose of DEX was >100 μ g, the OR value decreased very smoothly. This suggests that the benefit from DEX becomes smaller, at the same time, higher cardiovascular risk have to be considered very carefully. Meanwhile, we analyzed three different dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV and showed that there was significant difference only when the dose of DEX was 50-100 µg. Based on our results, the optimal dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV is 50-100 µg in elective thoracic surgery.

There were several limitations to this observational study, including (most notably) its retrospective nature, which prevented us from obtaining clinical details from decision-makers. First, the dose of intraoperative DEX was not reported per kilogram of body weight in our study, but we obtained the dose-response relationship between intraoperative DEX and PONV, and explored the optimal dose of intraoperative DEX which included different doses of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV. Second, previous studies have shown that intraoperative inhaled anesthetic dosage directly affected the frequency and degree of PONV. Due to the defects of retrospective study, we were unable to obtain the intraoperative inhaled anesthetic dosage. However, anesthesia methods did not affect the results of DEX for antiemetic effects after multivariate regression analysis. Third, PON and POV usually coexist in a patient, so we did not distinguish the two variables. The degree of PONV was not identified. Whether intraoperative dexmedetomidine can decrease the degree of PONV also requires further research.

In conclusion, intraoperative DEX was found to be significantly associated with a decreased incidence of PONV in a retrospective cohort study. We also observed a dose-response relationship: the greater the dose of intraoperative DEX is, the lower the incidence of PONV. The optimal dose range of intraoperative DEX for antiemetic effects of PONV is 50–00 μ g in elective thoracic surgery.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of Henan Provincial People's Hospital, No. 7, Weiwu Road, Zhengzhou, Henan, China. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements. Written informed consent was not obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BL and YZ: wrote the manuscript. BL and XL conducted bioinformatics analysis, analyzed the data, and drew diagrams. YL: supervision. JZ and WZ made a lot of contributions to the design of the research, conducted data analysis, graph generation, and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the refinement of the study protocol and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the Medical Science and Technology Research Plan Joint Construction Project of Henan Province (LHGJ20200059).

REFERENCES

- 1. Apfel CC, Korttila K, Abdalla M, Kerger H, Turan A, Vedder I, et al. A factorial trial of six interventions for the prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting. *N Engl J Med.* (2004) 350:2441–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032196
- Rashiq S, Bray P. Relative value to surgical patients and anesthesia providers of selected anesthesia related outcomes. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak.* (2003) 3:3. doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-3-3
- Gottschalk A, Cohen SP, Yang S, Ochroch EA. Preventing and treating pain after thoracic surgery. *Anesthesiology*. (2006) 104:594–600. doi: 10.1097/0000542-200603000-00027
- Unlugenc H, Tetiker S, Buyukkurt S, Guler T, Isik G. Comparison of the effect of adding remifentanil to patient-controlled tramadol or morphine for postoperative analgesia after major abdominal surgery. J Opioid Manag. (2009) 5:247–55. doi: 10.5055/jom.2009.0027
- Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, Chung F, Diemunsch P, Habib AS, et al. Fourth consensus guidelines for the management of post-operative nausea and vomiting. *Anesth Analg.* (2020) 131:411–48. doi: 10.1213/ANE.000000000004833
- Blaudszun G, Lysakowski C, Elia N, Tramer MR. Effect of perioperative systemic alpha2 agonists on post-operative morphine consumption and pain intensity: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Anesthesiology.* (2012) 116:1312–22. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e31825 681cb
- Jin S, Liang DD, Chen C, Zhang M, Wang J. Dexmedetomidine prevent post-operative nausea and vomiting on patients during general anesthesia: a PRISMA-compliant meta analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e5770. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005770
- Bakri MH, Ismail EA, Ibrahim A. Comparison of dexmedetomidine and dexamethasone for prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2015) 68:254– 60. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2015.68.3.254
- Choi EK, Seo Y, Lim DG, Park S. Post-operative nausea and vomiting after thyroidectomy: a comparison between dexmedetomidine and remifentanil as part of balanced anesthesia. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2017) 70:299– 304. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2017.70.3.299
- Schnabel A, Meyer-Friessem CH, Reichl SU, Zahn PK, Pogatzki-Zahn EM. Is intraoperative dexmedetomidine a new option for post-operative pain treatment? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pain.* (2013) 154:1140–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.03.029

- Apfel CC, Laara E, Koivuranta M, Greim CA, Roewer N, A. simplified risk score for predicting post-operative nausea and vomiting: conclusions from cross-validations between two centers. *Anesthesiology.* (1999) 91:693– 700. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199909000-00022
- Watcha MF, White PF. Post-operative nausea and vomiting. Its etiology, treatment, and prevention. *Anesthesiology*. (1992) 77:162–84. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199207000-00023
- Gurbet A, Basagan-Mogol E, Turker G, Ugun F, Kaya FN, Ozcan B. Intraoperative infusion of dexmedetomidine reduces perioperative analgesic requirements. *Can J Anaesth.* (2006) 53:646–52. doi: 10.1007/BF03021622
- Whittington RA, Virag L. Dexmedetomidine-induced decreases in accumbal dopamine in the rat are partly mediated via the locus coeruleus. *Anesth Analg.* (2006) 102:448–55. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000195234.07413.5a
- Li HJ, Liu S, Geng ZY Li XY. Adding dexmedetomidine to morphinebased analgesia reduces early post-operative nausea in patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2020) 20:11. doi: 10.1186/s12871-019-0928-y
- Li S, Liu T, Xia J, Jia J, Li W. Effect of dexmedetomidine on prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting in pediatric strabismus surgery: a randomized controlled study. *BMC Ophthalmol.* (2020) 20:86. doi: 10.1186/s12886-020-01359-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Li, Zhao, Liu, Liu, Zhang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Transcutaneous Electrical Acupoint Stimulation Combined With Auricular Acupressure Reduces Postoperative Delirium Among Elderly Patients Following Major Abdominal Surgery: A Randomized Clinical Trial

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vincenza Frisardi, Santa Maria Nuova Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Niels Hansen, University Medical Center Göettingen, Germany Jiaqiang Zhang, Zhengzhou University, China

*Correspondence:

Chong Lei crystalleichong@126.com Lize Xiong mzkxlz@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 15 January 2022 Accepted: 16 May 2022 Published: 15 June 2022

Citation:

Fan Q, Lei C, Wang Y, Yu N, Wang L, Fu J, Dong H, Lu Z and Xiong L (2022) Transcutaneous Electrical Acupoint Stimulation Combined With Auricular Acupressure Reduces Postoperative Delirium Among Elderly Patients Following Major Abdominal Surgery: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Front. Med. 9:855296. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.855296 Qianqian Fan¹, Chong Lei¹*, Yonghui Wang¹, Nannan Yu², Lini Wang¹, Jingwen Fu¹, Hailong Dong¹, Zhihong Lu¹ and Lize Xiong^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, ² Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, ³ Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Translational Research Institute of Brain and Brain-Like Intelligence, Shanghai Fourth People's Hospital Affiliated to Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

Background: Postoperative delirium is common in elderly patients following major surgery. This study aimed to assess the effect of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure on the incidence of postoperative delirium among older patients undergoing major abdominal surgery.

Methods: In this single-center, randomized controlled clinical trial, 210 patients aged 65 years or older undergoing major abdominal surgery were randomized to receive either intervention treatment (transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation started at 30 min before anesthesia until the end of the surgery, followed by intermittent auricular acupressure in the first three postoperative days; n = 105) or standard care (n = 105). The primary outcome was the incidence of delirium at the first seven postoperative days or until hospitalization depended on which came first. Secondary outcomes included delirium severity, opioid consumption, postoperative gain score, sleep quality, length of postoperative hospital stay, and postoperative 30-day complications. Enrollment was from April 2019 to March 2020, with follow-up ending in April 2020.

Results: All of the 210 randomized patients [median age, 69.5 years, 142 (67.6%) male] completed the trial. The incidence of postoperative delirium was significantly reduced in patients received intervention treatment (19/105 (18.1%) vs. 8/105 (7.6%), difference, – 10.5% [95% CI, –1.5% to –19.4%]; hazard ratio, 0.41 [95% CI, 0.18 to 0.95]; P= 0.023). Patients in the control group had a higher postoperative Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale (4 vs. 3; difference, –1; 95% CI, –1 to 0; P = 0.014) and a greater increase in Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index score from baseline to postoperative day three (2.5 vs. 2.0; difference, –1; 95% CI, –2 to –1; P < 0.001) than patients in the intervention group. No significant difference was observed as of other secondary outcomes.

58

Conclusion: In elderly patients undergoing major abdominal surgery, transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure reduced the incidence of postoperative in-hospital delirium compared with standard care. A multicenter, randomized clinical trial with a larger sample size is necessary to verify these findings.

Clinical Trial Registration: [https://clinicaltrials.gov], identifier [NCT03726073].

Keywords: transcutaneous electric acupoint stimulation, auricular acupressure, elderly, abdominal surgery, delirium

INTRODUCTION

Postoperative delirium is an acute neurological disorder that commonly occurs within the first three days after the operation (1, 2). Delirium prevalence ranges from 18 to 35% in general medical services and reaches 50% in elderly patients after highrisk surgery (3). It has been documented that postoperative delirium is associated with increased mortality, morbidity, and healthcare costs (4, 5). Despite efforts to decrease its occurrence, the incidence of postoperative delirium remains at 15%–54% in elderly patients after major abdominal surgery (6, 7).

The etiology of postoperative delirium is multifactorial and not fully elucidated. Cumulative evidence has shown that it may be associated with neuroinflammation, alteration in neurotransmitters, subclinical cerebral vascular events, and can be precipitated by factors such as pain, hypotension, and electroencephalogram suppression during surgery (1, 8). Acupuncture, a traditional Chinese medicine, has been reported to have anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties (9, 10). It also alleviates perioperative hypotension, reduces anesthetic and analgesic consumption, and improves sleep disorders (9, 11). Therefore, acupuncture and related techniques might exert a beneficial influence in reducing postoperative delirium.

Evidence supporting the use of acupuncture on delirium prevention is limited. A pilot study has shown that transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation applied on pre-and intraoperative has a trend of alleviating postoperative delirium in elderly patients with silent lacunar infarction undergoing spinal surgery (6.3% vs. 25.0%; relative risk, 0.25; 95% CI, 0.06 to 1.09) (12). Since the effect of a single session of electronic acupuncture only lasted for two or 3 h (9, 13), the transitory acupuncture protocol in the study may attribute to the limited effect of acupuncture on delirium prevention. Previous studies reported that delirium mainly occurs within postoperative three days (14, 15); thus, adding acupuncture interventions on postoperative three days may augment its preventive effects. Postoperative auricular acupuncture has shown its effect on relieving anxiety in post-cesarean section women (16) and preventing postoperative agitation in geriatric patients (17). In clinical practice, body and auricular acupuncture have been combined for synergistic effects, such as sleep improvement and opioid rescue (18, 19). However, the combined effects of body acupuncture and auricular acupuncture for delirium prevention in elderly patients have not been explored.

This study hypothesized that pre-and intra-operative transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with

auricular acupressure treatment for the first three postoperative days compared with standard care would reduce the incidence of postoperative delirium among elderly patients undergoing major abdominal surgery.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This was a single-center, prospective, randomized, assessorblinded trial. Ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of Xijing Hospital (No. KY20182080-F-1) in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province of China. The trial was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov before patient enrollment (NCT03726073, October 31, 2018¹). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before randomization.

Participants

Participants 65 years or older with American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status class \leq III and scheduled for elective, major abdominal surgery (including hepatobiliary and pancreatic, urologic, gastrointestinal, or gynecological) were eligible for trial inclusion. Major surgery was defined by a planned more than two days hospitalization (20). Participants were required to complete a Mini-Mental State Examination and have a score higher than 20. Patients were excluded if they had a severe visual or auditory impairment, literacy deficits, mental illness, history of brain injury or neurosurgery, with a history of alcohol or drug abuse, history of acupuncture treatment, or contradicted to transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation or auricular acupressure (for example, planted with pacemakers, with skin lesions, or allergy to surface electrodes).

Randomization and Blinding

Participants were recruited into the study from the electronic medical record system of our hospital by research staff. After giving consent and completing the baseline assessment, eligible participants were randomly assigned to either the intervention group (transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure) or the control group (standard care) in a 1:1 ratio using simple randomization. The random allocation sequence was generated by the statistician.

Study-group assignments were concealed in opaque envelopes and revealed by a research nurse upon patients'

¹https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03726073

arrival at the operation room. The investigators including the research coordinator, outcome assessors, data collectors, and the statistician were blinded to treatment allocation. The acupuncturist and participants were not blinded. The care team (surgeons, anesthesiologists, and nurses) were aware that an acupuncture study was undergoing but were blinded to study hypothesis and intervention protocol. Participants were informed not to discuss the group allocation or the aim of the study with investigators (except the acupuncturist) during the whole process of the study. Assessors would communicate with the ward nurses, and ask the nurses to let the patients wear an earmuff (loose enough to ensure patients could hear the assessors' questions) before every postoperative evaluation. In addition, interactions between the assessors, participants and their family members were limited to the questions on the case report form. To assess the frequency of unblinding to group allocation, the assessors were asked to guess which treatment this patient had received after a patient was discharged from the hospital.

Intervention

The acupressure protocol used in the present study was based on previous publications relating to acupoint selection in symptom management (12), investigators' previous publications (9), and clinical experience of the acupuncturist in the team who is specializing in acupuncture clinical practice with seven years.

In the intervention group, participants received transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation through bilateral Hegu (LI4), Neiguan (PC6), and Zusanli (ST36) acupoints after entering the operation room. The neuroprotective effects and the exact locations of these three acupoints have been previously described (12, 21, 22). After entering the operation room, Hwato brand disposable electronic pads (size 50 mm \times 50 mm) were placed on these acupoints after skin disinfection and then simultaneously connected to a transcutaneous electroacupuncture apparatus (SDZ-V, Suzhou Medical Appliance Company, Suzhou, Jiangsu, China). The transcutaneous electroacupuncture apparatus was set to provide a disperse-dense wave with an alternating frequency of 2/10 Hz. The current intensity was modulated between 5 and 20 mA (5 to 10 mA for the upper limbs, 10 to 20 mA for the lower limbs) and the final stimulus current of each acupoint was regulated individually until the De Qi sensation (a composite of sensations including soreness, numbress, distention, heaviness, and others such as coldness, warmness, and pain electric-shock feeling) was achieved at each acupoint. The electrostimulation was started from 30 min before anesthesia induction and up to the end of surgery.

Postoperatively, after arriving at the post-anesthesia care unit, patients in the intervention group were tapped *Vaccaria* seeds (Hebei Heshi Medical Apparatus and Instruments Co., LTD, Hengshui, China) at seven auricular points (Shenmen, Point Zero, Sympathetic, Subcortex, Heart, Liver, and Endocrine) located on the right ear by the acupuncturist. These auricular acupoints were previously used alone or combined to manage postoperative agitation and sleep disturbances (17, 23, 24). From postoperative day one to day three, participants were instructed to manually stimulate each auricular acupoint for 30 s, five times a day, for three days (From nine AM to nine PM, around every 3 h). Participants were instructed on the procedure, stimulation techniques, duration and intensity of auricular acupressure, the methods of keeping acupressure patches in the right place and protecting them, and were asked to document the time of auricular acupressure application and any side-effects in a diary sheet. The acupuncturist verified the quality of auricular acupressure daily. The pastes with seeds were removed after three days.

Participants in the standard care group did not receive any acupuncture intervention during the study period.

Anesthesia Protocol

Anesthesia was induced with intravenous propofol (1-2 mg/kg) or etomidate (0.2-0.3 mg/kg), sufentanil (3 µg/kg), and rocuronium (1 mg/kg). After the loss of consciousness, an endotracheal tube was intubated. Anesthesia was maintained with sevoflurane inhalation (0.7-1.7 minimum alveolar concentration) and remifentanil infusion (0.05-0.2µg/kg/min). Rocuronium was administered as indicated (0.2 mg/kg). The depth of anesthesia was adjusted based on the hemodynamic indices and bispectral index (BIS). The BIS was maintained at 40-60 during surgery. Use of dexmedetomidine, midazolam, anticholinergic drugs, and haloperidol was avoided unless they were indicated for delirium rescue therapy. Standard monitoring procedures included electrocardiography, pulse oximetry, capnography, and inspiratory and expiratory sevoflurane concentrations. Invasive blood pressure monitoring was applied when necessary. A lung-protective ventilation strategy and multimodal analgesia were applied intraoperatively. Analgesia was assisted by intravenous administration of parecoxib sodium (40 mg) and oxycodone (0.1 mg/kg) preoperatively and local anesthetic infiltration in the surgical wound (0.5% ropivacaine) postoperatively. Postoperative intravenous patient-controlled analgesia was applied to patients during postoperative three days based on anesthesiologists' clinical experience. Patient-controlled intravenous analgesia was established with 100 ml of 1 µg/ml sufentanil and 80 µg/ml butorphanol, programmed to deliver a background infusion of 0.015 ml/kg/h and 0.5 mL bolus with a lockout interval of 10 min. Parecoxib sodium (40 mg) was given intravenously every 12 h during the postoperative three days. An intravenous bolus of rescue oxycodone (0.05-0.1 mg/kg) was available every 6 h if the pain was intolerable.

Outcomes

Two trained investigators who were not involved in the study intervention, anesthesia, and clinical care of patients performed outcome assessment. The primary outcome was the incidence of delirium during the first seven postoperative days or hospitalization if patients were discharged within seven days postoperatively. The diagnosis of delirium and its subtype were based on the Confusion Assessment Method or Confusion Assessment Method-intensive care unit for intubated patients, the Richmond Agitation Sedation Scale, reports from family members, and medical records review (5, 25, 26). Delirium was assessed daily at around 6 PM. The Confusion Assessment Method algorithm required the identification of both an acute onset and fluctuating course and inattention and either disorganized thinking or an impaired level of consciousness (25). As ward nurses and surgeons would assess patients' mental status at least once daily and describe the results in their notes, medical records would be reviewed. For delirium patients in the ward, a mix-type delirium would be diagnosed if the patients manifested a fluctuation of mental status and behaviors during the day. Delirium patients in the intensive care unit were classified using the Richmond Agitation Sedation Scale score (RASS) (26): (1) hyperactive type, consistently positive RASS score remains at + 1 to + 4; (2) hypoactive type, consistently neutral or negative Richmond Agitation Scale remains at -3 to 0; (3) mixed type, alternative positive and negative.

Secondary outcomes included delirium severity measured by the Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale, intraoperative opioid consumption, pain intensity both at rest and at movement assessed by the Numeric Rating Scale at 24 h, 48 h, and 72 h after surgery, sleep quality within the first three postoperative days by the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, length of postoperative hospitalization, the occurrence of non-delirium and complications within postoperative 30 days.

Statistical Analysis

The incidence of postoperative delirium was reported to be up to 23.9% in elderly patients after major surgery (5, 7). We assumed that the incidence of postoperative delirium would be reduced from 23.9% in the control group to 8.9% in the intervention group based on the effect reported in a small randomized controlled trial (12). With significance set at 0.05 and a power of 80%, 95 patients in each group were required (PASS 15.0 software, NCSS, Kaysville, UT) to detect the differences. Considering a loss to follow-up rate of 10%, we planned to enroll 210 participants, with 105 in each group.

Analyses of primary and secondary outcomes were performed both in the intention-to-treat and per-protocol populations. We did not plan an interim analysis. We did not conduct the missing data imputation as there were no missing data for the primary outcome and less than 5% for all secondary outcomes.

Categorical variables are presented as frequencies or proportions and analyzed using the chi-squared test or Fisher exact test. Continuous variables are presented as mean (standard deviation) or median (interquartile range) depending on distribution (the Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess normality) and analyzed with independent samples *t*-test or Mann–Whitney U test. The relative risk and 95% confidence interval (CI) are used to describe the differences in dichotomous outcomes. The difference (and 95% CI) between medians were calculated with the Hodges–Lehmann estimator.

The primary endpoint was analyzed using the chi-squared test. The cumulative postoperative delirium incidence was calculated with the Kaplan–Meier estimator, with differences between groups assessed using the log-rank test. The hazard ratio and 95% CI estimated with a Cox regression model were used to describe differences if the proportional assumption was not violated. The Cox regression model was adjusted for age and sex.

The Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale within seven postoperative days was compared using a generalized linear

mixed-effect model, with results presented as mean and 95% CI. Treatment assignment, time, and interaction between treatment assignment and time effects were included as fixed effects. Participants were included as random effects. The model covariates were unadjusted.

Sensitivity analysis included analysis of the primary and secondary outcomes in the per-protocol populations. We performed *post hoc* subgroup analyses using a Cox proportional hazards model to investigate the intervention effects on the cumulative delirium incidence in specific subgroups, including sex (male *vs.* female), age (< 70 years old *vs.* \geq 70 years old), the education level (\leq 9 years of schooling or no qualification *vs.* >9 years of schooling), surgery type (upper abdominal surgery *vs.* lower abdominal surgery), and history of operation. We tested for treatment effect heterogeneity across various subgroups and reported the corresponding *P* values for interaction.

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 24.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk NY). Two-tailed tests were used in all analyses, and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Trial Population and Baseline Characteristics

From April 17, 2019, to March 10, 2020, 334 patients scheduled for major abdominal surgery were screened for eligibility at Xijing Hospital, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province of China. Among them, 210 patients were enrolled and randomly assigned to either the intervention group (n = 105) or the standard care group (n = 105). Eight patients (two in the intervention group and three in the standard care group violated anesthesia protocol, three in the intervention group violated acupuncture protocol) were excluded from the per-protocol analysis (**Figure 1**).

Overall, most of the patients were male (142/210, 67.6%), and the median age was 69.5 (interquartile range, 67.0–73.0) years (**Table 1**). The types of surgery included hepatobiliary and pancreatic (52.4%), urologic (33.8%), gastrointestinal (10.5%), and gynecological (3.3%) procedures (**Table 1**). Baseline characteristics and surgical parameters did not differ between the two groups (**Table 1**). Forty-nine (23.3%) patients were discharged within postoperative six days, five (2.4%) patients (three in the control group and two in the intervention group) were transferred to the intensive care unit after surgery, and there were no differences between groups. The final visit of the last randomized patient took place on April 10, 2020.

Primary and Secondary Outcomes

In the intention-to-treat population, the incidence of postoperative delirium during postoperative seven days was 7.6% (8/105) in the intervention group and 18.1% (19/105) in the control group (difference, -10.5% [95% CI, -1.5% to -19.4%]; relative risk, 0.42 [95% CI, 0.19 to 0.92]; P = 0.023; number needed to treat = 10 [95% CI, 5 to 64]; **Table 2**). The proportion of postoperative delirium-free patients significantly differed



between the two groups (hazard ratio, 0.41; 95% CI, 0.18 to 0.95; P = 0.023) (**Figure 2**).

Subgroup analyses using the Cox model showed that the interaction between surgery sites and treatment was statistically significant (P = 0.005, **Figure 3**). Patients who underwent upper abdominal surgery benefited more from the intervention than those who underwent lower abdominal surgery (hazard ratio, 0.16; 95% CI, 0.04 to 0.71).

The incidence of delirium on the day of surgery was 5.7% (6/105) in the intervention group and 15.2% (16/105) in the control group (relative risk, 0.38; 95% CI, 0.15 to 0.92; P=0.024). Delirium severity measured by Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale was lower in the intervention group than in the control group (3 vs. 4; difference, -1; 95% CI,-1 to 0; P = 0.010), with significant differences on postoperative day two (P = 0.007), day three (P < 0.001) and day four (P = 0.037) (Figure 4). The control group had a significantly greater increase regarding Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index score change from baseline to postoperative day three than the intervention group (2.5 vs. 2.0; difference, -1; 95% CI, -2 to -1; P < 0.001). The two groups did not differ significantly with respect to the duration of delirium, the intraoperative consumption of sufentanil and remifentanil, the Numeric Pain Rating Scale at rest and movement at postoperative 24 h, 48 h, and 72 h, the patient-controlled intravenous analgesia drug consumption during postoperative 0-24 h, 24-48 h, and 48-72 h, and the length of postoperative hospitalization (Table 2).

The per-protocol analysis yielded similar results (Supplementary Table 1).

Adverse Events

Thirty-three surgery-related adverse events (12 in the intervention group and 21 in the control group) were documented within 30 days postoperatively. Adverse events (anastomotic leakage or bleeding, pneumonia, delayed feeding, readmission, sepsis, re-operation, death, acute kidney failure, new arrhythmia, and ileus), whether viewed individually (*P* for each > 0.20) or collectively (11.4% *vs.* 20.0%; relative risk, 0.57; 95% CI, 0.30 to 1.10; P = 0.088), did not significantly differ between the two groups (**Table 3**). Two patients in the control group died of postoperative septic shock, but no difference was found in all-cause 30-day mortality between groups.

Skin temporary pain or paranesthesia was considered an expected adverse event with transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation and auricular acupressure treatment. One patient in the intervention group reported mild leg numbness, which was alleviated within three days. There was no withdrawal from adverse events.

The Effectiveness of Assessor-Blinded

Outcome assessors were able to get a 54.3% rate for correctly guessing patients' received therapy (59.0% for the intervention

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics and surgical details of the intention-to-treat population.

Variables 1	Fotal (<i>n</i> = 210)	Control group (n = 105) g	Intervention roup (n = 105)
Age (years)	69.5	69.0	70.0
	(67.0–73.0)	(67.0-73.0)	(67.0-72.0)
Sex			
Male	142 (67.6)	70 (66.7)	72 (68.6)
Female	68 (33.4)	35 (33.3)	33 (31.4)
ASA class			
II	181 (86.2)	90 (85.7)	91 (86.7)
III	29 (13.8)	15 (14, 2)	14 (13.3)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	23.3 ± 2.8	22.7 ± 2.9	23.6 ± 2.9
Length of education (years) 9 (5.8 – 12)	8 (4.5 - 12)	9 (6 - 12)
Level of education			
Illiteracy	14 (6.7)	9 (8.6)	5 (4.8)
Primary school	55 (26.2)	28 (26.7)	27 (25.7)
Middle school	59 (28.1)	31 (29.5)	29 (27.6)
High School	36 (17.1)	17 (16.2)	19 (18.1)
University	45 (21.4)	20 (19.0)	25 (23.8)
Mini-Mental State	27 (25 – 29)	27(25 - 29)	28 (25 – 29)
Examination score			
Carlson score	2 (2 – 4)	2 (2 – 4)	2 (2 – 3)
Number of previous operations	1 (0 – 2)	1 (0 – 2)	1 (0 – 2)
Comorbidities			
Hypertension	88 (41.9)	45 (42.9)	43 (41.0)
Coronary artery disease	23 (11.0)	12 (11.4)	11 (10.5)
Diabetes	37 (17.6)	23 (21.9)	14 (13.3)
Chronic bronchitis	9 (4.3)	5 (4.8)	4 (3.8)
Arrhythmia	24 (11.4)	10 (9.5)	14 (13.3)
Stroke	21 (10.0)	12 (11.4)	9 (8.6)
Current smoking	36 (17.1)	17 (16.2)	19 (18.1)
Alcoholism	6 (2.9)	4 (3.8)	2 (1.9)
Surgical procedure			
Hepatobiliary and pancreatic	110 (52.4)	54 (51.4)	56 (53.3)
Urologic	71 (33.8)	35 (33.3)	36 (34.3)
Gastrointestinal	22 (10.5)	11 (10.5)	11 (10.5)
Gynecological	7 (3.3)	5 (4.8)	2 (1.9)
Open surgery	121 (57.6)	56 (53.3)	65 (61.9)
Duration of anesthesia (mir	n) 216 (165285)	227 (170 – 28	5) 210 (160 – 282)
Duration of surgery (min)	175 (129 – 24	4) 175 (132 – 239	9) 175 (125 – 245)
Transferred to ICU after surgery	5 (2.4)	3 (2.9)	2 (1.9)
Discharged within postoperative six days	49 (23.3)	24 (22.9)	25 (23.8)
Number of patients using PCIA	156 (74.3)	77 (73.3)	79 (75.2)

Data are presented as number (%), mean (SD), or median (interquartile range). Differences between groups were compared using the chi-squared, Mann-Whitney U, or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists. ICU: Intensive care unit. PCIA: Patient-controlled intravenous analgesia.

group and 49.5% for the control group). Outcome assessors' perception of patients' accepted treatment did not affect the primary outcome (**Supplementary Table 2**).

DISCUSSION

In this single-center, prospective, randomized trial, transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure reduced the incidence and severity of postoperative delirium and improved postoperative sleep quality in elderly patients undergoing major abdominal surgery.

Postoperative delirium developed in 18.1% of patients in the standard care group. This was in line with previous studies for non-cardiac surgeries, which range from 13 to 50% (3), but slightly lower than the reported rate that we used to estimate sample size (23.9%) (5). There are several reasons for this. First, compared with those in the previous study (5), patients in the current study were younger (median age: 69.5 years vs. 77.0 years) and higher delirium risk patients (such as American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status class > III and Mini-Mental State Examination score < 20) were excluded. Second, anesthesia management was different between the two studies. Delirium risk factors such as midazolam, anticholinergic drugs, and haloperidol were avoided, and Bis-guided anesthesia management was applied during surgery in the present study. These reasons may explain the slightly lower incidence of delirium in this trial (1, 3).

A trend of reduced incidence of postoperative delirium (6.3% vs. 25%; relative risk, 0.25; 95% CI, 0.06 to 1.09) was reported when transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation was applied pre- and intraoperatively to 64 geriatric patients with silent lacunar infarction undergoing spine surgery (12). This was consistent with the delirium-prevention effect observed in our study (relative risk, 0.42; 95% CI, 0.19 to 0.92). The mechanisms of the delirium-sparing effect produced by transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation and auricular acupressure remain undetermined. Gao et al. demonstrated that transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation at bilateral LI4 and PC6 reduced neuroinflammation by lowering the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (12). Studies reported that one potential mechanism by which auricular acupressure may exert its anti-delirium effect is activating the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system, which is one of the central vagal relay centers and plays a critical role in the generating and regulating of delirium (27, 28). By stimulating the ear branch of the vagus nerve, auricular acupressure may exert an add-on neuroprotective effect by direct and indirect modulation of the activity and connectivity of the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system, thus modulating the release and uptake of noradrenaline and dopamine in some key brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, which are postulated to be associated with attention, memory, and other cognitive dysfunction (27-29). As postoperative delirium has been speculated to be a harbinger for postoperative cognitive dysfunction, the mechanism of acupuncture to prevent postoperative delirium may be similar to those of acupuncture to prevent postoperative cognitive dysfunction, which is by attenuating systemic inflammation and neuroinflammation, reducing oxidative stress levels, improving synaptic plasticity, and reducing neuronal injury (10, 12, 30).

TABLE 2 | Effectiveness outcomes analyzed in the intention-to-treat population.

Variables	Control group (n = 105)	Intervention group (<i>n</i> = 105)	Relative risk or difference (95% CI)	P value
Primary outcome				
¹ Overall incidence of delirium	19 (18.1)	8 (7.6)	0.42 (0.19 to 0.92)	0.023
Secondary outcomes				
Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale	4 (2–6)	3 (2–5)	-1 (-1 to 0)	0.010
The motoric subtype of delirium				0.025
Hypoactive	9 (8.6)	6 (5.7)		
Hyperactive	7 (6.7)	0 (0)		
Mixed	3 (2.9)	2 (1.9)		
Delirium on the day of surgery	16 (15.2)	6 (5.7)	0.38 (0.15 to 0.92)	0.024
² Delirium duration	3.0 (2.0–3.0)	2.0 (1.3–3.0)	0 (-1 to 1)	0.449
Intraoperative consumption of sufentanil (ng/kg/min)	2.4 (1.7–3.4)	2.4 (1.8–3.0)	-0.07 (-0.37 to 0.20)	0.642
Intraoperative consumption of remifentanil (µg/kg/min)	0.13 (0.11–0.14)	0.12 (0.10-0.14)	-0.01 (-0.01 to 0)	0.136
Pain score at rest				
Postoperative day 1	O (O-1)	0 (0-2)	0 (0 to 0)	0.248
Postoperative day 2	0 (0–1)	0 (0–1)	0 (0 to 0)	0.679
Postoperative day 3	O (O-1)	0 (0–1)	0 (0 to 0)	0.901
Pain score with movement				
Postoperative day 1	3(1–4)	3 (2-4)	1 (0 to 1)	0.290
Postoperative day 2	2 (1-4)	3 (1–4)	0 (0 to 1)	0.137
Postoperative day 3	2 (1-4)	3 (1–4)	0 (0 to 1)	0.390
PCIA Drug Consumption (ml)				
Postoperative 0–24 h	21.5 (18.2–25.8)	22.4 (16.5–25.1)	0.2 (-2.2 to 2.1)	0.859
Postoperative 24–48 h	20.8 (8.3–24.3)	21.5 (7.1–25.5)	0.1 (-2.5 to 2.9)	0.938
Postoperative 48–72 h	6.4 (0-22.5)	3.2 (0-21.6)	0 (-2.1 to 0)	0.302
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index				
Baseline	7 (5–10)	7(4.5-10)	0 (-1 to 1)	0.567
During postoperative three days	11 (8–14)	8 (6–13)	-2 (-3 to -1)	0.001
Changes from baseline	2.5 (2.0-4.8)	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	-1 (-2 to -1)	< 0.001
Length of postoperative hospitalization (days)	8 (7–10)	8 (7–10)	0 (-1 to 1)	0.988
³ Incidence of non-delirium complications	21 (20.0)	12 (11.4)	0.57 (0.30 to 1.10)	0.088

Data are presented as number (%) or median (interquartile range). Differences between groups were compared using the chi-squared, Mann–Whitney U, Fisher's exact test, or generalized linear mixed effect models as appropriate. ¹Occurrence of delirium at any time during the first seven postoperative days or hospitalization if the patient was discharged within seven postoperative days. ²Delirium duration was calculated only for patients who experienced delirium. ³Occurrence of any non-delirium complication within 30 days postoperatively. PCIA: Patient-controlled intravenous analgesia. PCIA therapy was applied to seventy-seven patients in the control group and seventy-nine patients in the intervention group.

Subgroup analysis of our data suggested that patients who underwent upper abdominal surgery benefitted more from the intervention than patients who underwent lower abdominal surgery. It is unclear why this occurred, but this heterogeneity may be related to the acupoints we selected and the individual response differences toward acupuncture treatment. Kim et al. suggested that individual differences in acupuncture analgesia are associated with inherited genetic factors, adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase expression in the hypothalamus, spinal levels of neurotransmitters and proinflammatory cytokines, and the density of cholecystokinin receptors (31). The difference of acupuncture's deliriumprevention effects between upper and lower abdominal surgery may share similar mechanisms and warrant further study. Our results also raise the question of whether the specificity of needling sites is essential to the therapeutic benefits of acupuncture.

Psychological distress, pain, and insomnia are often intertwined (32). Pain and sleep disorders are possible confounders of delirium severity, and thus attenuated the extent of postoperative pain and improved sleep quality might reduce the incidence of postoperative delirium (1, 33). Inconsistent with the previous studies (34, 35), acupuncture did not decrease intraoperative opioid consumption and postoperative pain in this trial. This may be related to the high opioid doses and a multi-model analgesia protocol adopted in the present trial.

The change from baseline to postoperative day three in the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index score was more significant in the control group than in the intervention group (2.5 *vs.* 2.0; between-group difference, -1; 95% CI, -2 to -1; P < 0.001), indicating that the acupuncture intervention in the present study has a beneficial effect on postoperative sleep quality. The improved sleep quality within the first three postoperative days in the present study may be attributed to



FIGURE 2 | Kaplan-Meier curve showing the probability of a patient being delirium-free within seven postoperative days.



auricular acupressure, as indicated in the previous studies that auricular acupoint stimulation improves sleep quality (36). The rationale of the auricular acupoints selected in this trial was based on their effects of calming the mind, relieving anxiety, and improving sleep quality (23). Hou et al. showed that auricular acupressure normalized disturbed sleep patterns and improved sleep quality via regulating the neuroendocrine system, neuroimmunological factors, neuroinflammation, and neural reflex, as well as antioxidation (37). However, whether auricular acupressure reduces postoperative delirium directly or indirectly



FIGURE 4 | Changes in Memorial Delirium Assessment Scale during the first postoperative seven days. Makers indicate means, and error bars indicate standard errors. *Significant difference between groups.

TABLE 3 | Postoperative complications within 30 days analyzed in the intention-to-treat population.

Variables	Control group (n = 105)	Intervention group (<i>n</i> = 105)	P value
Anastomotic leakage or bleeding	3 (2.9)	1 (1.0)	0.621
Pneumonia	3 (2.9)	3 (2.9)	1.000
Delayed feeding	2 (1.9)	1 (1.0)	1.000
Readmission	5 (4.8)	1 (1.0)	0.212
Sepsis	2 (1.9)	O (O)	0.498
Re-operation	2 (1.9)	3 (2.9)	0.681
Death	2 (1.9)	O (O)	0.498
Acute kidney failure	1 (1.0)	1 (1.0)	1.000
New arrhythmia	1 (1.0)	1 (1.0)	1.000
lleus	0 (0)	1 (1.0)	1.000

Data are presented as number (%). Differences between groups were compared using Fisher's exact test.

by improving postoperative sleep quality is unclear, which needs to be elucidated in future studies.

The Confusion Assessment Method and Confusion Assessment Method-intensive care unit were used in this study to diagnose delirium as they are commonly used for postoperative delirium identification and easy to learn for non-psychiatrists, with high sensitivity (94% to 100%) and high specificity (90% to 95%) (25). As each assessment may take 20 min to 30 min, and assessments were conducted for postoperative seven days, a once-daily assessment was chosen in this study to improve participants' compliance. However, it is possible that short periods of fluctuating mental status, inattention, disorganized thinking, or altered consciousness level may not be detected at the time of assessment. Additional medical records review was used in this study to minimize the risk of delirium misclassification, which has been accepted in previous studies (5, 38). Further research should add other screening methods such as the Consortium to Establish

a Registry of Alzheimer's Disease (39) and the Montreal Cognitive Assessment tests (40) to assess other diverse cognitive domains and verify the robustness of anti-delirium effects exerted from electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure.

This study has several limitations. First, this is a singlecenter study, while internal validity is not impacted, the external validity and generalizability of the results may be affected by clinical practice and therapeutic measures in various medical centers. The sample size is relatively small, the power of this intervention should be tested in a clinical trial with a larger sample size. Second, the enrolled patients and the acupuncturist were not blinded. Thus, an inherent risk of the Hawthorne effect cannot be ruled out in this study. The outcome assessors, data collectors and the statistician were blinded to reduce the risk of bias. Third, a sham acupuncture group was not used to eliminate the placebo effect. Future studies are needed to distinguish the specific and non-specific effects of acupuncture intervention for postoperative delirium. Fourth, the subgroup analysis was post hoc. Therefore, these findings should be interpreted as exploratory. In addition, the number of events in most subgroups was relatively small, which may limit the power to detect the difference among subgroups. Fifth, the dosage of postoperative rescue analgesic drugs was not recorded. However, perioperative pain management was strictly controlled, postoperative pain scores were lower, and the analgesic effect was comparable between the two groups. Standardized perioperative pain management and preservation of randomization would be expected to minimize the confounding from rescue drug consumption differences. Furthermore, although anesthesia management was conducted under the guidance of the BIS, the BIS and frequencies of burst suppression during surgery were not recorded and compared, potentially confounding and biasing the results (41).

Acupuncture is an important supplementary strategy for perioperative management (9), applications of acupuncture before, during, and after surgery as an adjuvant therapy will have a great clinical application. Future acupuncture studies should investigate how to best implement acupuncture in real-world clinical settings, such as setting up an acupuncture protocol and selecting the appropriate acupoints for specific surgeries and populations. To investigate the mechanisms of how acupuncture prevents postoperative delirium could provide essential insights in preventing postoperative delirium. As postoperative delirium and postoperative cognitive dysfunction share risk factors (30), a long-term follow-up to investigate the preventive effects of acupuncture intervention on postoperative cognitive dysfunction should also be included in future studies.

In conclusion, in this single-center, prospective, randomized study, transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with auricular acupressure reduced the incidence of postoperative delirium in elderly patients undergoing major abdominal surgery. A multicenter randomized clinical trial with a larger sample size is necessary to verify these findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Xijing Hospital (No. KY20182080-F-1) in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province of China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QF, CL, ZL, HD, and LX contributed to the concept and design of the study and data interpretation. QF and ZL performed the study registration. QF and JF performed the screen of patients. NY performed the acupuncture intervention. YW and LW performed the outcome assessment and data collection. CL performed the data analysis. QF, CL, ZL, and HD prepared the primary manuscript. All

REFERENCES

- Jin Z, Hu J, Ma D. Postoperative delirium: perioperative assessment, risk reduction, and management. Br J Anaesth. (2020) 125:492–504. doi: 10.1016/j. bja.2020.06.063
- Lopez MG, Hughes CG, DeMatteo A, O'Neal JB, McNeil JB, Shotwell MS, et al. Intraoperative oxidative damage and delirium after cardiac surgery. *Anesthesiology*. (2020) 132:551–61. doi: 10.1097/aln.00000000000 3016
- Inouye SK, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. *Lancet*. (2014) 383:911–22. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(13)60688-1
- Su X, Meng Z-T, Wu X-H, Cui F, Li H-L, Wang D-X, et al. Dexmedetomidine for prevention of delirium in elderly patients after non-cardiac surgery: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:1893– 902. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30580-3
- Gleason LJ, Schmitt EM, Kosar CM, Tabloski P, Saczynski JS, Robinson T, et al. Effect of delirium and other major complications on outcomes after elective surgery in older adults. *JAMA Surg.* (2015) 150:1134–40. doi: 10.1001/ jamasurg.2015.2606
- Chen CC, Li HC, Liang JT, Lai IR, Purnomo JDT, Yang YT, et al. Effect of a modified hospital elder life program on delirium and length of hospital stay in patients undergoing abdominal surgery: a cluster randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2017) 152:827–34. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2017.1083
- Scholz AF, Oldroyd C, McCarthy K, Quinn TJ, Hewitt J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of risk factors for postoperative delirium among older patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgery. *Br J Surg.* (2016) 103:e21–8. doi: 10.1002/ bjs.10062
- Aldecoa C, Bettelli G, Bilotta F, Sanders RD, Audisio R, Borozdina A, et al. European society of anaesthesiology evidence-based and consensus-based guideline on postoperative delirium. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2017) 34:192–214. doi: 10.1097/eja.00000000000594
- Lu Z, Dong H, Wang Q, Xiong L. Perioperative acupuncture modulation: more than anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. (2015) 115:183–93. doi: 10.1093/bja/ aev227
- 10. Ho YS, Zhao FY, Yeung WF, Wong GT, Zhang HQ, Chang RC. Application of acupuncture to attenuate immune responses and oxidative stress in

the authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China under grant numbers 81970448 and 81590954; the Natural Science Foundation of Shaanxi Province under grant numbers 2018SF-277 and 2019KW-069.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Chen Li, Department of Health Statistics, School of Preventive Medicine, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China, for her support with the data analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2022.855296/full#supplementary-material

postoperative cognitive dysfunction: what do we know so far? *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2020) 2020:9641904. doi: 10.1155/2020/9641904

- Garland SN, Xie SX, DuHamel K, Bao T, Li Q, Barg FK, et al. Acupuncture versus cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in cancer survivors: a randomized clinical trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2019) 111:1323–31. doi: 10.1093/ jnci/djz050
- Gao F, Zhang Q, Li Y, Tai Y, Xin X, Wang X, et al. Transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation for prevention of postoperative delirium in geriatric patients with silent lacunar infarction: a preliminary study. *Clin Interv Aging*. (2018) 13:2127–34. doi: 10.2147/cia.s183698
- Coura LEF, Manoel CHU, Poffo R, Bedin A, Westphal GA. Randomised, controlled study of preoperative eletroacupuncture for postoperative pain control after cardiac surgery. *Acupunct Med.* (2011) 29:16–20. doi: 10.1136/ aim.2010.003251
- Ely EW, Inouye SK, Bernard GR, Gordon S, Francis J, May L, et al. Delirium in mechanically ventilated patients: validity and reliability of the confusion assessment method for the intensive care unit (CAM-ICU). JAMA. (2001) 286:2703–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.21.2703
- Robinson TN, Raeburn CD, Tran ZV, Angles EM, Brenner LA, Moss M. Postoperative delirium in the elderly: risk factors and outcomes. *Ann Surg.* (2009) 249:173–8. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31818e4776
- Kuo SY, Tsai SH, Chen SL, Tzeng YL. Auricular acupressure relieves anxiety and fatigue, and reduces cortisol levels in post-caesarean section women: a single-blind, randomised controlled study. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2016) 53:17–26. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.10.006
- Arai YC, Ito A, Hibino S, Niwa S, Ueda W. Auricular acupunctures are effective for the prevention of postoperative agitation in old patients. *Evid Based Complement Altern Med.* (2010) 7:383–6. doi: 10.1093/ecam/nep172
- Chung YC, Tsou MY, Chen HH, Lin JG, Yeh ML. Integrative acupoint stimulation to alleviate postoperative pain and morphine-related side effects: a sham-controlled study. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2014) 51:370–8. doi: 10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2013.06.007
- Zhang J, Qin Z, So TH, Chen H, Lam WL, Yam LL, et al. Electroacupuncture plus auricular acupressure for chemotherapy-associated insomnia in breast cancer patients: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Integr Cancer Ther.* (2021) 20:15347354211019103. doi: 10.1177/15347354211019103

- Deiner S, Luo X, Lin HM, Sessler DI, Saager L, Sieber FE, et al. Intraoperative infusion of dexmedetomidine for prevention of postoperative delirium and cognitive dysfunction in elderly patients undergoing major elective noncardiac surgery: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2017) 152:e171505. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2017.1505
- Tao J, Zheng Y, Liu W, Yang S, Huang J, Xue X, et al. Electro-acupuncture at LI11 and ST36 acupoints exerts neuroprotective effects via reactive astrocyte proliferation after ischemia and reperfusion injury in rats. *Brain Res Bull.* (2016) 120:14–24. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2015.10.011
- 22. Wang H, Xie Y, Zhang Q, Xu N, Zhong H, Dong H, et al. Transcutaneous electric acupoint stimulation reduces intra-operative remifentanil consumption and alleviates postoperative side-effects in patients undergoing sinusotomy: a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Br J Anaesth.* (2014) 112:1075–82. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu001
- Suen LK, Wong TK, Leung AW. Effectiveness of auricular therapy on sleep promotion in the elderly. Am J Chin Med. (2002) 30:429–49. doi: 10.1142/ s0192415x0200051x
- Chen HY, Shi Y, Ng CS, Chan SM, Yung KK, Zhang QL. Auricular acupuncture treatment for insomnia: a systematic review. J Altern Complement Med. (2007) 13:669–76. doi: 10.1089/acm.2006.6400
- Inouye SK, Leo-Summers L, Zhang Y, Bogardus ST Jr, Leslie DL, Agostini JV. A chart-based method for identification of delirium: validation compared with interviewer ratings using the confusion assessment method. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2005) 53:312–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53120.x
- Sessler CN, Gosnell MS, Grap MJ, Brophy GM, O'Neal PV, Keane KA, et al. The Richmond agitation-sedation scale: validity and reliability in adult intensive care unit patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2002) 166:1338–44. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2107138
- Hansen N, Rediske AI. The locus coeruleus noradrenaline system in delirium. Front Aging Neurosci. (2021) 13:784356. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.784356
- Farmer AD, Strzelczyk A, Finisguerra A, Gourine AV, Gharabaghi A, Hasan A, et al. International consensus based review and recommendations for minimum reporting standards in research on transcutaneous vagus nerve stimulation (version 2020). *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:568051. doi: 10. 3389/fnhum.2020.568051
- Butt MF, Albusoda A, Farmer AD, Aziz Q. The anatomical basis for transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation. *J Anat.* (2020) 236:588–611. doi: 10.1111/joa.13122
- Daiello LA, Racine AM, Yun Gou R, Marcantonio ER, Xie Z, Kunze LJ, et al. Postoperative delirium and postoperative cognitive dysfunction: overlap and divergence. *Anesthesiol.* (2019) 131:477–91. doi: 10.1097/aln. 00000000002729
- Kim YK, Park JY, Kim SN, Yeom M, Lee S, Oh JY, et al. What intrinsic factors influence responsiveness to acupuncture in pain: a review of preclinical studies that used responder analysis. *BMC Compl Altern Med.* (2017) 17:281. doi: 10.1186/s12906-017-1792-2
- Morphy H, Dunn KM, Lewis M, Boardman HF, Croft PR. Epidemiology of insomnia: a longitudinal study in a UK population. *Sleep.* (2007) 30:274–80.
- 33. Lu Y, Li YW, Wang L, Lydic R, Baghdoyan HA, Shi XY, et al. Promoting sleep and circadian health may prevent postoperative delirium: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2019) 48:101207. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.08.001

- 34. Huang S, Peng W, Tian X, Liang H, Jia Z, Lo T, et al. Effects of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation at different frequencies on perioperative anesthetic dosage, recovery, complications, and prognosis in video-assisted thoracic surgical lobectomy: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial. J Anesth. (2017) 31:58–65. doi: 10.1007/s00540-015-2057-1
- Asmussen S, Przkora R, Maybauer DM, Fraser JF, Sanfilippo F, Jennings K, et al. Meta-analysis of electroacupuncture in cardiac anesthesia and intensive care. J Intens Care Med. (2019) 34:652–61. doi: 10.1177/088506661770 8558
- Hmwe NTT, Browne G, Mollart L, Allanson V, Chan SW. An integrative review of acupressure interventions for older people: a focus on sleep quality, depression, anxiety, and agitation. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2019) 34:381–96. doi: 10.1002/gps.5031
- Hou P-W, Hsu H-C, Lin Y-W, Tang N-Y, Cheng C-Y, Hsieh C-L. The history, mechanism, and clinical application of auricular therapy in traditional chinese medicine. *Evid Based Complement Altern Med.* (2015) 2015:495684. doi: 10. 1155/2015/495684
- Krewulak KD, Hiploylee C, Ely EW, Stelfox HT, Inouye SK, Fiest KM. Adaptation and validation of a chart-based delirium detection tool for the ICU (CHART-DEL-ICU). J Am Geriatr Soc. (2021) 69:1027–34. doi: 10.1111/jgs. 16987
- 39. Watne LO, Torbergsen AC, Conroy S, Engedal K, Frihagen F, Hjorthaug GA, et al. The effect of a pre- and postoperative orthogeriatric service on cognitive function in patients with hip fracture: randomized controlled trial (oslo orthogeriatric trial). *BMC Med.* (2014) 12:63. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-63
- Zhuang L, Yang Y, Gao J. Cognitive assessment tools for mild cognitive impairment screening. J Neurol. (2021) 268:1615–22. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09506-7
- Fritz BA, Maybrier HR, Avidan MS. Intraoperative electroencephalogram suppression at lower volatile anaesthetic concentrations predicts postoperative delirium occurring in the intensive care unit. *Br J Anaesth.* (2018) 121:241–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2017.10.024

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Fan, Lei, Wang, Yu, Wang, Fu, Dong, Lu and Xiong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effect of Preoperative Thoracic Paravertebral Blocks on Emergence Agitation During Tracheal Extubation: A Randomized Controlled Trial

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

Reviewed by:

Lei Zhao, Capital Medical University, China Jiaqiang Zhang, Zhengzhou University, China Ferda Yaman, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Turkey Yajung Cheng, National Taiwan University, Taiwan Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, China

*Correspondence:

Shaofa Xu xushaofa@263.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 23 March 2022 Accepted: 19 May 2022 Published: 22 June 2022

Citation:

Liu W, Luo T, Wang F, Zhang D, Liu T, Huang J and Xu S (2022) Effect of Preoperative Thoracic Paravertebral Blocks on Emergence Agitation During Tracheal Extubation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Med. 9:902908. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.902908 Wei Liu¹, Taijun Luo², Fei Wang¹, Ding Zhang¹, Tao Liu¹, Jiapeng Huang^{3,4} and Shaofa Xu^{5*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology, Beijing Chest Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ² Department of Anesthesiology, Beijing Jishuitan Hospital, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY, United States, ⁴ Department of Anesthesia, Jewish Hospital, Louisville, KY, United States, ⁵ Department of Thoracic Surgery, Beijing Chest Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Objective: This study aims to compare the effects of preoperative thoracic paravertebral blocks (TPVB) with intercoastal nerve blocks (ICNB) on emergence agitation (EA) during tracheal extubation in patients who underwent thoracoscopic lobectomy.

Design, Setting, and Participants: A randomized clinical trial was conducted in patients undergoing thoracoscopic lobectomy at Beijing Chest Hospital between June 2019 and December 2020.

Interventions: Patients were randomly assigned 1:1 to receive either ultrasound-guided preoperative TPVB or ICNB.

Main Outcomes and Measures: The primary outcome was the occurrence of emergency agitation, which was evaluated by Aono's four-point scale (AFPS). Secondary outcomes included hemodynamics [mean arterial pressure (MAP) and heart rate (HR)]; and post-operative pain intensity [visual analog scale (VAS), Ramsay sedation score (RSS), and patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) demand times].

Results: Among the 100 patients aged 55–75 years old, 50 were randomized to each group; 97 patients completed the trial. Compared to the ICNB group, the occurrence of EA in the TPVB group was significantly lower [31.3% (15/48) vs. 12.2% (6/49), relative risk = 1.276, 95% CI: 1.02–1.60, P = 0.028]. For patients in the TPVB group, the MAP and HR at 5, 10, and 30 min after extubation were significantly lower; the intraoperative details including emergence time, extubation time, and consumption of sufentanil were significantly shorter than that in the ICNB group. Additionally, patients in the TPVB group

69

Liu et al.

showed significantly lower VAS at rest or coughing and significantly lower RSS at 60 and 240 min after extubation than patients in the ICNB group (all P < 0.05).

Conclusion: Preoperative TPVB was associated with less EA during tracheal extubation when compared with ICNB in patients undergoing thoracoscopic lobectomy.

Clinical Trial Registration: [http://www.chictr.org.cn/index.aspx], identifier [ChiCTR1900023852].

Keywords: emergence agitation, thoracoscopic, thoracic paravertebral block, intercostal nerve blocks, randomized controlled trial

INTRODUCTION

Emergence agitation (EA) in adults is manifested as psychomotor excitement with purposeless thrashing, restlessness, and disorientation, and is a common complication in the waking stage of general anesthesia. It is commonly seen in thoracoscopic lobectomy (1) and the occurrence might reach 19% in noncardiac surgery (2). EA may cause self-extubation or accidental removal of catheters, cardiac-cerebral vascular events (3), or even death (4). Multiple factors have been demonstrated to contribute to EA such as acute pain, urinary catheterization, tracheal intubation, and psychological stress (5). Previous studies had identified that one of the highest risk factors is post-operative acute pain (6-8). Intravenous opioids can reduce the occurrence of EA, but those drugs may lead to a high occurrence of drowsiness, dizziness, nausea, vomiting, delayed recovery, respiratory depression, and chest wall muscle rigidity (9). Therefore, approaches to prevent EA are important to identify.

The intercostal nerve block is a convenient and effective method to improve post-operative pain in thoracic surgery and has been widely used in clinical practices. Previous studies showed that intrapleural intercostal nerve block with mini-thoracotomy could reduce the post-operative pain and contribute to improving post-operative outcomes after major pulmonary resections (10, 11).

Thoracic paravertebral analgesia is similar to epidural analgesia with fewer side effects and is increasingly utilized in clinical practices (12). Studies have shown that a two-point paravertebral injection can spread the solution to a wider area and is more effective than single-point injection for analgesia (13). Due to significant difficulties in defining the paravertebral space (PVS), the failure rate of the traditional approach is around 10.1% (14). With the rapid advancement of ultrasound use in recent years, ultrasound-guided, thoracic paravertebral block (TPVB) has been shown to increase the success rate of block significantly (15). Several systemic reviews suggested that both TPVB and intercostal nerve blocks (ICNB) could play a role in ameliorating post-thoracotomy pain (16–18).

This study aims to compare the effects of preoperative thoracic paravertebral blocks (TPVB) with intercoastal nerve blocks (ICNB) on EA during tracheal extubation in patients who underwent thoracoscopic lobectomy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

Ethical approval for this trial was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of Beijing Chest Hospital [ID: (2018) Ethical Review of Clinical Trial Recommended Project No. 03-01]. Written informed consents were obtained from all participants.

This randomized controlled trial was conducted on patients who underwent thoracoscopic lobectomy at Beijing Chest Hospital between June 2019 and December 2020. The inclusion criteria were (1) patients with American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status I–III undergoing thoracoscopic lobectomy; (2) conscious and able to independently describe and evaluate pain after explanations; (3) 55–75 years old. Exclusion criteria included (1) serious cardiopulmonary diseases; (2) serious coagulation/hepatorenal function disorders; (3) history of alcohol or drug abuse; and (4) body mass index (BMI) \geq 40 kg/m²; (5) preoperative narcotic analgesic use history, (6) with acute or chronic pain or oral analgesics before surgery; and (7) mental disorders or cognitive impairment [the score assessed by Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is less than 26 points] (19).

Randomization

Eligible participants were randomly assigned into two groups at a 1:1 ratio *via* a computer-generated random number table randomization system for clinical research. All peri-operative assessments and data collection were accomplished by the nurses.

Interventions

l Thoracic paravertebral blocks and ICNBs were performed in a lateral position under real-time ultrasound-guided out-ofplane technique. A Philips ultrasound machine (Philips, CX-50, Holland) with a high-frequency linear transducer (L12-3) was utilized. In the TPVB group, the ultrasonic transducer was positioned to the long axis of the thoracic spine which was approximately 2–3 cm lateral to the spinous process. Then, the ultrasound transducer was moved until the tip of the transverse process was visible. In this position, the thoracic PVS was visualized between two transverse processes and parietal pleura. The parasagittal out-of-plane technique of needle insertion that was initially introduced into anesthesia by Hara (20) was applied in our study. The position of needle insertion was located and marked. After skin infiltration with 2% lidocaine (1–3 ml), and a 22-gauge insulated regional block needle (Stimuplex D, B. Braun, Germany) was inserted outof-plane from lateral to medial direction. Hydrolocation with sterile saline was utilized to identify the needle tip until anterior pleural deflection was visualized on ultrasound, indicating that the needle tip was located in the PVS. Patients in the TPVB group received 2 injections of the PVB at the T3-4 and T6-7 (T means thoracic vertebrae; 3–4 and 6–7 means entry points on thoracic vertebrae of the needle tip) PVS with 7.5 ml of 0.75% ropivacaine and 2.5 ml of 2% lidocaine. Fifteen minutes after the block administration, the pinprick method at the midclavicular line was used to assess the extent of the dermatomal blockade.

Patients in the ICNB group received intercostal nerve blocks depending on the locations of skin incisions (the fourth intercostal space in the anterior axillary line) and chest tube placement (the seventh intercostal space in the midaxillary line). Ultrasound was used to identify anatomic landmarks. Ribs were identified as hyperechoic streaks and the pleura appeared as hyperechoic lines between and below the ribs. A mixture of 7.5 ml of 0.75% ropivacaine and 2.5 ml of 2% lidocaine was injected at the level of incision using a 22-gauge nerve block needle in an out-of-plane fashion. The needle was advanced until the distal tip was immediately adjacent to the pleura. A tissue plane between the internal and innermost intercostal muscles was delineated as the local anesthetic agent.

All nerve blocks were administered by the same experienced anesthesiologists, and the same total dose of ropivacaine and lidocaine was administrated to patients in both groups. All complications were recorded, including pneumothorax, local anesthetic intoxication, and total spinal anesthesia. TPVB failure was diagnosed as two unblocked adjacent dermatomes during pinprick assessment.

Standard anesthesia monitoring was performed after patients entered the operation room, including pulse oxygen saturation, electrocardiogram, bispectral index (BIS) monitor, and invasive blood pressure in the radial artery.

No patient received any premedication. Anesthesia was induced with midazolam (0.05 mg/kg), sufentanil (0.1-0.2 mcg/kg), plasma target-controlled infusion (TCI) Marsh model (TCI propofol) (3.0-3.5 mcg/mL); and cisatracurium (0.3 mg/kg). Left or right double-lumen tube was used to intubate and ventilate mechanically with 100% oxygen. The flow was set at 3 L/min, respiratory rate at 12 breaths per min, I:E ratio of 1:1.5, and tidal volume at 6-8 ml/kg. Intermittent administration of sufentanil and TCI propofol 1.5-3.5 mcg/mL was used to keep the BIS between 40 and 60, and the systolic arterial pressure and heart rate (HR) within \pm 20% of baseline values during the procedure. Cisatracurium was administered for muscle relaxation as required. The neuromuscular blockade was reversed and the patient was extubated if awake. After extubation, patients had intravenous patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) via an infusion pump to deliver oxycodone at an infusion rate of (16-18) mcg/kg/h and a bolus dose of 1.5 mg with a lockout time of 15 min during the first 48 h postoperatively.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was the occurrence of EA which was evaluated using Aono's four-point scale (AFPS) score. Patients' status was divided into four stages by AFPS score (2, 21): stage 1, calm; stage 2, not calm but could be easily calmed; stage 3, not easily calmed, moderately agitated or restless; stage 4, combative, excited, or disoriented. EA was defined as an AFPS score \geq 3 from "time zero" to 2 min after extubation.

$$EA \ occurrence = \frac{Number \ of \ patients \left(stage3 + stage4\right)}{Total \ number \ of \ patients} \times 100\%$$

The secondary outcomes included intraoperative mean arterial pressure (MAP) and HR at different time points after extubation; blood loss; duration of anesthesia; duration of surgery; duration of one-lung ventilation (OLV); emergence time; extubation time; sufentanil consumption; and propofol consumption; and post-operative pain intensity was measured by visual analogue scale (VAS), Ramsay sedation score (RSS), and PCA demand times at different time points after extubation.

Emergence time was defined as the time between propofol termination and first eye opening. Extubation time was defined as the time between propofol termination and extubation. The MAP and HR was recorded at the end of surgery just before extubation, and at 5, 10, 30, and 60 min after extubation. VAS pain scores, RSS, and PCA demand times were recorded at 60 min, 240 min, 24 h, and 48 h after extubation.

Statistical Analysis

The sample size was calculated based on a preliminary preexperimental study using PASS 15.0 software (NCSS, Kaysville, UT, United States). The incidence of EA (RSS \geq 1) in thoracoscopic lobectomy in our hospital was 45%. Assuming that at a significance level of 5%, the incidence in the TPVB group was reduced to 20%, the trial power at 80%, and the dropout rate is at 10–15%, the study required a minimum of 47 patients per group. This study expanded the sample size to 50 patients per group.

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 15 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). The primary efficacy data on the occurrence of EA were examined using intention-to-treat analysis. The normality of distribution was assessed with a Q-Q plot and the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data conforming to normal distribution were described as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and nonnormal distribution of data was shown as median (IQR). The normally distributed variables, including demographic characteristics data, intraoperative and recovery data, were assessed by independent t-test. Non-parametric data were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U-test and descriptive variables were evaluated using the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Hemodynamic data were compared by repeated measurement analysis of variance. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was applied to measure the relative risk of TPVB vs. ICNB on EA. P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.


RESULTS

A total of 103 patients were assessed for eligibility. Among them, 3 patients did not meet the eligibility criteria and another 3 patients withdrew from the final analysis because of either conversion to thoracotomy or TPVB failure. Thus, 97 patients were included in the final analysis (**Figure 1**). There were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of age, gender, BMI, ASA classification, MoCA, lung function, preoperative forced expiratory volume in the first second (FEV1), preoperative forced vital capacity (FVC), preoperative FVC/FEV1 ratio and preoperative comorbidities (all P > 0.05) (**Table 1**).

The occurrence rates of EA during tracheal extubation in the TPVB group (12.2%, 6/49) were significantly less than in the ICNB group (31.3%, 15/48). Furthermore, multivariable logistic regression analysis suggested that preoperative TPVB (relative risk = 1.276, 95% CI: 1.020–1.600, P = 0.028) was associated with lower occurrence of EA (**Table 2**). However, the results of

hemodynamics showed that the MAP and HR did not change significantly before extubation in both groups (P > 0.05), but were significantly lower in the TPVB group at 5, 10, and 30 min after extubation than those in the ICNB group (P < 0.05, **Table 3**). The emergence time (12.8 ± 7.2 vs. 16.1 ± 6.7 , P = 0.023) and extubation time (14.4 ± 7.5 vs. 17.6 ± 6.9 , P = 0.031) in TPVB group were significantly shorter than those in the ICNB group. Moreover, patients in the TPVB group showed less intraoperative consumption of sufentanil ($26.1 \pm 5.5 \text{ mcg vs. } 29.2 \pm 8.1 \text{ mcg}$, P = 0.028) than those in the ICNB group (**Table 3**).

Further analysis showed that the post-operative pain was well controlled in both groups from 1 to 48 h after surgery (mean VAS pain scores less than 3). There were significantly lower VAS pain scores in the TPVB group at rest or coughing at each time point than those in the ICNB group (P < 0.05). Additionally, the RSS in the TPVB group at 60 and 240 min after extubation was significantly lower than those of the patients in the ICNB group (P < 0.05, **Table 3**). There were 5 cases of post-operative nausea

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of the patients.

	TPVB group (n = 49)	ICNB group (n = 48)	P-value
Age (year)	62.4 ± 7.6	63.8 ± 7.6	0.360
Gender (male/female)	25/24	23/25	0.760
BMI (kg/m²)	25.1 ± 3.5	25.5 ± 3.7	0.528
ASA (I/II/III)	11/36/2	8/39/1	0.750
Montreal Cognitive Assessment	28.7 ± 1.4	28.9 ± 1.3	0.442
Lung Function			
Preoperative FEV1 (L)	2.33 ± 0.48	2.36 ± 0.54	0.816
Preoperative FVC (L)	3.01 ± 0.59	2.93 ± 0.75	0.545
Preoperative FEV ₁ /FVC	78.06 ± 8.74	76.34 ± 10.18	0.375
Preoperative comorbidities			
Hypertension, <i>n</i>	21	22	0.768
Diabetes, <i>n</i>	10	10	0.959
Coronary heart disease, n	4	4	0.976

BMI, body mass index; ASA (I/II/III), American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status I-III; FEV1, forced vital capacity rate of one second; FVC, forced vital capacity.

TABLE 2 | Comparison of Aono's four-point scale between the two groups.

	AFPS stage \geq 3	Relative Risk (95% CI)	P-value
TPVB group	6/49	1.276, (1.020 \sim 1.600)	0.028
ICNB group	15/48	Ref.	Ref.

in the TPVB group and 3 cases in the ICB group (P = 1.000) and there was no vomiting in either group.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that preoperative TPVB significantly decreased the occurrence of EA during tracheal extubation and the changes in hemodynamic instability after tracheal extubation in patients who underwent thoracoscopic lobectomy.

There might be several factors to explain the better efficacy of TPVB when compared to ICNB. First, the two-level injection of local anesthetics (LA) into the PVS at T_{3-4} and T_{6-7} can spread across from T1 to T8 (T1-T8 means the anesthetic plane). The two-level injection of LA into the intercostal space could only result in two dermatomal blockades. Second, TPVB might cause unilateral sympathetic and somatic nerve blockade, and preoperative ICNB could only cause segmental somatic nerve blockade. In addition, preoperative TPVB might reduce central sensitization by blocking the transference of nociceptive stimulation to the central nervous system. As a result, TPVB could decrease the occurrence of hyperalgesia and allodynia. The follow-up data also indicate that patients who received preoperative TPVB had lower VAS pain scores at rest and coughing than patients with ICNBs at each time point within 48 h after surgery. Thirdly, less use of sufentanil may avoid or reduce the hyperalgesia effects induced by opioids (22). Taken together, TPVB might reduce the occurrence of EA possibly by alleviating the acute post-operative pain. Previous studies showed that regional nerve blockade not only enhances post-operative

TABLE 3 | Comparison of secondary outcomes between the two groups.

	TPVB group (n = 49)	ICNB group (n = 48)	P-value	
Hemodynamics				
MAP (mmHg)				
Before extubation	92.2 ± 9.6	94.7 ± 10.4	0.225	
5 min after extubation	96.0 ± 13.6	101.6 ± 12.9	0.041	
10 min after extubation	92.3 ± 10.6	97.3 ± 13.1	0.047	
30 min after extubation	88.8 ± 9.9	95.3 ± 11.7	0.004	
60 min after extubation	88.4 ± 11.0	91.2 ± 9.9	0.194	
HR (beats⋅min ⁻¹)				
Before extubation	69.9 ± 13.4	71.3 ± 13.8	0.615	
5 min after extubation	88.0 ± 11.1	94.1 ± 12.0	0.011	
10 min after extubation	84.9 ± 12.4	90.4 ± 11.7	0.026	
30 min after extubation	80.0 ± 12.9	85.8 ± 12.2	0.022	
60 min after extubation	78.6 ± 14.0	83.0 ± 11.0	0.087	
ntraoperative details and r	ecovery charac	teristics		
Blood loss (ml)	186 ± 156	212 ± 222	0.506	
Duration of anesthesia (min)	187 ± 54	187 ± 55	0.995	
Duration of surgery (min)	175 ± 55	172 ± 52	0.774	
Duration of OLV (min)	165 ± 57	163 ± 52	0.872	
Emergence time (min)	12.8 ± 7.2	16.1 ± 6.7	0.023	
Extubation time (min)	14.4 ± 7.5	17.6 ± 6.9	0.031	
Sufentanil (mcg)	26.1 ± 5.5	29.2 ± 8.1	0.028	
Propofol (mg)	800 ± 240	820 ± 293	0.720	
Post-operative pain intensi	ity			
VAS score at rest				
60 min	0 (0–1)	1 (0-1)	0.161	
240 min	0 (0-1)	0 (0–1.75)	0.001	
24 h	1 (0-2)	1.5 (1–2)	0.018	
48 h	1 (0-1)	1 (1-2)	0.028	
VAS score at coughing				
60 min	1 (0-2)	2 (0–3)	0.039	
240 min	1 (0-2)	2 (1–3)	0.014	
24 h	2 (2–3)	3 (2–3.75)	0.014	
48 h	2 (1–2.5)	2 (2-4)	0.022	
RSS scores				
60 min	2 (2–3)	3 (2–3.75)	0.017	
240 min	2 (2–2)	2 (2–3)	0.028	
24 h	2 (2–2)	2 (2–2)	1.000	
48 h	2 (2–2)	2 (2–2)	1.000	
PCA demand times				
60 min	0 (0–1)	0 (0-1)	0.460	
240 min	0 (0–1)	1 (0-2)	0.381	
24 h	1 (1–3)	2 (0-4)	0.526	
48 h	2 (1-4.5)	4 (06)	0.173	

MAP, mean arterial pressure; HR, heart rate; OLV, one-lung ventilation; VAS, visual analogue scale; RSS, Ramsay sedation score, PCA, patient-controlled analgesia.

analgesia but also produces a higher quality of recovery after surgery (23–25). This study found that patients receiving TPVB had a shorter emergence and extubation time than those with ICNBs. Furthermore, patients in the TPVB group presented a lower RSS within 4 h postoperatively than that in the ICNB group. Additionally, TPVB could reduce the general anesthetic dosage of sufentanil during operation. At the end of the surgery, the residual anesthetics in patients were lower and could be naturally eliminated more quickly, making them transition from the anesthesia state to a normal waking state.

EA can increase sympathetic nerve excitability, induce hemodynamic changes including hypertension and tachycardia, and may lead to cerebral vascular events. Patients undergoing lobectomy are usually older and complicated with multiple comorbidities, such as cardiovascular diseases, hypertension, and diabetes. Although there were no cardio-cerebral vascular events in either group, patients in the TPVB group maintained better hemodynamic stability when compared to the ICNB group during tracheal extubation. The hemodynamic stability in the TPVB group might be from the blockade of the cardio-accelerator nerves (T_1-T_4) with this block.

Vishal et al. (26) showed that the ultrasound-guided singleinjection TPVB provided equivalent dermatomal spread and duration of analgesia when compared with the multiple-injection TPVB. The reason we chose two-level thoracic PVS injection was that thoracoscopic surgery is usually performed through two access ports in our hospital (27). The procedure port (4cm incision) and the scope port (1.5-cm incision) were chosen at the level of the 3rd or 4th intercostal space in the anterior axillary line and the 7th or 8th intercostal space along the postaxillary line respectively, so the block area needs to cover T₃-T₈ unilaterally. Cowie et al. (28) showed that 20 ml of contrast dye could spread 4.5 segments after a single paravertebral injection and could spread to 6 segments with a two-level paravertebral injection in a cadaveric study. In addition, Kasimahanti et al. (13) reported that patients receiving two-level TPVB showed better analgesic effects than those with single-level TPVB. Copik (29) and Coopey (30) found that the ultrasound-guided TPVB failure rate in adults ranged from 3.9 to 7.4%. In this study, the failure rate was 2.00% (1/50) as one patient developed sensory blockade in less than 3 adjacent segments. The main cause of failure block might be the difficulty of clearly defining the transverse process (TP) with ultrasound due to excessive tissues.

REFERENCES

- Kang X, Lin K, Tang H, Tang X, Bao F, Gan S, et al. Risk factors for emergence agitation in adults undergoing thoracoscopic lung surgery: a case-control study of 1,950 patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2020) 34:2403–9. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.02.046
- Tolly B, Waly A, Peterson G, Erbes CR, Prielipp RC, Apostolidou I. Adult emergence agitation: a veteran-focused narrative review. *Anesth Analg.* (2021) 132:353–64. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000000 5211
- Citrome L. Addressing the need for rapid treatment of agitation in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: focus on inhaled loxapine as an alternative to injectable agents. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2013) 9:235–45. doi: 10.2147/ TCRM.S31484
- Demir CY, Yuzkat N. Prevention of emergence agitation with ketamine in rhinoplasty. Aesthetic Plast Surg. (2018) 42:847–53. doi: 10.1007/s00266-018-1103-4
- Talih G, Yuksek A, Sahin E. Evaluation of emergence agitation after general anaesthesia in rhinoplasty patients: inhalation anaesthesia versus total intravenous anaesthesia. *Am J Otolaryngol.* (2020) 41:102387. doi: 10.1016/j. amjoto.2020.102387

There are some limitations to our study. First, the sample size was small and there might be a type 2 error. Second, previous studies indicated that the preoperative anxiety state was related to agitation and this study did not evaluate the preoperative anxiety state of these patients.

In conclusion, preoperative TPVB was associated with less EA during tracheal extubation when compared with ICNB in patients undergoing thoracoscopic lobectomy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The present study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Beijing Chest Hospital [ID: (2018) Ethical Review of Clinical Trial Recommended Project No. 03-01]. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WL: study design, data analysis, manuscript revision, and critical content editing. TJL: statistical review and manuscript revision. FW: data collection and manuscript preparation. DZ: data collection and manuscript revision. TL: data verification and manuscript revision. JH: study design and data analysis. SX: study design, data analysis, and critical content editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

- Menser C, Smith H. Emergence agitation and delirium: considerations for epidemiology and routine monitoring in pediatric patients. *Local Reg Anesth.* (2020) 13:73–83. doi: 10.2147/LRA.S181459
- Lee SJ, Sung TY. Emergence agitation: current knowledge and unresolved questions. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2020) 73:471–85. doi: 10.4097/kja.2 0097
- Xara D, Silva A, Mendonca J, Abelha F. Inadequate emergence after anesthesia: emergence delirium and hypoactive emergence in the postanesthesia care unit. J Clin Anesth. (2013) 25:439–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2013. 02.011
- Lee SJ, Choi SJ, In CB, Sung TY. Effects of tramadol on emergence agitation after general anesthesia for nasal surgery: a retrospective cohort study. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e14763. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000014763
- Xiao W, Zhou W, Chen X, Zhu J, Xue Q, Shi J. Analgesic effect of intercostal nerve block given preventively or at the end of operation in video-assisted thoracic surgery: a randomized clinical trial. *Braz J Anesthesiol.* (2021) [Online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1016/j.bjane.2021.07.010
- D'Andrilli A, Ibrahim M, Ciccone AM, Venuta F, De Giacomo T, Massullo D, et al. Intrapleural intercostal nerve block associated with mini-thoracotomy improves pain control after major lung resection. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2006) 29:790–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2006.01.002

- Okajima H, Tanaka O, Ushio M, Higuchi Y, Nagai Y, Iijima K, et al. Ultrasound-guided continuous thoracic paravertebral block provides comparable analgesia and fewer episodes of hypotension than continuous epidural block after lung surgery. J Anesth. (2015) 29:373–8. doi: 10.1007/ s00540-014-1947-y
- Kasimahanti R, Arora S, Bhatia N, Singh G. Ultrasound-guided single- Vs double-level thoracic paravertebral block for postoperative analgesia in total mastectomy with axillary clearance. J Clin Anesth. (2016) 33:414–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2016.01.027
- D'Ercole F, Arora H, Kumar PA. Paravertebral block for thoracic surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2018) 32:915–27. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2017.10.003
- Renes SH, Bruhn J, Gielen MJ, Scheffer GJ, van Geffen GJ. In-plane ultrasoundguided thoracic paravertebral block: a preliminary report of 36 cases with radiologic confirmation of catheter position. *Reg Anesth Pain Med.* (2010) 35:212–6. doi: 10.1097/aap.0b013e3181c75a8b
- Yamazaki S, Koike S, Eguchi T, Matsuoka S, Takeda T, Miura K, et al. Preemptive intercostal nerve block as an alternative to epidural analgesia. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2021) [Online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2021.07. 019
- Wu CL, Raja SN. Treatment of acute postoperative pain. Lancet. (2011) 377:2215–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60245-6
- Yeung JH, Gates S, Naidu BV, Wilson MJ, Gao Smith F. Paravertebral block versus thoracic epidural for patients undergoing thoracotomy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 2:CD009121. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009121. pub2
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips N, Chertkow H. Normative data for the montreal cognitive assessment (Moca) in a population-based sample. *Neurology*. (2012) 78:765–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000413072.54070.a3
- Hara K, Sakura S, Nomura T, Saito Y. Ultrasound guided thoracic paravertebral block in breast surgery. *Anaesthesia*. (2009) 64:223–5. doi: 10. 1111/j.1365-2044.2008.05843.x
- Kim JC, Kim J, Kwak H, Ahn SW. Premedication with dexmedetomidine to reduce emergence agitation: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2019) 19:144. doi: 10.1186/s12871-019-0816-5
- 22. Mercadante S, Arcuri E, Santoni A. Opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. CNS Drugs. (2019) 33:943–55. doi: 10.1007/s40263-019-00660-0
- Sakamoto B, Harker G, Eppstein AC, Gwirtz K. Efficacy of local anesthetic with dexamethasone on the quality of recovery following total extraperitoneal bilateral inguinal hernia repair: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2016) 151:1108–14. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.2905
- Rotigliano N, Fuglistaler I, Guenin MO, Dursunoglu GB, Freiermuth D, von Flue M, et al. Perianal block with ropivacaine as a supplement to anaesthesia in proctological surgery: double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial (Percept). *Br J Surg.* (2020) 107:960–9. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11520

- Kelava M, Alfirevic A, Bustamante S, Hargrave J, Marciniak D. Regional anesthesia in cardiac surgery: an overview of fascial plane chest wall blocks. *Anesth Analg.* (2020) 131:127–35. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000000 4682
- Uppal V, Sondekoppam RV, Sodhi P, Johnston D, Ganapathy S. Single-injection versus multiple-injection technique of ultrasoundguided paravertebral blocks: a randomized controlled study comparing dermatomal spread. *Reg Anesth Pain Med.* (2017) 42:575–81. doi: 10.1097/AAP.00000000000631
- Guo H, Jing W, Chen F, Li H, Sun J, Li B. Uniportal video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (Vats) lobectomy with en bloc lymphadenectomy for a large central type carcinoma at right upper lobe. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10:4498–501. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.04.28
- Cowie B, McGlade D, Ivanusic J, Barrington MJ. Ultrasound-guided thoracic paravertebral blockade: a cadaveric study. *Anesth Analg.* (2010) 110:1735–9. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181dd58b0
- Copik M, Bialka S, Daszkiewicz A, Misiolek H. Thoracic paravertebral block for postoperative pain management after renal surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2017) 34:596–601. doi: 10.1097/EJA. 000000000000673
- Coopey SB, Specht MC, Warren L, Smith BL, Winograd JM, Fleischmann K. Use of preoperative paravertebral block decreases length of stay in patients undergoing mastectomy plus immediate reconstruction. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2013) 20:1282–6. doi: 10.1245/s10434-012-2678-7

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer LZ declared a shared parent affiliation, with the authors, WL, FW, DZ, TL, and SX, to the handling editor at the time of the review.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Liu, Luo, Wang, Zhang, Liu, Huang and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Female Patients Undergoing Breast and Gynecological Surgery: A Narrative Review of Risk Factors and Prophylaxis

Marco Echeverria-Villalobos^{1*}, Juan Fiorda-Diaz¹, Alberto Uribe¹ and Sergio D. Bergese²

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Somchai Amornyotin, Mahidol University, Thailand

Reviewed by:

Sang Hun kin, Chosun University, South Korea Abhijit Nair, Ministry of Health, Oman

*Correspondence:

Marco Echeverria-Villalobos marco.echeverriavillalobos @osumc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 31 March 2022 Accepted: 13 June 2022 Published: 01 July 2022

Citation:

Echeverria-Villalobos M, Fiorda-Diaz J, Uribe A and Bergese SD (2022) Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Female Patients Undergoing Breast and Gynecological Surgery: A Narrative Review of Risk Factors and Prophylaxis. Front. Med. 9:909982. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.909982 ¹ Department of Anesthesiology, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH, United States, ² Department of Anesthesiology, Health Sciences Center, School of Medicine, Stony Brook University, New York, NY, United States

Postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) have been widely studied as a multifactorial entity, being of female gender the strongest risk factor. Reported PONV incidence in female surgical populations is extremely variable among randomized clinical trials. In this narrative review, we intend to summarize the incidence, independent predictors, pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions for PONV reported in recently published clinical trials carried out in female patients undergoing breast and gynecologic surgery, as well as the implications of the anesthetic agents on the incidence of PONV. A literature search of manuscripts describing PONV management in female surgical populations (breast surgery and gynecologic surgery) was carried out in PubMed, MEDLINE, and Embase databases. Postoperative nausea and vomiting incidence were highly variable in patients receiving placebo or no prophylaxis among RCTs whereas consistent results were observed in patients receiving 1 or 2 prophylactic interventions for PONV. Despite efforts made, a considerable number of female patients still experienced significant PONV. It is critical for the anesthesia provider to be aware that the coexistence of independent risk factors such as the level of sex hormones (pre- and postmenopausal), preoperative anxiety or depression, pharmacogenomic pleomorphisms, and ethnicity further enhances the probability of experiencing PONV in female patients. Future RCTs should closely assess the overall risk of PONV in female patients considering patient- and surgery-related factors, and the level of compliance with current guidelines for prevention and management of PONV.

Keywords: postoperative nausea and vomiting, female gender, gynecological surgery, breast surgery, randomized clinical trial ERAS (Enhance Recovery After Surgery)

INTRODUCTION

Postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) are one of the main distressing symptoms commonly reported after surgery and prompt patients at risk to serious complications, such as gastric aspiration, psychological distress, wound dehiscence, deferred recovery, and prolonged discharge times. Female gender is considered an independent predictor of PONV, being a determinant factor when assessing its preoperative risk (1-3). The Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia (SAMBA) Guidelines for PONV management recommend a multimodal approach or combination therapy consisting of two or more interventions in patients with moderate and high risk of PONV, respectively (4, 5). Although the pathophysiology of PONV is multifactorial, PONV is more insidious in female surgical patients than in male, including elderly patients (6). Women also show a higher susceptibility to motion sickness during air, water, and terrestrial travel, which further increases their risk of PONV (1-3). Several studies have demonstrated an association between hormonal changes and PONV in females at a reproductive age (7-10). Nevertheless, current reports on the frequency of PONV during pre-ovulatory (proliferative) and post-ovulatory (luteal) phases of the menstrual cycle are controversial (7, 9-11).

Current literature describing PONV in female patients undergoing breast and/or gynecological surgery is highly variable in terms of incidence, predictors, risk stratification and management. Several reviews, protocols and guidelines have attempted to summarize PONV management in the general population,. We reviewed the most recent evidence on the impact of PONV occurrence after breast and gynecological surgery to summarize the reported specific considerations about the incidence, independent predictors, and perioperative management (pharmacological and non-pharmacological). Furthermore, we consider that this extensive review of the literature that we have carried out can provide us with a more precise view of some aspects of the clinical spectrum of PONV in female surgical patients that should require a systematic review and meta-analysis.

Objectives of the Review

To determine the incidence of PONV in female patients undergoing breast and/ or gynecological surgery.

- To identify independent predictors and risk factors for PONV in this subset of patients, although they apply to the female surgical population
- To evaluate the pharmacological and non-pharmacological strategies most currently used for the prophylactic and therapeutic management of PONV.
- To assess the influence of anesthetic agents on PONV occurrence and clarify the optimal anesthetic technique.

• To evaluate the efficacy of the most widely used risk-scoring systems in the risk stratification for PONV in the female surgical population.

Aims

To Provide updated knowledge to anesthesia providers about key elements that allow them to optimize the perioperative management of PONV in the female population.

METHODS

The research question was formulated according to the PICO methodology. P = Women undergoing breast or gynecological surgery; I = Prevention and treatment of PONV; C = Premenopausal and postmenopausal adult female surgical patients; O = independent predictors and risk factors, risk stratification, available therapeutic strategies, anesthetic management in high-risk patients for PONV.

We performed an extensive literature search in PubMed, MEDLINE, and Embase databases of articles describing PONV management in female surgical populations (i.e., breast surgery and gynecologic surgery) published between January 1, 2011, and June 30, 2021, following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines (Figure 1) (12). Initially, we use the following keywords and Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms: "postoperative nausea and vomiting," "PONV," "female gender," "gynecological surgery," "breast surgery" and their combinations were used. Thereafter, the following systematic search strategy was used: (PONV OR postoperative nausea and vomiting OR nausea and vomiting, postoperative OR postoperative vomiting OR vomiting, postoperative OR nausea, postoperative OR emesis, postoperative, postoperative, OR postoperative emesis OR postoperative nausea OR antiemetic effect OR complete response) AND (gynecological procedure OR gynecological surgery OR breast surgery OR mastectomy OR mammaplasty) AND (female OR woman). With the results of the initial electronic search, two authors hand-screened several to confirm the following eligibility criteria: Articles published in English language between January 1, 2011, and June 30, 2021, reporting PONV as a primary outcome and describing PONV management in female patients undergoing either breast or gynecologic surgery were included. In addition, our literature search included retrospective studies, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and review articles from a cited reference search. We excluded conference abstracts and posters, reviews of non-primary research, case reports, series of case reports and articles published in other language other than English. All authors conducted the final review of all databases in July 2021.

RESULTS

Our database search identified a total of 3,299 articles. After 1,320 duplicated articles were removed, 1,979 articles underwent title and abstract screening. Following this, we selected around 89 publications as reliable articles addressing exclusively PONV in females and screened for eligibility (**Figure 1**). Among these

Abbreviations: ERAS, Enhance Recovery After Surgery; GA, general anesthesia; NIH, National Institutes of Health; PONV, postoperative nausea and vomiting; PON, postoperative nausea; POV, postoperative vomiting; TIVA, Total Intravenous Anesthesia.



89 articles, 67 were excluded for various reasons as shown in **Figure 1**, and we finally identified a total of 22 eligible publications with a significant number of patients and relevant compilation of demographic and clinical outcomes (**Table 1**). This is a narrative review; therefore no statistical analysis was performed.

DISCUSSION

Incidence of PONV in Patients Undergoing Breast and Gynecological Surgery

There is sufficient documentation showing that women undergoing breast and gynecological surgery have a reported incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting up to 80% to 95% within the first 24 h after surgery when they received insufficient or no prophylactic antiemetic therapy (34–36). Conversely, the occurrence of PONV in this subset of surgical patients can dramatically decrease after the systematic implementations of PONV guidelines (37).

Breast cancer surgery constitutes an additional risk factor for PONV in female surgical patients with a reported incidence of up to 30% to 68% within the first 24 h postoperatively in patients that received intraoperative prophylactic antiemetics (38–40), whereas in non-treated patients PONV frequency increases to 70%-80% of patients (41–43).

Gynecological surgery involves patients who are at high risk for PONV is associated with a higher incidence of PONV (female sex, non-smoking status, and requirement for postoperative opioids) (34). The incidence of PONV in the obstetric and gynecological surgical patients has ranged between 40–80%, especially in laparoscopic surgery (28, 44–46).

Specific Risk Factors for Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Female Surgical Populations

The multifactorial etiology of PONV has been widely studied with the subsequent identification of several independent predictors such as emetogenic factors (e.g., perioperative use of opioids, inhaled or balanced anesthesia, length of anesthesia) and patient-related risk factors (e.g., smoking status, female gender) (2). Being a female patient is the strongest predictor of PONV, followed by the antecedent of episodes of PONV and motion sickness (2, 3, 5). Other known PONV predictors in women are preoperative history of nausea and vomiting during pregnancy, female neonate, and premenstrual syndrome (2, 4). However, it is very important for the anesthesia providers to recognize the presence of other lesser known independent risk factors TABLE 1 | Randomized clinical trials and postoperative nausea and vomiting outcomes.

References	Surgery type	Anesthesia type	N/Groups	Dose active/Control	PONV incidence
D'souza et al. (13)	Lap. Gyn	Inhaled	31/31/31	Dexamethasone 4 mg / dexamethasone 8 mg / ondansetron 4 mg	29% / 43% / 61% of PONV at 24 h, <i>p</i> = 0.16
Ekinci et al. (14)	Lap/open Gyn	Inhaled	20/20/20/20 /20	Droperidol 2.5 mg / metoclopramide 10 mg / tropisetron 2.5 mg / ondansetron 4 mg / control	20% / 40% / 25% / 15% / 60% at 24 h; drop. vs. control $p < 0.009$; Trop. vs. control $p < 0.02$; Ond. vs. control $p < 0.003$
Park and Cho, (15)	Lap. Gyn	Both	50/50	Palonosetron 0.075 mg + Inhaled / Palonosetron 0.075 mg + TIVA	48% / 50% at 24 h, p > 0.05
Park and Cho, (16)	Lap. Gyn	Inhaled	45/45	Palonosetron 0.075 mg / ondansetron 8 mg	42.2% / 66.7% at 24 h, <i>p</i> < 0.05
Kasagi et al. (17)	Lap. Gyn	TIVA	30/30/30/30	Fentanyl 20 µg.kg ⁻¹ / fentanyl 20 µg.kg ⁻¹ + droperidol 2 mg / fentanyl 20 µg.kg ⁻¹ + naloxone 0.1 mg / fentanyl 20 µg.kg ⁻¹ + droperidol 2 mg + naloxone 0.1 mg	43% / 43% / 70% / 17% at 24 h, <i>p < 0.001</i>
Kawano et al. (18)	Lap. Gyn.	Both	42/42/42	Sevoflurane / propofol 4-8 mg.kg ⁻¹ .h / propofol 2 mg.kg ⁻¹ .h + sevoflurane	62% / 29% / 21% at 24h, <i>p</i> < <i>0.0005</i>
Soga et al. (19)	Open Gyn.	Inhaled	24/20	Fosaprepitant 150 mg / ondansetron 4 mg	71% / 55% at 24 h, p > 0.05
Joo et al. (20)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	50/49/50	IV saline / haloperidol 1 mg / haloperidol 2 mg	42% / 22% / 20% at 24 h, <i>p</i> = 0.03
Yang et al. (21)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	50/53/50	Acu+ dexamethasone 10 mg / Tropisetron 5 mg + dexamethasone 10 mg / dexamethasone 10 mg	28% / 26% / 50% at 24h, p = 0.048
Bang et al. (22)	Lap. Gyn.	TIVA	50/50	Palonosetron 0.075 / saline 1.5ml	34% / 58%, <i>p</i> = 0.027
Dewinter et al. (23)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	196/196/123	Alizapride 100 mg / Ondansetron 4 mg / Saline 4ml	32.1% / 28.6% / 34.1% in PACU (RR 1.13, 90% Cl 0.87–1.45); 36.8%/31.5%/39.3% at 24h (RR 1.17, 90% Cl 0.91–1.50)
Geng et al. (24)	Lap. Gyn.	TIVA	65/65	Dexmedetomidine 0.5 μ g.kg ⁻¹ over 10 mins loading, 0.1 μ g.kg ⁻¹ .h maintenance / equal volume of saline	5% /14% at 2 h. <i>p</i> = 0.069; 38.5% / 43.1% at 24h. <i>p</i> = 0.592
Soga et al.Lee (19)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	55/55	Aprepitan 80 mg + ondansetron 4 mg stat + 12 mg into PCA / ondansetron 4 mg stat + 12 mg into PCA	62% / 84% at 24h. p = 0.011; 67% / 84% at 48h. p = 0.05.
Lee et al. (25)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	45/44	Ramosetron 0.3 mg EOS + 0.3 mg 4 h postop/ramosetron 0.3 mg EOS + saline 4 h postop	42.2% / 25% at 24h. p = 0.086
Kim et al. (26)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	44/44/44/44	Ramosetron 0.3 mg stat + 0.6 mg into PCA / Ramosetron 0.3 mg stat / Palonosetron 0.075 mg / normal saline	8/27/22/33 patients had PONV at 24h; 4/19/17/22 at 48 h; 0/13/14/12 at 72h after discharge from PACU, p < 0.05;
Oh et al. (27)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	47/47	Nefopam PCA / fentanyl PCA; rescue ondansetron 4 mg	31.9% / 57.4% at 24 h. <i>p</i> = 0.022
Bhakta et al. (28)	Lap. Gyn.	Both	30/30	Propofol + nitrous oxide / Propofol infusion + Isoflurane + nitrous oxide	36.6% / 76.6%, p <0.01
Khan et al. (29)	Lap. Gyn.	Inhaled	70/70	Gabapentin 600 mg /oral placebo 2h. before surgery	32.9% / 64.3% at 24h p = 0.001
Seki et al. (30)	Lap. Gyn.	GA / GA + epidural	45/45	12–15 ml 0.5% Ropivacaine + GA / GA with remifentanil infusion + intermittent fentanyl boluses	44.4% / 60% (RR 0.53, 95%) Cl 0.23–1.23), <i>p</i> = 0.14

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

References	Surgery type	Anesthesia type	N/Groups	Dose active/Control	PONV incidence
Omran and Nasr (31)	Mastectomy	Inhaled	40/40	Mirtazapine 30 mg / Ondansetron 16 mg	25% / 35% at 24 h (RR 0.7143, 95 % Cl 0.3607–1.414)
Voigt et al. (32)	Elective breast surgery	Both	80/80/80/79 /80/81	Haloperidol 1.25 mg + Tropisetron 2 mg + TIVA / Haloperidol + Tropisetron + Volatile / Dimenhydrinate 31 mg + Dexamethasone 4 mg + TIVA / Dimenhydrinate + Dexamethasone + Volatile / Placebo + TIVA / Placebo + Volatile	25% /17.5% / 15% / 11.4% / 43.8% / 48.1%; halo. + trop. reduced PONV 3.4 x more than placebo (OR 0.30, Cl 0.18–0.50, <i>p</i> > 0.0001); dimen. + dexa. reduced PONV 5.9 x more than placebo (OR 0.17, Cl 0.09–0.30, <i>p</i> < 0.0001)
Olanders et al. (33)	Partial mastectomy	Inhaled	37/38	Betamethasone 8 mg / control	57% / 68%, p = 0.27

N, number of patients; PONV, postoperative nausea and vomiting; Drop, droperidol; Trop, tropisetron; Ond, ondansetron; TIVA, total intravenous anesthesia; IV, intravenous; Acu, acustimulation; PACU, post-anesthesia care unit; RR, relative risk; CI, confidence interval; PCA, patient controlled analgesia; EOS, end of surgery; Postop, postoperatively; GA, general anesthesia; TIVA, Total Intravenous Anesthesia; Halo, haloperidol; Dimen, dimenhydrinate; Dexa, dexamethasone.

that enhance the frequency of PONV such as sex hormones levels, psychosocial factors, pharmacogenomic pleomorphism, and ethnicity.

Hormonal Status According to the Menstrual Cycle

Anecdotally, the incidence trend of emetic episodes increases after menarche and decreases through the menopausal transition (10, 47). Moreover, increased estrogen and progesterone levels during pregnancy have been associated with a prolonged gastrointestinal transit time and a reduction in the esophageal sphincter pressure (10). These facts suggest that cyclic variations in reproductive hormones in females may influence their susceptibility to nausea and motion sickness and therefore, to PONV (4, 6). Previous reports in women revealed that their hormonal status could play an important role in the occurrence of PONV within the first 5 days of the menstrual cycle (48, 49). Based on these assertions, a female patient undergoing major surgery under balanced or inhaled anesthesia, in which postoperative opioid use is expected (e.g., breast cancer surgery or laparoscopic gynecological surgery), is considered at high risk of PONV regardless of her age, smoking status or history of PONV and a multimodal prophylactic approach for PONV (>2 interventions) is highly recommended (5).

The correlation between the menstrual cycle phases and the frequency of PONV has been assessed by several authors, however, there is no firm evidence linking any specific phase of the cycle with a higher propensity for PONV. Nevertheless, an increased incidence of early PONV in women in the follicular and ovulatory stage, when levels of estrogen (estradiol) are higher, compared to those who were in the luteal phase has been reported by several studies (8, 9). Other researchers found a significant association between the ovulatory phase of the menstrual cycle and a higher incidence of early and late PONV when compared to the follicular and luteal phases. In addition, in the study of Zou et al., after multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that the phase of the menstrual cycle was an independent risk factor for early and late PONV (50). Conversely, other studies have concluded that changes in female hormones during the different stages of the menstrual cycle were not associated with an increased incidence of PONV (7, 51). The higher incidence of PONV in premenopausal women has been associated to high plasma levels of estrogen hormones, and to greater requirements of opioids (52, 53). The study conducted by *Kudach et al.* showed an equivalent rate of PONV in female patients up to \geq 70 years, when the incidence of PONV was significantly lower (52). Therefore, we should consider these variables in female patients undergoing major surgery when assessing the PONV risk factors as described in the current consensus guidelines (4).

PONV Associated With Tumor Receptor Status in Breast Cancer Surgery

Estrogen and progesterone receptors in the breast tissue are affected by the level of sex hormones and are actively involved in the development of breast cancer; with the endogenous estrogen and progesterone binding specifically to estrogen receptors (ER) or progesterone-receptor (PR), and influencing tumor growth (54). In addition, elevated estrogen levels are also known to increase emesis, suggesting a potential interaction of the estrogen receptor (49). The higher incidence of PONV in premenopausal patients has been linked to elevated estrogen levels (estrone, estradiol, and dehydroepiandrosterone), hence, the higher frequency of PONV observed in postmenopausal women (>50 years) and positive-ER breast cancer also correlates with high estrogen levels (55) (**Table 2**).

Preoperative Psychosocial Factors Affecting Women Undergoing Breast and Gynecological Surgery

Preoperative psychological factors such as anxiety and distress may be associated with increased severity of PONV in women **TABLE 2** | Physiologic changes associated with an increased risk of postoperative nausea and vomiting in the female population (Independent risk factors).

Preoperative history of severe nausea and vomiting during pregnancy, female neonate, premenstrual syndrome (2, 4)

Follicular and proliferative phase of menstrual cycle (7, 8, 9, 11, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34).

Age \geq 50 years, previous chemotherapy, and estrogen-positive breast tumor (30, 35, 36).

Preoperative anxiety and stress (36, 38, 39, 40, 41).

Pharmacogenomic pleomorphism (28, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52).

Ethnicity (lower incidence in Black-Africans) (53, 54, 55).

with breast cancer (56). Even conservative minor procedures, such as excisional breast biopsy and conservative lumpectomy can be very stressful for women. The onset of preoperative stress in these patients was associated to a variety of factors such as exposure to surgery and anesthesia, experiencing postoperative pain, appearance, scarring, and cancer diagnosis and prognosis (57). Response expectancies based on previous personal or vicarious experiences, have shown to determine immediate postoperative outcomes regarding pain, PONV and fatigue (56, 58–60). In addition, *Montgomery et al.* reported that anxiety and stress, as part of response expectancies, may have an important influence on late post-discharge nausea and vomiting occurrence (59).

Genomic Pleomorphisms and Ethnicity

Recent studies have demonstrat that previous history of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (CINV) may contribute to increase the risk of PONV (61). Conversely, there is also evidence showing that patients who have not presented PONV after general anesthesia do not experience CINV either because of different mechanisms including genetic predisposition (47, 61–65).

For instance, polymorphisms in the serotonin transport genes are associated with increased PONV in women with breast cancer, even before receiving chemotherapy (47), while there is a tendency for individuals categorized as CYP2D6 poor metabolizers to experience PONV (66). Moreover, polymorphisms in the serotonin receptor genes HTR3A and DRD3 are linked to a decrease rate of PONV, while on the contrary, HTR3B receptor gene polymorphism may contribute to an increase PONV (67-69). Therefore, pharmacogenomic variability in serotonin transport genes may explain the erratic incidence of PONV and the irregular response to antiemetic medication observed in around 30% of patients undergoing breast cancer surgery (69). Individual carriers of alleles to COMT, DRD3 and TPH genes show a tendency to low PONV frequency (69). Women presenting some genotypes such as Val/Val may experience higher pain intensity, and opioid requirements contributing to increase the occurrence of PONV (especially nausea), when compared with patients with heterozygous V/Met polymorphism (69). The Met/Met genotype has been related with an elevated density of mu receptors, which may explain the reduced levels of pain and opioid consumption observed in those patients (70, 71).

Several studies have demonstrated that ethnicity can be an independent risk factor for PONV, whose incidence shows variations in different ethnic groups, which have so far been more noticeable in Black patients. The effect of ethnicity on PONV could be influenced by pharmacogenomic and cultural factors (72–74). However, although more studies are lacking in various ethnic groups, the existing evidence would raise a question about the validity of the scoring systems derived predominantly from the ethnically Caucasian population and if ethnicity could be used to improve the predictability of PONV in the female surgical population.

PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS FOR POSTOPERATIVE NAUSEA AND VOMITING IN FEMALE SURGICAL POPULATIONS

Postoperative nausea and vomiting persist as one of the commonest complications even though the use of many aggressive antiemetic prophylactic strategies has increased over the last twenty years (75). The growing implementation of the Enhance Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) protocols in most surgical procedures have allowed to tailor the pharmacologic treatment to the patient's risk level of PONV determined by the currently validated risk-scoring system and treatment guidelines (2, 4, 41).

Regarding the pharmacological management of PONV/PDNV, dexamethasone and 5-hydroxytryptamine-3 (5-HT₃) receptor antagonists are the most common PONV prophylactic medications used among trials. Other pharmacological interventions can be used such as dopamine receptors antagonists, neurokinin-1 (NK-1) receptor antagonists, total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA), gabapentin, nefopam, midazolam, intranasal nicotine, and naloxone were also reported (4, 76). Moreover, there is limited data on non-pharmacological interventions such as the use of transcutaneous acupoint stimulation in female surgical populations (4).

Dexamethasone

The prophylactic effect of dexamethasone on PONV may vary based on dose administered and population-specific risk. Dexamethasone has proven its effectiveness at dosage of 4–12 mg IV usually combined with other antiemetics (13, 17, 20, 21, 32, 77). *D'Souza et al.* reported a significant reduction in PONV incidence at 3 and 24 h after the prophylactic administration of intravenous (IV) dexamethasone (4 mg) in comparison with IV ondansetron (4 mg) in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery under inhaled anesthesia (22.6% vs. 51.6%, p = 0.03 and 29% vs. 61%, respectively; p = 0.02). Of note, authors excluded patients with past medical history of motion sickness from this trial (13). However, a higher dexamethasone dose (8 mg) was not associated with a significant reduction on PONV occurrence, being this outcome consistent with other published reports in similar surgical populations (13, 17, 20, 21).

In an interesting design, *Kasagi et al.* reported an important reduction in PONV incidence with the combination of droperidol, dexamethasone and naloxone in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery under total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) and who received patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) with fentanyl IV for the management of postoperative pain. Based on Apfel's score (34), more than a half of the patients included in this trial were at high risk of PONV. Then patients were randomly assigned to either one of four groups: droperidol (Dr), dexamethasone (Dx), naloxone (Nx) and combined therapy (Cm).There was a significant reduction in PONV occurrence in the group treated with combined therapy (Cm) (17).

A combination of prophylactic IV dexamethasone and IV haloperidol is also associated with a significant reduction of PONV incidence when compared to placebo in patients at high risk undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery under inhaled anesthesia (p = 0.003) (25). Likewise, Voigt *et al.* reported a 5.9 times reduction of PONV risk in patients undergoing elective breast surgery who received a prophylactic combination of dimenhydrinate and dexamethasone when compared to a control group (OR 0.17, CI 0.09–0.30; p < 0.0001) (32). Other dexamethasone combinations such as dexamethasone + IV tropisetron and dexamethasone + acupoint stimulation have been also associated with a significant reduction in PONV occurrence when compared to dexamethasone alone (p = 0.021) (21).

5-Hydroxytryptamine-3 (5-HT₃) Receptor Antagonists

5-HT3 receptor antagonists have proved its effectiveness in PONV/PDNV prophylaxis and are the most recommended firstline prophylactic treatment for PONV (4, 5, 76, 78, 79). Recent clinical trials showed the efficacy of newer 5-HT3 receptor antagonist in reducing the incidence of PONV in gynecological and breast surgery (15, 16, 22, 80-82). In a prospective controlled trial comparing the effect of prophylactic palonosetron on PONV after gynecological laparoscopic procedures, Bang et al. reported a substantial reduction on PONV occurrence when compared to placebo (22). Moreover, Park et al. compared the PONV prophylactic effect of IV palonosetron (0.075 mg) with IV Ondansetron (8 mg) in patients with Apfel's score >2finding a significant decrease in PONV incidence at 24 h in the palonosetron group when compared to ondansetron (42.2% vs. 66.7%, respectively; p < 0.05), although there were no significant differences between groups within the first 6 postoperative hours (15). The longer half-life of palonosetron compared to ondansetron could have influenced these outcomes (83). To our knowledge, no studies have been published describing the PONV incidence after postoperative day 1 in female patients receiving palonosetron or assessing cost-benefit of palonosetron administration on surgical patients at high-risk of PONV. Additionally, the effect of a prophylactic dose of palonosetron on the incidence of PONV is comparable to the results obtained with the administration of TIVA in this patient setting (16). In a recent report, Hong et al. compared the effectiveness of palonosetron (P) with the combination of midazolam-palonosetron (MP) in 104 patients undergoing breast cancer surgery. From 0 to 24 h after surgery with no intergroup statistical significance (42.3% and 48.1%) (81).

Ramosetron was also compared to palonosetron in female patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery in a study conducted by *Kim et al.* (26). They reported no significant differences on PONV occurrence in patients receiving one prophylactic IV dose of ramosetron (0.3 mg) when compared to 2 doses, one prophylactic and another dose 4 h after gynecological laparoscopic surgery (80).

Neurokinin-1 (NK-1) Receptor Antagonists

Aprepitant and fosaprepitant are the NK-1 receptor antagonists with long elimination half-life most studied as preventive treatment for PONV (84). An early study carried out by *Gesztesi et al.* revealed that NK-receptor antagonist CP-122,721 (200 mg PO), was more effective than ondansetron lowering the frequency of PONV in the first 24 following gynecological surgery (85). In a prospective study, *Soga et al.* compared the efficacy of fosaprepitant (150 mg IV) to ondansetron (4 mg) in 44 patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery under balanced general anesthesia and receiving epidural fentanyl in PCA pump for postoperative pain management. Even though complete response was similar between groups, there were no vomiting episodes reported in patients receiving fosaprepitant, whereas 4 patients experienced vomiting in the ondansetron group (0% vs. 20% respectively, *p* <0.05) (19).

Moreover, the efficacy of oral aprepitant combined with IV ondansetron compared with ondansetron alone for PONV prophylaxis was studied by *Ham et al.* in patients with ≥ 2 risk factors for PONV and undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery (86). The occurrence of PONV at 24 h was significantly lower in the aprepitant +ondansetron group when compared to ondansetron group (62% vs. 84%, respectively; p = 0.011). However, this difference was not maintained at 48 h.

Dopamine Receptor Antagonists

Dopamine receptor antagonists (e.g., butyrophenones) have successfully been used for prevention and treatment of PONV in female surgical populations. However, effective doses are commonly linked to side effects such as sedation and extrapyramidal symptoms, hence limiting their perioperative use. Joo et al. randomized 150 female patients considered at high-risk of PONV and undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery into 3 groups: normal saline (Group H0), haloperidol 1 mg (H1), or haloperidol 2 mg (H2). The authors reported a significant reduction in PONV occurrence in both haloperidol groups when compared to normal saline (H1 = 29%, H2 = 24% and H0 = 54%, p = 0.001), although higher levels of sedation occurred in patients receiving 2 mg of haloperidol (H2 group) (20). Ekinci et al. compared the incidence of severe PONV in patients undergoing gynecologic procedures and receiving different prophylactic medications such as droperidol (2.5 mg), metoclopramide (10 mg), tropisetron (2.5 mg), ondansetron (4 mg), or saline (control group). The overall PONV incidence was 48%, being the lowest incidence of severe emesis observed in the ondansetron group compared to droperidol, metoclopramide, tropisetron, and saline (15%, 20%, 40%, 25%, and 60% respectively) (14). This finding correlates with previous reports describing the lack of efficacy of low metoclopramide doses for PONV prophylaxis (5).

To our knowledge, only one study has described the PONV incidence in patients receiving alizapride, another dopamine antagonist commonly used in oncology. *Dewinter et al.* found no significant differences in PONV occurrence after the administration of alizapride in patients at high risk of PONV undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery when compared to ondansetron (23).

Other Pharmacological Interventions

The impact of a single prophylactic dose of betamethasone on PONV in patients undergoing breast surgery was assessed by *Olanders et al.* Patients were randomized to receive IV betamethasone or no prophylaxis before surgery. The authors reported no significant intergroup differences in the overall PONV incidence. Nevertheless, severity of nausea between postoperative hours 4–12 was significantly lower in the group of patients receiving betamethasone (23% vs. 50%, p < 0.05) (33).

Considering that preoperative anxiety may play an important role in the onset of PONV, Omran et al. compared the PONV prophylactic effect of oral mirtazapine (30 mg), an antidepressant, to oral ondansetron (16 mg) in 80 patients undergoing mastectomy. Even though patients in the mirtazapine group experienced significantly preoperative anxiety levels, lower no differences were found in overall PONV incidence between groups (31).

In contrast, the short-acting benzodiazepine midazolam may be effective in diminishing PONV, especially when used combined with other antiemetics or as part of a multimodal antiemetic therapy in breast and other cancer-related surgeries (81, 82, 87, 88). A meta-analysis conducted by Grant et al. determined that midazolam was associated with a significant decrease in overall PONV rates as well as when used as rescue antiemetic medication (89). Similarly, Ahn et al. reported that patients medicated with midazolam presented lower incidence of PON, POV, and PONV (RR, 0.45; 95% CI, 0.36–0.57; $I^2 =$ 31%; NNT = 3; n = 7) (90). Although the exact mechanism for the antiemetic action of midazolam remains unknown, it has been proposed that midazolam may decrease dopamine synthesis and release by direct action on the chemoreceptor zone or by blocking adenosine reuptake (91). Although anxiolysis may contribute to the antiemetic effects of midazolam, binding to the Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid (GABA)-benzodiazepine complex reduces 5-HT₃ release and dopaminergic neuronal activity (18, 92, 93).

Kamali et al. conducted a double blind randomized clinical trial to compare the effectiveness of ginger 1 mg (before and after anesthesia) with dexmedetomidine 25 mg (before surgery) in preventing PONV after hysterectomy (94). The group of patients treated with ginger showed a lower incidence of nausea (p = 0.02) and vomiting (p = 0.03) than the dexmedetomidine group within the first 2 h postoperatively.

Beyond this timepoint, there were no differences between groups (94).

NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS FOR POSTOPERATIVE NAUSEA AND VOMITING IN FEMALE SURGICAL POPULATIONS

There are reports describing the use of acupoint electrical stimulation to reduce the incidence of PONV after breast surgery. However, its efficacy remains controversial (95-98). Küçük et al. studied the effect of acupressure on PONV occurrence after gynecological surgery (99). Patients were randomly allocated into three groups: to acupoint point P6 (both wrists) 1 h before surgery, to K-K9 point (both hands) 30 min before the end of surgery, and a control group (routine care). At 24 hours after surgery, patients in the K-K9 group experienced less nausea than the control group (p < 0.05), and less retching than patients in the P6 group (p < 0.05) (99). The results of a recent meta-analysis conducted by Sun et al. showed that non-needle acupoints stimulation also reduced the incidence of PONV in patients at moderate risk of PONV. However, the low quality and limited number of studies included in this meta-analysis did not allow for definite conclusions and recommendations (97).

ANESTHETIC MANAGEMENT AND POSTOPERATIVE NAUSEA AND VOMITING IN FEMALE SURGICAL POPULATIONS

Even though female gender, non-smoking status, past medical history of PONV (or motion sickness) and postoperative use of opioids are recognized as the main risk factors for PONV (34), other secondary variables (e.g., age <50 years, gynecological surgery, laparoscopic surgery) should be considered when determining the overall individual PONV risk (5).

There is a weak association between intraoperative use of opioids and PONV occurrence. However, inhaled anesthesia (i.e., volatile anesthetics and/or nitrous oxide) is considered the main predictor of PONV related to the anesthetic management (level of evidence A1) (5). Inhaled general anesthesia is associated with increased incidence of early PONV (0–2 h after surgery) but has no impact in delayed PONV (2, 100).

Propofol infusion is widely known to improve PONV outcomes in female surgical patients when compared to balanced anesthesia (18, 28). *Kawano et al.* studied the incidence of PONV at 0-2h and 0-24h after gynecological laparoscopic surgery in 126 women. Patients were randomly assigned to receive general anesthesia with either sevoflurane (Group S), propofol (Group P), or a combination of propofol and sevoflurane (Group PS) (18). Immediately after surgery (0-2h) and up to 24h a significantly greater number of patients in

the P and PS groups experienced a complete response when compared to group S (p = 0.001 and p < 0.0005 respectively). Nausea was also more frequent in the Group S than in the other two groups (Group S = 62%, Group P = 29% and Group PS = 21%; p < 0.0005) (18). Likewise, *Bhakta et al.* reported a significant reduction in postoperative emesis with the use of propofol infusion when compared to isoflurane anesthesia in patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery (28).

The use of inhalation anesthetic agents is associated with a dose-dependent rise in PONV prevalence (2, 100). In a retrospective study, *Morita et al.* reviewed 928 patients undergoing breast cancer surgery under inhalation anesthesia (101). Their results showed that the use of desflurane and the duration of anesthesia were independent risks factors for early PONV, whereas Apfel score and duration of anesthesia were considered by the authors independent risks factors for delayed PONV (101).

Dexmedetomidine as part of a TIVA approach or in combination with dexamethasone may improve PONV outcomes in female surgical populations (24, 102). In a randomized, controlled, double-blind trial, *Kwak et al.* demonstrated the efficacy of dexmedetomidine alone and in combination with dexamethasone to prevent PONV when compared to placebo after breast surgery (102). The incidence of PONV was significantly higher in the placebo group compared with the dexmedetomidine group and the dual group during both, at PACU stay (12%, 4%, and 3%, respectively) and within the first 24 h after surgery (70%, 20% and 12%, respectively). They concluded that dexmedetomidine alone or in combination with dexamethasone was equally effective in decreasing the occurrence of PONV in this subset of patients (102).

The antiemetic effect of dexmedetomidine may be mediated by a modulatory action on the post-synaptic α_{2A} receptors acting as heteroreceptors, and reducing the release of 5-HT in the dorsal and median raphe nucleus located in cerebellum and mid-brain pons respectively (103). Other proposed antiemetic mechanisms of dexmedetomidine are the modulatory effect on dopamine release in the nucleus recumbens (104) and the suppression of histaminemediated production of pro-inflammatory interleukine-6 (IL-6) (105).

The incidence of PONV was studied in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery under an opioid-sparing anesthesia technique by *Seki et al.* They randomly assigned 90 patients to receive either general anesthesia alone (group G) or a combination of general anesthesia and epidural block with ropivacaine (group GE). All patients received PONV prophylaxis with dexamethasone and anesthesia maintenance with sevoflurane. Even though patients in the group G received more intra- and postoperative opioids, the authors found no significant difference when comparing PONV incidence among groups (RR:0.53, 95% CI: 0.23–1.23, p = 0.14) (30).

Other opioid-sparing analgesic approaches are the administration of nefopam, a centrally acting analgesic mostly used for neuropathic pain management, and gabapentin. *Chung-Sik Oh et al.* randomized 94 patients to receive either nefopam- or fentanyl-based PCA for pain management after gynecological laparoscopic surgery under total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA). The use of nefopam was associated with a significant decrease in PONV occurrence when compared to fentanyl (31.9% vs. 57.4% respectively, p = 0.022) (27). Likewise, *Khan et al.* reported a significant decreased PONV incidence after oral gabapentin (600 mg) compared to placebo in patients undergoing diagnostic gynecological laparoscopy surgery (32.9% vs. 64.3% respectively, p < 0.001) (29).

The development of Enhance Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) pathways for different surgical specialties, including cancer breast surgery, has led to a reduction in the prevalence of PONV, although the number of studies remains limited (106, 107). The growing use of multimodal perioperative analgesia strategies in ERAS protocols contributes to an effective management of postoperative pain with a considerable reduction in the amount of perioperative opioid use through the combination of nonopioid pharmacological management and regional anesthesia techniques, which consequently, decreased the prevalence of PONV (106, 108, 109). A recent retrospective study by Chiu et al. clearly showed a drastic reduction in PONV occurrence after the initiation of ERAS pathways for total mastectomy compared with a non-ERAS cohort (28% vs. 50%, respectively; p<0.001) (107). The use of regional nerve blocks (e.g., pectoral blocks or PECS, paravertebral, erector spinae plane block, and interfascial plane block) as a central component of multimodal opioid-free perioperative analgesia has had a significant impact on the frequency of PONV after breast surgery (110–114).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Despite the efforts made by health care providers and researchers to reduce the occurrence of PONV in female patients at high risk, breast and gynecological surgery constitute additional risks factors for PONV, with an incidence that reaches 30–68% in the first 24 postoperative hours even in patients who have received prophylactic antiemetic treatment. Even though published data is limited, other variables such as sex hormone levels (especially estrogens) in pre and post-menopausal women, preoperative psychosocial status, pharmacogenomic pleomorphisms, and ethnicity, which can be considered independent risk factors must be considered when assessing the risk of PONV in female surgical populations.

Overall risk stratification and increasing compliance with the consensus for PONV management may positively influence clinical outcomes. While novel drugs are continuously under research, future randomized clinical trials should aim to identify both pharmacological and non-pharmacological alternatives that could potentially decrease the current threshold of PONV incidence in female surgical patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ME-V performed literature search, worked on the structural design and methodology, and wrote and authored the manuscript. JF-D and AU collaborated equally in developing the methodology, collecting the data, and writing the manuscript. SB provided the publication

REFERENCES

- Pierre S, Benais H, Pouymayou J. Apfel's simplified score may favourably predict the risk of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Can J Anaesth.* (2002) 49:237. doi: 10.1007/BF03020521
- Apfel C, Heidrich F, Jukar-Rao S, Jalota L, Hornuss C, Whelan R, et al. Evidence-based analysis of risk factors for postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Br J Anaesth*. (2012) 109:742–53. doi: 10.1093/bja/aes276
- Smith CA, Ruth-Sahd L. Reducing the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting begins with risk screening: an evaluation of the evidence. J Perianesth Nurs. (2016) 31:158–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2015.03.011
- Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, Chung F, Diemunsch P, Habib AS, et al. Fourth consensus guidelines for the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Anesth Analg.* (2019) 131:411–48. doi: 10.1213/ANE.000000000004833
- Gan TJ, Diemunsch P, Habib AS, Kovac A, Kranke P, Meyer TA, et al. Consensus guidelines for the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Anesth Analg.* (2014) 118:85–113. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000000002
- Conti D, Ballo P, Boccalini R, Boccherini A, Cantini S, Venni A, et al. The effect of patient sex on the incidence of early adverse events in a population of elderly patients. *Anaesth Intensive Care.* (2014) 42:455– 9. doi: 10.1177/0310057X1404200405
- Lee J-W, Kim S-K, Kim D-C, Han YJ, Ko S-H. The effects of female hormones on postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2008) 54:58– 62. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2008.54.1.58
- Panditrao AM, Panditrao MM, Panditrao MM, Azher I. A prospective study to compare the incidence of post-operative nausea, vomiting (PONV) in female patients undergoing surgical procedures under general anaesthesia during proliferative and secretory phase of menstrual cycle. *Int J Students' Res.* (2011) 1:51–6. doi: 10.5549/IJSR.1.2.51-56
- Šimurina T, Mraovic B, Skitarelić N, Andabaka T, Sonicki Z. Influence of the menstrual cycle on the incidence of nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic gynecological surgery: a pilot study. J Clin Anesth. (2012) 24:185–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2011.07.011
- Matchock RL, Levine ME, Gianaros PJ, Stern RM. Susceptibility to nausea and motion sickness as a function of the menstrual cycle. *Women's Health Issues.* (2008) 18:328–35. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2008. 01.006
- 11. Lee JW, Lee JS, Kim JH, Kim YJ, Woo JH, Kim DY, et al. Influence of the phase of menstrual cycle on postoperative nausea and vomiting after breast cancer surgery. *Ewha Medical J.* (2018) 41:19–23. doi: 10.12771/emj.2018.41.1.19
- 12. Deshpande S, van Asselt A, Tomini F, Armstrong N, Allen A, Noake C, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) checklist. Rapid fetal fibronectin testing to predict preterm birth in women with symptoms of premature labour: a systematic review and cost analysis. NIHR Journals Library. (2013).
- D'souza N, Swami M, Bhagwat S. Comparative study of dexamethasone and ondansetron for prophylaxis of postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic gynecologic surgery. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2011) 113:124– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2010.11.022

concept, editorial advice, and supervised the production. All authors reviewed the final manuscript before submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge Sarah Kozik, Melanie Munoz, and Jillian Tishko for their writing and editing collaboration (they provided authorization to be named on this publication).

- Ekinci O, Malat I, Işitmangil G, Aydin N, A. randomized comparison of droperidol, metoclopramide, tropisetron, and ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* (2011) 71:59–65. doi: 10.1159/000320747
- Park S, Cho E. A randomized, double-blind trial of palonosetron compared with ondansetron in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynaecological laparoscopic surgery. J Int Med Res. (2011) 39:399– 407. doi: 10.1177/147323001103900207
- 16. Park S, Cho EJ. A randomized controlled trial of two different interventions for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: total intravenous anaesthesia using propofol and remifentanil versus prophylactic palonosetron with inhalational anaesthesia using sevoflurane-nitrous oxide. *J Int Med Res.* (2011) 39:1808–15. doi: 10.1177/147323001103900523
- Kasagi Y, Hayashida M, Sugasawa Y, Kikuchi I, Yamaguchi K, Okutani R, et al. Antiemetic effect of naloxone in combination with dexamethasone and droperidol in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery. *J Anesth.* (2013) 27:879–84. doi: 10.1007/s00540-013-1630-8
- Kawano H, Ohshita N, Katome K, Kadota T, Kinoshita M, Matsuoka Y, et al. Effects of a novel method of anesthesia combining propofol and volatile anesthesia on the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecological surgery. *Braz J Anesthesiol.* (2016) 66:12–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bjane.2014.07.005
- Soga T, Kume K, Kakuta N, Hamaguchi E, Tsutsumi R, Kawanishi R, et al. Fosaprepitant versus ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients who undergo gynecologic abdominal surgery with patient-controlled epidural analgesia: a prospective, randomized, doubleblind study. J Anesth. (2015) 29:696–701. doi: 10.1007/s00540-015-2006-z
- Joo J, Park YG, Baek J, Moon YE. Haloperidol dose combined with dexamethasone for PONV prophylaxis in high-risk patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery: a prospective, randomized, doubleblind, dose-response and placebo-controlled study. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2015) 15:99. doi: 10.1186/s12871-015-0081-1
- 21. Yang X-Y, Xiao J, Chen Y-H, Wang Z-T, Wang H-L, He D-H, et al. Dexamethasone alone vs in combination with transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation or tropisetron for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in gynaecological patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery. *BJA*. (2015) 115:883–9. doi: 10.1093/bja/aev352
- 22. Bang Y-S, Kim YU, Oh D, Shin EY, Park SK, A. randomized, double-blind trial evaluating the efficacy of palonosetron with total intravenous anesthesia using propofol and remifentanil for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynecologic surgery. *J Anesth.* (2016) 30:935–40. doi: 10.1007/s00540-016-2249-3
- 23. Dewinter G, Teunkens A, Vermeulen K, Devroe S, Van Hemelrijck J, Meuleman C, et al. Alizapride and ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynaecological surgery: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled noninferiority study. *EJA*. (2016) 33:96–103. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000288
- Geng Z-Y, Liu Y-F, Wang S-S, Wang D-X. Intra-operative dexmedetomidine reduces early postoperative nausea but not vomiting in adult patients after gynaecological laparoscopic surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *EJA*. (2016) 33:761–6. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000491

- 25. Lee S-H, Kim J-D, Park S-A, Oh C-S, Kim S-H. Effects of μ-Opioid receptor gene polymorphism on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing general anesthesia with remifentanil: double blinded randomized trial. J Korean Med Sci. (2015) 30:651– 7. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2015.30.5.651
- 26. Kim SH, Oh CS, Lee SJ. Efficacy of palonosetron and ramosetron on postoperative nausea and vomiting related to intravenous patient-controlled analgesia with opioids after gynecological laparoscopic surgery (doubleblinded prospective randomized controlled trial). J Anesth. (2015) 29:585– 92. doi: 10.1007/s00540-015-1981-4
- 27. Oh CS, Jung E, Lee SJ, Kim SH. Effect of nefopam- versus fentanylbased patient-controlled analgesia on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery: a prospective double-blind randomized controlled trial. *Curr Med Res Opin.* (2015) 31:1599–607. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2015.1058251
- Bhakta P, Ghosh BR, Singh U, Govind PS, Gupta A, Kapoor KS, et al. Incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting following gynecological laparoscopy: A comparison of standard anesthetic technique and propofol infusion. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Taiwanica*. (2016) 54:108–13. doi: 10.1016/j.aat.2016.10.002
- Khan MA, Siddiqi KJ, Khan MS. Prophylactic use of gabapentin to reduce postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing diagnostic gynecological laparoscopy. *Anaesth Pain Intensive Care.* (2017) 21:19–24.
- 30. Seki H, Furumoto K, Sato M, Kagoya A, Hashimoto H, Sekiguchi Y, et al. Effects of epidural anesthesia on postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic gynecological surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *J Anesth.* (2018) 32:608–15. doi: 10.1007/s00540-018-2525-5
- Omran HASA, Nasr DAM. Effect of premedication with mirtazapine versus ondansetron on postoperative nausea and vomiting in breast surgery. *Egpt J Anesth.* (2011) 27:135–9. doi: 10.1016/j.egja.2011.06.003
- Voigt M, Fröhlich CW, Waschke KF, Lenz C, Göbel U, Kerger H. Prophylaxis of postoperative nausea and vomiting in elective breast surgery. *J Clin Anesth.* (2011) 23:461–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2011.01.005
- Olanders KJ, Lundgren GA, Johansson AM. Betamethasone in prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting following breast surgery. J Clin Anesth. (2014) 26:461–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2014.02.006
- Apfel CC, Läärä E, Koivuranta M, Greim CA, Roewer N. A simplified risk score for predicting postoperative nausea and vomiting: conclusions from cross-validations between two centers. *Anesthesiology.* (1999) 91:693– 700. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199909000-00022
- Koivuranta M, Läärä E, Snåre L, Alahuhta S. A survey of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Anaesthe.* (1997) 52:443– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.1997.117-az0113.x
- 36. Krieser KA, Riley III JB, Baus JE, Hoffman JT, Sullivan JN, PONV. Prophylaxis failure disproportionately affects female patients, despite intraoperative computerized decision support guidance. *Graduate Med Edu Res J.* (2020) 2:6. doi: 10.32873/unmc.dc.gmerj.2.1.091
- 37. Tabrizi S, Malhotra V, Turnbull ZA, Goode V. Implementation of postoperative nausea and vomiting guidelines for female adult patients undergoing anesthesia during gynecologic and breast surgery in an ambulatory setting. J Perianesth Nurs. (2019) 34:851–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2018.10.006
- Cohen MM, Duncan PG, DeBoer DP, Tweed WA. The postoperative interview: assessing risk factors for nausea and vomiting. *Anesth Analg.* (1994) 78:7–16. doi: 10.1213/00000539-199401000-00004
- Reihner E, Grunditz R, Giesecke K, Gustafsson L. Postoperative nausea and vomiting after breast surgery: efficacy of prophylactic ondansetron and droperidol in a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2000) 17:197–203. doi: 10.1097/00003643-200003000-00012
- Layeeque R, Siegel E, Kass R, Henry-Tillman RS, Colvert M, Mancino A, et al. Prevention of nausea and vomiting following breast surgery. *Am J Surg.* (2006) 191:767–72. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2005.07.040
- ODDBY-MUHRBECK E, Jakobsson J, Andersson L, Askergren J. Postoperative nausea and vomiting. A comparison between intravenous and inhalation anaesthesia in breast surgery. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*. (1994) 38:52–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.1994.tb03837.x
- 42. Hammas B, Thörn SE, Wattwil M. Superior prolonged antiemetic prophylaxis with a four-drug multimodal regimen-comparison

with propofol or placebo. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2002) 46:232–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.2002.460302.x

- 43. Wattwil M, Thörn SE, Lövqvist Å, Wattwil L, Gupta A, Liljegren G. Dexamethasone is as effective as ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting following breast surgery. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2003) 47:823–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.2003.00172.x
- Read M, James M. Immediate postoperative complications following gynaecological surgery. *Obstetrician Gynaecologist.* (2002) 4:29–35. doi: 10.1576/toag.2002.4.1.29
- 45. Tseng L-H, Liou S-C, Chang T-C, Tsai S-C, Soong Y-K, Wong S-Y, et al. Randomized blinded study of the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in women after major gynecologic laparoscopic surgery. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2006) 13:413–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2006.05.003
- 46. Harmon D, Ryan M, Kelly A, Bowen M. Acupressure and prevention of nausea and vomiting during and after spinal anaesthesia for caesarean section. Br J Anaesth. (2000) 84:463– 7. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.bja.a013471
- 47. Wesmiller SW, Bender CM, Sereika SM, Ahrendt G, Bonaventura M, Bovbjerg DH, et al. Association between serotonin transport polymorphisms and postdischarge nausea and vomiting in women following breast cancer surgery. Oncol Nurs Forum. (2014) 41:195–202. doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.195-202
- Pataky A, Kitz D, Andrews R, Lecky J. Nausea and vomiting following ambulatory surgery: are all procedures created equal? *Anesth Analg.* (1988) 67:163. doi: 10.1213/00000539-198802001-00163
- Beattie WS, Lindblad T, Buckley DN, Forrest JB. The incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in women undergoing laparoscopy is influenced by the day of menstrual cycle. *Can J Anaesthesia*. (1991) 38:298– 302. doi: 10.1007/BF03007618
- Zou L, Miao S, Wang L, Wang G. Effects of menstrual cycle on nausea and vomiting after general anesthesia. J Anesth. (2020) 34:519– 26. doi: 10.1007/s00540-020-02781-z
- Eberhart L, Morin A, Georgieff M. The menstruation cycle in the postoperative phase. its effect of the incidence of nausea and vomiting. Anaesthesist. (2000) 49:532–5. doi: 10.1007/s001010070095
- Kudach C, Dunwoody C, Wesmiller S. The relationship of age and postoperative pain in women after surgery for breast cancer. *Pain Manag Nurs.* (2018) 19:348–53. doi: 10.1016/j.pmn.2017.12.002
- 53. Medina-Diaz-Cortés G, Brancaccio-Pérez IV, Esparza-Estrada I, Barbosa-Camacho FJ, Fuentes-Orozco C, González-Hernández PG, et al. Differences in postoperative pain, nausea, and vomiting after elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy in premenopausal and postmenopausal mexican women. *World J Surg.* (2022) 46:356–61. doi: 10.1007/s00268-021-06367-y
- Kakugawa Y, Minami Y, Tateno H, Inoue H, Fujiya T. Relation of serum levels of estrogen and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate to hormone receptor status among postmenopausal women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer.* (2007) 14:269–76. doi: 10.2325/jbcs.14.269
- Bakshi SG, Jibhkate B, Sareen R, Badwe R. Nausea and vomiting after breast cancer surgery, and relationship with tumor receptor status. J Anesth. (2012) 26:187–95. doi: 10.1007/s00540-011-1274-5
- Montgomery GH, Schnur JB, Erblich J, Diefenbach MA, Bovbjerg DH. Presurgery psychological factors predict pain, nausea, and fatigue one week after breast cancer surgery. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. (2010) 39:1043– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2009.11.318
- Montgomery GH, Bovbjerg DH. Presurgery distress and specific response expectancies predict postsurgery outcomes in surgery patients confronting breast cancer. *Health Psychol.* (2004) 23:381. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.23.4.381
- Schnur JB, Montgomery GH, Hallquist MN, Goldfarb AB, Silverstein JH, Weltz CR, et al. Anticipatory psychological distress in women scheduled for diagnostic and curative breast cancer surgery. *Int J Behav Med.* (2008) 15:21–8. doi: 10.1007/BF03003070
- Kirsch I. Response expectancy as a determinant of experience and behavior. Am Psychol. (1985) 40:1189. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.40. 11.1189
- 60. Hofman M, Morrow GR, Roscoe JA, Hickok JT, Mustian KM, Moore DF, et al. Cancer patients' expectations of experiencing treatment-related side effects: a university of rochester cancer center-community clinical oncology

program study of 938 patients from community practices. *Cancer.* (2004) 101:851–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.20423

- da Silva H, Sousa A, Guimarães G, Slullitel A, Ashmawi H. Does previous chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting predict postoperative nausea and vomiting? *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2015) 59:1145–53. doi: 10.1111/aas.12552
- 62. Oddby-Muhrbeck E, Öbrink E, Eksborg S, Rotstein S, Lönnqvist P. Is there an association between PONV and chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting? *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2013) 57:749–53. doi: 10.1111/aas.12053
- 63. Fasching P, Kollmannsberger B, Strissel P, Niesler B, Engel J, Kreis H, et al. Polymorphisms in the novel serotonin receptor subunit gene HTR3C show different risks for acute chemotherapy-induced vomiting after anthracycline chemotherapy. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2008) 134:1079–86. doi: 10.1007/s00432-008-0387-1
- Rueffert H, Thieme V, Wallenborn J, Lemnitz N, Bergmann A, Rudlof K, et al. Do variations in the 5-HT3A and 5-HT3B serotonin receptor genes (HTR3A and HTR3B) influence the occurrence of postoperative vomiting? *Anesth Analg.* (2009) 109:1442–7. doi: 10.1213/ane.0b013e3181b2359b
- Zhang W, Yuan J, Kan Q, Zhang L, Chang Y, Wang Z. Study of the OPRM1 A118G genetic polymorphism associated with postoperative nausea and vomiting induced by fentanyl intravenous analgesia. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2011) 77:33–9.
- 66. Wesmiller SW, Henker RA, Sereika SM, Donovan HS, Meng L, Gruen GS, et al. The association of CYP2D6 genotype and postoperative nausea and vomiting in orthopedic trauma patients. *Biol Res Nurs.* (2013) 15:382–9. doi: 10.1177/109980041 2449181
- Duncan NW, Wiebking C, Tiret B, Marjańska M, Hayes DJ, Lyttleton O, et al. Glutamate concentration in the medial prefrontal cortex predicts restingstate cortical-subcortical functional connectivity in humans. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e60312. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060312
- Laugsand EA, Fladvad T, Skorpen F, Maltoni M, Kaasa S, Fayers P, et al. Clinical and genetic factors associated with nausea and vomiting in cancer patients receiving opioids. *Eur J Cancer.* (2011) 47:1682– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.04.014
- Wesmiller SW, Sereika SM, Bender CM, Bovbjerg D, Ahrendt G, Bonaventura M, et al. Exploring the multifactorial nature of postoperative nausea and vomiting in women following surgery for breast cancer. *Autonomic Neurosci.* (2017) 202:102–7. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.09.017
- Candiotti KA, Yang Z, Buric D, Arheart K, Zhang Y, Rodriguez Y, et al. Catechol-o-methyltransferase polymorphisms predict opioid consumption in postoperative pain. *Anesth Analg.* (2014) 119:1194–200. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000000411
- Zubieta J-K. Mu Opioid Receptor Genetic Variation and Heroin Addiction. Biol Psychiatry. (2015) 78:439–40. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.002
- Ugochukwu O, Adaobi A, Ewah R, Obioma O. Postoperative nausea and vomiting in a gynecological and obstetrical population in South Eastern Nigeria. *Pan Afr Med J.* (2010) 7:6. doi: 10.4314/pamj.v7i1.69111
- Rodseth RN, Gopalan PD, Cassimjee HM, Goga S. Reduced incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in black South Africans and its utility for a modified risk scoring system. *Anesth Analg.* (2010) 110:1591– 4. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181da9005
- 74. Alli A, Omar S, Tsang S, Naik B. The effect of ethnicity on the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in moderate to high risk patients undergoing general anesthesia in South Africa: a controlled observational study. *Middle East J Anaesthesiol.* (2017) 24:119.
- 75. White PF, Sacan O, Nuangchamnong N, Sun T, Eng MR. The relationship between patient risk factors and early versus late postoperative emetic symptoms. *Anesth Analg.* (2008) 107:459–63. doi: 10.1213/ane.0b013e31817aa6e4
- Elvir-Lazo OL, White PF, Yumul R, Eng HC. Management strategies for the treatment and prevention of postoperative/postdischarge nausea and vomiting: an updated review. *F1000Res.* (2020) 9:F1000. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.21832.1
- Ormel G, Romundstad L, Lambert-Jensen P, Stubhaug A. Dexamethasone has additive effect when combined with ondansetron and droperidol for treatment of established PONV. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2011) 55:1196– 205. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2011.02536.x

- Gan TJ, Meyer TA, Apfel CC, Chung F, Davis PJ, Habib AS, et al. Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia guidelines for the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *Anesth Analg.* (2007) 105:1615– 28. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000295230.55439.f4
- Habib AS, Gan TJ. Evidence-based management of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a review. Can J Anesth. (2004) 51:326– 41. doi: 10.1007/BF03018236
- Lee B, Kim K, Suh DH, Shin H-J, No JH, Lee JR, et al. Efficacy of singledose and 2-dose intravenous administration of ramosetron in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic gynecologic operation: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech.* (2017) 27:183–8. doi: 10.1097/SLE.000000000000399
- Hong J-M, Han Y-H, Lee D, Hwang BY, Baik J, Cho AR, et al. Comparison of efficacy between palonosetron-midazolam combination and palonosetron alone for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing breast surgery and patient controlled analgesia: a prospective, randomized, double-blind study: A CONSORT-compliant study. *Medicine*. (2021) 100:26438. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000026438
- 82. Kim DS, Koo GH, Kang H, Baek CW, Jung YH, Woo YC, et al. The antiemetic effect of midazolam or/and ondansetron added to intravenous patient controlled analgesia in patients of pelviscopic surgery. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2012) 62:343. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2012.62.4.343
- Stoltz R, Parisi S, Shah A, Macciocchi A. Pharmacokinetics, metabolism and excretion of intravenous [I4C]-palonosetron in healthy human volunteers. *Biopharm Drug Dispos*. (2004) 25:329–37. doi: 10.1002/bdd.410
- Liu M, Zhang H, Du B-X, Xu F-Y, Zou Z, Sui B, et al. Neurokininl receptor antagonists in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2015) 94:e762. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000762
- Gesztesi Z, Scuderi PE, White PF, Wright W, Wender RH, D'Angelo R, et al. Substance P (Neurokinin-1) antagonist prevents postoperative vomiting after abdominal hysterectomy procedures. *Anesthesiology*. (2000) 93:931– 7. doi: 10.1097/0000542-200010000-00009
- Ham SY, Shim YH, Kim EH, Son MJ, Park WS, Lee JS. Aprepitant for antiemesis after laparoscopic gynaecological surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *EJA*. (2016) 33:90–5. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000242
- Huh B, Jung S, White W, Jeon Y. Anti-emetic effect of midazolam added to morphine patient-controlled analgesia after total abdominal hysterectomy. *Anaesth Intensive Care.* (2010) 38:481–5. doi: 10.1177/0310057X1003800311
- Ross JE, Vertosick E, Long M, Cansino C, Assel M, Twersky R. Midazolam's effect on post operative nausea and vomiting and discharge times in outpatients undergoing cancer related surgery. *AANA J.* (2019) 87:179.
- Grant MC, Kim J, Page AJ, Hobson D, Wick E, Wu CL. The effect of intravenous midazolam on postoperative nausea and vomiting: a meta-analysis. *Anesthe Analg.* (2016) 122:656– 63. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000000941
- Ahn EJ, Kang H, Choi GJ, Baek CW, Jung YH, Woo YC. The Effectiveness of Midazolam for Preventing Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Anesth Analg.* (2016) 122:664– 76. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000001062
- 91. Rodola F. Midazolam as an anti-emetic. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2006) 10:121.
- Florio TD. The use of midazolam for persistent postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anaesth Intensive Care. (1992) 20:383– 6. doi: 10.1177/0310057X9202000324
- Racke K, Reimann A, Schwörer H, Kilbinger H. Regulation of 5-HT release from enterochromaffin cells. *Behav Brain Res.* (1995) 73:83– 7. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(96)00075-7
- Kamali A, Beigi S, Shokrpour M, Pazuki S. The efficacy of ginger and doxedetomidine in reducing postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing abdominal hysterectomy. *Altern Ther Health Med.* (2020) 26:28– 33.
- Gu J. Wang G-n, Li M-m. Clinical observation of HANS for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after modified radical mastectomy Heilongjiang. *Med J.* (2009) 33:604–6.
- 96. Alcaraz R, Monerris M, Jiménez-Capel Y, Moret E, Janeiro M, Vila P. Effectiveness and safety of continuous stimulation without needles with STIPER[®] puncture in the prophylaxis of postoperative

nausea and vomiting in elective breast surgery: 1AP7-6. (*EJA*). (2014) 31:23. doi: 10.1097/00003643-201406001-00065

- 97. Sun R, Dai W, Liu Y, Liu C, Liu Y, Gong Y, et al. Nonneedle acupoint stimulation for prevention of nausea and vomiting after breast surgery: a meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2019) 9:14713. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000014713
- Ao L, Shi J, Bai Y, Zhang S, Gan J. Effects of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation on perioperative immune function and postoperative analgesia in patients undergoing radical mastectomy: a randomized controlled trial. *Exp Ther Med.* (2021) 21:1. doi: 10.3892/etm.2021.9615
- 99. Küçük E, Bülbül T. The effects of acupressure on nausea, vomiting, and vital signs in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *J Perianesth Nurs*. (2021). doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2020.10.017
- 100. Apfel C, Kranke P, Katz M, Goepfert C, Papenfuss T, Rauch S, et al. Volatile anaesthetics may be the main cause of early but not delayed postoperative vomiting: a randomized controlled trial of factorial design. *Br J Anaesth.* (2002) 88:659–68. doi: 10.1093/bja/88.5.659
- 101. Morita T, Yamamoto M, Sakamoto A. What are the factors affecting postoperative nausea and vomiting following breast cancer surgery with inhalation anesthesia? *JNMS*. (2020) 88:418–22. doi: 10.1272/jnms.JNMS.2021_88-510
- 102. Kwak H, Chang YJ, Lee KC, Jung WS, Kwon S, Jo YY. Antiemetic efficacy of dexmedetomidine versus dexmedetomidine-dexamethasone combination in patients undergoing breast surgery. J IntMed Res. (2019) 47:5060– 9. doi: 10.1177/0300060519872031
- 103. Hopwood S, Stamford J. Noradrenergic modulation of serotonin release in rat dorsal and median raphe nuclei via α1 and α2A adrenoceptors. *Neuropharmacol.* (2001) 41:433–42. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(01)00087-9
- 104. Whittington RA, Virág L. Dexmedetomidine-induced decreases in accumbal dopamine in the rat are partly mediated via the locus coeruleus. Anesth Analge. (2006) 102:448–55. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000195234.07413.5a
- 105. Yang D, Hong JH. Dexmedetomidine modulates histamine-induced Ca2+ signaling and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. *Korean J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2015) 19:413–20. doi: 10.4196/kjpp.2015.19.5.413
- Dumestre DO, Webb CE, Temple-Oberle C. Improved recovery experience achieved for women undergoing implant-based breast reconstruction using an enhanced recovery after surgery model. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* (2017) 139:550–9. doi: 10.1097/PRS.00000000003056
- 107. Chiu C, Aleshi P, Esserman LJ, Inglis-Arkell C, Yap E, Whitlock EL, et al. Improved analgesia and reduced post-operative nausea and vomiting after implementation of an enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) pathway for total mastectomy. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2018) 18:41. doi: 10.1186/s12871-018-0505-9
- 108. Temple-Oberle C, Shea-Budgell MA, Tan M, Semple JL, Schrag C, Barreto M, et al. Consensus review of optimal perioperative

care in breast reconstruction: enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) society recommendations. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* (2017) 139:1056e-71e. doi: 10.1097/PRS.00000000003242

- 109. Astanehe A, Temple-Oberle C, Nielsen M, de Haas W, Lindsay R, Matthews J, et al. An enhanced recovery after surgery pathway for microvascular breast reconstruction is safe and effective. *Prs-Glob Open*. (2018) 6:1634. doi: 10.1097/GOX.000000000001634
- 110. Tripathy S, Mandal I, Rao PB, Panda A, Mishra T, Kar M. Opioid-free anesthesia for breast cancer surgery: a comparison of ultrasound guided paravertebral and pectoral nerve blocks. a randomized controlled trial. *J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol.* (2019) 35:475. doi: 10.4103/joacp.JOACP_364_18
- Kim Y, Oh C, Youn S, Yun S, Park H, Lee W, et al. Thoracic interfascial plane block for multimodal analgesia after breast lumpectomy. *Anesth Pain Med.* (2019) 14:222–9. doi: 10.17085/apm.2019.14.2.222
- 112. Khemka R, Chakrborty A, Agrawal S, Ahmed R. Is COMBIPECS the answer to perioperative analgesia for breast surgery? a double blinded randomized controlled trial. *Indian J Anaesth*. (2019) 63:530. doi: 10.4103/ija.IJA_222_19
- 113. Bell A, Ali O, Robinson A, Aggarwal A, Blundell M, Townend A, et al. The role of pectoral nerve blocks in a day-case mastectomy service: a prospective cohort study. Ann Med Surg. (2019) 48:65– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2019.10.019
- 114. Huang W, Wang W, Xie W, Chen Z, Liu Y. Erector spinae plane block for postoperative analgesia in breast and thoracic surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Anesth. (2020) 66:109900. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2020.109900

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Echeverria-Villalobos, Fiorda-Diaz, Uribe and Bergese. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Andrea Rosati, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY Majid Moshirfar, University of Utah, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhiyi Zuo zz3c@virginia.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 25 May 2022 ACCEPTED 11 July 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

CITATION

Zuo Z (2022) Have we forgotten something when caring for patients for surgery? *Front. Med.* 9:952893. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.952893

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zuo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Have we forgotten something when caring for patients for surgery?

Zhiyi Zuo*

Department of Anesthesiology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States

KEYWORDS

family members, neurobehavioral status, surgery, anxiety, interventions

Introduction

An astonishing number of patients will have surgery each year in the USA and the world. Among them, 20 to 40% of patients will suffer from cognitive dysfunction during the hospitalization and about 10% of elderly patients will have cognitive dysfunction months later (1, 2). Similarly, 10 to 60% of elderly patients will develop postoperative delirium (3). Patients suffering from postoperative delirium or cognitive dysfunction have a poor outcome including longer hospitalization and a higher rate of mortality and leaving the job market (1, 2). Thus, postoperative delirium and cognitive dysfunction are very significant issues.

Undoubtedly, a cognition uncompromised patient for surgery will be anxious during the perioperative period. Over-anxiety and other unhealthy neuropsychological activities may negatively affect the outcome of patients. For example, patients with depression symptoms have a higher incidence of postoperative delirium (4). Also, patients with postoperative cognitive dysfunction tend to have higher Beck depression inventory scores (P = 0.089) (2). However, the neuropsychological status of patients is not evaluated before the surgery in current practice. This evaluation is not performed in the majority of studies aiming to determine the outcome of surgical patients. Understandably, measures to improve neuropsychological status during the perioperative period have not been routinely applied to patients. However, the importance of the pre-surgery screening for postoperative delirium and cognitive dysfunction has been emphasized by an expert panel from the American Society of Anesthesiologists. The interventions recommended by this panel are general measures including reducing the use of medications that may contribute to the development of these postoperative cognitive disorders and providing a familiar environment as much as possible (5). These efforts are the initial steps to improve perioperative brain health for patients with surgery. In addition, a checklist targeting 8 areas before surgery has been proposed by the "Strong for Surgery" program that is now sponsored by the American College of Surgeons. Among the 8 areas, two areas, screening the risk for delirium and prehabilitation, are important elements for perioperative brain health.

Potential effects on the relatives of patients with surgery

Obviously, patients for surgery are not in isolation. They have family members and friends. The consequences of surgery on the family members and close friends of surgery patients have been largely unknown. Neurobiologically, behaviors and feelings can be "contagious." Itch and pain sensation can be transmitted to observers (6, 7). Stress responses are transmitted to subjects that are not exposed to the initial stress stimuli (8). Familiarity is an important factor for the transmission of the behaviors and feelings (7, 8). Interestingly, consolation, a behavior to comfort the injured or distressed individual, occurs in animals. This behavior toward distressed subjects is oxytocin-dependent and involves anterior cingulate cortex in prairie vole (8). The distress was caused by separation, loud tone and foot shocks in that study. Our recent study has shown that consolation occurs from cage-mates toward individuals with surgery in mice. This behavior reduces the anxiety of surgery mice. The interaction between surgery mice and non-surgery mice increases the anxiety of non-surgery mice. The orexin signaling in the paraventricular thalamic nucleus may play a critical role in the consolation and anxious behaviors of non-surgery mice (9). These basic science studies have shown the transmission of behaviors and anxiety among animals.

Humans are highly social and have a much more complex system for communication and interaction. Undoubtedly, family members, especially the close family members of patients for surgery, will be anxious, particularly when the patients will have a major surgery (10). Consolation and care of the family members toward the patients with surgery will likely have a positive effect on the recovery of the patients. Anxiety induces physiological responses and has a detrimental effect on patients with various diseases (11). However, the effects of anxiety and other negative psycho-behaviors of family members on their health are rarely studied. The influence of potential negative interaction between patients and family members in the health of both parties and surgery outcome is not known. Interestingly, non-surgery cage-mates of mice with surgery develop learning and memory impairment, similar to the presentation of mice with surgery. Surgery mice and their non-surgery cage-mates have increased inflammatory cytokines in their brain (12). Although the mechanisms for the impaired learning and memory in the non-surgery cagemates are not known, neuroinflammation is known to impair learning and memory and is a major pathological process for postoperative delirium and cognitive dysfunction (2, 13). Similarly, a population-based study has shown that spousal caregivers of a patient with incident dementia have a sixfold increase in the hazard for incident dementia later in life compared to others whose spouses are not demented (14). Also, spousal caregivers of patients with dementia have a greater cognitive decline than spouse caregivers of nondementia patients (15). Anxiety and stress may be contributing factors for the findings in the spouses (14, 15). Thus, reducing anxiety and stress is a possible approach to improve the brain health of these spouses. These studies illustrate an important and largely untouched field in perioperative medicine, the health of patients' family members and close friends, and the effects of their interaction with patients on the outcome of patients after surgery. In supporting the potential of these effects, a recent study has shown that the quality of life of patients with stem cell transplantation is correlated with the anxiety and depression of their family caregivers (16).

Current practice to reduce anxiety of patients with surgery and their family members

Effective communication and frequent updates on surgery progress are good practices to reduce the anxiety and stress of patients with surgery and their relatives. Excellent support from the social community including friends may prepare the patients for better recovery and family members for less stress. Many of these practices are in place for patients with surgery. Advanced training for perioperative care providers on effective communications and consolation skills will be important elements to improve the wellbeing of the patients for surgery and their family members.

TABLE 1 Proposed changes in evaluating and preparing patients for surgery.

Present model

Patient is evaluated before surgery to optimize cardiac and pulmonary functions for surgery.

Patient may be evaluated by acute pain service for pain management.

New model

Patient is evaluated before surgery to optimize cardiac and pulmonary functions for surgery.

Patient is evaluated by PEBS to optimize brain health of patients and family members for surgery.

Patient may be evaluated by acute pain service for pain management. Patient will be followed up by PEBS for neuropsychological

management.

Perioperative care providers have additional training on effective communications and consolation

Proposed measures to improve the outcome of patients with surgery and their family members and relevant discussion

Additional work can be done to better prepare the patients and their family for surgery. It is important to evaluate the patients and family members to identify factors that increase anxiety and stress and to mitigate these factors. Consolation toward the patients with surgery and their family members should be part of the practice of health care providers. More importantly, applying appropriate interventions and programs to improve the neuropsychological status should be incorporated into the perioperative care. Measures to improve brain functions, such as environmental enrichment, should be applied. A multidisciplinary team focusing on reducing anxiety, distress and other negative psycho-behaviors and improving brain functions should be formed for patients with surgery, especially for those at high risks for postoperative neurocognitive disorders. The team members should include the anesthesiologist, surgeon, neuropsychological specialist, and social worker. The team can be named perioperative enhancing brain-health service (PEBS) (Table 1). This practice will be similar to that of the acute pain service that was not provided routinely 30 years ago. Finally, close follow-up of surgery patients and their family conditions after surgery should be performed by PEBS. To achieve the goals of PEBS, PEBS consultation for those patients who will require significant care from the family members after surgery or are at a high risk for developing postoperative neurocognitive disorders should be requested immediately after the decision for surgery has been made to give PEBS enough time to work with the patients and their family members. Preoperative screening, preparations and interventions can be performed in the form of family-based neurocognitive prehabilitation to increase the resiliency of patients and family members to harmful effects on the brain during the perioperative period. A neuropsychological specialist may lead these activities but a close working relationship among the members of PEBS is needed to provide a timely and effective program for patients and family members throughout the perioperative period. These practices are different from the commonly referred prehabilitation that

References

1. Monk TG, Weldon BC, Garvan CW Dede DE, van der Aa MT, Heilman KM, Gravenstein JS. Predictors of cognitive dysfunction after major noncardiac surgery. *Anesthesiology*. (2008) 108:18–30. doi: 10.1097/01.anes.0000296071.19434.1e

2. Li Y, Chen D, Wang H, Wang Z, Song F, Li H, et al. Intravenous versus volatile anesthetic effects on postoperative cognition in elderly patients undergoing laparoscopic abdominal surgery. *Anesthesiology.* (2021) 134:381–94. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000003680

emphasizes interventions for patients before surgery. The success of PEBS service can be measured by not only the decrease in the rates of postoperative delirium and cognitive dysfunction, length of hospitalization, and number of patients returning to work force but also the wellbeing of their family members, such as anxiety and depression levels, number of missing work days and percentage of them returning to their jobs. Considering that more than 50 million patients have surgery annually in the USA, there are more family members who will benefit from these practices. Let us work together to make the perioperative period a less fearful and anxious time for the patients and family members. These practices will maximize the benefit of surgery to the patients, their family members and ultimately to our society.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Funding

This study was supported by the Robert M. Epstein Professorship endowment (to ZZ), University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{3.} Parikh SS, Chung F. Postoperative delirium in the elderly. *Anesth Analg.* (1995) 80:1223–32. doi: 10.1213/00000539-199506000-0 0027

^{4.} Greene NH, Attix DK, Weldon BC, Smith PJ, McDonagh DL, Monk TG. Measures of executive function and depression identify patients at risk for postoperative delirium. *Anesthesiology.* (2009) 110:788–95. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e31819b5ba6

5. Peden CJ, Miller TR, Deiner SG, Eckenhoff RG, Fleisher LA, and Members of the Perioperative Brain Health Expert P. Improving perioperative brain health: an expert consensus review of key actions for the perioperative care team. *Br J Anaesth.* (2021) 126:423–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2020.10.037

6. Yu YQ, Barry DM, Hao Y, Liu XT, Chen ZF. Molecular and neural basis of contagious itch behavior in mice. *Science*. (2017) 355:1072-6. doi: 10.1126/science.aak9748

7. Langford DJ, Crager SE, Shehzad Z, Smith SB, Sotocinal SG, Levenstadt JS, et al. Social modulation of pain as evidence for empathy in mice. *Science*. (2006) 312:1967–70. doi: 10.1126/science.1128322

8. Burkett JP, Andari E, Johnson ZV, Curry DC, de Waal FB, Young LJ. Oxytocin-dependent consolation behavior in rodents. *Science*. (2016) 351:375-8. doi: 10.1126/science.aac4785

9. Zeng Q, Shan W, Zhang H, Yang J, Zuo Z. Paraventricular thalamic nucleus plays a critical role in consolation and anxious behaviors of familiar observers exposed to surgery mice. *Theranostics.* (2021) 11:3813–29. doi: 10.7150/thno.45690

10. Mojdeh S, Zamani M, Kooshki AM, Jafari N. Effect of watching a movie on family members' anxiety level during their relatives' surgery. *Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res.* (2013) 18:329–32.

11. Balon R. Mood, anxiety, and physical illness: body and mind, or mind and body? *Depress Anxiety*. (2006) 23:377–87. doi: 10.1002/da.20217

12. Zheng Y, Zuo Z. Learning and memory dysfunction of nonsurgery cage-mates of mice with surgery. *Stress.* (2020) 23:474– 80. doi: 10.1080/10253890.2019.1702641

13. Taylor J, Parker M, Casey CP, Tanabe S, Kunkel D, Rivera C, et al. Postoperative delirium and changes in the blood-brain barrier, neuroinflammation, and cerebrospinal fluid lactate: a prospective cohort study. *Br J Anaesth.* (2022) 22:365. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2022.01.005

14. Norton MC, Smith KR, Ostbye T, Tschanz JT, Corcoran C, Schwartz S, et al. Greater risk of dementia when spouse has dementia? the cache county study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2010) 58:895–900. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02806.x

15. Dassel KB, Carr DC, Vitaliano P. Does caring for a spouse with dementia accelerate cognitive decline? findings from the health and retirement study. *Gerontologist.* (2017) 57:319–28. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnv148

16. Sannes TS, Ranby KW, Yusufov M, Brewer BW, Jacobs JM, Callan S, et al. More often than not, we're in sync: patient and caregiver well-being over time in stem cell transplantation. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2022) 20:6. doi: 10.1186/s12955-021-01909-3

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY Marco Carbonara, IRCCS Ca 'Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy

Chun Yang, Nanjing Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Ke-Xuan Liu liukexuan705@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 19 July 2022 ACCEPTED 16 August 2022 PUBLISHED 09 September 2022

CITATION

Mu J-L, Liu X-D, Dong Y-H, Fang Y-Y, Qiu S-D, Zhang F and Liu K-X (2022) Peripheral interleukin-6-associated microglial QUIN elevation in basolateral amygdala contributed to cognitive dysfunction in a mouse model of postoperative delirium. *Front. Med.* 9:998397. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.998397

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mu, Liu, Dong, Fang, Qiu, Zhang and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Peripheral interleukin-6-associated microglial QUIN elevation in basolateral amygdala contributed to cognitive dysfunction in a mouse model of postoperative delirium

Jing-Lan Mu^{1†}, Xiao-Dong Liu^{2,3†}, Ye-Hong Dong¹, Ying-Ying Fang⁴, Shi-Da Qiu¹, Fu Zhang¹ and Ke-Xuan Liu^{1*}

¹Department of Anesthesiology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Prince of Wales Hospital, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ³Peter Hung Pain Research Institute, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ⁴Department of Neurobiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Developing effective approaches for postoperative delirium has been hampered due to the lack of a pathophysiologically similar animal model to offer insights into the pathogenesis. The study, therefore, aimed to develop a delirium-like mouse model and explore the underlying mechanism.

Methods: The three cycles of 10-min clamp following 5-min reopening of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) were performed in adult male C57BL/6 mice to induce a delirium-like phenotype. Composite Z score calculated based on the results of Open Field, Y Maze and Buried Food Tests was employed to assess the delirium phenotype in mice. Microglia activities were monitored by immunofluorescence staining and comprehensive morphological analysis. Systemic administration of minocycline (MINO), IL-6 antibody or IL-6 neutralizing antibody, was applied to manipulate microglia. The expressions of Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 (IDO-1) and quinolinic acid (QUIN) were examined by RT-PCR and High-Performance Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry, respectively. Cytokines were measured using fluorescence activated cell sorting method.

Results: The repeated ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) surgery caused significant anxiety (P < 0.05) and cognition decline in working memory and orientation (P < 0.05) in mice at postoperative 24 h. The composite Z score, indicating an overall disturbance of brain function, fluctuated over 24 h after I/R surgery (P < 0.001). Immunofluorescent staining showed that the percentage of microglia in the basolateral amygdala (BLA) (P < 0.05) was reactivated after I/R surgery and was negatively correlated with dwell time at Y maze (R = -0.759,

P = 0.035). Inhibiting microglia activities by MINO reduced QUIN productions (P < 0.01) that improved cognitive deficits (P < 0.05). The peripheral IL-6 might cause IL-6 elevation in the BLA. Systemic administration of IL-6 antibodies suppressed I/R-induced IL-6 elevations (P < 0.05), microglial reactivations (P < 0.05), IDO-1 expressions (P < 0.01), and neuroactive metabolite QUIN productions (P < 0.05) in the BLA, resulting in a recovery of cognitive deficits (P < 0.05). Injection of IL-6 exerted opposite effects.

Conclusion: The repeated intestinal I/R surgery-induced mouse model is a simple and reproducible one of postoperative delirium. Peripheral IL-6associated microglial QUIN elevations in the BLA contributed to cognitive dysfunction in the model of postoperative delirium.

KEYWORDS

delirium, repeated intestinal I/R, IL-6, microglia, BLA, QUIN

Introduction

Postoperative delirium has been reported to be associated with cognitive decline, higher mortality, and lower quality of life (1, 2). Risk factors for postoperative delirium include acute systemic inflammation, medications (e.g., anticholinergic drugs), and aging-associated neurological abnormalities, such as impaired neuronal network, dysfunction of blood brain barrier (BBB), and reactivation of microglia cells (3).

Resting microglia dynamically surveil the central nervous system (CNS) niches and can be rapidly reactivated when sensing abnormal signals. In this way, microglia play an important role in neuroinflammation, neuropathy, and synaptic strength (4). Reactivated microglia are also known to secrete various bioactive molecules, including inflammatory mediators and neuroactive metabolites (5, 6). The association between microglia and delirium has been demonstrated in both human and animal studies (5, 7, 8). For example, patients with delirium were found to have higher levels of microglia-derived soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) in cerebrospinal fluid (8). In postmortem tissue sections, it was shown that microglial markers of Human Leukocyte Antigen-DR isotype (HLA-DR) and CD68 were higher in patients with delirium than in age-matched controls (7). In animal studies, microglia reactivation was observed in the hippocampus that dominated neuroinflammation postoperatively. Inhibition of microglial proliferation reversed hippocampal inflammatory mediators, leukocyte invasiveness, and postoperative cognitive decline (5). Despite all these findings, the mediators leading to microglia reactivation and microglia-derived neuroactive substances remain elusive and deserve further exploration in the new studies.

The development of effective treatments for postoperative delirium has been blocked in part due to the lack of a

pathophysiologically similar animal model that offers insights into its pathogenesis. Several animal models of delirium have been developed, but there are limitations with these models. Systemic LPS administration is a popular approach to induce behavioral disturbances in animals to mimic a delirium-like state (9-11). However, LPS challenge is not a clinically established factor for delirium, in addition, most of these studies used a single behavioral test to assess such a complicated disease. Small intestine I/Rinduced animal model could alter brain function from the short to long term (12-14). However, the models involve long-time ischemic attack (usually 60-90 min), resulting in high immediately postoperative mortality and prolonged neurological abnormalities that are inconsistent with features of clinical postoperative delirium. Recently, Peng et al. (15) reported that a simple laparotomy induced deliriumrelated behaviors. Furthermore, they developed a scoring tool analogous to Confusion Assessment Method (CAM) algorithm (diagnosis tool for clinical delirium) (16) to assess the deliriumlike phenotypes in rodents based on the outcomes of all behavior tests. This model included a simple midline abdominal incision under isoflurane anesthesia without affecting any intraabdominal organs.

In this study, we attempt to improve the mouse model of postoperative delirium by applying laparotomy and attacks through three cycles of transient ischemia (10 min) and reperfusion (5 min). This repeated protocol was devised from the recognition that intermittent ischemia potentiates intestinal reperfusion injury (17). To comprehensively assess the deliriumlike phenotype, composite Z scores were calculated based on a battery of behavior tests, namely Open Field Test, Y Maze Test, and Buried Food Test. Finally, microglia reactivation induced by peripheral IL-6 in the associated brain region, and neuroactive molecule of QUIN were found and studied using this new mouse model of postoperative delirium.

Materials and methods

Animals

All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Experiment and Welfare Committee of Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University (Guangzhou, China). Male C57BL/6 mouse (male, 8 weeks old, 20–22 g) were obtained from SPF Biotechnology (Beijing, China). Mice were housed in a controlled environment (temperature $20-22^{\circ}$ C; humidity of 50 ± 10%; 12 h of light/dark on a reversed cycle) with *ad libitum* access to food and water. All mice were acclimated to the environment for 7 days before performing behavioral tests between 12:00 PM and 5:00 PM on the experimental day. Researchers who were blinded to the grouping conducted behavioral experiments and data collection.

Surgery and experimental protocol

The intestinal ischemia and reperfusion surgery was performed as described previously (12). Animals were fasted 12 h before surgery. Under isoflurane anesthesia, the small intestine was exteriorized through a 1-cm midline abdominal incision. The SMA was clamped for 10 min using a microvascular clip (18055-02, 85 g, F.T.S., CA, United States) following revascularization for 5 min. This cycle was repeated three times before closing the wound. Cream containing 2.5% lidocaine was applied immediately and every 8 h to treat incisional pain. Animals at sham group underwent all procedures except for SAM clamping and revascularization.

The postoperative delirium-like phenotypes of mice were assessed according to previous methods developed by Peng et al. (15) with minor modifications (**Table 1**). Briefly, all mice were evaluated in a battery of neurological tests, namely Open Field Test, Y Maze Test, and Buried Food Test 7 days before surgery (baseline) and 6, 9, 24 h after operation. Latency to eat (Buried Food Test), time spent in the center (Open Field Test), latency to the center (Open Field Test), freeze time (Open Field Test), number of entries in novel arm (Y Maze Test), duration in novel arm (Y Maze Test), and first choice of novel arm (Y Maze Test) were then extracted to compare changes in neurological activities between groups and used to calculate composite Z scores to monitor delirium-like manifestation between treatment or over time.

The experimental protocol is illustrated in Figure 1A. Initial microglia assessment across whole brain was detected at 6, 9, 24 h after surgery as well. Histologic examination of small intestine was performed at immediate time and the severest brain disturbance time after surgery. Pro-inflammatory cytokines of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , suggested by results of clinical trials for delirium (18), were measured along the intestine-brain axis at the severest disturbance time.

TABLE 1 The tool to assess postoperative delirium for mice.

- 1. Acute onset and fluctuating course: Mean composite Z score fluctuates during postoperative 24 h
- 2. Inattention: Buried food test/open field test/Y maze
- 3. Disorganized thinking: Buried food test/open field test/Y maze
- 4. Altered level of consciousness: Buried food test/open field test/Y maze
- 1 + 2/3/4 abnormity: Delirium-like phenotype

We explored underlying mechanism for core symptom of cognitive dysfunction, detected by Y maze, because it is a such complicated disease with a constellation of symptoms.

Intervention

Minocycline (MINO, Sigma-Aldrich M9511, St. Louis, MO, United States) was employed to inhibit microglia activation. MINO was dissolved in normal saline and injected intraperitoneally at 50 mg/kg 1.5 h before behavioral experiments (19). Recombinant IL-6 (PeproTech 200-06, Cranbury, NJ, United States) and mouse IL-6 neutralizing antibody (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, United States) were given to study the role that peripheral IL-6 played in this model. IL-6 of 50 μ g/kg were i.p injected at immediate, 6 and 12 h (20, 21). Anti-IL-6 antibody of 0.1 μ g/mouse was injected via tail vein at postoperative 6 h when the first behavioral testing was performed (13). The large size of IL-6 antibody and its complex with IL-6 (> 150 kD) makes them impossible to cross the blood-brain barrier to affect the brain directly (22, 23).

Open Field Test

Open Field Test was performed as previous studies (13, 15). Mice were moved into the experimental room 1 h prior to the testing. A mouse was then gently placed in the center of an open field and allowed to freely explore the chamber for a period of 10 min. Total distance, rearing time, and duration at the border and in the center were recorded by VersaMax (v3.02-125, Omnitech Electronics, Columbus, OH, United States).

Y Maze Test

Y Maze Test was used to assess cognition-associated spatial memory and orientation (24). The maze is comprised of three arms ($8 \times 30 \times 15$ cm, width \times length \times height), with an angle of 120 degrees between each arm. In the study, the recognition memory protocol was implemented including two trials (15, 24). During the first training trial, one arm of the Y maze was blocked, and a mouse was allowed to freely explore the starting arm and the other arm for 10 min. After 1 h at



the second trial with all three arms accessible, the mouse was returned to the maze for a 5-min exploration to test the memory recognition. The starting arm and the other arm had been randomly set to avoid potential bias. A video camera linked to EthoVision (v7.0, Noldus, Wageningen, Netherlands) was installed 60 centimeters above the maze to monitor and analyze number of arm entries, the time spent in each arm, and the first choice of the arm.

Buried Food Test

Buried Food Test was performed to examine the latency to forage food buried in the cage bedding (15, 25). Mice were familiarized with cereals for 2 days before the experiments. On the experimental day, the mice were acclimated to the testing room for an hour prior. A cereal pellet was buried 0.5 centimeters below surface of bedding (3 cm high) and was



Repeated I/R surgery of small intestine disturbed the behaviors in mice at postoperative 6, 9, and 24 h which had higher composite Z scores. (A) Open Field Test. (B) Y Maze Test. (C) Buried Food Test. (D) Track map of Open Field Test. (E) Heating map of Y Maze Test. (F) Composite Z score of each mouse. (G) Summary of composite Z scores. The percentage data were presented as median (IQR). Composite Z score was presented as Mean \pm SD. Larger values of composite Z score suggest severer impairment. N = 10 per group, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01. I/R: ischemia and reperfusion, hr: hours.

located randomly at each time. A mouse was placed in the center of the testing cage and allowed to search for the cereal pellet for 5 min. When the mouse finding out the food and grasping it with forepaws and/or teeth, we recorded the time latency and stopped the experiment. If a mouse failed to find the food over a period of 5 min, the latency was recorded as 300 s. The clean cage, fresh bedding, new gloves, and new pellet of cereal were used for each mouse to prevent transmission of olfactory cues.

Hematoxylin and eosin staining and scoring

Jejunum and ileum were harvested and stained with H&E for histologic examination. The histologic scoring scale (26) was applied to assess the tissue injury caused by ischemia and reperfusion. The scoring system includes three categories relating to mucosal damage, inflammation, and hyperemia/hemorrhage, each with 0–5 points (normal to severe) (Supplementary Table 1).

Immunofluorescence and microglial analysis

The animals were transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde. The brains were taken and fixed in paraformaldehyde for 4–6 h, followed by cryoprotection with 30% sucrose and the organs were cut into 40 μ m sections. For microglial detection, the sections were incubated with rabbit-anti IBA-1 (1:500; Wako Pure Chemicals, Osaka, Japan) and further with fluorescein

isothiocyanate-conjugated secondary antibody (1:500; goat anti-rabbit, Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, United States). Images of brain were acquired using LSM880 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) controlled by Zen2010 software (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany). Regions of plaques were pictured at 400 \times magnifications. Images were sampled at a resolution of 1024*1024 pixels. A multi-plane Z mode allowed to capture 20 images (2 μ m thick) in 40 μ m depth of the tissue section, which were later combined to obtain a single high-quality confocal image.

Microglia activation was initially assessed by phenotypic characterization of stages one to five cells (4, 27). Microglia at stages from three to five with cell body increasing and processes shrinking, were considered reactivation (4, 27). All Iba-1 positive cells were graded twice in an area of 0.09 mm² using image analysis software (Image J, v1.52a, NIH, United States). The percentage of reactivated microglia was measured in the basolateral amygdala (BLA) (28), medial prefrontal cortex (PFC) Zilles cg1, Cornu Ammonis (CA1), Cornu Ammonia 3 (CA3), Dentate Gyrus inner blade (DGib), and striatum (STR), which are well recognized to be associated with emotions and cognition (29-31). In the mechanism studies, a comprehensive analysis of microglia was performed on 3D images without projection. Imaris (v9.0.1, Bit plane, Belfast, United Kingdom) was applied to create surface and trace filaments of microglia, followed by quantification of cell number, cell volume, cumulative process length, and number of branch points in these images. The process included the following steps: (1) segment microglia from background and mark the cells with somas, processes, and branch points, and use the same Gama value for all images, (2) create a skeleton to represent the 3D structure of cell body and processes, (3) quantify the microglia (32, 33).

Quantification of pro-inflammatory cytokines

The concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α were determined using the BD Mouse/Rat Soluble Protein Master Buffer Kit (558266, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, United States) in conjunction with the BD CBA Flex Sets for the specific detection of mouse IL-1 β (560232), IL-6 (558301), and TNF- α (558299). The assays were conducted and analyzed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 μ l of serially diluted standards or test samples were incubated with 50 μ l of capture beads and then with 50 μ l of PE detection reagent, followed by quantification of cytokine concentrations using the BD LSRFortessaTM X-20 flow cytometer (BD Bioscience) and FCAP array software (version 3.0, BD Biosciences).

RT-PCR for IDO-1 mRNA in basolateral amygdala

Mouse was transcardially perfused with normal saline to wash out blood. The brain was quickly removed from the skull and was chilled on ice for 10 min. Bilateral dissections of the BLA regions were performed according to a previous report (34). Coronal sections between Bregma -1 and Bregma -2.75 were isolated and verified under microscope. The sections were placed caudal side up. Cuts were then made in the lower-left and lower-right corners while avoiding any hippocampal tissue. Isolated BLA tissues were placed in the tube containing TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, New York, NY, United States) and homogenized for 120 s. Total RNA was then extracted using chloroform and precipitated with isopropanol, followed by conversion to complementary DNA (cDNA) using SYBR Green kit (TOYOBO, Tokyo, Japan). The following primers were used: forward 5'-TGCCTCCTATTCTGTCTTATGC-3' and reverse 5'-CTTTCAGGTCTTGACGCTCTAC-3'. PCR was performed using the ABI Q5 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States). The relative IDO-1 gene expression was determined by normalization to the housekeeping gene (β -actin) and the IDO-1 gene in the control group using the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method.

Quantification of QUIN using high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry

Standards were dissolved in caffeic acid (Macklin, Shanghai, China) solution. Internal standards (IS) were added to each standard and sample for a final concentration of 10 ng/ml to correct for sample and instrument variability. Tissue homogenizations (50 µl) were diluted 12-fold (w/v) by adding 10 µl IS, 500 µl water and 140 µl acetonitrile. Diluted samples were then filtered through Amicon Ultrafilter (Millipore, Billerica, MA, United States) by centrifugation at 15,000 g for 10 min at 4°C. Quantifications of QUIN were determined by HPLC (Waters, Milford, MA, United States) with tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States). Samples were run in positive ionization mode optimized for QUIN detection. Resultant acquisitions were directly injected into the Waters, equipped with an C18 (waters T3, 2.1 \times 100 mm, 1.7 μ m) column. The mobile phase consisted of an aqueous component (A: 10 mM ammonium acetate + 0.1% formic acid in ultrapure water) and an organic component (B: 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile). The elution gradient was used as follows: 100% A for 30 s and 90% B for 6 min. The flow rate was set at 0.25 ml/min and the run time for each sample was 13 min. The concentration of QUIN in each sample was quantified by comparison to the standard curve.

Statistical analysis

Variables were presented as mean (standard deviation, SD) or median (interquartile range, IQR). The behavior parameters at postoperative 6, 9, and 24 h were presented as percentages compared to their baselines. An independent Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare results where appropriate. Fisher's exact test chi-square was used to test first choice of the novel arm at Y maze. Z score was calculated using formula described by Moller et al. (35) and Peng et al. (15). $Z = \Delta X - I/R - MEAN (\Delta X - sham)/SD (\Delta X - sham)$. $\Delta X - I/R - MEAN (\Delta X - sham)/SD (\Delta X - sham)$. sham was the change score of mice in sham group at 6, 9, and 24 h after operation minus the baseline score; ΔX -I/R was the change score of mice in I/R group at 6, 9, and 24 h minus corresponding baseline score; MEAN (ΔX sham) was the mean of ΔX -sham; SD (ΔX -sham) was the standard deviation of ΔX -sham. The composite Z score was calculated as sum of six Z scores (latency to eat food, time spent in the center, latency to the center, rearing time, entries in novel arm, and duration in novel arm) normalized with SD for that sum. Spearman's rank correlation was used to analyze correlation analysis between the cognitive outcomes of Y Maze Test and the percentages of reactivated microglia in each brain region. The one-way analysis of variance or the Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparing three groups depending on the nature of data. Statistical analysis was performed in SPSS (version 23.0; SPSS for Windows, Chicago, IL, United States) and Graph Pad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., United States). A two-tailed P < 0.05 was set as statistical significance.

Results

Repeated I/R insults in the small intestine of mice mimicked the transient and reversible I/R injury and delirium associated with abdominal surgery

The timeline of the experimental design was shown in **Figure 1A**. I/R injury was introduced by performing three cycles of 10-min clamping and 5-min reopening of the SMA. The small intestine of I/R mice turned from red to dark purple and became distended after completing surgery (**Figure 1B**). The jejunum and ileum were collected to assess histological injury using H&E staining. The histological score of ileum, representing severities of inflammation and hyperemia, was higher in I/R mice than the score of sham mice at immediate time after surgery (P = 0.020, **Figures 1C,D**). There was no difference in jejunal score between groups (P = 0.097, **Figures 1C,D**). At 24 h postoperatively, the

histological scores of both ileum and jejunum were similar between the two groups (P > 0.05 for both, Figures 1E,F). This indicated that the injuries caused by this repeated I/R interventions were transient and reversible, similar to the nature of I/R injury during abdominal surgery and the associated delirium. There was no death occurred during the experimental period.

Repeated I/R insult in the small intestine resulted in a delirium-like manifestation in the mouse

We investigated whether mice could develop delirium-like manifestation by assessing behavioral changes in Open Feld test, Y Maze Test, and Buried Food test. At Open Feld test, I/R insult increased the marginal time while decreased the center time in the mice compared to those of the sham at 24 h postoperatively (marginal time: 107.50 vs. 99.39%, P = 0.022; center time: 55.11 vs. 105.80%, P = 0.020, Figures 2A,B), The results suggested anxiety induced by the intestinal I/R surgery. The I/R mice spent shorter rearing time than the sham at 6 h (4.86 vs. 14.31%, P = 0.007, Figure 2B), but not 9 and 24 h postoperatively (both P > 0.05, Figure 2B), indicating I/R injury suppress the willingness to explore in the early time. The I/R surgery did not alter the total distance between the two groups at any time point (Supplementary Table 2). At Y maze testing, I/R insult reduced duration and number of entries in the novel arm as compared to the sham at postoperative 24 h (durations: 75 vs. 101%, P = 0.036, entries: 41.88 vs. 78.53%, P = 0.002, Figures 2C,D), indicating the impaired working memory and spatial orientation in mice with intestinal I/R injury. Consistent with this result, fewer percent of I/R-injured mice initially chose the novel arm for entry than the sham-operated mice at the same time point (30 vs. 83%, P = 0.027, Figure 2D), indicating that the I/R surgery reduced interest in exploration in those mice. We did not find any difference in the arm visits between the two groups either (Supplementary Table 3). At Buried Food testing, the repeated I/R insult did not change the latency to eat the food (P > 0.05, Figures 2E,F). Composite Z score for each mouse was calculated based on the three behavioral tests (Table 2 and Figure 2G). A higher score indicates worse performance. We noted that the composite Z score of I/R mice fluctuated over 24 h after surgery and peaked at 24 h (5.36 vs. 1.96, 5.36 vs. 1.80, both P < 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2G). In addition, mice undergoing I/R surgery were graded the higher Z scores than the sham at all assessed time points (6 h: 1.96 vs. -0.17, P = 0.004; 9 h: 1.80 vs. 0.000, P = 0.001; 24 h: 5.36 vs. 0.000, P < 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2G). These results showed that repeated I/R insults in the small intestine could successfully develop a manifestation with the feature of postoperative delirium, which shows an acute and fluctuating change in mental level.

TABLE 2	Summary of	composite Z	scores in sham	and I/R mice.
---------	------------	-------------	----------------	---------------

	Z scores at each time point				
Mouse	6 h	9 h	24 h		
Sham 1	-0.47	-0.32	0.90		
Sham 2	-0.60	-0.39	-0.10		
Sham 3	0.24	0.45	-1.58		
Sham 4	0.26	-0.87	1.40		
Sham 5	0.22	-0.88	-0.11		
Sham 6	-0.77	1.13	-0.63		
Sham 7	0.24	0.89	-0.23		
Sham 8	0.21	-0.22	-0.41		
Sham 9	-0.21	-0.64	-0.20		
Sham 10	-0.81	0.85	0.96		
Sham mean	-0.17	0.00	0.00		
Sham SD	0.14	0.25	0.28		
Comparison of the scores at the three			>0.05		
time points					
I/R 1	2.11	2.59	3.55		
I/R 2	0.90	2.74	3.37		
I/R 3	0.18	3.57	7.07		
I/R 4	2.91	2.10	5.36		
I/R 5	-1.10	-1.28	6.08		
I/R 6	2.72	2.28	5.52		
I/R 7	1.31	1.04	5.28		
I/R 8	5.33	1.56	6.08		
I/R 9	2.50	1.31	5.21		
I/R 10	2.69	2.12	6.10		
I/R mean	1.96	1.80	5.36		
I/R SD	0.56	0.41	0.36		
Comparison of the scores at the three time points			<0.001**		
Comparison of the scores between sham and I/R mice at each time point	0.004**	0.001**	<0.001**		

**P < 0.01. I/R, is chemia and reperfusion; hr: hours.

Transient intestinal I/R injury-induced microglial reactivation in the basolateral amygdala that was negatively correlated with delirium-associated cognitive dysfunction and the expressions of cytokines

Microglia can sense and rapidly adapt to locally environmental changes. We examined microglia reactivation in different brain regions associated with delirium (**Figures 3A– E**). For BLA and CA3, it was observed that the percentage of microglia activated was higher in I/R mice than that of the sham at 6 h (BLA: 40.00 vs. 18.62%, P < 0.01; CA3: 14.67 vs. 0%, P < 0.01, **Figures 3A,B**), 9 h (BLA: 29.41 vs. 6.45%,

<i>P</i> = 0.029; CA3: 15.79 vs. 0%, <i>P</i> < 0.01, Figures 3A,B), and 24 h
(BLA: 53.57 vs. 18.33%, $P < 0.01$; CA3: 31.31 vs. 0%, $P < 0.01$,
Figures 3A,B). For DGib of hippocampus, the percentage of
microglia activated was greater in I/R mice at 6 h (42.06 vs.
0%, P < 0.01, Figure 3C) and 24 h (22.22 vs. 0%, P = 0.026,
Figure 3C), but not at 9 h (<i>P</i> = 0.111, Figure 3C). In PFC, we
only found the higher value in I/R mice at 24 h (23.08 vs. 0%,
P = 0.016, Figure 3D), while in STR we observed significant
microglia activation only at postoperative 9 h (30.77 vs. 0%,
P < 0.01, Figure 3E). There were no microglia activated found
in CA1 of hippocampus (data not shown).

Cognitive dysfunction underpins postoperative delirium. We further examined the brain regions involved in cognitive dysfunction 24 h after surgery by performing correlation analyses between behavioral changes in the Y Maze Test and the percentage of activated microglia in each brain region. It was only found that a negative correlation between dwell time in the novel arm and the percentage of activated microglia in BLA in I/R mice (R = -0.759, P = 0.035, **Table 3**), suggesting that abnormal microglia activation in BLA may play a role in postoperative delirium. We thus chose brain BLA region to initially investigate the underlying mechanism for such a complicated brain disorder.

The up-regulation of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in the postoperative period have been reported by extensive studies. In this model, expression of IL-6 was elevated remarkably in all three samples compared with those of the sham (P < 0.01, **Figure 3F**). Production of IL-1 β of I/R mice was increased in the small intestine and plasma but not in the BLA compared with the sham (both P < 0.01, P > 0.05, **Figure 3F**). Production of TNF- α was only higher in the small intestine of I/R mice than the sham (P < 0.01, **Figure 3F**). The results indicated that proinflammatory IL-6 persisted highly in the small intestine, blood, and BLA in I/R-induce delirium-like mice.

Inhibition of microglial activation and associated IDO-1/QUIN in basolateral amygdala by minocycline led to cognitive improvement in I/R-induced mice

To further assess microglial involvement, the widely used microglia inhibitor MINO was administered to the I/R-injured mice. At postoperative 24 h, microglia activation in BLA was found to be attenuated in MINO-injected mice, as reflected in smaller microglia volumes (P = 0.031, Figures 4A,B), longer process lengths (P = 0.029, Figures 4A,B), and more branch points (P = 0.021, Figures 4A,B) compared to vehicle administration, although the number of microglia was not affected (P > 0.05, Figure 4B). We then assessed the expressions of IDO-1 mRNA (the rate-limiting metabolic enzyme of the kynurenine pathway) Ana QUIN (endogenous neuroexcitatory



Microglia reactivation in different brain regions and levels of proinflammatory cytokines at 24 h after surgery. (A) BLA. (B) CA3. (C) DGib. (D) PFC. (E) STR. (F) Levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α in intestine, plasma, and BLA. The percentage data were expressed as median (IQR). N = 8 per group, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01. I/R, ischemia and reperfusion; hr, hours; BLA, basolateral amygdala; CA3, Cornu Ammonis; DGib, dentate gyrus inner blade; PFC, medial prefrontal cortex; STR, striatum.

TABLE 3	The correlation between the microglia activation and	
quantita	tive outcomes of Y maze at 24 h in the I/R mice.	

Brain regions Outcomes	BLA	CA3	DGib	PFC	STR
Dwell in novel arm	-0.759*	-0.433	-0.546	-0.609	nil
Entries in novel arm	-0.633	-0.636	-0.403	-0.685	nil

*P < 0.05. I/R, ischemia and reperfusion; BLA, basolateral amygdala; CA3, Cornu Ammonis; DGib, dentate gyrus inner blade; PFC, medial prefrontal cortex; STR, striatum; nil, non-existent.

metabolite of kynurenine pathway) in the BLA. IDO-1 mRNA amplifications and QUIN levels were lower in MINO-injected mice than vehicle-injected mice (P < 0.01, Figures 4C,D). Consistent with the improvements in biochemistries, MINO also rescued the cognitive impairment caused by I/R insult, indicated by longer dwell time (P = 0.025, Figures 4E,F), more entries in the novel arm (P = 0.027, Figures 4E,F) at Y maze testing, and propensity to choose the novel arm for the first entry (P > 0.05, Figure 4F).

Peripheral IL-6 promoted microglial QUIN production in basolateral amygdala and exacerbated cognitive impairment in I/R-injured mice

As shown above, intestinal I/R injury resulted in dramatic up-regulation of IL-6 in the intestine and blood. We next examined whether manipulation of peripheral IL-6 affected injury-related microglial reactivation and cognitive impairment. Compared with vehicle group, intravenous injection of IL-6 antibody inhibited microglia activation in the BLA in I/R mice, indicated by smaller microglia volumes (P = 0.021, Figures 5A,B), longer process lengths (*P* = 0.028, Figures 5A,B), and fewer branch points (P = 0.022, Figures 5A,B), but numbers of cells did not change (P > 0.05, Figures 5A,B). In parallel, the IDO-1 mRNA syntheses and QUIN productions in the BLA were also reduced in I/R mice after IL-6 antibody administration (P = 0.029 for I/R vs. I/R + IL-6 antibody; P < 0.01 for the rest, Figures 5C,D). At 24 h after surgery, IL-6 neutralizing antibody did not affect IL-6 expressions in the intestine (P > 0.05, Figure 5E), but increased the plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-6 antibody complex (P < 0.01, Figure 5E). As a result of treatment, IL-6 neutralizing antibody significantly decreased IL-6 levels in BLA (P = 0.033, Figure 5E). The performances of IL-6 antibody-injected I/R mice at Y maze testing were improved in dwelling time and entries in the novel arm they never explored before (P = 0.031, P = 0.033,Figures 5F,G).

To examine the role of elevated IL-6, we injected IL-6 or vehicle three times after I/R surgery via intraperitoneal injection. Additional IL-6 did not promote microglia proliferation in I/R mice (P > 0.05, Figures 6A,B). Compared to vehicle, IL-6 protein further activated microglia, as evidenced by increased microglia volumes (P < 0.01 Figures 6A,B), decreased process lengths (P < 0.001, Figures 6A,B), and fewer branch points (P = 0.020, Figures 6A, B). Microglia cells were not proliferated by extra peripheral IL-6 at postoperative 24 h (P > 0.05, Figure 6B). In the meantime, I/R injury-induced upregulation of IDO-1 mRNA and QUIN in BLA were significantly increased by IL-6 treatment (P < 0.01, Figures 6C,D). The blood and BLA pure IL-6 levels were significantly elevated at 24 h (P < 0.01, P = 0.020, Figure 6E) but not in intestine (P > 0.05, P = 0.020, P = 0.02Figure 6E). As a result of elevated peripheral IL-6, the mice performed worst at Y maze indicated by the shortest stay and least enters in the novel arm (P = 0.014, P = 0.031, Figures 6F,G). Overall, the results suggested that peripheral IL-6 contributed to CNS neuroinflammation and cognition impairment in delirium.

QUIN levels of basolateral amygdala were negatively correlated with dwell time at Y maze in the I/R mice

Analysis was conducted using the I/R mice which both measured QUIN and performed Y maze testing (n = 24). Results showed that higher QUIN levels of BLA were correlated with longer dwell time in the novel arm at Y maze (R = -0.617, P = 0.001, Figure 7A). The analysis supported the QUIN levels associated with on delirious cognition in the model. In summary, as illustrated in Figure 7B, peripheral IL-6 mediating microglia activation in the BLA of brain, which promoted IDO-1 mRNA amplification and its catabolite QUIN production, eventually introduced the delirium-like state in I/R mice.

Discussion

The current study reported a simple and reproducible mouse model of postoperative delirium by introducing three cycles of transient I/R attacks into the SMA. The model rapidly developed delirium-associated symptoms, including anxiety and cognitive impairment, within 24 h after surgery, mimicking the manifestation of postoperative delirium in clinical practice. Using this model, we reported that rapid BLA modulation may be implicated in postoperative delirium. We found that microglia reactivation accompanied by upregulation of IDO-1 mRNA and its neuroexcitatory metabolite QUIN in BLA was associated with postoperative cognitive impairment. Furthermore, we revealed that elevated peripheral IL-6 contributed to upregulated levels of IL-6, reactivated microglia, and microglial IDO-1/QUIN in BLA after surgery. Our study provided new insights into the



neurological basis of postoperative delirium and highlighted Il-6, microglia, and QUIN as targets for the treatment of postoperative delirium.

Abdominal aortic aneurysm open repair (AAA) is a surgical procedure that involves occlusion of mesenteric arteries and mesenteric revascularization. The incidence of delirium after this surgery was estimated as high as 33% (36). We speculated that I/R attacks during surgery might serve as a risk factor for clinical postoperative delirium. Previous rat model acquiring ischemic attacks by clamping SMA for 90 min (12) resulted in high immediate mortality. Based on the evidence that intermittent ischemia exaggerated reperfusion injury in the small intestines (17), we improved the I/R protocol by applying repeated (three cycles) and transient (10/5 min for one I/R cycle) I/R procedures. The current model successfully developed behavioral changes associated with postoperative delirium, including anxiety and impaired cognition, while avoiding animal deaths during the experiments.

Regarding the specific behavioral tests, we found that intestinal I/R surgery disturbed the mice mainly in the Open Field and Y Maze tests, but not in the Buried Food Test. Compared to the sham mice, the I/R-injured mice showing less rearing time and less time spent in center region postoperatively indicated increased anxiety after surgery. These results capitulated the features of delirious patients who were agitated or restless after abdominal surgery. Meanwhile, the I/R-injured mice also showed the cognitive dysfunction at postoperative 24 h as evidenced in the Y Maze Test. This phenotype is consistent with the cognitive deficits in working memory and orientation observed in patients with delirium. I/R injury did not cause any significant changes in the Food Buried Test. The test was adopted according to Peng's report (15) that can be used to assess postoperative delirium. However, in most cases the test was used to evaluate olfactory dysfunction, which was not a typical symptom associated surgery, and only to a lesser extent with delirium related inattention. Other behavior tests should be considered to comprehensively

103



assess delirium-like phenotypes in the rodent models. Finally, given the multiple manifestations of delirium-like phenotype, the composite score encompassing different aspects of the assessment can serve as a comprehensive and comparable parameter to evaluate delirium among different animal groups. We adopted Peng's tool (15), which calculates composite Z score based on a battery of behavior tests and is analogous to the formulation of CAM/CAM-ICU and CAM-Severity (37). We found that the current model caused ascending composite Z scores over 24 h after surgery, mimicking the natural course of clinical delirium. The current model thus represents a simple and clinically relevant mouse model of postoperative delirium.

One of the major findings of the current study is that postoperatively abnormal BLA activities may underpin the pathogenesis of the delirious phenotype. Microglia can respond rapidly to environmental changes and then adapt/maladapt to such changes by modulating neuronal activities with various microglia-derived molecules (4). Indeed, after I/R surgery, microglia were rapidly reactivated in various brain regions involved in emotion and cognition. Two regions, namely BLA and CA3, showed sustained microglia reactivation over 24 h. Remarkably, BLA was the only region in which the percentage of reactivated microglia was negatively correlated with cognitive deficits. We then applied MINO, recombinant IL-6 protein and IL-6 neutralizing antibody to manipulate microglia activities and found that microglia modulation in BLA was associated with changes in I/R-induced cognitive impairment, further supporting the BLA involvement. Previous studies identified IDO-1 as a critical modulator of depressionand anxiety-like behaviors induced by systemic inflammation (38, 39). IDO-1 is a rate-limiting metabolic enzyme of the kynurenine pathway composed of several neuroactive metabolites including QUIN, an endogenous N-methyl-Daspartate receptor (NMDAR) agonist implicated in depression and cognitive deficits (6, 40). Although IDO-1 is expressed in different types of glial cells, microglia dominate the production of the neuroexcitatory metabolite QUIN in response to inflammatory mediators (41). These studies suggest that microglial IDO-1 could produce QUIN to modulate neural



Microglia reactivation and productions of IDO-1/QUIN in BLA triggered by extra peripheral IL-6 worsened the cognition in model mice. (A) Immunofluorescence staining and skeleton of microglia. (B) Analysis of microglia reactivation. (C) IDO-1 mRNA expression in BLA. (D) QUIN levels in BLA. (E) IL-6 levels in intestine, plasma and BLA. (F) Heating map of Y Maze Test. (G) Results of Y Maze Test. N = 10-12 per group for Y maze testing, N = 8 for others, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01. I/R, ischemia and reperfusion; BLA, basolateral amygdala; NS, normal saline; IL-6, Interleukin 6.



Correlation analysis between QUIN and dwell time at Y maze and illustration of the pathway mediated the delirium-associated cognition in the model. (A) Correlation analysis in the I/R mice model, N = 24 per group. (B) Illustration of the pathway.

activities in the CNS. In this study, we found that IDO-1 and QUIN levels were significantly increased along with microglia reactivation in BLA after I/R surgery, while these changes were reduced by MINO administration, suggesting that abnormal microglia activation can lead to excessive QUIN in BLA, bringing about cognitive impairment after surgery. Previous studies have reported hippocampus or cortex were two activated regions after intestinal I/R injury (12-14). For example, Zhou et al. (12) reported activated microglia in the cortex and CA1 of hippocampus in rats after 1h ischemia and 48-h perfusion of small intestine surgery. Hovens et al. (13, 14) screened the brain regions tagged with reactivated microglia after intestinal I/R surgery, including cortex, hippocampus, and BLA. However, since those results were obtained 1 week after surgery, the models should relate to delayed neurocognitive recovery rather than delirium. The finding in our study that abnormalities in the BLA started early in the disease deserves close attention. BLA is responsible for promoting the fear response and consolidating the cued fear memory (29). In a systematic review summarizing the qualitative findings of patients' experiences of delirium, fear was an overarching feeling reported by the vast majority of patients (42). The results of our animal model were consistent with this clinical manifestation that implied alleviating patient's fear as potentially effective therapies to reduce postoperative delirium.

I/R attacks induced a dramatic increase in IL-6, IL -1 β , and TNF- α in the small intestines. However, along the gut-bloodbrain axis only IL-6 was increased, but not IL-1β or TNF-α. Previous study showed that peripheral IL-6 can cross BBB (43). The findings that systemic administration of recombinant IL-6 protein and anti-IL-6 antibody increased and decreased IL-6 levels in BLA, respectively, supported the direct penetration of IL-6 after I/R attacks. A recent study using a similar rat model of intestinal I/R reported that plasma IL-6 was elevated over 24 h after surgery (13). In addition, two large clinical cohort studies reported that plasma IL-6 were increased in delirious patients shortly after surgery (44, 45) and IL-6 levels were significantly associated with an increased risk of postoperative delirium. However, the mechanism of how peripheral IL-6 mediated the brain disorder was not studied in these studies. In our study, microglia were considered as target cells of increased IL-6 since the IL-6 receptor is mainly detected in microglia in the CNS (46). Furthermore, IL-6 manipulation can enhance or reverse intestinal I/R-induced microglia reactivation supports microglia as potential targets of IL-6. In the meantime, it has been reported that IDO-1 expression could be upregulated by IL-6 in the brain (47, 48). We found that administration of IL-6 antibodies caused decreased IL-6 levels in the BLA accompanied by suppression of IDO-1/QUIN (41) which improved the cognitive function, while injection of IL-6 protein had opposite effects. These results provided evidence that intestinal I/R-induced IL-6 might penetrate BBB and derived the pathogenesis of postoperative delirium through activation of microglial IDO-1/QUIN metabolic pathway in the BLA. Our results together with previous evidence can serve as a pre-clinical justification for IL-6 modulation as a strategy to alleviate delirium associated cognitive impairment.

The current study had several limitations. First, younger adult mice were used in the study which did not represent the older people who have postoperative delirium more commonly. However, a great number of younger adult patients also develop postoperative delirium at an incidence from 5 to 13.9% (49). We expected the older mice would present grave delirium-like phenotype due to the high-risk factor of advanced age for delirium. Second, we did not evaluate the model in female mice, which did not reflect the same incidence of delirium in male and female patients. Future comparative studies need to be conducted to explore the difference in pathology between different age groups or sexes. Finally, the connection between microglial QUIN and BLA neuron activities was not thoroughly explored in the current study. The selective interference of microglial IDO-1 or neuronal NMDAR to validate the implication of the IDO-1/QUIN/NMDAR axis-dependent microglianeuron interaction in the pathogenesis of postoperative delirium will be investigated to consolidate the findings of current study.

In conclusion, the repeated I/R insults on the SMA capitulated certain features of postoperative delirium. The core symptom of cognition decline was explained by peripheral IL-6-mediated microglial reactivation followed by IDO-1/QUIN production in the BLA. The model is a useful tool for delineating the mechanisms of delirium after abdominal surgery.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Animal Experiment and Welfare Committee of Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University.

Author contributions

J-LM, X-DL, and K-XL conceived and designed the study and prepared the manuscript, with editing and revision by all authors. J-LM, Y-HD, S-DQ, Y-YF, and FZ performed the experiments. J-LM, Y-HD, and Y-YF analyzed the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by Grant No. 81730058 (K-XL) and No. 81902009 (J-LM) from the Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC) and No. 2021A1515012512 (J-LM) from the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province.

Acknowledgments

We thank Cai Li, Jian Liu, Wei-Feng Liu, and Jing-Juan Hu (Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China), for their assistances in the conducting the experiments. We also thank Tian-Ming Gao, Ying Li, and Ji-Hong Liu (Department of Neurobiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China) for providing lab and suggestions for behavioral testing and microglial experiment.

References

 McCusker J, Cole M, Abrahamowicz M, Primeau F, Belzile E. Delirium predicts 12-month mortality. *Arch Intern Med.* (2002) 162:457–63. doi: 10.1001/archinte. 162.4.457

2. Goldberg TE, Chen C, Wang Y, Jung E, Swanson A, Ing C, et al. Association of delirium with long-term cognitive decline: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:1373–81. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.2273

3. Wilson JE, Mart MF, Cunningham C, Shehabi Y, Girard TD, MacLullich AMJ, et al. Delirium. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2020) 6:90. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00223-4

4. Kreutzberg GW. Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* (1996) 19:312–8. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(96)10049-7

5. Feng X, Valdearcos M, Uchida Y, Lutrin D, Maze M, Koliwad SK. Microglia mediate postoperative hippocampal inflammation and cognitive decline in mice. *JCI Insight.* (2017) 2:e91229. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.91229

6. Cathomas F, Guetter K, Seifritz E, Klaus F, Kaiser S. Quinolinic acid is associated with cognitive deficits in schizophrenia but not major depressive disorder. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:9992. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-89335-9

7. Munster BC, Aronica E, Zwinderman AH, Eikelenboom P, Cunningham C, Rooij SE. Neuroinflammation in delirium: a postmortem case-control study. *Rejuvenation Res.* (2011) 14:615–22. doi: 10.1089/rej.2011.1185

8. Henjum K, Quist-Paulsen E, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Nilsson LNG, Watne LO. CSF sTREM2 in delirium-relation to Alzheimer's disease CSF biomarkers Abeta42, t-tau and p-tau. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:304. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1331-1

9. Field RH, Gossen A, Cunningham C. Prior pathology in the basal forebrain cholinergic system predisposes to inflammation-induced working memory deficits: reconciling inflammatory and cholinergic hypotheses of delirium. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:6288–94. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4673-11.2012

10. Culley DJ, Snayd M, Baxter MG, Xie Z, Lee IH, Rudolph J, et al. Systemic inflammation impairs attention and cognitive flexibility but not associative learning in aged rats: possible implications for delirium. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:107. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00107

11. Murray C, Sanderson DJ, Barkus C, Deacon RM, Rawlins JN, Bannerman DM, et al. Systemic inflammation induces acute working memory deficits in the

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.998397/full#supplementary-material

primed brain: relevance for delirium. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2012) 33:603–16. doi: 10. 1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.04.002

12. Zhou J, Huang WQ, Li C, Wu GY, Li YS, Wen SH, et al. Intestinal ischemia/reperfusion enhances microglial activation and induces cerebral injury and memory dysfunction in rats. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:2438–48. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182546855

13. Hovens IB, Schoemaker RG, van der Zee EA, Heineman E, Nyakas C, van Leeuwen BL. Surgery-induced behavioral changes in aged rats. *Exp Gerontol.* (2013) 48:1204–11. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2013.07.011

14. Hovens IB, van Leeuwen BL, Nyakas C, Heineman E, van der Zee EA, Schoemaker RG. Postoperative cognitive dysfunction and microglial activation in associated brain regions in old rats. *Neurobiol Learn Memory.* (2015) 118:74–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2014.11.009

15. Peng M, Zhang C, Dong Y, Zhang Y, Nakazawa H, Kaneki M, et al. Battery of behavioral tests in mice to study postoperative delirium. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:29874. doi: 10.1038/srep29874

16. Wei LA, Fearing MA, Sternberg EJ, Inouye SK. The confusion assessment method (CAM): a systematic review of current usage. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2008) 56:823–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01674.x

17. Clark ET, Gewertz BL. Intermittent ischemia potentiates intestinal reperfusion injury. J Vascular Surg. (1991) 13:601–6. doi: 10.1016/0741-5214(91) 90342-R

18. van Gool WA, van de Beek D, Eikelenboom P. Systemic infection and delirium: when cytokines and acetylcholine collide. *Lancet* (*London, England*). (2010) 375:773–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61 158-2

19. Fan R, Xu F, Previti ML, Davis J, Grande AM, Robinson JK, et al. Minocycline reduces microglial activation and improves behavioral deficits in a transgenic model of cerebral microvascular amyloid. *J Neurosci.* (2007) 27:3057–63. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.4371-06.2007

20. Ridker PM, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ, Hennekens CH. Plasma concentration of interleukin-6 and the risk of future myocardial infarction among apparently healthy men. *Circulation.* (2000) 101:1767–72. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.101.15.1767
21. Hu J, Feng X, Valdearcos M, Lutrin D, Uchida Y, Koliwad SK, et al. Interleukin-6 is both necessary and sufficient to produce perioperative neurocognitive disorder in mice. *Br J Anaesth.* (2018) 120:537–45. doi: 10.1016/j. bja.2017.11.096

22. Pardridge WM. Drug transport across the blood-brain barrier. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2012) 32:1959–72. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.126

23. Rashid MH, Sparrow NA, Anwar F, Guidry G, Covarrubias AE, Pang H, et al. Interleukin-6 mediates delirium-like phenotypes in a murine model of urinary tract infection. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2021) 18:247. doi: 10.1186/s12974-021-02304-x

24. Kraeuter AK, Guest PC, Sarnyai Z. The Y-Maze for Assessment of Spatial Working and Reference Memory in Mice. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, NJ)*. (2019) 1916:105–11. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8994-2_10

25. Yang M, Crawley JN. Simple behavioral assessment of mouse olfaction. *Curr Prot Neurosci.* (2009) 8:8–24. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0824s48

26. Lane JS, Todd KE, Lewis MP, Gloor B, Ashley SW, Reber HA, et al. Interleukin-10 reduces the systemic inflammatory response in a murine model of intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. *Surgery*. (1997) 122:288–94. doi: 10.1016/s0039-6060(97)90020-9

27. Battista D, Ferrari CC, Gage FH, Pitossi FJ. Neurogenic niche modulation by activated microglia: transforming growth factor beta increases neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2006) 23:83–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568. 2005.04539.x

28. Gold AB, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Black SE, Aviv RI, Tennen G, et al. The relationship between indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity and post-stroke cognitive impairment. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2011) 8:17. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-17

29. Maren S, Phan KL, Liberzon I. The contextual brain: implications for fear conditioning, extinction and psychopathology. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:417–28. doi: 10.1038/nrn3492

30. McDonald AJ, Mott DD. Functional neuroanatomy of amygdalohippocampal interconnections and their role in learning and memory. *J Neurosci Res.* (2017) 95:797–820. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23709

31. Yager LM, Garcia AF, Wunsch AM, Ferguson SM. The ins and outs of the striatum: role in drug addiction. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 301:529-41. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2015.06.033

32. Morrison HW, Filosa JA. A quantitative spatiotemporal analysis of microglia morphology during ischemic stroke and reperfusion. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2013) 10:4. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-4

33. Kozlowski C, Weimer RM. An automated method to quantify microglia morphology and application to monitor activation state longitudinally in vivo. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e31814. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031814

34. Zapala MA, Hovatta I, Ellison JA, Wodicka L, Del Rio JA, Tennant R, et al. Adult mouse brain gene expression patterns bear an embryologic imprint. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:10357–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0503357102

35. Moller JT, Cluitmans P, Rasmussen LS, Houx P, Rasmussen H, Canet J, et al. Long-term postoperative cognitive dysfunction in the elderly ISPOCD1 study. ISPOCD investigators. International Study of Post-Operative Cognitive Dysfunction. *Lancet (London, England)*. (1998) 351:857–61. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(97)07382-0

36. Roijers JP, Spillenaar Bilgen R, Hopmans CJ, Mulder PG, Buimer MG, Ho GH, et al. Abdominal aortic aneurysm patients remain at risk for delirium on the surgical ward after intensive care unit dismissal. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2020) 86:930–8. doi: 10.23736/S0375-9393.20.14281-0

37. Inouye SK, Kosar CM, Tommet D, Schmitt EM, Puelle MR, Saczynski JS, et al. The CAM-S: development and validation of a new scoring system for delirium severity in 2 cohorts. *Ann Internal Med.* (2014) 160:526–33. doi: 10.7326/M13-1927

38. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, et al. Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2009) 14:511–22. doi: 10.1038/ sj.mp.4002148

39. Salazar A, Gonzalez-Rivera BL, Redus L, Parrott JM, O'Connor JC. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase mediates anhedonia and anxiety-like behaviors caused by peripheral lipopolysaccharide immune challenge. *Horm Behav.* (2012) 62:202–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.03.010

40. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, et al. Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? *J Neuroinflammation*. (2011) 8:94. doi: 10.1186/ 1742-2094-8-94

41. Huang YS, Ogbechi J, Clanchy FI, Williams RO, Stone TW. IDO and Kynurenine Metabolites in Peripheral and CNS Disorders. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:388. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00388

42. Gaete Ortega D, Papathanassoglou E, Norris CM. The lived experience of delirium in intensive care unit patients: A meta-ethnography. *Aust Crit Care.* (2020) 33:193–202. doi: 10.1016/j.aucc.2019.01.003

43. Banks WA, Kastin AJ, Gutierrez EG. Penetration of interleukin-6 across the murine blood-brain barrier. *Neurosci Lett.* (1994) 179:53–6. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(94)90933-4

44. Liu P, Li YW, Wang XS, Zou X, Zhang DZ, Wang DX, et al. High serum interleukin-6 level is associated with increased risk of delirium in elderly patients after noncardiac surgery: a prospective cohort study. *Chinese Med J.* (2013) 126:3621–7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.20130211

45. Vasunilashorn SM, Ngo L, Inouye SK, Libermann TA, Jones RN, Alsop DC, et al. Cytokines and postoperative delirium in older patients undergoing major elective surgery. *J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2015) 70:1289–95. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv083

46. Rothaug M, Becker-Pauly C, Rose-John S. The role of interleukin-6 signaling in nervous tissue. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2016) 1863:1218–27. doi: 10.1016/j. bbamcr.2016.03.018

47. Kim H, Chen L, Lim G, Sung B, Wang S, McCabe MF, et al. Brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to the comorbidity of pain and depression. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:2940–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI61884

48. Belle L, Zhou V, Stuhr KL, Beatka M, Siebers EM, Knight JM, et al. Host interleukin 6 production regulates inflammation but not tryptophan metabolism in the brain during murine GVHD. *JCI Insight.* (2017) 2:e93726. doi: 10.1172/jci. insight.93726

49. Wang H, Guo X, Zhu X, Li Y, Jia Y, Zhang Z, et al. Gender differences and postoperative delirium in adult patients undergoing cardiac valve surgery. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2021) 8:751421. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.751421

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY Chong Lei, Fourth Military Medical University, China Ke Peng, The First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Kuo-Chuan Hung ed102605@gmail.com

[†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors have contributed

equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 12 August 2022 ACCEPTED 23 September 2022 PUBLISHED 05 October 2022

CITATION

Chen I-W, Sun C-K, Ko C-C, Fu P-H, Teng I-C, Liu W-C, Lin C-M and Hung K-C (2022) Analgesic efficacy and risk of low-to-medium dose intrathecal morphine in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: An updated meta-analysis. *Front. Med.* 9:1017676. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.1017676

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Sun, Ko, Fu, Teng, Liu, Lin and Hung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Analgesic efficacy and risk of low-to-medium dose intrathecal morphine in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: An updated meta-analysis

I-Wen Chen^{1†}, Cheuk-Kwan Sun^{2,3†}, Ching-Chung Ko^{4,5,6}, Pei-Han Fu⁷, I-Chia Teng⁷, Wei-Cheng Liu⁷, Chien-Ming Lin^{7‡} and Kuo-Chuan Hung^{7*‡}

¹Department of Anesthesiology, Chi Mei Medical Center, Liouying, Tainan City, Taiwan, ²Department of Emergency Medicine, E-Da Hospital, Kaohsiung City, Taiwan, ³College of Medicine, I-Shou University, Kaohsiung City, Taiwan, ⁴Department of Medical Imaging, Chi Mei Medical Center, Tainan City, Taiwan, ⁵Department of Health and Nutrition, Chia Nan University of Pharmacy and Science, Tainan City, Taiwan, ⁶Institute of Biomedical Sciences, National Sun Yat-sen University, Kaohsiung City, Taiwan, ⁷Department of Anesthesiology, Chi Mei Medical Center, Tainan City, Taiwan

Background: To evaluate the analgesic efficacy and risk of low-to-medium dose intrathecal morphine (ITM) (i.e., \leq 0.5 mg) following cardiac surgery.

Methods: Medline, Cochrane Library, Google scholar and EMBASE databases were searched from inception to February 2022. The primary outcome was pain intensity at postoperative 24 h, while the secondary outcomes included intravenous morphine consumption (IMC), extubation time, hospital/intensive care unit (ICU) length of stay (LOS), and ITM-associated side effects (e.g., respiratory depression). Subgroup analysis was performed on ITM dosage (low: <0.3 mg vs. medium: 0.3–0.5 mg).

Results: Fifteen RCTs involving 683 patients published from 1988 to 2021 were included. Pooled results showed significantly lower postoperative 24-h pain scores [mean difference (MD) = -1.61, 95% confidence interval: -1.98 to -1.24, p < 0.00001; trial sequential analysis: sufficient evidence; certainty of evidence: moderate] in the ITM group compared to the controls. Similar positive findings were noted at 12 (MD = -2.1) and 48 h (MD = -1.88). Use of ITM was also associated with lower IMC at 24 and 48 h (MD: -13.69 and -14.57 mg, respectively; all p < 0.05) and early tracheal extubation (i.e., 48.08 min). No difference was noted in hospital/ICU LOS, and nausea/vomiting in both groups, but patients receiving ITM had higher risk of pruritus (relative risk = 2.88, p = 0.008). There was no subgroup difference in IMC except a lower pain score with 0.3-0.5 mg than <0.3 mg at postoperative 24 h. Respiratory depression events were not noted in the ITM group.

Conclusion: Our results validated the analgesic efficacy of low-to-medium dose ITM for patients receiving cardiac surgery without increasing the risk of respiratory depression.

KEYWORDS

analgesia, cardiac surgery, intrathecal morphine, tracheal extubation, respiratory depression

Introduction

Cardiac surgery, which is traditionally performed via median sternotomy and involves extensive tissue retraction and dissection, can be associated with severe pain within postoperative 2 days (1, 2). Not only does uncontrolled pain activate the sympathetic nervous system and increase myocardial oxygen demand by triggering tachycardia, increased cardiac contractility, and hypertension (3), but it could also increase the risks of pulmonary infections and other complications through restricting respiratory capacity, hampering breathing mechanism, and impairing clearance of respiratory secretions (4). Notwithstanding the analgesic effectiveness of high-dose opioid, the associations with potential adverse side effects including prolonged mechanical ventilation, postoperative respiratory complications, and lengthened intensive care unit (ICU) stay have precluded its incorporation into the standard care protocol for patients undergoing cardiac surgery (5, 6). To address this issue, previous studies have shown that central neuraxial blocks (i.e., epidural and intrathecal analgesia) combined with general anesthesia (GA) could attenuate the severity of pain and adrenergic stress response as well as analgesic consumption more effectively compared to parenteral analgesia (7, 8). Indeed, intrathecal analgesia has been gaining popularity for pain control among patients receiving cardiac surgery to alleviate stress response and enhance postoperative recovery (9-11).

Intrathecal morphine (ITM), which enables rapid action of morphine on the central nervous system by enhancing its access to the cerebrospinal fluid, is being increasingly used in a variety of surgeries to provide effective analgesia and decrease opioid consumption (12–15). In addition to its analgesic advantages, other beneficial effects may include a potentially reduced hospital length of stay (LOS) and enhanced recovery after surgery (15–17). However, its use may be associated with side effects such as nausea, vomiting, itching, and even respiratory depression (12–15). Although ITM has been used for decades in patients undergoing cardiac surgery, its possible association with respiratory depression as reported in a previous meta-analysis (i.e., odds ratio of 7.86) has raised a clinical concern that may restrict its application in this patient population (18). On the other hand, pooled evidence has revealed that ITM-associated adverse events are dosedependent (15, 19). In that meta-analysis involving patients undergoing cardiac and non-cardiac surgeries, a relatively high dosage of ITM (e.g., >0.5 mg or >7 μ g/kg) was adopted in over 40% of the included studies (i.e., 11 out of 27 trials) (18). In contrast, focusing on patients undergoing abdominal surgeries, a meta-analysis suggested that ITM with a dose less than 0.5 mg would not increase the risk of respiratory depression (15).

Although ITM has been reported to be a promising analgesic approach for non-cardiac surgery (15), the analgesic efficacy and associated risks of a relatively low-dose ITM remain unclear in those receiving cardiac procedures. As previous meta-analyses have reported an association of an ITM dose of less than 0.5 mg with a prompt extubation without increasing the risk of respiratory depression (8, 14), we investigated the analgesic efficacy and safety of ITM dosage of ≤0.5 mg or \leq 7 µg/kg (i.e., based on a total dose \leq 0.5 mg for an average adult with a body weight of 70 kg). In the current metaanalysis, a low-dose ITM was defined as that of <0.3 mg as previously reported (20), while we defined a medium-dose ITM as 0.3-0.5 mg. By hypothesizing that low-to-medium dose ITM (i.e., ≤0.5 mg) may provide favorable analgesic efficacy without increasing the risk of respiratory depression in patients undergoing cardiac surgery, this updated meta-analysis attempted to provide updated evidence for clinical guidance through reviewing the currently available clinical trials.

Methods

This meta-analysis was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of the PRISMA statement and registered with the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (CRD42022310647).

Data sources and searches

We searched the Cochrane Library, Embase, Google scholar, and Medline databases from inception to February 11, 2022 using the following search terms: ["coronary artery bypass surger*" or "cardiopulmonary bypass surger*" or

"cardiovascular surger*" or "cardiac surger*" or "CABG" or "off-pump coronary artery surger*" or "coronary artery bypass graft surger*" or "Heart Surger*" or "Cardiac Surgical Procedure*" or "(Aortic or Mitral or Heart Valve Prosthesis Implantation or Aortic Valve or Mitral Valve) adj4 (procedure* or operation* or surger*)"] and [("Spinal" or "intraspinal" or "intradural" or "lumbar*" or "theca*" or "intrathecal" or "subarachnoid*" or "sub arachnoid*" or "regional") adj4 (puncture* or inject* or anesth* or anaesth* or needle*)] limited to randomized controlled trials (RCTs). No restriction was placed on gender, language, study location, and sample size during literature search. The search strategies for one of these databases are demonstrated in Supplementary Table 1. Additional records identified by scrutinizing the reference lists of the retrieved studies were also reviewed for eligibility of being included in the current study.

Inclusion criteria

To identify articles eligible for the present meta-analysis, we adopted the following criteria: (a) Population: adult patients (age \geq 18 years) undergoing a variety of cardiac surgeries with or without cardiopulmonary bypass, (b) Intervention: the use of a low-to-medium dose ITM with or without adjuncts (e.g., local anesthetics or short-acting opioids) as the intervention approach., (c) Comparison: ITM was not administered for postoperative pain control, (d) Outcomes: pain score, intravenous morphine consumption, length of hospital/ICU stay, extubation time, and ITM-associated side effects. We only included RCTs for analysis and contacted the authors of the included articles in which necessary information was missing in an attempt to access the original data.

Exclusion criteria

Exclusion criteria were: (1) studies which adopted a relatively high-dose ITM (i.e., >0.5 mg or 7 μ g/kg); (2) those without a control group; (3) those in which information regarding outcomes was unavailable, and (4) RCTs presented only as letters or abstracts, or (5) those published as reviews, case reports, or other forms instead of original research.

Study selection

Two authors first independently reviewed the titles and abstracts of the retrieved articles for eligibility of being incorporated into the current study. The same two authors then independently scrutinized the full texts of the potentially eligible studies according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Discrepancies in opinions about the suitability of inclusion for a particular RCT were settled through consulting a third reviewer.

Data extraction

The following information was retrieved from each study: first author, year of publication, patient characteristics, sample size, dosage of ITM, type of surgery, extubation time, intravenous morphine consumption, postoperative pain score, ITM-related side effects (e.g., pruritus, respiratory depression, nausea/vomiting), hospital LOS, ICU LOS. Disagreements were solved through discussion with a third author.

Outcomes and definitions

The primary outcome was the analgesic efficacy of lowto-medium dose ITM as reflected by the postoperative pain score at postoperative 24 h, while the secondary outcomes included intravenous morphine consumption, extubation time, and hospital/ICU LOS as well as the risks of pruritus, respiratory depression, and nausea/vomiting. The definition of respiratory depression was in accordance with that of each study. If one study did not clearly define this event, we regarded postoperative reintubation or the use of non-invasive ventilation as an indicator of respiratory depression. Subgroup analysis based on the dosage of ITM (i.e., <0.3 mg vs. 0.3-0.5 mg) was also performed to assess possible dose-dependent analgesic efficacy and side effects. Regarding the possible influence of other factors on postoperative 24-h pain score, we conducted subgroup analyses focusing on the impacts of three confounders: (1) the type of surgery [e.g., coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG), valve surgery, combined procedures], (2) the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (i.e., yes vs. no), and (3) the use of other intrathecal agents (i.e., ITM alone vs. ITM combined with other agents).

Assessment of risk of bias

Using the Cochrane's tool (RoB 2), two authors independently assessed the risks of different biases of the included RCTs, namely, allocation, performance, attrition, measurement, and reporting biases as well as the overall bias (21). The risk of bias of each RCT was reported as "low," "some concern," or "high." Disagreement between the two authors was settled through arbitration that involved a third reviewer.

Data synthesis and analysis

Cochrane Review Manager (RevMan 5.3; Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014) was used for the present meta-analysis. The pooled risk ratios (RRs) and mean difference (MD) with 95%

confidence intervals (CIs) were computed for binary and continuous outcomes, respectively. For the current study, visual analog scale (VAS) 0-10 cm or 0-100 mm, numerical rating scale (NRS) 0-10, and visual numeric scale (VNS) 0-10 were converted into VAS 0-10 cm for pain severity comparison (22). Regarding the comparison of opioid dosage across different studies, we converted all opioid dosages to morphine equivalents as previously described (23). We assessed heterogeneity with I^2 statistics and defined substantial heterogeneity as an I^2 over 50%. Assuming the existence of heterogeneity across the included studies, we adopted a priori a random-effects model for outcome evaluation (22, 24). The potential publication bias was assessed by visual inspection of a funnel plot on encountering 10 or more trials sharing a particular outcome. For equivocal findings from funnel plots, Egger's test was conducted to investigate the possibility of bias using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis version 3.3.070 (BioSTAT, United States). Sensitivity analysis was performed with a leave-one-out approach to weigh the potential influence of the data from an individual trial on the overall outcome. The level of significance was set at <0.05 for all outcome analyses.

Robustness of the conclusion and reliability of the pooled evidence were evaluated with trial sequential analysis (TSA) to reduce false-positive or false-negative outcomes from multiple testing and sparse data (25, 26). TSA was conducted with TSA viewer version 0.9.5.10 Beta¹. We calculated the required information size as well as the trial sequential monitoring boundaries for all outcomes. The variance was obtained from the retrieved data of our included studies.

If the cumulative Z-curve crosses the TSA boundary, there is sufficient evidence for the expected intervention effect with no need for support from further studies. In contrast, if the Z-curve fails to cross the TSA boundaries or attain the required information size, the level of evidence is inadequate to support a conclusion. Setting a type I error at 5%, a power at 80%, and a relative risk reduction at 20% for dichotomous outcomes, we computed the required information size with two-sided tests (27).

Certainty assessment

The certainty of the evidence from our primary and secondary outcomes was assigned to four grades (i.e., high, moderate, low, and very low) by two independent authors based on the probability of study limitations, publication bias, effect consistency, imprecision, and indirectness as described in GRADE. In case of disagreements about certainty ratings, consensus was reached through discussion.

Results

Study selection and characteristics

The study selection process is shown in Figure 1. A total of 740 records were acquired from database search. After removing duplicates and records that did not meet the inclusion criteria, we identified 39 potentially eligible trials for a more detailed review. After analyzing the full text, 24 studies were excluded because of being non-RCTs (review article, n = 2), availability only as an abstract (n = 1), no control group (n = 1), and use of ITM > 0.5 mg or 7 μ g/kg (n = 20) (Supplementary Table 2). Finally, 15 RCTs published between 1988 and 2021 met our inclusion criteria (3, 28-41). The characteristics of the included trials are shown in Table 1. The mean or median age ranged from 25.9 to 67.3 years with a male predominance (>70%, 11 trials). CABG and mixed CABG/valve surgery were performed in eight (3, 31, 34-36, 39-41) and four (28, 29, 33, 37) trials, respectively, while the other three trials were focused on minimally invasive cardiac surgery (n = 2) (30, 38) and valve surgery (n = 1) (32). ITM was administered preoperatively in all studies with a maximum dose of 0.5 mg or 7 $\mu\text{g/kg}$ and a minimum dose of 0.25 mg or 0.4 µg/kg. Intrathecal morphine was used as a single agent in 12 trials (3, 28, 30-34, 36, 38-41) and as a component of a combined regimen in three studies (29, 35, 37). Patients in the control groups received local anesthesia of the back, no treatment, or placebo (e.g., intrathecal normal saline). Analysis of the occurrence of respiratory depression including postoperative reintubation or the use of non-invasive ventilation in the five trials with available information (3, 30-33)showed no such incidence in a total of 234 patients, suggesting the safety of its clinical use. Nevertheless, because of the absence of events indicating respiratory depression in all of the five studies, statistical analysis could not be performed.

Risk of bias assessment

The assessment of the risk of bias is shown in **Figure 2**. The overall risk of bias was considered to be low in 11 studies (3, 28–32, 35–37, 39, 41), and high in four trial (33, 34, 38, 40). High risk of bias was associated with bias arising from the randomization process.

Results of syntheses

Primary outcome: Impact of intrathecal morphine on severity of pain at postoperative 24 h

By adopting a random-effects model, ITM was associated with a lower pain score compared to that in the control group at postoperative 24 h (MD = -1.61, 95% CI: -1.98 to -1.24,

¹ www.ctu.dk/tsa



p < 0.00001, $I^2 = 90\%$, 11 trials, 578 participants) (Figure 3). There were similar findings at postoperative 12 h (MD = -2.1, 95% CI: -2.83 to -1.36, p < 0.00001, $I^2 = 96\%$, 10 trials, 517 participants) and 48 h (MD = -1.88, 95% CI: -2.83 to -0.93, p = 0.0001, $I^2 = 80\%$, 4 trials, 259 participants). Subgroup analysis demonstrated a superior analgesic efficacy associated with a dosage of 0.3-0.5 mg compared to that with <0.3 mg (p = 0.03) at postoperative 24 h, but not at 12 or 48 h (Supplementary Figures 1, 2).

The results of subgroup analyses based on the type of cardiac surgery, the use of cardiopulmonary bypass, and combination with other intrathecal agents are demonstrated in Figures 4–6, respectively. Despite the absence of notable subgroup variation in 24-h pain score among different types of cardiac surgery (p = 0.14) (Figure 4), those not subjected to cardiopulmonary bypass (Figure 5) and those receiving ITM alone instead of a combined regimen (Figure 6) were found to have a more

significant reduction in 24-h pain score (p < 0.00001 and p = 0.02, respectively).

Secondary outcomes: Association of intrathecal morphine with intravenous morphine consumption, early extubation time, and length of stay

Forest plot showed a lower intravenous morphine consumption in the ITM groups than that in the control groups at postoperative 24 h (MD = -13.69, 95% CI: -22.29 to -5.08, p = 0.002; I2 = 88%, 355 participants) (Figure 7) and 48 h (MD = -14.57, 95% CI: -26.98 to -2.17, p = 0.02; $I^2 = 98\%$, 289 participants) (Supplementary Figure 3). There were no subgroup differences between the doses of 0.3–0.5 mg and <0.3 mg at these two time points.

The extubation time was 41.4-355 and 39.2-396 min in the ITM and control groups, respectively. Merged results

demonstrated a shorter time for tracheal extubation in the ITM group than that in the control group (MD = -48.08 min, 95%: -78.49 to -17.68, p = 0.002, $I^2 = 75\%$, 10 trials, 483 participants) (Figure 8). Subgroup analysis revealed no impact of ITM dosage on extubation time (p = 0.2).

Our results showed no significant beneficial effect of using ITM on shortening ICU LOS (MD = -5.69 h, 95% CI: -11.83 to 0.46, p = 0.07, $I^2 = 87\%$, four trials, 158 participants) (**Supplementary Figure 4**) or hospital LOS (MD = -0.53 days, 95% CI: -1.16 to 0.1, p = 0.1, $I^2 = 0$, four trials, 178 participants) (**Supplementary Figure 5**). Subgroup analysis also demonstrated no dose-related impact of ITM on hospital/ICU LOS.

Secondary outcomes: Impact of intrathecal morphine on risks of nausea/vomiting and pruritus

Merged results demonstrated no association between ITM and the risk of PONV (RR = 1.13, 95% CI: 0.73 to 1.74, p = 0.59, $I^2 = 29\%$, nine trials, 495 participants) (**Supplementary Figure 6**). Consistently, subgroup analysis showed no impact of ITM on the risk of PONV (p = 0.75).

Forest plot revealed a higher risk of pruritus in patients receiving ITM compared to that in the control group (RR = 2.88, 95% CI: 1.31 to 6.31, p = 0.008, $I^2 = 0\%$, eight trials, 411 participants) (**Supplementary Figure** 7). Nevertheless, subgroup analysis demonstrated no correlation between ITM dosage and the risk of pruritus (p = 0.92).

Sensitivity analysis and publication bias

Sensitivity analysis confirmed the robustness of most results except three secondary outcomes (i.e., intravenous morphine consumption at postoperative 24 h, ICU LOS, and risk of pruritus). The potential publication bias was assessed by visual inspection of a funnel plot in three outcomes (i.e., pain score at postoperative 12-, 24 h, and extubation time) (**Supplementary Figures 8–10**). There is a low risk of publication bias on extubation time (**Supplementary Figure 10**), while there was uncertainty on pain score at postoperative 12 and 24 h (**Supplementary Figures 8**, 9). Egger's test revealed *p*-values of 0.68 and 0.086 for pain score at 12 and 24 h, respectively, indicating no publication bias for the two outcomes.

Trial sequence analysis

Trial sequential analysis demonstrated sufficient evidence to support a robust conclusion for pain score at postoperative 24 h (i.e., primary outcome) (Figure 9). In addition, TSA in the current study also suggested a robust conclusion for postoperative pain score (i.e., at 12 and 48 h), intravenous morphine consumption at postoperative 24 h, and extubation time by demonstrating the crossing of cumulative Z-curve through the trial sequential monitoring boundary and reaching the required information size (Supplementary Figures 11–13,15). For intravenous morphine consumption at postoperative 48 h, failure of the cumulative Z-curve to cross the trial sequential monitoring boundary or reach the required

Study	Age (years) ^a	Age (years) ^a BMI (kg/m ²) or N ^a Male Proced BW (kg) ^a		Procedures	ITM	Time of ITM	Country	
Alhashemi (3)	60.4 vs. 64.4	92.6 vs. 90.5	16 vs. 19	34%	CABG	0.25 mg	Preop	Canada
Bettex (28)	53.5 vs. 57.2	76 vs. 81.5	11 vs. 13	92%	CABG/valve surgery	0.5 mg	Preop	Switzerland
Bhat (29)	46 vs. 42	NA	45 vs. 42	43%	CABG/valve surgery	0.25 mg ^b	Preop	India
Dhawan (30)	67.3 vs. 64.5	27.5 vs. 28.6	37 vs. 42	82%	MICS [§]	5 μg/kg	Preop	United States
dos Santos (31)	60.9 vs. 63.8	24.4 vs. 27.1	20 vs. 22	86%	CABG	0.4 mg	Preop	Brazil
Elgendy (32)	26.5 vs. 25.9	56 vs. 64.4	22 vs. 22	48%	AVR	7 μg/kg	Preop	Egypt
Jacobsohn (33)	62 vs. 64	28 vs. 29	22 vs. 21	86%	CABG/valve surgery	6 μg/kg	Preop	United States
Jara (34)	64.4 vs. 64.1	NA	20 vs. 12	78%	CABG [§]	5 µg/kg	Preop	United States
Lena (36)	61 vs. 60	NA	14 vs. 16	77%	CABG	4 μg/kg	Preop	France
Lena (35)	66.4 vs. 66.2	78 vs. 74	20 vs. 20	80%	CABG	$4 \mu\text{g/kg}^{c}$	Preop	France
Lena (37)	66 vs. 66	27 vs. 25	42 vs. 41	80%	CABG/valve surgery	$4\mu\text{g/kg}^{d}$	Preop	France
Mukherjee (38)	55 vs. 60	25.5 vs. 25.4	30 vs. 31	69%	MICS	1.5 μg/kg	Preop	Germany
Roediger (39)	65.5 vs. 60.7	85 vs. 82.5	15 vs. 15	100%	CABG	0.5 mg	Preop	Belgium
Vanstrum (40)	63.7 vs. 66.8	83.8 vs. 74	16 vs. 14	87%	CABG	0.5 mg	Preop	United States
Yapici (41)	55.3 vs. 59.3	72.8 vs. 62.2	12 vs. 11	70%	CABG	7 μg/kg	Preop	Turkey

TABLE 1 Characteristics of studies (n = 15).

AVR, aortic valve replacement; MICS, minimally invasive cardiac surgery; ITM, intrathecal morphine; ^a present as ITM vs. control group; ^b combined with 40 mg Marcaine; ^c combined with clonidine 1 μ g/kg; ^d combined with clonidine 2 μ g/kg; Preop, pre-operation; BW, body weight; BMI, body mass index; Coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG); [§] cardiopulmonary bypass not used.



information size on TSA suggested inadequate evidence for this outcome (**Supplementary Figure 14**). Similarly, the cumulative *Z*-curve did not cross the futility boundary for hospital/ICU LOS and risk of nausea/vomiting, implicating inconclusive evidence for these outcomes (**Supplementary Figures 16–18**).

TSA was not conducted for risk of pruritus due to insufficient information (Supplementary Figure 19).

Certainty of evidence

Table 2 summarizes the quality of evidence for outcome measures in accordance with the GRADE system. The levels of evidence were graded as low, moderate, and high in two (intravenous morphine consumption at 24 and 48 h), five (pain score at 12–48 h, extubation time, ICU stay), and three (hospital stay, risk of nausea/vomiting, risk of pruritus) outcomes, respectively. The level of evidence was downgraded due to a high degree of inconsistency and imprecision.

Discussion

Satisfactory postoperative pain control is essential to patient recovery after cardiothoracic surgery because inadequate analgesia may contribute to prolonged immobilization as well as impaired lung expansion and respiratory function, especially in those undergoing median sternotomy (4, 42–44). Our results demonstrated an association of low-to-medium dose ITM with a lower pain score and intravenous morphine consumption compared to the control group up to postoperative 48 h without increasing the risks of PONV and respiratory depression. Besides, a shorter extubation time (i.e., 48.08 min) was noted in patients receiving low-to-medium dose ITM despite the absence of a positive impact of ITM on ICU/hospital LOS. On the other hand, ITM-associated pruritus was noted regardless of the dosage used in the current meta-analysis.

Although two previous meta-analyses recruiting patients receiving cardiac (8) or cardiac/non-cardiac (18) surgery reported the effectiveness of ITM for reducing pain score and intravenous morphine consumption, most trials in one metaanalysis (i.e., 13 out of 17) (8) and a significant proportion in the other (i.e., 11 out of 27) (18) used a relatively high dose of ITM (i.e., 8 μ g/kg-4 mg). Therefore, the relatively high risk of respiratory depression (odds ratio: 7.86) in one of the metaanalyses (18), which may partly be attributed to a high ITM dosage, raises the concern over the possibility of a dose-related increase in the risk of respiratory complications. Similarly, despite focusing on patients receiving CABG, another metaanalysis including mostly trials adopting a high-dose ITM (8) could not reflect the efficacy of low-to-medium dose ITM in the cardiac surgery setting. Accordingly, the present study, which systematically reviewed the evidence from currently available clinical trials, is the first to investigate the impacts of low-tomedium dose ITM on the efficacy of postoperative analgesia as well as the risks of adverse side-effects in patients after cardiac surgery.

In general, surgical pain after cardiac procedures is most intense during the first 2 days, especially in the

		ITM			Control			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.2.1 < 0.3 mg									
Bhat 2021	0	0	45	4	1.54	42		Not estimable	
Lena 2005	3.15	1.98	20	4.15	3.17	20	3.8%	-1.00 [-2.64, 0.64]	
Lena 2008	0.98	1.25	42	1.93	1.38	41	11.5%	-0.95 [-1.52, -0.38]	
Mukherjee 2012	2.48	0.26	30	3.91	0.42	31	15.2%	-1.43 [-1.60, -1.26]	•
Subtotal (95% CI)			137			134	30.5%	-1.30 [-1.62, -0.97]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.03; Cl	ni² = 2.	73, df =	= 2 (P =	0.26); 1	² = 27%			
Test for overall effect:	Z = 7.86	; (P < (0.00001)					
1.2.2 0.3-0.5 mg									
Bettex 2002	0.45	0.78	11	3	1.23	13	8.9%	-2.55 [-3.36, -1.74]	
Dhawan 2021	2	3.1	33	6.33	3.08	36	4.5%	-4.33 [-5.79, -2.87]	
dos Santos 2009	1.38	1.97	20	4.45	2.8	22	4.6%	-3.07 [-4.52, -1.62]	
Elgendy 2017	1.37	0.03	22	2.44	0.06	22	15.7%	-1.07 [-1.10, -1.04]	•
Jacobsohn 2005	4.53	0.53	22	4.89	0.53	21	14.1%	-0.36 [-0.68, -0.04]	
Jara 2001	0.75	1.09	20	6.167	2.911	12	3.6%	-5.42 [-7.13, -3.70]	
Vanstrum 1988	1.7	0.2	16	3.1	0.8	14	13.0%	-1.40 [-1.83, -0.97]	-
Yapici 2008	1.75	2.05	12	3.45	1.18	11	5.0%	-1.70 [-3.05, -0.35]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			156			151	69.5%	-2.06 [-2.68, -1.45]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.56: CI	ni² = 8€	6.23. df	= 7 (P ·	< 0.000	01): l² =	92%		
Test for overall effect:	Z = 6.54	(P < (0.00001)		,,			
Total (95% CI)			293			285	100.0%	-1.61 [-1.98, -1.24]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.23: CI	ni² = 1(2.27. 0	lf = 10 (P < 0.0	0001):	² = 90%		
Test for overall effect:				,	110	/, -			-4 -2 0 2 4
Test for subgroup diff		•		'	- 0.02	12 - 7	0 20/		Favours [ITM] Favours [Control]

FIGURE 3

Forest plot comparing the pain score at postoperative 24 h between intrathecal morphine (ITM) and control groups. CI, confidence interval; IV, inverse variance; SD, standard deviation.



FIGURE 4

Subgroup analysis comparing postoperative 24-h pain score between intrathecal morphine (ITM) and control groups based on type of cardiac surgery. CI, confidence interval; IV, inverse variance; SD, standard deviation.

		ITM		C	ontrol			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
.14.1 Bypass									
Bettex 2002	0.45	0.78	11	3	1.23	13	8.9%	-2.55 [-3.36, -1.74]	_ _
3hat 2021	0	0	45	4	1.54	42		Not estimable	
los Santos 2009	1.38	1.97	20	4.45	2.8	22	4.6%	-3.07 [-4.52, -1.62]	
Elgendy 2017	1.37	0.03	22	2.44	0.06	22	15.7%	-1.07 [-1.10, -1.04]	•
acobsohn 2005	4.53	0.53	22	4.89	0.53	21	14.1%	-0.36 [-0.68, -0.04]	-
ena 2005	3.15	1.98	20	4.15	3.17	20	3.8%	-1.00 [-2.64, 0.64]	
ena 2008	0.98	1.25	42	1.93	1.38	41	11.5%	-0.95 [-1.52, -0.38]	
/lukherjee 2012	2.48	0.26	30	3.91	0.42	31	15.2%	-1.43 [-1.60, -1.26]	•
/anstrum 1988	1.7	0.2	16	3.1	0.8	14	13.0%	-1.40 [-1.83, -0.97]	-
′apici 2008	1.75	2.05	12	3.45	1.18	11	5.0%	-1.70 [-3.05, -0.35]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			240			237	91.9%	-1.27 [-1.58, -0.97]	•
leterogeneity: Tau ² = est for overall effect:	Z = 8.09			,	< 0.000	01); l² =	86%		
.14.2 Bypass not us	ed								
Dhawan 2021	2	3.1	33	6.33	3.08	36	4.5%	-4.33 [-5.79, -2.87]	
ara 2001	0.75	1.09		6.167	2.911	12	3.6%	-5.42 [-7.13, -3.70]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			53			48	8.1%	-4.79 [-5.90, -3.68]	-
leterogeneity: Tau ² = est for overall effect:	,		,	`	0.34); l [:]	² = 0%			
otal (95% CI)			293			285	100.0%	-1.61 [-1.98, -1.24]	◆
leterogeneity: Tau ² =)2.27, c	,	P < 0.0	0001); I	² = 90%	-	-4 -2 0 2 4 Favours [ITM] Favours [Control]

FIGURE 5

Subgroup analysis comparing postoperative 24-h pain score between intrathecal morphine (ITM) and control groups based on the use of cardiopulmonary bypass. CI, confidence interval; IV, inverse variance; SD, standard deviation.

		ITM		c	ontrol			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% Cl	IV, Random, 95% CI
.13.1 ITM alone									
Bettex 2002	0.45	0.78	11	3	1.23	13	8.9%	-2.55 [-3.36, -1.74]	- - -
Dhawan 2021	2	3.1	33	6.33	3.08	36	4.5%	-4.33 [-5.79, -2.87]	
los Santos 2009	1.38	1.97	20	4.45	2.8	22	4.6%	-3.07 [-4.52, -1.62]	
Elgendy 2017	1.37	0.03	22	2.44	0.06	22	15.7%	-1.07 [-1.10, -1.04]	•
lacobsohn 2005	4.53	0.53	22	4.89	0.53	21	14.1%	-0.36 [-0.68, -0.04]	-
lara 2001	0.75	1.09	20	6.167	2.911	12	3.6%	-5.42 [-7.13, -3.70] —	
/lukherjee 2012	2.48	0.26	30	3.91	0.42	31	15.2%	-1.43 [-1.60, -1.26]	•
/anstrum 1988	1.7	0.2	16	3.1	0.8	14	13.0%	-1.40 [-1.83, -0.97]	-
/apici 2008	1.75	2.05	12	3.45	1.18	11	5.0%	-1.70 [-3.05, -0.35]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			186			182	84.7%	-1.75 [-2.16, -1.34]	\bullet
Bhat 2021 Lena 2005 Lena 2008 Subtotal (95% CI)	0.98	0 1.98 1.25	45 20 42 107	4 4.15 1.93	1.54 3.17 1.38	42 20 41 103	3.8% 11.5% 15.3%	Not estimable -1.00 [-2.64, 0.64] -0.95 [-1.52, -0.38] -0.96 [-1.49, -0.42]	
leterogeneity: Tau² = lest for overall effect:	,		· ·	,	0.95); l ²	² = 0%			
「otal (95% CI)			293			285	100.0%	-1.61 [-1.98, -1.24]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Heterogeneity: Tau² = Fest for overall effect: Fest for subgroup diff	Z = 8.55	(P < (0.0000)		,.			-4 -2 0 2 4 Favours [ITM] Favours [Control]

		ITM		C	ontrol			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
tudy or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
7.1 < 0.3 mg									
ena 2003	39	39.3	14	39.5	16.7	16	8.3%	-0.50 [-22.65, 21.65]	
ena 2005	15.8	12.6	20	32.7	22.3	20	14.1%	-16.90 [-28.13, -5.67]	
ena 2008	13.7	14.4	42	39	30.3	41	14.6%	-25.30 [-35.55, -15.05]	
ukherjee 2012	12.85	2.05	30	14.72	2.17	31	18.4%	-1.87 [-2.93, -0.81]	-
ubtotal (95% CI)			106			108	55.4%	-11.67 [-25.42, 2.08]	
est for overall effect:	Z = 1.66	(P = 0.	10)	,		,.			
7.2 0.3-0.5 mg		00.05		50.07	00.04		40.00/	00 07 1 40 44 47 001	
hawan 2021		23.25		59.67		36		-29.67 [-42.11, -17.23]	
os Santos 2009	13.55	10.49		27.82		22	14.5%	-14.27 [-24.84, -3.70]	
	40.04	0 40							_
oediger 2006	10.21	9.19		17.36	8.68	15 73	16.8%	-7.15 [-13.55, -0.75]	
oediger 2006 ubtotal (95% CI)			68			73	44.6%	-7.15 [-13.55, -0.75] -16.15 [-28.66, -3.64]	
oediger 2006	96.80; C	Chi² = 10	68).11, df			73	44.6%		
oediger 2006 ubtotal (95% CI) eterogeneity: Tau ² =	96.80; C	Chi² = 10	68).11, df			73); l² = 80	44.6%	-16.15 [-28.66, -3.64]	
oediger 2006 ubtotal (95% CI) eterogeneity: Tau ² = est for overall effect:	96.80; C Z = 2.53	Chi² = 10 (P = 0.	68).11, df 01) 174	= 2 (P =	= 0.006)	73); I ² = 80 181	44.6% 0% 100.0%	-16.15 [-28.66, -3.64]	
oediger 2006 ubtotal (95% CI) eterogeneity: Tau ² = est for overall effect: otal (95% CI)	96.80; C Z = 2.53 104.39;	Chi² = 10 (P = 0. Chi² = 5	68 0.11, df 01) 174 51.75, c	= 2 (P =	= 0.006)	73); I ² = 80 181	44.6% 0% 100.0%	-16.15 [-28.66, -3.64]	-20 -10 0 10 20 Favours [ITM] Favours [Cc

FIGURE 7

Forest plot comparing intravenous morphine consumption at postoperative 24 h between intrathecal morphine (ITM) and control groups. CI, confidence interval: IV. inverse variance: SD, standard deviation.



younger population (1). Compared with previous meta-analyses which did not investigate the analgesic efficacy of ITM at postoperative 48 h (8, 18), our finding of a significant reduction in pain intensity associated with low-to-medium dose ITM at postoperative 12–48 h (range of mean difference: -1.61 to -2.1) highlighted its efficacy during the acute painful period. In addition, subgroup analysis indicated no impact of ITM dosage on analgesic efficacy at postoperative 12 and 48 h, implying the feasibility of adopting a low-dose ITM (i.e., $<\!0.3$ mg or 4 $\mu g/kg)$ in the cardiac operation setting.

Despite the lack of a significant beneficial impact of ITM on mortality or the incidence of myocardial infarction following cardiac surgery from pooled evidence (8, 45), optimization of acute pain management with ITM not only may enhance postoperative recovery and



TABLE 2	Summary	of findings	for the	main	comparison.
---------	---------	-------------	---------	------	-------------

Outcomes	Effect (Risk o	or mean)	Relative effect (95% CI)	No. of participants	Certainty of the evidence	Comments	
	Intervention group	Control group		(studies)	(GRADE)		
Pain score at 12 h	_	_	MD -2.1 (-2.83 to -1.36)	517 (10 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	b	
Pain score at 24 h	-	-	MD -1.61 (-1.98 to -1.24)	578 (11 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	b	
Pain score at 48 h	-	_	MD -1.88 (-2.83 to -0.93)	259 (4 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	b	
Intravenous morphine consumption at 24 h	-	_	MD -13.69 (-22.29 to -5.08)	355 (7 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	a, b	
Intravenous morphine consumption at 48 h	_	_	MD -14.57 (-26.98 to -2.17)	289 (5 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	a, b	
Extubation time	_	_	MD -48.08 (-78.49 to -17.68)	483 (10 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	b	
Intensive care unit (ICU) length of stay	_	_	MD -5.69 (-11.83 to 0.46)	158 (4 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	b	
Hospital stays	_	_	MD -0.53 (-1.16 to 0.1)	178 (4 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊕ High	-	
Nausea/vomiting	56/251	48/244	RR 1.13 (0.73 to 1.74)	495 (9 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊕ High	-	
Pruritis	22/209	6/202	RR 2.88 (1.31 to 6.31)	411 (8 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊕ High	-	

^aWide 95% CI.

^bThe I square is more than 50%.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence: High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect. Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different. Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect. Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

minimize the possibility of persistent chronic pain following cardiac surgery (46, 47) but could also reduce the risk of postoperative delirium, which has been identified as a potential sequela of acute pain (48, 49) possibly associated with long-term cognitive decline (50). Hence, our findings suggested that incorporation of ITM into the standard pain management strategy may be recommended for this patient population.

In the present study, ITM was related to a lower intravenous morphine consumption compared with the control groups at postoperative 24 (MD = -13.69 mg) and 48 (MD = -14.57 mg) hours. Consistent with our findings, a previous meta-analysis in which the majority of included trials used a high-dose ITM (i.e., 8 µg/kg-4 mg) reported that ITM decreased intravenous morphine consumption by 11 mg after cardiac surgery (8). The comparable reductions in intravenous morphine dosage between the present study and the previous meta-analysis (8) suggested similar opioidsparing effects between high-dose (i.e., 8 µg/kg-4 mg) and low-to-medium dose (i.e., ≤ 0.5 mg) ITM in the cardiac surgery setting. Furthermore, we also found no impact of ITM dosage on intravenous morphine consumption during subgroup analysis (i.e., <0.3 mg vs. 0.3-0.5 mg), implying the feasibility of using a low-dose ITM in clinical practice. Nevertheless, compared with the control group with a median intravenous morphine consumption of 32.7 mg at postoperative 24 h, our study showed a reduction in intravenous morphine dosage only by only 13.69 mg in those receiving low-tomedium dose ITM. Therefore, our findings implied the need for additional postoperative analgesic strategies in patients after cardiac surgery.

Despite the lack of clinical significance, we revealed a shorter extubation time in the ITM group compared to that in the control group (i.e., MD = -48.08 min). This finding may be attributed to a decreased pain intensity and reduced intravenous morphine consumption in the immediate postoperative period (51). In contrast, the use of a relatively high-dose ITM, which could be associated with respiratory depression (15), may mask the beneficial effect of ITM on early tracheal extubation in a previous meta-analysis (8). Taking into account the recommended practice of early extubation (defined as within postoperative 6 h) after cardiac surgery (52) that was demonstrated in our control group, a further reduction of 48.08 min within such a relatively short period by using ITM as shown in the present study could be of clinical significance. Such a tendency for early tracheal extubation in the current meta-analysis may partially explain the relatively minor shortening in extubation time with low-to-medium dose ITM. As early tracheal extubation has been found to be associated with a decreased risk of infections, stroke, renal failure, and mortality (53-55), our results suggested that adoption of low-to-medium dose ITM in patients with

a high risk of delayed extubation [e.g., the elderly (56)] may be recommended.

There are several limitations that need to be addressed in the current meta-analysis. First, the relatively small sample size of each trial included in the present study may potentially bias our results. Second, the recruitment of predominantly males (i.e., ≥70% in 11 out of 15 trials) with a relatively young age (i.e., ≤ 65 years) in our study may restrict the applicability of our findings to females and the aged population. Third, heterogeneity in study design, procedure, drug dosage, and institute-based practices across the included studies may bias our study outcomes. In fact, our finding of a high heterogeneity in pain score and intravenous morphine consumption implicated a potential adverse effect on the reliability of our results. Fourth, the availability of only five trials that provided information about the absence of respiratory depression warrants further investigations into the potential influence. Fifth, because the analgesic efficacy of ITM may be affected by the use of other adjuncts or cardiopulmonary bypass, further studies are needed to address this issue. Finally, the beneficial effects of low-to-medium dose ITM on the risk of mortality and myocardial infarction were not investigated because of limited information available from the included studies.

Conclusion

Our results demonstrated that low-to-medium dose intrathecal morphine (i.e., ≤ 0.5 mg) was associated with a lower pain severity and intravenous morphine consumption without increasing the risk of respiratory depression. Nevertheless, our finding of only a moderate reduction in intravenous morphine consumption associated with the use of low-to-medium dose ITM warrants further studies to investigate the effectiveness of a multimodal analgesic approach in the post-cardiac surgery care setting.

Author contributions

I-WC and C-KS contributed to conceptualization and literature search. C-CK and W-CL contributed to methodology. C-CK and P-HF contributed to trial selection. K-CH contributed to data analysis. P-HF and I-CT contributed to data extraction. K-CH, C-ML, and C-KS contributed to writing—original draft preparation. K-CH and C-KS contributed to writing—review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Mueller XM, Tinguely F, Tevaearai HT, Revelly JP, Chioléro R, von Segesser LK. Pain location, distribution, and intensity after cardiac surgery. *Chest.* (2000) 118:391-6.

2. Bignami E, Castella A, Pota V, Saglietti F, Scognamiglio A, Trumello C, et al. Perioperative pain management in cardiac surgery: a systematic review. *Minerva anestesiol.* (2018) 84:488–503.

3. Alhashemi JA, Sharpe MD, Harris CL, Sherman V, Boyd D. Effect of subarachnoid morphine administration on extubation time after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *J Cardiothorac vasc Anesth.* (2000) 14:639–44.

4. Gottschalk A, Cohen SP, Yang S, Ochroch EA. Preventing and treating pain after thoracic surgery. *Anesthesiology*. (2006) 104:594–600.

5. Oderda GM, Said Q, Evans RS, Stoddard GJ, Lloyd J, Jackson K, et al. Opioidrelated adverse drug events in surgical hospitalizations: impact on costs and length of stay. *Ann Pharmacother*. (2007) 41:400–6.

6. Meade MO, Guyatt G, Butler R, Elms B, Hand L, Ingram A, et al. Trials comparing early vs late extubation following cardiovascular surgery. *Chest.* (2001) 120:445s–53s.

7. Lee TW, Kowalski S, Falk K, Maguire D, Freed DH, HayGlass KT. High spinal anesthesia enhances anti-inflammatory responses in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery and aortic valve replacement: randomized pilot study. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0149942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149942

8. Liu SS, Block BM, Wu CL. Effects of perioperative central neuraxial analgesia on outcome after coronary artery bypass surgery: a meta-analysis. *Anesthesiology.* (2004) 101:153–61. doi: 10.1097/0000542-200407000-00024

9. Hanada S, Kurosawa A, Randall B, Van Der Horst T, Ueda K. Impact of high spinal anesthesia technique on fast-track strategy in cardiac surgery: retrospective study. *Reg Anesth pain Med.* (2020) 45:22–6. doi: 10.1136/rapm-2018-100213

10. Ellenberger C, Sologashvili T, Bhaskaran K, Licker M. Impact of intrathecal morphine analgesia on the incidence of pulmonary complications after cardiac surgery: a single center propensity-matched cohort study. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2017) 17:109. doi: 10.1186/s12871-017-0398-z

11. Hall R, Adderley N, MacLaren C, McIntyre A, Barker R, Imrie D, et al. Does intrathecal morphine alter the stress response following coronary artery bypass grafting surgery? *Canad J Anaesth.* (2000) 47:463–6. doi: 10.1007/BF03018978

12. AbdelQadir YH, Nabhan AE, Abdelghany EA, Mohamed AG, Tokhey ASE, Elmegeed AA, et al. Efficacy and safety of intrathecal morphine in total knee arthroplasty: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J opioid Manag.* (2021) 17:405–16.

13. Wang LM, Zhang Z, Yao RZ, Wang GL. The role of intrathecal morphine for postoperative analgesia in primary total joint arthroplasty under spinal anesthesia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain Med (Malden, Mass)*. (2021) 22:1473–84. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnab089

14. Wang J, Sun H, Sun WT, Sun HP, Tian T, Sun J. Efficacy and safety of intrathecal morphine for pain control after spinal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2021) 25:2674–84.

15. Koning MV, Klimek M, Rijs K, Stolker RJ, Heesen MA. Intrathecal hydrophilic opioids for abdominal surgery: a meta-analysis, meta-regression, and trial sequential analysis. *Br J Anaesth.* (2020) 125:358–72. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2020. 05.061

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.1017676/full#supplementary-material

16. Koning MV, Teunissen AJW, van der Harst E, Ruijgrok EJ, Stolker RJ. Intrathecal morphine for laparoscopic segmental colonic resection as part of an enhanced recovery protocol: a randomized controlled trial. *Reg Anesth Pain Med.* (2018) 43:166–73. doi: 10.1097/AAP.000000000000703

17. Koning MV, de Vlieger R, Teunissen AJW, Gan M, Ruijgrok EJ, de Graaff JC, et al. The effect of intrathecal bupivacaine/morphine on quality of recovery in robot-assisted radical prostatectomy: a randomised controlled trial. *Anaesthesia.* (2020) 75:599–608. doi: 10.1111/anae.14922

18. Meylan N, Elia N, Lysakowski C, Tramèr MR. Benefit and risk of intrathecal morphine without local anaesthetic in patients undergoing major surgery: metaanalysis of randomized trials. *Br J Anaesth*. (2009) 102:156–67. doi: 10.1093/bja/ aen368

19. Palmer CM, Emerson S, Volgoropolous D, Alves D. Dose-response relationship of intrathecal morphine for postcesarean analgesia. *J Am Soc Anesthesiol.* (1999) 90:437–44.

20. Cole PJ, Craske DA, Wheatley RG. Efficacy and respiratory effects of lowdose spinal morphine for postoperative analgesia following knee arthroplasty. *Br J Anaesth.* (2000) 85:233–7. doi: 10.1093/bja/85.2.233

21. Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*. (2019) 366:4898. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l4898

22. Hung K-C, Wu S-C, Chang P-C, Chen I, Hsing C-H, Lin C-M, et al. Impact of intraoperative ketamine on postoperative analgesic requirement following bariatric surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Obesity Surg.* (2021) 31:5446–57.

23. Hung K-C, Lin Y-T, Chen K-H, Wang L-K, Chen J-Y, Chang Y-J, et al. The effect of perioperative vitamin C on postoperative analgesic consumption: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3109.

24. Hung KC, Hung CT, Poon YY, Wu SC, Chen KH, Chen JY, et al. The effect of cricoid pressure on tracheal intubation in adult patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Canad J Anaesth.* (2021) 68:137–47.

25. Brok J, Thorlund K, Gluud C, Wetterslev J. Trial sequential analysis reveals insufficient information size and potentially false positive results in many metaanalyses. J Clin Epidemiol. (2008) 61:763–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.10.007

26. Brok J, Thorlund K, Wetterslev J, Gluud C. Apparently conclusive metaanalyses may be inconclusive–Trial sequential analysis adjustment of random error risk due to repetitive testing of accumulating data in apparently conclusive neonatal meta-analyses. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2009) 38:287–98. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyn188

27. Jiao XF, Lin XM, Ni XF, Li HL, Zhang C, Yang CS, et al. Volatile anesthetics versus total intravenous anesthesia in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: An updated meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0224562. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224562

28. Bettex DA, Schmidlin D, Chassot PG, Schmid ER. Intrathecal sufentanilmorphine shortens the duration of intubation and improves analgesia in fast-track cardiac surgery. *Canad J Anaesth.* (2002) 49:711–7. doi: 10.1007/BF03017451

29. Bhat I, Arya VK, Mandal B, Jayant A, Dutta V, Rana SS. Postoperative hemodynamics after high spinal block with or without intrathecal morphine in cardiac surgical patients: a randomized-controlled trial. *Canad J Anaesth.* (2021) 68:825–34.

30. Dhawan R, Daubenspeck D, Wroblewski KE, Harrison JH, McCrorey M, Balkhy HH, et al. Intrathecal morphine for analgesia in minimally invasive cardiac surgery: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blinded clinical trial. *Anesthesiology.* (2021) 135:864–76. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0000000000 03963

31. dos Santos LM, Santos VCJ, Santos SRCJ, Malbouisson LMS, Carmona MJC. Intrathecal morphine plus general anesthesia in cardiac surgery: Effects on pulmonary function, postoperative analgesia, and plasma morphine concentration. *Clinics.* (2009) 64:279–85. doi: 10.1590/s1807-5932200900400003

32. Elgendy H, Helmy HAR. Intrathecal morphine improves hemodynamic parameters and analgesia in patients undergoing aortic valve replacement surgery: a prospective, double-blind, randomized trial. *Pain Phys.* (2017) 20:405–12.

33. Jacobsohn E, Lee TW, Amadeo RJ, Syslak PH, Debrouwere RG, Bell D, et al. Low-dose intrathecal morphine does not delay early extubation after cardiac surgery. *Canad J Anaesth.* (2005) 52:848–57.

34. Jara FM, Klush J, Kilaru V. Intrathecal morphine for off-pump coronary artery bypass patients. *Heart Surg Forum*. (2001) 4:57–60.

35. Lena P, Balarac N, Arnulf JJ, Bigeon JY, Tapia M, Bonnet F. Fast-track coronary artery bypass grafting surgery under general anesthesia with remifentanil and spinal analgesia with morphine and clonidine. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2005) 19:49–53. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2004.11.009

36. Lena P, Balarac N, Arnulf JJ, Teboul J, Bonnet F. Intrathecal morphine and clonidine for coronary artery bypass grafting. *Br J Anaesth*. (2003) 90:300–3.

37. Lena P, Balarac N, Lena D, De La Chapelle A, Arnulf JJ, Mihoubi A, et al. Fast-Track anesthesia with remifentanil and spinal analgesia for cardiac surgery: the effect on pain control and quality of recovery. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2008) 22:536–42. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2008.04.012

38. Mukherjee C, Koch E, Banusch J, Scholz M, Kaisers UX, Ender J. Intrathecal morphine is superior to intravenous PCA in patients undergoing minimally invasive cardiac surgery. *Ann Cardiac Anaesth.* (2012) 15:122–7. doi: 10.4103/0971-9784.95075

39. Roediger L, Joris J, Senard M, Larbuisson R, Canivet JL, Lamy M. The use of pre-operative intrathecal morphine for analgesia following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Anaesthesia*. (2006) 61:838–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2006.04744.x

40. Vanstrum GS, Bjornson KM, Ilko R. Postoperative effects of intrathecal morphine in coronary artery bypass surgery. *Anesth Analg.* (1988) 67:261–7.

41. Yapici D, Altunkan ZO, Atici S, Bilgin E, Doruk N, Cinel I, et al. Postoperative effects of low-dose intrathecal morphine in coronary artery bypass surgery. *J Cardiac Surg.* (2008) 23:140–5.

42. Charlesworth M, Klein A. Enhanced recovery after cardiac surgery. Anesthesiol Clin. (2022) 40:143-55.

43. Myles PS, Daly DJ, Djaiani G, Lee A, Cheng DC. A systematic review of the safety and effectiveness of fast-track cardiac anesthesia. *Anesthesiology*. (2003) 99:982–7. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200310000-00035

44. Roediger L, Larbuisson R, Lamy M. New approaches and old controversies to postoperative pain control following cardiac surgery. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2006) 23:539–50.

45. Zangrillo A, Bignami E, Biondi-Zoccai GG, Covello RD, Monti G, D'Arpa MC, et al. Spinal analgesia in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2009) 23:813–21.

46. Harrogate SR, Cooper JA, Zawadka M, Anwar S. Seven-year follow-up of persistent postsurgical pain in cardiac surgery patients: A prospective observational study of prevalence and risk factors. *Eur J Pain (London, England).* (2021) 25:1829–38. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1794

47. Krakowski JC, Hallman MJ, Smeltz AM. Persistent pain after cardiac surgery: prevention and management. *Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2021) 25:289–300.

48. Inouye SK, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. *Lancet* (*London, England*). (2014) 383:911–22.

49. Brown CH. Delirium in the cardiac surgical ICU. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. (2014) 27:117-22.

50. Saczynski JS, Marcantonio ER, Quach L, Fong TG, Gross A, Inouye SK, et al. Cognitive trajectories after postoperative delirium. *New Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:30–9.

51. Cheng D. Anesthetic techniques and early extubation: does it matter? J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2000) 14:627–30. doi: 10.1053/jcan.2000.18677

52. Camp S, Stamou S, Stiegel R, Reames M, Skipper E, Madjarov J, et al. Can timing of tracheal extubation predict improved outcomes after cardiac surgery? *HSR Proc Intensive Care Cardiovasc Anesth.* (2009) 1:39.

53. Khandelwal N, Dale CR, Benkeser DC, Joffe AM, Yanez ND III, Treggiari MM. Variation in tracheal reintubations among patients undergoing cardiac surgery across Washington state hospitals. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2015) 29:551–9. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2014.11.009

54. Wong P, Iqbal R, Light KP, Williams E, Hayward J. Head and neck surgery in a tertiary centre: predictors of difficult airway and anaesthetic management. *Proc Singapore Healthc.* (2016) 25:19–26.

55. Chamchad D, Horrow JC, Nachamchik L, Sutter FP, Samuels LE, Trace CL, et al. The impact of immediate extubation in the operating room after cardiac surgery on intensive care and hospital lengths of stay. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2010) 24:780–4.

56. Kotfis K, Szylińska A, Listewnik M, Lechowicz K, Kosiorowska M, Drożdżal S, et al. Balancing intubation time with postoperative risk in cardiac surgery patients - a retrospective cohort analysis. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2018) 14:2203–12.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY

Peng Jin, New York University, United States Sangseok Lee, Inje University Sanggye Paik Hospital, South Korea

*CORRESPONDENCE Yongtao Sun science2020@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 07 September 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 15 November 2022

CITATION

Guo Y, Chen L, Gao Z, Zhang M, Liu M, Gao X, Liu Y, Zhang X, Guo N, Sun Y and Wang Y (2022) Is esketamine-based opioid-free anesthesia more superior for postoperative analgesia in obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing bariatric surgery? A study protocol. *Front. Med.* 9:1039042.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.1039042

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Guo, Chen, Gao, Zhang, Liu, Gao, Liu, Zhang, Guo, Sun and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Is esketamine-based opioid-free anesthesia more superior for postoperative analgesia in obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing bariatric surgery? A study protocol

Yongle Guo^{1,2†}, Lina Chen^{1†}, Zhongquan Gao^{1,2}, Min Zhang¹, Mengjie Liu¹, Xiaojun Gao¹, Yang Liu¹, Xiaoning Zhang¹, Na Guo¹, Yongtao Sun^{1*} and Yuelan Wang^{1,2}

¹Department of Anesthesiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University & Shandong Provincial Qianfoshan Hospital, Shandong Institute of Anesthesia and Respiratory Critical Medicine, Jinan, China, ²Department of Anesthesiology, Shandong First Medical University, Jinan, China

Introduction: Opioid-free anesthesia (OFA) can certainly prevent nausea and vomiting after bariatric surgery (BS), but its postoperative analgesic effect is still controversial. Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is a prominent feature of morbid obesity in BS and accounts for a very high proportion, which significantly increases the difficulty of patients' airway management. Those patients will be more representative and highlight the advantages of OFA. It is not clear whether esketamine can play a more prominent role in OFA for postoperative analgesia. Therefore, this study aims to explore the postoperative analgesic effect of esketamine-based OFA on BS patients with OSA.

Methods and analysis: This single-center, prospective, randomized, controlled, single-blind study is planned to recruit 48 participants to undergo BS from May 2022 to April 2023. Patients will be randomly assigned to the OFA group and opioid-based anesthesia (OBA) group in a ratio of 1:1. The primary outcome is the Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) at different times postoperatively. Secondary outcomes include analgesic intake, the incidence and severity of postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV), Leiden Surgical Rating Scale (L-SRS), postoperative agitation and chills, PACU stay time, EuroQol five-dimensional questionnaire (EQ-5D), length of hospital stay, intraoperative awareness, and hemodynamically unstable treatments.

Discussion: The results of this study may explain the analgesic effect of esketamine-based OFA on patients undergoing BS combined with OSA, and provide evidence and insight for perioperative pain management.

Ethics and dissemination: This study is initiated by the Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University [YXLL-KY-2022(035)]. The trial results will be published in peer-reviewed journals and at conferences.

Clinical trial registration: [https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05386979], identifier [NCT 05386979].

KEYWORDS

esketamine, opioid-free anesthesia, postoperative analgesia, OSA, bariatric surgery

Background

About 500,000 people worldwide have undergone BS surgery, and the number continues to grow by 2015 (1). Morbid obesity is associated with multiple comorbidities, the most common of which is OSA. OSA is present in 35-94% of morbid obesity patients (2-7). Morbid obesity and OSA are often associated with increased perioperative risks and challenges for anesthesiologists (8). Risks conferred by OSA are strongly associated with body mass index (BMI) (9, 10). One study showed a 6-fold increased risk of OSA with 10% weight gain (11). Another study showed that the prevalence of moderate to severe OSA (AHI > 15) was 63% in obese males $(BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ (12). Morbid obesity is a leading cause of early mortality worldwide, and currently, BS remains the only proven effective and durable therapy. Obese patients undergoing BS have a high probability of developing complications that worsen with opioid use but can be reduced by anesthetic techniques such as OFA (13).

Opioids have long been established as essential for general anesthesia, and in all patients, opioids induce and increase the severity of most sleep-disordered breathing, especially in patients with morbid obesity. OFA shows evidence of its efficacy and safety while its risks and benefits are not welldefined. However, opioid-induced hyperalgesia and tolerance further drive the use of intraoperative opioid-sparing strategies based on a combination of regional nerve block techniques or other anesthetic technical means (14, 15). Crivits et al. (16) reported those who received OFA compared with those who received sufentanil anesthesia had significantly less nausea, cold, shivering or pain in an observational study of 400 patients undergoing laparoscopic gastric bypass. The definition of OFA is varied in literature and in research. However, lidocaine, ketamine, and α -2 agonists (e.g., clonidine or dexmedetomidine) have been proposed to be used alone or in combination to replace opioids (17). Studies show that ketamine has been used as one of the well-established drugs for OFA (18–20). However, ketamine's side effects, including nightmares and delusions, limit its routine use (20, 21).

The analgesic effect of esketamine, the S (+)-isomer of ketamine, is twice of racemic ketamine. Esketamine possesses advantages of a lower incidence of side effects like hallucinations, faster recovery, and the ability to lower MAC value of sevoflurane as well as protect hypoxic pulmonary. Ketamine has been suggested to be used alone or in combination with opioids. Esketamine has long been considered an effective treatment for depression. Currently, it shows that esketamine is effective against remifentanil-induced respiratory depression, which is attributed to increased CO_2 chemosensitivity by esketamine. However, whether esketamine can replace ketamine in playing a more prominent role in the OFA remains unclear. Therefore, this study is designed to investigate the effects of esketamine-based OFA on the analgesic management of patients undergoing BS with OSA.

Methods and analysis

Trial objectives and study design

This single-center, prospective, randomized, controlled and single-blind study will be performed at the First Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University, located in Jinan City, Shandong Province. Patients will be assigned to receive OFA or OBA randomly. We will evaluate the pain management in randomized morbid obesity patients with OSA undergoing BS by a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS score) in the time points at different times within 27 h after the operation. This trial will be completed in 12 months. This trial is designed following the Standard Protocol Items (SPIRIT guidelines). **Figure 1** and **Table 2** provide an overview of the study plan.

Abbreviations: OFA, opioid-free anesthesia; BS, bariatric surgery; OSA, obstructive sleep apnea; OBA, opioid-based anesthesia; NRS, numeric rating scale; PONV, postoperative nausea and vomiting; BMI, body mass index; PCIA, patient-controlled intravenous analgesia; CRF, case report form; L-SRS, Leiden surgical rating scale; EQ-5D, EuroQol five-dimensional questionnaire.



Randomization and blinding

Patients will be randomized using block randomization with random block length, stratified to minimize bias on the primary outcome measure. Randomization will be performed electronically after the assessment of eligibility. The patients and surgical staff will be blinded to the group allocation in this study, whereas, anesthesia providers who did not participate in the assessment of the patients at any time could not be blinded to facilitate intraoperative anesthesia management. A blinded independent researcher will be responsible for preoperative visit and obtaining informed consent with patients. The outcome will be evaluated by this independent researcher to minimize the bias associated with data collection. The statisticians will also be blinded to the allocation.

Participants' inclusion and exclusion criteria

During the anesthesia consultation, investigators will verify inclusion/exclusion criteria. The investigator will invite the patients to participate. Patients will receive complete information in faithful terms and understandable language concerning the objectives, the required follow-up, the risks, the safety measures, and the right to refuse to participate or stop the study at any time. The investigator will obtain written informed consents signed by both the investigator and the patient.

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Age 18-60 years old.
- 2. ASA I~III level.
- 3. BMI > 35 kg/m².
- 4. Bariatric surgery for patients with moderate to severe OSA.

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Pregnancy or breastfeeding.
- 2. Patients with a history of drug abuse or dependence on opioids.
- 3. Patients chronically treated with beta-blockers and heart rate of fewer than 50 beats/min.
- 4. Cardiac insufficiency with a left ventricular ejection fraction of less than 40%.

Shedding criteria

- 1. Reoperation during the observation period.
- 2. Unconsciousness or mortality during the observation period.
- 3. Discharge automatically or transferred in advance.
- 4. The patient or the client refuses the informed consent or requests to withdraw from the study during the observation period.

Intervention

The study aims to compare the OFA protocol with a standard practice-based anesthesia protocol. Patients will be divided into two groups according to the randomization method described later in a ratio of 1:1 in group OFA or OBA. Patients will receive general anesthesia combined with regional anesthesia. The two protocols are detailed in Table 1.

In group OFA, anesthesia induction with propofol 2.5 mg/kg, rocuronium bromide 0.6 mg/kg, nalbuphine 10 mg, esketamine 0.5 mg/kg, intubation will be performed when BIS reached 40–60, followed by a continuous intravenous infusion of propofol TCI Ce 2–4 μ g/ml and esketamine 0.2–0.5 mg/kg/h and esmolol 20–50 μ g/kg/min. Nalbuphine 10 mg will be given at the beginning of the operation. Ondansetron 8 mg and nalbuphine 0.2 mg/kg will be given before abdominal suturing. After the operation, a PCIA will be used (nalbuphine 2 mg/kg + dexmedetomidine 2 μ g/kg + ondansetron 24 mg) in a total volume of 100 ml and continuous infusion at a rate of 1.5 ml/h for 48 h. The self-controlled capacity is 0.5 ml, and the locking time is 15 min.

In group OBA, anesthesia induction with propofol 2.5 mg/kg, rocuronium bromide 0.6 mg/kg, nalbuphine 10 mg, sufentanil 0.3 μ g/kg, intubation will be performed when BIS reached 40–60 and followed by a continuous intravenous infusion of propofol TCI Ce 2–4 μ g/mL and remifentanil TCI Ce 3–6 ng/ml. Nalbuphine 10 mg will be given at the beginning of the operation. Ondansetron 8 mg and sufentanil 10 μ g will be given before abdominal suturing. Patients will be equipped with a PCIA (sufentanil 2 μ g/kg + dexmedetomidine 2 μ g/kg + ondansetron 24 mg, total volume 100 ml, 1.5 ml/h for 48 h). The self-controlled capacity is 0.5 ml, and the locking time is 15 min.

Monitoring and standard practice-based anesthesia protocol

All patients will not receive premedication. After admission to the operating room, the participants are placed in the slope position and will be continuously monitored using ECG, pulse oxygen saturation, endtidal carbon dioxide concentration, non-invasive blood pressure, and the bispectral index (BIS) of electroencephalography (EEG). Radial artery catheterization will be performed to monitor invasive blood pressure, subsequently, midazolam 2 mg and atropine 0.4 mg were administered intravenously.

We chose the method of endotracheal intubation under a visual laryngeal mask to control the airway. All patients will be regarded as having difficult airway and placed the visual laryngeal mask in the conscious state, ultrasoundguided bilateral recurrent laryngeal nerve block will be injected with 0.375% ropivacaine 2 ml, respectively. Dacronin 10 ml Contained in the mouth for about 5 min. Dexmedetomidine (load capacity 1 µg/kg/10 min maintenance dose 0.6 µg/kg/h until 40 min before the end of the operation) will be injected with a micromedicine infusion pump. The model of laryngeal mask was selected according to the patient's lean weight and 100% oxygen will be delivered after the anesthesia circuit connected. Endotracheal intubation will be performed once the vocal cord and PetCO₂ waveform were seen, and it will be used to maintain anesthesia during the operation with the laryngeal mask cuff gas evacuated retained. Both groups will be combined with ultrasoundguided transversus abdominis plane block (with 0.375% ropivacaine 40 ml).

Patients will enter different groups based on the results of randomization and receive OFA and OBA respectively. The methods for induction and maintenance of anesthesia among different groups have been described in detail previously. The systolic blood pressure and heart rate will be maintained within 20% of the baseline during the operation.

Both groups will be ventilated with a tidal volume of 6–8 ml/kg to avoid barotrauma, the respiratory rate is 10–14 times/min, and the positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) was 5–10 cmH₂O to maintain PetCO₂ 35–45 cmH₂O. We will record the hemodynamic instability (vasoactive drugs for hypotension or hypertension, atropine for bradycardia, beta-blockers for tachycardia) and treatments.

Postoperatively, extubation under deep anesthesia with the laryngeal mask retained and transfer participants to the PACU. Sugammadex sodium will be given to antagonize muscle relaxation at a dose of 2–4 mg/kg. The laryngeal mask is generally well-tolerated after the participants awake and will be removed after monitoring for 1 h, and the patient will be transferred safely to the ward after continuing monitoring for 1 h. TABLE 1 Detailed interventional protocols in the opioid-free anesthesia group (OFA group) and opioid-based anesthesia group (OBA group).

Opioid-free anesthesia protocol

Opioid-based anesthesia protocol

- IV: midazolam 2 mg, atropine 0.4 mg
- The patient's position: head-high slope
- Bilateral recurrent laryngeal nerve block (0.375% ropivacaine 2 ml on each side) under ultrasound guidance
- Dyclonine mucilage 10 ml mouth will be contained 5 min
- \bullet Dexmedetomidine loading capacity: 1 $\mu g/kg/10$ min
- Use a laryngeal tube to test the feeling of the back of the oropharynx, if there is a nausea reflex, add 2% lidocaine 2 ml.
- \bullet Insert Video LMA SACOVLM
 TM while awake
- Induction of anesthesia once vocal cords will be visible and end-tidal carbon dioxide waveform is observed

Anes	sthesia induction
• Propofol 2.5 mg/kg	• Propofol 2.5 mg/kg
• Esketamine 0.5 mg/kg	• Sufentanil 0.3 µg/kg
• Rocuronium 0.6 mg/kg	• Rocuronium 0.6 mg/kg
Nalbuphine 10 mg	• Nalbuphine 10 mg
 Subcostal ultrasound-guided bilateral 	 Subcostal ultrasound-guided bilateral transversu
transversus abdominis plane block:	abdominis plane block: 0.375% ropivacaine 40 ml
0.375% ropivacaine 40 ml	
Anest	hesia maintenance
• Propofol TCI Ce 2–4 µg/ml	• Propofol TCI Ce 2-4 µg/ml
• Esketamine 0.2–0.5 mg/kg/h	• Remifentanil TCI Ce 3–6 ng/ml
• Dexmedetomidine 0.5–2 µg/kg/h	• Dexmedetomidine 0.5–2 µg/kg/h
• Esmolol 20–50 μg/kg/min	 Sufentanil 10 μg after surgery
• Rocuronium 0.6 mg/kg	• Rocuronium 0.6 mg/kg
• Nalbuphine 10 mg	• Nalbuphine 10 mg
Postanest	hesia care unit (PACU)
• Sugammadex 2 mg/kg	• Sugammadex 2 mg/kg
• Pain management (VAS \geq 4, rescue	• Pain management (VAS \geq 4, rescue nalbuphine
nalbuphine 5 mg)	5 mg)
• PCIA nalbuphine	• PCIA sufentanil 2 µg/kg + dexmedetomidine 2
2 mg/kg + dexmedetomidine 2	μ g/kg + ondansetron 24 mg
1g/kg + ondansetron 24 mg	

LMA SACOVLMTM, Zhejiang UE Medical Corp (Hangzhou, China). IV, intravenous; TCI, target controlled infusion; PACU, postanesthesia care unit; PCIA, patient-controlled intravenous analgesia.

Evaluation and follow-up

One day before the operation, each patient will be given a time-listed NRS form and detailed instructions on how to record score of quiet NRS score and cough NRS score at the different postoperative times (0.5, 1, 2, 3, 7, 11, 15, 19, 23, 27 h, postoperatively) (Showed in Table 2).

Relevant data of participants will be collected by independent researchers. Standardized data collection files (case report forms) will be used to ensure that the data are recorded and used for future statistical analysis. Data collects as follow: gender, age, weight, BMI, polysomnography test results, neck circumference, modified Mallampati score, upper lip bite test, operation time, anesthesia time, days of hospitalization, days of chest drainage, post-operative evaluation, complications, side effects (respiratory depression, hypotension, vomiting, nausea, itching).

Adverse events

- Tachycardia: When heart rate > 100 beats/min, or increases by more than 20% from baseline if the baseline value is > 83 beats/min, esmolol 10 mg will be given and/or adjust the dose of anesthetics.
- Hypertension: systolic blood pressure >160 mmHg, or increases from baseline 20% or more if the baseline value >133 mmHg, urapidil 10 mg will be given and/or adjust the dose of anesthetics.
- 3. Bradycardia: Heart rate < 55 beats/min, or reduces by more than 20% from baseline or if the baseline value is <69

		Study period													
	Enrolment Allocation		During surgery										Close-out		
Timepoint	-D ₁	-D ₁	0	PACU	0.5 h	1 1 h	h 2 h	3 h	7 h	11 h	15 h	19 h	23 h	27 h	D ₇
Enrolment:															
Eligibility screen	Х														
Informed consent	Х														
Allocation		Х													
Interventions:															
[OFA group]		\longrightarrow													
[OBA group]		\longrightarrow													
Assessments:															
[Inclusion/exclusion criteria]	Х	Х													
[Baseline data]	Х	Х													
[L-SRS]			Х												
[Postoperative agitation]				Х											
[Postoperative chills]				Х											
[Length of stays]				Х											Х
[Rescue antiemetic medication]				Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	х	
[Vital signs]			Х	Х											
[NRS score]				Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	х	
[Incidence and severity of PONV]				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	Х	Х	
[Intraoperative awareness]				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	
[EQ-5D]															Х

TABLE 2 Study timeline and schedule of enrolment, allocation, interventions, and assessments according to SPIRIT 2013 statement.

Study period

beats/min, atropine 0.3 mg and/or isoproterenol 2 μg or adjust the anesthetics dose.

- 4. Hypotension: systolic blood pressure < 95 mmHg, or drops more than 20% if the baseline value is <119 mmHg, liquid infusion, ephedrine 6 mg or norepinephrine 4 μ g and/or anesthetics dose adjustment will be applied.
- 5. Intraoperative awareness: During general anesthesia and standard treatment, patients can recall intraoperative events.

Safety assessments will include monitoring and recording of all adverse effects and severe adverse effects and regular monitoring of intraoperative and postoperative critical data including type, time, duration, treatment, and sequelae by the attending anesthesiologists until it is completely resolved or treatment is terminated. Before signing the informed consent, patients will be informed of all potential harms before anesthesia, including the risks of OFA such as oversedation, insufficient analgesia, hallucinations, emotional depression, and severe drug allergy. All adverse effects or possible complications will be compiled in the data collection forms.

If significant risks to patient safety occur during the trial, we will report it to the research group and the ethics committee to evaluate whether the trial should be continued.

Appropriate actions, including medical attention, will be taken when necessary.

Data collection, handling, and monitoring

Relevant data of participants will be collected by independent researchers who are unaware of the research intervention (Table 3).

Noxious stimuli: Sputum suction or pressure on the eye socket, sternum, or nail bed for 5 s.

Randomization, blinding, allocation, and concealment

Patients will be randomized using block randomization with four-block length, stratified to minimize bias on the primary outcome measure. Randomization will be performed electronically after the assessment of eligibility. The participants will be blinded to the group allocation in this study.

128

TABLE 3 Description of main and secondary variables.

Primary outcome

Postoperative NRS score (0–10). 0 means absence of pain and 10 is the severest pain imaginable.

Postoperative NRS score was recorded every half an hour for the first hour, every hour for the next 2 h, and every 4 h for the next 24 h.

Secondary outcomes Range of nalbuphine requirements 0: no use 1: <10 mg/day

2: 10–20 mg/day

3: More than 20 mg/day

PONV, incidence and severity of PONV

NRS: A 10 cm ruler was used as the scale. One end of the scale was 0, indicating no nausea and vomiting, and the other end was 10, indicating the severest unbearable nausea and vomiting (1–4 as mild, 5–6 as moderate, 7–10 as severe). *Need for rescue antiemetic medication*

1. Yes

2: No

L-SRS

The surgeon will score the quality of the intra-abdominal conditions at 15 min intervals using the L-SRS [see Martini et al. (22) and Boon et al. (23)]. In brief, the L-SRS is a 5-point Likert scale that enables the quantification of surgical conditions in a standardized fashion. The scale runs from 1 to 5: extremely poor (score = 1), poor (=2), acceptable (=3), good (=4), and excellent (=5) surgical working conditions.

Postoperative agitation

Riker Sedation-Agitation Scale (SAS) (Table 4)

Postoperative chills

Wrench classification: Grade 0, no chills; Grade 1, bundles and/or peripheral vasoconstriction and/or peripheral cyanosis, but no fibrillation; Grade 2, *PACU stay time*

EuroQol five-dimensional questionnaire (EQ-5D)

The EQ-5D descriptive system is a preference-based HRQL measure with one question for each of the five dimensions that include mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. *Length of hospital stay (days)*

Intraoperative awareness

1: Yes

2. No

Hemodynamically unstable treatments

Surgical staff and researchers responsible for the post-operative follow-up are blind to the randomized allocation of patients.

The anesthesiologists who are responsible for BS surgery will share no information related to patient randomization.

The statistical analysis will be carried out independently by a separately appointed statistician.

Sample size

Based on the research from Marija toleska (24) (A prospective, single-blind, randomized controlled study of laparoscopic cholecystectomy using opioid anesthesia and opioid-free anesthesia, mainly observed the postoperative VAS score), the average VAS score of opioid-free anesthesia was 3.27 ± 1.7 , while the opioid

TABLE 4 Riker sedation-agitation scale.

Score	Term	Description						
7	Dangerous agitation	Pulling at endotracheal tube, trying to remove catheters, climbing over the bed rail, striking at staff, thrashing side to side						
6	Very agitated	Does not calm, despite frequent verbal reminding of limits; requires physical restraints, biting endotracheal tube						
5	Agitated	Anxious or mildly agitated, attempting to sit up, calms down to verbal instructions						
4	Calm and cooperative	Calm awakens easily, follows commands						
3	Sedated	Difficult to arouse; awakens to verbal stimuli or gentle shaking, but drifts off again; follows simple commands						
2	Very sedated	Arouses to physical stimuli, but does not communicate or follow commands, may move spontaneously						
1	Unable to rouse	Minimal or no response to noxious stimuli, does not communicate or follow commands						

anesthesia in the control group was 5.13 ± 2.7 . PASS 15.0 was used to compare the two groups of mean superiority tests. The sample size was calculated by two-sided test and test level ($\alpha = 0.05$) The ratio was 1:1, and the power (1- β) was 80%, and considering the shedding rate (10%), we need to recruit 48 participants (24 in each group).

Statistical analysis

All statistical data analyzes will be performed using the SPSS software (IBM SPSS Statistics V.25).

- 1. The measurement data conforming to the normal distribution are expressed by mean \pm standard deviation (x \pm s). Methods Repetitive measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used in analyzing the repeated measurement data (NRS score) compared within the group. The independent *t*-test or one-way ANOVA are used for inter-group comparison.
- 2. The measurement data of non-normal distribution are expressed by median (m) and 25th and 75th percentile (P25, p75). Mann-Whitney U test is used for comparison between groups.
- 3. Categorical variables will be described as counts (percentages) and compared using $\chi 2$ analysis or Fisher's exact test. The overall significance level is set at p < 0.05 and Bonferroni correction will be used to control type I errors.
- 4. Covariance analysis and logistic regression analysis will be introduced into the model to minimize study factors, confounders and their interaction.

Discussion

Although opioid anesthesia is now the mainstay of anesthesia, there are still many deficiencies in postoperative pain management, especially in the postoperative phase. There are fewer available options for opioids, and their clinical use is often limited by their side effects such as postoperative nausea and vomiting, respiratory depression, and over sedation. Currently, the medical literature supports the use of intravenous lidocaine, ketamine, and dexmedetomidine as a balanced anesthetic modality for perioperative period management to replace or reduce opioids (20, 25-27). To our knowledge, the analgesic efficacy and clinical value of esketamine in morbid obesity patients undergoing BS remain unclear. To explore this issue, we designed this single-center, prospective, randomized, controlled, single-blind study to elucidate the efficacy of the analgesic management of esketamine-based OFA in morbid obesity patients with OSA undergoing BS.

Esketamine, the S (+)- isomer of ketamine, is safer and suitable for induction and maintenance of general anesthesia. It is approved by the FDA in 2019 as the first new class of antidepressants (28-30). Esketamine is theoretically more analgesic, and nonetheless, the actual analgesic effect of esketamine remains controversial (25, 31, 32). Cheng et al. (33) reported that esketaminea (bolus of 0.25 mg/kg, followed by an infusion of 0.125 mg/kg/h until 15 min before the end of the surgical procedure) improved the quality of rehabilitation in patients undergoing video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS), and also improved postoperative analgesia and postoperative depression. Another study of the effects of esketamine sedation on hydrostatic reduction of intussusception ketamine (34) found insufficient evidence for a higher success rate, lower relapse rate, shorter duration, and shorter hospital stay with esketamine compared with morphine analgesia. For the chronic opioid-dependent population, a perioperative bolus of 0.5 mg/kg of ketamine followed by an infusion of 0.25 mg/kg/h reduces pain and reduces opioid dependence 1 year after spinal surgery (35).

Opioid-free anesthesia is an anesthesia method based on the concept of multi-mode analgesia, using a combination of multiple drugs or technologies to achieve anesthesia and analgesia, reduce sympathetic reflex, obtain stable hemodynamics, good organ perfusion and high-quality anesthesia recovery, and to meet the perioperative analgesia of patients (17, 36). Although there are still some controversies about the wide application of OFA in the clinic (37), we also see that this technology has been widely applied to the clinical practice of BS, general surgery, bone and spinal surgery, cesarean section and other operations (24–26, 38– 41). The application of OFA in obesity showed that it is a safe, feasible and well-tolerated therapy, which may offer a novel and well-tolerated treatment in morbid obesity patients (42, 43).

However, our study also remains some limitations. One of the main limitations for the interpretation of results will be the small sample size of the study, especially regarding the multiple outcomes we plan to analyze. Secondly, considering the small overall sample size, the randomization of this study will not be stratified, and there are obvious difficulties in anesthesia for super-obese patients (BMI > 50), and the long extubation time and wake time, which may bias the results of the statistical analysis results. Finally, as the study is singleblind, and the personnel who performed the anesthesia will know the specific grouping situation, some bias on the study results may appear.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YS and YW were the principal investigators of this study, obtained grant funding, and refined the study protocol. YG and LC participated in the design of the study protocol, drafted the protocol, and wrote the protocol manuscript. ZG, MZ, ML, XG, YL, XZ, and NG assisted in the development and implementation of the study. YS supervised the study. All authors critically reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by the Academic Promotion Programme of Shandong First Medical University (2019QL015) and the Shandong Provincial Medical Association Analgesia and Anaesthesia Optimization Research Project (YXH2021ZX039). The funding source had no role in the design of the study, the collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data, or in the preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We thank the staff at the Center for Big Data Research in Health and Medicine, the First Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University & Shandong Provincial Qianfoshan Hospital, for their valuable contribution.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Angrisani L, Santonicola A, Iovino P, Formisano G, Buchwald H, Scopinaro N. Bariatric surgery worldwide 2013. *Obes Surg.* (2015) 25:1822–32. doi: 10.1007/s11695-015-1657-z

2. Kalra M, Inge T, Garcia V, Daniels S, Lawson L, Curti R, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea in extremely overweight adolescents undergoing bariatric surgery. *Obes Res.* (2005) 13:1175–9. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.139

3. Daltro C, Gregorio PB, Alves E, Abreu M, Bomfim D, Chicourel MH, et al. Prevalence and severity of sleep apnea in a group of morbidly obese patients. *Obes Surg.* (2007) 17:809–14. doi: 10.1007/s11695-007-9147-6

4. Lopez PP, Stefan B, Schulman CI, Byers PM. Prevalence of sleep apnea in morbidly obese patients who presented for weight loss surgery evaluation: more evidence for routine screening for obstructive sleep apnea before weight loss surgery. *Am Surg.* (2008) 74:834–8.

5. Lee YH, Johan A, Wong KK, Edwards N, Sullivan C. Prevalence and risk factors for obstructive sleep apnea in a multiethnic population of patients presenting for bariatric surgery in Singapore. *Sleep Med.* (2009) 10:226–32. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2008.01.005

6. Peromaa-Haavisto P, Tuomilehto H, Kössi J, Virtanen J, Luostarinen M, Pihlajamäki J, et al. Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnoea among patients admitted for bariatric surgery. A prospective multicentre trial. *Obes Surg.* (2016) 26:1384–90. doi: 10.1007/s11695-015-1953-7

7. Ravesloot MJ, van Maanen JP, Hilgevoord AA, van Wagensveld BA, de Vries N. Obstructive sleep apnea is underrecognized and underdiagnosed in patients undergoing bariatric surgery. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* (2012) 269:1865–71. doi: 10.1007/s00405-012-1948-0

8. Grewal G, Joshi GP. Obesity and obstructive sleep apnea in the ambulatory patient. *Anesthesiol Clin.* (2019) 37:215–24. doi: 10.1016/j.anclin.2019.01.001

9. Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2013) 177:1006–14. doi: 10.1093/aje/kws342

10. Young T, Skatrud J, Peppard PE. Risk factors for obstructive sleep apnea in adults. JAMA. (2004) 291:2013-6. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.16.2013

11. Peppard PE, Young T, Palta M, Dempsey J, Skatrud J. Longitudinal study of moderate weight change and sleep-disordered breathing. *JAMA*. (2000) 284:3015–21. doi: 10.1001/jama.284.23.3015

12. Tufik S, Santos-Silva R, Taddei JA, Bittencourt LR. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in the Sao Paulo epidemiologic sleep study. *Sleep Med.* (2010) 11:441–6. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2009.10.005

 Díaz-Crespo J, Malo-Manso A, Bustamante-Domínguez C, Escalona-Belmonte JJ, Cruz-Mañas J, Guerrero-Orriach JL. [Laparotomy in a patient under opioid free anesthesia]. An Sist Sanit Navar. (2018) 41:259–62. doi: 10.23938/assn. 0294

14. Colvin LA, Bull F, Hales TG. Perioperative opioid analgesia-when is enough too much? A review of opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:1558–68. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(19)30430-1

15. Fletcher D, Martinez V. Opioid-induced hyperalgesia in patients after surgery: a systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth.* (2014) 112:991–1004. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu137

16. Crivits M, Mulier JP, Baerdemaeker LD, ed. *Postoperative Sleep Disturbances: a Review and an Observational Study.* (2014). Available online at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Postoperative-sleepdisturbances-%3A-a-review-and-an-Crivits-Mulier/a1b0b386d98c4f72c3c7815b59b0ad036d2b24e6

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. Beloeil H. Opioid-free anesthesia. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. (2019) 33:353-60. doi: 10.1016/j.bpa.2019.09.002

18. Beloeil H, Garot M, Lebuffe G, Gerbaud A, Bila J, Cuvillon P, et al. Balanced opioid-free anesthesia with dexmedetomidine versus balanced anesthesia with remifentanil for major or intermediate noncardiac surgery. *Anesthesiology.* (2021) 134:541–51. doi: 10.1097/aln.00000000003725

19. Hublet S, Galland M, Navez J, Loi P, Closset J, Forget P, et al. Opioid-free versus opioid-based anesthesia in pancreatic surgery. *BMC Anesthesiol*. (2022) 22:9. doi: 10.1186/s12871-021-01551-y

20. Selim J, Jarlier X, Clavier T, Boujibar F, Dusséaux MM, Thill J, et al. Impact of opioid-free anesthesia after video-assisted thoracic surgery: a propensity score study. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2022) 114:218–24. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2021.09.014

21. Himmelseher S, Durieux ME. Ketamine for perioperative pain management. *Anesthesiology*. (2005) 102:211–20. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200501000-00030

22. Martini CH, Boon M, Bevers RF, Aarts LP, Dahan A. Evaluation of surgical conditions during laparoscopic surgery in patients with moderate vs deep neuromuscular block. *Br J Anaesth.* (2014) 112:498–505. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet377

23. Boon M, Martini CH, Aarts LP, Bevers RF, Dahan A. Effect of variations in depth of neuromuscular blockade on rating of surgical conditions by surgeon and anesthesiologist in patients undergoing laparoscopic renal or prostatic surgery (Bliss Trial): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2013) 14:63. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-63

24. Toleska M, Dimitrovski A. Is opioid-free general anesthesia more superior for postoperative pain versus opioid general anesthesia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy? *Pril (Makedon Akad Nauk Umet Odd Med Nauki).* (2019) 40:81–7. doi: 10.2478/prilozi-2019-0018

25. Ramírez-Paesano C, Juanola Galceran A, Rodiera Clarens C, Gilete García V, Oliver Abadal B, Vilchez Cobo V, et al. Opioid-free anesthesia for patients with joint hypermobility syndrome undergoing craneo-cervical fixation: a case-series study focused on anti-hyperalgesic approach. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2021) 16:172. doi: 10.1186/s13023-021-01795-4

26. Soffin EM, Wetmore DS, Beckman JD, Sheha ED, Vaishnav AS, Albert TJ, et al. Opioid-free anesthesia within an enhanced recovery after surgery pathway for minimally invasive lumbar spine surgery: a retrospective matched cohort study. *Neurosurg Focus.* (2019) 46:E8. doi: 10.3171/2019.1.Focus18645

27. Bugada D, Lorini LF, Lavand'homme P. Opioid free anesthesia: evidence for short and long-term outcome. *Minerva Anestesiol*. (2021) 87:230–7. doi: 10.23736/s0375-9393.20.14515-2

28. Daly EJ, Singh JB, Fedgchin M, Cooper K, Lim P, Shelton RC, et al. Efficacy and safety of intranasal esketamine adjunctive to oral antidepressant therapy in treatment-resistant depression: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2018) 75:139–48. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3739

29. Langmia IM, Just KS, Yamoune S, Müller JP, Stingl JC. Pharmacogenetic and drug interaction aspects on ketamine safety in its use as antidepressant - implications for precision dosing in a global perspective. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2022). doi: 10.1111/bcp.15467 [Epub ahead of print].

30. Kim J, Farchione T, Potter A, Chen Q, Temple R. Esketamine for treatmentresistant depression - first Fda-approved antidepressant in a new class. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 381:1–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1903305

31. Ithnin FB, Tan DJA, Xu XL, Tan CH, Sultana R, Sng BL. Low-dose S+ ketamine in target-controlled intravenous anaesthesia with remifentanil and propofol for open gynaecological surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Indian J Anaesth.* (2019) 63:126–33. doi: 10.4103/ija.IJA_605_18

32. Nielsen RV, Fomsgaard JS, Siegel H, Martusevicius R, Nikolajsen L, Dahl JB, et al. Intraoperative ketamine reduces immediate postoperative opioid consumption after spinal fusion surgery in chronic pain patients with opioid dependency: a randomized, blinded trial. *Pain.* (2017) 158:463–70. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000782

33. Cheng X, Wang H, Diao M, Jiao H. Effect of S-ketamine on postoperative quality of recovery in patients undergoing video-assisted thoracic surgery. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2022) 36(8 Pt. B):3049–56. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2022.04. 028

34. van de Bunt JA, Veldhoen ES, Nievelstein RAJ, Hulsker CCC, Schouten ANJ, van Herwaarden MYA. Effects of esketamine sedation compared to morphine analgesia on hydrostatic reduction of intussusception: a case-cohort comparison study. *Paediatr Anaesth.* (2017) 27:1091–7. doi: 10.1111/pan.13 226

35. Nielsen RV, Fomsgaard JS, Nikolajsen L, Dahl JB, Mathiesen O. Intraoperative S-ketamine for the reduction of opioid consumption and pain one year after spine surgery: a randomized clinical trial of opioid-dependent patients. *Eur J Pain.* (2019) 23:455–60. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1317

36. Harkouk H, Fletcher D, Beloeil H. Opioid free anaesthesia: myth or reality? *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med.* (2019) 38:111-2. doi: 10.1016/j.accpm.2019.01. 005

37. Veyckemans F. Opioid-free anaesthesia: still a debate? *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2019) 36:245–6. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000964

38. Mulier JP. Is opioid-free general anesthesia for breast and gynecological surgery a viable option? *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* (2019) 32:257–62. doi: 10.1097/ACO.0000000000000716

39. Shenouda MA. A Retrospective analysis of the safety and efficacy of opioidfree anesthesia versus opioid anesthesia for general cesarean section. *Cureus*. (2019) 11:e5725. doi: 10.7759/cureus.5725

40. An G, Zhang Y, Chen N, Fu J, Zhao B, Zhao X. Opioid-free anesthesia compared to opioid anesthesia for lung cancer patients undergoing video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery: a randomized controlled study. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0257279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.025 7279

41. King CA, Perez-Alvarez IM, Bartholomew AJ, Bozzuto L, Griffith K, Sosin M, et al. Opioid-free anesthesia for patients undergoing mastectomy: a matched comparison. *Breast J.* (2020) 26:1742–7. doi: 10.1111/tbj.13 999

42. Hung KC, Chiu CC, Hsu CW, Lin CM, Liao SW, Teng IC, et al. Impact of opioid-free anesthesia on analgesia and recovery following bariatric surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. *Obes Surg.* (2022) 32:3113–24. doi: 10.1007/s11695-022-06213-7

43. Baek SY, Kim JW, Kim TW, Han W, Lee DE, Ryu KH, et al. Opioid-free anesthesia with a mixture of dexmedetomidine, ketamine, and lidocaine in one syringe for surgery in obese patients. *J Int Med Res.* (2020) 48:300060520967830. doi: 10.1177/0300060520967830

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY Paolo Fabbietti, National Institute of Science and Health for Aging (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Danielle Ní Chróinín Danielle.NiChroinin@health.nsw.gov.au

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 26 October 2022 ACCEPTED 04 November 2022 PUBLISHED 23 November 2022

CITATION

Ní Chróinín D and Chuan A (2022) Post-operative delirium in the patient with hip fracture: The journey from hospital arrival to discharge. *Front. Med.* 9:1080253. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.1080253

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ní Chróinín and Chuan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Post-operative delirium in the patient with hip fracture: The journey from hospital arrival to discharge

Danielle Ní Chróinín^{1,2*} and Alwin Chuan^{1,2,3}

¹Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ²South Western Sydney Clinical School, UNSW Sydney, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ³Ingham Institute of Applied Medical Research, Liverpool, NSW, Australia

Delirium- an acute disorder of attention and cognition- is the commonest complication following hip fracture. Patients with hip fracture are particularly vulnerable to delirium, and many of the lessons from the care of the patient with hip fracture will extend to other surgical cohorts. Prevention and management of delirium for patients presenting with hip fracture, extending along a continuum from arrival through to the post-operative setting. Best practice guidelines emphasize multidisciplinary care including management by an orthogeriatric service, regular delirium screening, and multimodal interventions. The evidence base for prevention is strongest in terms of multifaceted interventions, while once delirium has set in, early recognition and identification of the cause are key. Integration of effective strategies is often suboptimal, and may be supported by approaches such as interactive teaching methodologies, routine feedback, and clear protocol dissemination. Partnering with patients and carers will support person centered care, improve patient experiences, and may improve outcomes. Ongoing work needs to focus on implementing recognized best practice, in order to minimize the health, social and economic costs of delirium.

KEYWORDS

delirium, post-operative, hip fracture, prevention, multidisciplinary, acute confusional state, cognitive impairment

Main body

"He's been up all night. He was terrified." The patient's daughter looked as tired as her father, who was snoring now in his bed on our orthopedic ward. Further questioning revealed an exhausting night of agitation, attempted climbing from bed, hallucinations, and intravenous catheters being pulled out by the distressed patient. Despite the brightness of the sunlight streaming through the window, he was now barely rousable, grunting when moved, and had missed his breakfast and morning oral medications.

Sadly, this picture of delirium- an acute disorder of attention and cognition- is common on orthopedic and other hospital wards. The journey of a patient with hip fracture in many ways epitomizes that of the surgical patient at risk of delirium. These patients are older, have fallen, are often frail, and many have underlying cognitive impairment. Here in Australia, almost 1 in 3 is resident in a residential aged care facility (nursing home) even prior to surgery (1), and the recognized 30-40% with existing dementia or cognitive impairment likely underestimates the true number, due to suboptimal assessment (2). Patients with underlying cognitive impairment are 3 times more likely to sustain a hip fracture than those without (3), and are at increased risk of delirium (4, 5). Rates of delirium vary, with reports of up to 65% of patients experiencing delirium following hip fracture (6). It is the commonest complication following hip fracture, yet more than 30% of delirium is likely to be preventable, including in hip fracture cohorts (4, 7, 8), making it a critical and attainable target. Nonetheless, the pathophysiology of delirium, in the postoperative context or otherwise- remains poorly understood, with neuro-inflammation and cerebral metabolic insufficiency being the two most-favored theories explaining the predisposing and trigger events leading to delirium onset (8, 9).

The negative sequelae of delirium- and thus the potential advantages to delirium prevention- encompass the patient, hospital, and society. Delirium is commonly associated with increased hospital LOS, in multiple studies of hip fracture and other surgical/trauma patients, including in a recently published large retrospective analysis of > 4,000 patients from the Australian and New Zealand Hip Fracture Registry (ANZHFR) (10). A US paper noted that delirium was one of the two most notable predictors of prolonged LOS in hip fracture patients (the other being delayed time to surgery) (11). Delirium is also associated with increased risk of in-patient falls, mortality, and future risk of dementia, and with significant distress for patients and family members (12-15). The total costs of delirium in Australia, however, extend beyond easilycaptured health system costs; including other financial costs (such as productivity costs, informal care) and that associated with burden of disease and loss of well-being, total annual cost has been estimated to be in the order of AUD\$8.8 billion (2016-2017 data) (16), which, with 132,595 occurrences of delirium in Australia alone each year, would mean that each occurrence of delirium would cost approximately AUD\$66,000.

Delirium prevention begins at the time of the patient's arrival. Early orthogeriatrician input and comprehensive geriatric assessment are likely to improve outcomes, including reducing delirium incidence and severity (17–20). Best practice guidelines such as the Australian Hip Fracture Care Clinical Care Standard highlight that care at presentation, in addition to diagnostics, should include pain control, assessment of medical reasons for the fall, exclusion of other injuriesincluding head injury- and specifically highlight the need to "screen for cognitive impairment and risk factors for delirium and put in place interventions to prevent delirium based on this assessment" (21). Comprehensive geriatric assessment commonly incorporates assessment of medical (co-)morbidity, drugs and polypharmacy, cognition, mobility, function, social circumstances, and establishing goals of care. Such assessment is potentially associated with reduced post-operative delirium, improved delirium diagnosis, and reduction in other postoperative complications (17, 22, 23), which may contribute to delirium. Ideally, such an orthogeriatric approach to care should be instituted from admission.

Existing evidence-based guidelines and recommendations note the importance of early cognitive assessment, delirium risk screening and prevention of 'preventable' delirium (2, 21, 24). Yet data consistently highlight that cognitive screening amongst patients with hip fracture remains sub-optimal (2, 25). Tools such as the Delirium Risk Assessment Tool can help identify patients at highest risk (26, 27), and facilitate focused risk management plans. In addition to this, validated screening instruments [e.g., 4AT, Confusion Assessment Methods (CAM)] should be employed to assist in detection, in conjunction with appropriated cognitive screening tools where needed (28-30). Specific patient cohorts, such as those from culturally or linguistically diverse backgrounds, or Aboriginal and Indigenous patients, may benefit from culturally appropriate cognitive assessment (31-33). In patients who are unwell or cognitively impaired, the need for a collateral history is paramount (34, 35). However, evidence suggests that collateral history from family/carer is often neglected- being either absent or sparse- with Fitzpatrick et al. (34) highlighting that it is "alarming that such an essential component of clinical assessment is so often disregarded." In addition to screening for and recognition of delirium, proactive avoidance of triggerssuch as constipation, urinary retention and catheterization and deliriogenic medications- and timely pain assessment and management are key in the patient with hip fracture (21, 36, 37). The benefit of addressing delirium risk factors is highlighted by multifaceted interventions which target these risks. For example, data from the wider in-patient population have shown reduced delirium incidence- and other adverse outcomes such as falls- with the Hospital Elder Life Program, which focuses on cognitive impairment, sleep deprivation, immobilization, visual impairment, hearing impairment and dehydration (38, 39).

Despite guidelines recommending early pain assessment (18, 19), early and repeated pain assessment remains suboptimal (2, 40). Along with regular assessment, pain control may require a multimodal approach from amongst simple analgesics, antiinflammatories in appropriate patients, opiates with appropriate monitoring, and regional nerve blocks such as fascia-iliaca block (FIB) (19, 41). Analgesic-centric multicomponent bundles of care have been associated with reductions in early post-operative delirium amongst patients with hip fracture (42).

In contrast to the relatively strong evidence for addressing delirium risk factors either side of surgery, intra-operative factors have been less convincingly associated with postoperative delirium. In the setting of an imperfect evidence base, regional anesthesia does not seem to confer any deliriumreduction benefits over general anesthetic, although potential advantages in terms of adverse events, hospital length-ofview and even mobilization were identified in a small number of studies (43, 44). Duration of surgery may be associated with increased risk (45). Similarly, despite theoretical advantages, lighter sedation during surgery has not been convincingly associated with delirium risk (46), and the question of whether higher-dose propofol might contribute to postoperative delirium risk remains unanswered (47). On the other hand, the need for intensive care and/or ventilator care postoperatively are likely to increase risk, as demonstrated by a large Brazilian study of almost 60,000 hip fracture patients who underwent regional anesthesia (48).

The principles of pre-operative delirium prevention, assessment and management extend to the post-operative phase. Early, coordinated orthogeriatric and multidisciplinary input aims to reduce post-operative complications in addition to providing benefits regarding care coordination. Nurses will play a vital role in the post-operative phase of the patient's recovery. Factors which will continue to impact on delirium risk in this post-operative will include management of pain, minimizing polypharmacy, rationalizing medications, and avoiding (or planned earliest removal of) invasive devices such as urinary catheters (4, 38, 49, 50). Given the fluctuant course of delirium, and the prolonged post-operative risks for same in hip fracture cohorts, patients should be monitored regularly for cognitive, behavioral, and clinical deterioration; some guidelines suggest that all in-patients should be assessed at least daily (51). The regular assessment of pain assessment and effective analgesic management are critical to post-operative care (21), both to improve the patient's quality of life and comfort, and reduce delirium risk. For patients with cognitive impairment/dementia, many tools have been developed. Tools such as the Faces Pain Scale, Abbey Pain Scale and Pain Assessment in Advanced Dementia (PAINAD), Pain Assessment Checklist for Seniors with Limited Ability to Communicate and Mobilization-Observation-Behavior-Intensity-Dementia (MOBID) scale may be useful in such cohorts (52). Pain management is likely to require a multifaceted approach, including systemic analgesia using paracetamol and short-acting opioid analgesics, aiming to minimize dosage and duration so as to reduce opioid-associated harm (53). A systematic review (2011) has previously indicated that the evidence for strategies such as acupressure, relaxation therapy, transcutaneous electrical neurostimulation, and physical therapy regimens, is inconclusive (54).

Early mobilization is also promoted for patients following hip fracture, to promote recovery of mobility and function and mobility. Mobility is also promoted for patients in terms of delirium prevention (51). However, its potential relationship to delirium prevention in hip fracture patients is complex. Nonetheless, a recent study highlighted that those who mobilized early post-operatively had reduced (post-operative) delirium compared to those who remained bedbound (55), and delirium itself can often be a barrier to early mobilization (55, 56). Early mobilization is associated with improved likelihood of discharge by 30 days, irrespective of delirium status (57).

In patients who do develop delirium, management must focus on the identification of the cause, as well as prevention of complications, such as functional decline, dehydration, malnutrition, falls and pressure injuries, based on their risk (26). Partnering with patients and carers will support person centered care, improve patient experiences, and may improve outcomes (58, 59).

Principles which support a multidisciplinary approach to delirium prevention and pain management need to be embedded in local pathways for the care of patients with hip fracture, complemented by audit and quality improvement initiatives (18, 19). Strategies such as bundles of care have been associated with improved compliance with recommended delirium-reducing strategies (42), clinician support for their implementation (60), as well as with direct benefits in terms of incidence of post-operative delirium (9, 42). Yet the integration of models of care to support best practice is often suboptimal (61). Potential enablers of such integration might, for example, include interactive teaching methodologies, routine individualized feedback, and clear protocol dissemination (60, 62-66), while barriers may include educational deficits, lack of motivation at individual or institutional levels, environmental factors, and specific health professional characteristics such as age, sex or experience (67, 68). Translation of evidence into practice will need to account for local factors specific to the individual setting and local population. Furthermore, newer educational methods such as the "flipped classroom" and "train the trainer" approaches may enhance delirium learning for healthcare professionals, with a study by Sockalingam et al. (65) showing persistent benefit in delirium knowledge and delirium care self-efficacy at 6 months following institution of these strategies, and a mixed-methods study identifying that a delirium simulation-based flipped classroom approach "promoted higher level learning and engagement in interprofessional collaborative practice" (66). Hunter et al note that "dynamic, responsive implementation strategies and accessible educational modalities, which are flexible to needs of individual multidisciplinary team members and adapted to specific settings, will likely prove the most successful approach to adoption of evidence-based protocols [supporting hip fracture care]" (60).

Conclusion

In conclusion, patients presenting to hospital with hip fractures are at high risk of developing delirium. Patients who do develop delirium suffer significantly worse outcomes including death and morbidity, and delirium leads to increased suffering to carers and family, and imposes a large financial burden on the health system. Best practice guidelines emphasize multidisciplinary care including management by an orthogeriatric service, regular delirium screening, and multimodal interventions. Up to 30% of hip fracture-related delirium may be preventable with this approach. The health, social and economic burden of delirium underscore the need for research focusing on reducing the incidence and impact of delirium in our patients with hip fracture.

Author contributions

DN and AC were responsible for drafting, editing, and finalization of the manuscript. Both authors

References

 Australian and New Zealand Hip Fracture Registry. *Bi-National Annual Report* of Hip Fracture Care 2018. Australian and New Zealand Hip Fracture Registry. (2018). Accessed online at: https://anzhfr.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/1164/ 2021/08/2018-ANZHFR-Annual-Report-FULL-FINAL.pdf (accessed September 30, 2022).

2. Australian and New Zealand Hip Fracture Registry. *Annual Report of Hip Fracture Care 2021*. (2021). Accessed online at: https://anzhfr.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/1164/2021/12/ANZHFR-2021-Annual-Report_print-version.pdf (accessed September 30, 2022).

3. Baker NL, Cook MN, Arrighi HM, Bullock R. Hip fracture risk and subsequent mortality among Alzheimer's disease patients in the United Kingdom, 1988-2007. *Age Ageing*. (2011) 40:49–54. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq146

4. Inouye SK, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. *Lancet* (*Lond Engl*). (2014) 383:911–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60688-1

5. Ruel M, Boussat B, Boudissa M, Garnier V, Bioteau C, Tonetti J, et al. Management of preoperative pain in elderly patients with moderate to severe cognitive deficits and hip fracture: a retrospective, monocentric study in an orthogeriatric unit. *BMC Geriatr.* (2021) 21:575. doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02500-7

6. Inouye SK. Delirium after hip fracture: to be or not to be? J Am Geriatr Soc. (2001) 49:678–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49133.x

7. Deeken F, Sánchez A, Rapp MA, Denkinger M, Brefka S, Spank J, et al. Outcomes of a delirium prevention program in older persons after elective surgery: a stepped-wedge cluster randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2022) 157:e216370. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2021.6370

8. Chuan A, Sanders RD. The use of dexmedetomidine to prevent delirium after major cardiac and non-cardiac surgery. *Anaesthesia*. (2021) 76:1296–9. doi: 10.1111/anae.15494

9. Lam D, Wang C, Lee A, Chung YF, Lau TW, Fang C, et al. Multicomponent care bundle in geriatric fracture hip for reducing post-operative delirium. *Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil.* (2021) 12:21514593211004530. doi: 10.1177/ 21514593211004530

10. Oberai T, Woodman R, Laver K, Crotty M, Kerkhoffs G, Jaarsma R. Is delirium associated with negative outcomes in older patients with hip fracture: analysis of the 4904 patients 2017-2018 from the Australian and New Zealand hip fracture registry. *ANZ J Surg.* (2022) 92:200–5. doi: 10.1111/ans.17421

agreed to be accountable for the content of the work, contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Hecht G, Slee CA, Goodell PB, Taylor SL, Wolinsky PR. Predictive modeling for geriatric hip fracture patients: early surgery and delirium have the largest influence on length of stay. *J Am Acad Orthopaed Surg.* (2019) 27:e293–300. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-17-00447

12. Caplan GA, Teodorczuk A, Streatfeild J, Agar MR. The financial and social costs of delirium. *Eur Geriatr Med.* (2020) 11:105–12. doi: 10.1007/s41999-019-00257-2

13. He S, Rolls K, Stott K, Shekhar R, Vueti V, Flowers K, et al. Does delirium prevention reduce risk of in-patient falls among older adults? A systematic review and trial sequential meta-analysis. *Aust J Ageing.* (2022) 41:396–406. doi: 10.1111/ajag.13051

14. Finucane AM, Lugton J, Kennedy C, Spiller JA. The experiences of caregivers of patients with delirium, and their role in its management in palliative care settings: an integrative literature review. *Psychooncology*. (2017) 26:291–300. doi: 10.1002/pon.4140

15. Racine AM, D'Aquila M, Schmitt EM, Gallagher J, Marcantonio ER, Jones RN, et al. Delirium burden in patients and family caregivers: development and testing of new instruments. *Gerontologist.* (2019) 59:e393–402. doi: 10.1093/geront/gny041

16. Pezzullo L, Streatfeild J, Hickson J, Teodorczuk A, Agar MR, Caplan GA. Economic impact of delirium in Australia: a cost of illness study. *BMJ Open*. (2019) 9:e027514. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027514

17. Shields L, Henderson V, Caslake R. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for prevention of delirium after hip fracture: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2017) 65:1559–65. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14846

18. Australian and New Zealand Hip Fracture Registry. Australian and New Zealand Guideline for Hip Fracture Care, Improving Outcomes in Hip Fracture Management of Adults. Sydney, NSW: ANZHFR (2014).

19. National Institute for Clinical Effectiveness. *Hip Fracture: Management. Clinical Guideline [CG124].* (2011). Accessed online at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg124/chapter/Recommendation (accessed October 4, 2022)

20. Marcantonio ER, Flacker JM, Wright RJ, Resnick NM. Reducing delirium after hip fracture: a randomized trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2001) 49:516–22. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49108.x

21. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. *Hip Fracture Care Clinical Care Standard [Internet]*. Sydney, NSW: ACSQHC (2016).

22. Eamer G, Taheri A, Chen SS, Daviduck Q, Chambers T, Shi X, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older people admitted to a surgical service. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 1:CD012485. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD012485.pub2

23. Veronese N, Custodero C, Demurtas J, Smith L, Barbagallo M, Maggi S, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment in older people: an umbrella review of health outcomes. *Age Ageing.* (2022) 51:afac104. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afac104

24. Pendlebury ST, Klaus SP, Mather M, de Brito M, Wharton RM. Routine cognitive screening in older patients admitted to acute medicine: abbreviated mental test score (AMTS) and subjective memory complaint versus montreal cognitive assessment and IQCODE. *Age Ageing.* (2015) 44:1000–5. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afv134

25. Mutchie HL, Albrecht JS, Orwig DL, Huang Y, Boscardin WJ, Hochberg MC, et al. Differential misclassification of cognitive impairment by sex among hip fracture patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2022) 70:838–45. doi: 10.1111/jgs.17594

26. Agency for Clinical Innovation. *Care of the Confused Hospitalised Older Persons (CHOPS), Key Principles.* Sydney, NSW: Agency for Clinical Innovation (2020).

27. Agency for Clinical Innovation. *Care of the Confused Hospitalised Older Person, Delirium risk assessment [Internet].* Sydney, NSW: Agency for Clinical Innovation (2020).

28. MacLullich A. 4AT - Rapid Clinical Test for Delirium Detection [Internet]. (2020). Accessed online at: www.the4AT.com (accessed September 30, 2022)

29. MacLullich AM, Shenkin SD, Goodacre S, Godfrey M, Hanley J, Stíobhairt A, et al. The 4 'A's test for detecting delirium in acute medical patients: a diagnostic accuracy study. *Health Technol Assess (Winchester Engl).* (2019) 23:1–194. doi: 10.3310/hta23400

30. Inouye SK, van Dyck CH, Alessi CA, Balkin S, Siegal AP, Horwitz RI. Clarifying confusion: the confusion assessment method. A new method for detection of delirium. *Ann Intern Med.* (1990) 113:941–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-113-12-941

31. Storey JE, Rowland JT, Basic D, Conforti DA, Dickson HG. The rowland universal dementia assessment scale (RUDAS): a multicultural cognitive assessment scale. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2004) 16:13–31. doi: 10.1017/s1041610204000043

32. LoGiudice D, Smith K, Thomas J, Lautenschlager NT, Almeida OP, Atkinson D, et al. Kimberley indigenous cognitive assessment tool (KICA): development of a cognitive assessment tool for older indigenous Australians. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2006) 18:269–80. doi: 10.1017/S1041610205002681

33. LoGiudice D, Strivens E, Smith K, Stevenson M, Atkinson D, Dwyer A, et al. The KICA screen: the psychometric properties of a shortened version of the KICA (Kimberley Indigenous Cognitive Assessment). *Aust J Ageing.* (2011) 30:215–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6612.2010.00486.x

34. Fitzpatrick D, Doyle K, Finn G, Gallagher P. The collateral history: an overlooked core clinical skill. *Eur Geriatr Med.* (2020) 11:1003–7. doi: 10.1007/s41999-020-00367-2

35. Dyer AH, Foley T, O'Shea B, Kennelly SP. Cognitive assessment of older adults in general practice: the collateral history. *Irish J Med Sci.* (2018) 187:683–7. doi: 10.1007/s11845-017-1723-8

36. American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on Postoperative Delirium in Older Adults. American geriatrics society abstracted clinical practice guideline for postoperative delirium in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2015) 63:142–50. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13281

37. Aldecoa C, Bettelli G, Bilotta F, Sanders RD, Audisio R, Borozdina A, et al. European society of anaesthesiology evidence-based and consensus-based guideline on postoperative delirium. *Eur J Anaesthesiol.* (2017) 34:192–214. doi: 10.1097/EJA.00000000000594

38. Inouye SK, Bogardus ST Jr., Charpentier PA, Leo-Summers L, Acampora D, Holford TR, et al. A multicomponent intervention to prevent delirium in hospitalized older patients. *N Engl J Med.* (1999) 340:669–76. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199903043400901

39. Hshieh TT, Yang T, Gartaganis SL, Yue J, Inouye SK. Hospital elder life program: systematic review and meta-analysis of effectiveness. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2018) 26:1015–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2018.06.007

40. National Institute for Clinical Effectiveness. 2019 Surveillance of Hip fracture: Management (NICE Guideline CG124). (2019). Accessed online at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg124/resources/2019-surveillance-of-hip-fracture-management-nice-guideline-cg124-pdf-9025317437173 (accessed October 4, 2022)

41. Sanzone AG. Use of nonopioid analgesics and the impact on patient outcomes. *J Orthop Trauma*. (2016) 30(Suppl. 1):S12–5. doi: 10.1097/BOT. 00000000000563

42. Chuan A, Zhao L, Tillekeratne N, Alani S, Middleton PM, Harris IA, et al. The effect of a multidisciplinary care bundle on the incidence of delirium after hip fracture surgery: a quality improvement study. *Anaesthesia*. (2020) 75:63–71. doi: 10.1111/anae.14840

43. Patel V, Champaneria R, Dretzke J, Yeung J. Effect of regional versus general anaesthesia on postoperative delirium in elderly patients undergoing surgery for hip fracture: a systematic review. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e020757. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020757

44. Li T, Li J, Yuan L, Wu J, Jiang C, Daniels J, et al. Effect of regional vs general anesthesia on incidence of postoperative delirium in older patients undergoing hip fracture surgery: the RAGA randomized trial. *JAMA*. (2022) 327:50–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.22647

45. Ravi B, Pincus D, Choi S, Jenkinson R, Wasserstein DN, Redelmeier DA. Association of duration of surgery with postoperative delirium among patients receiving hip fracture repair. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2019) 2:e190111. doi: 0.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.0111

46. Sieber FE, Neufeld KJ, Gottschalk A, Bigelow GE, Oh ES, Rosenberg PB, et al. Effect of depth of sedation in older patients undergoing hip fracture repair on postoperative delirium: the STRIDE randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2018) 153:987–95. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.2602

47. Whitlock EL, Finlayson E. Depth of propofol sedation and postoperative delirium. *JAMA Surg.* (2018) 153:996. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.2618

48. Ahn EJ, Bang SR. Risk factors associated with treatment of hyperactive postoperative delirium in elderly patients following hip fracture surgery under regional anesthesia: a nationwide population-based study. *Brazil J Anesthesiol (Elsevier).* (2022) 72:213–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bjane.2021.03.020

49. Greer N, Rossom R, Anderson P, MacDonald R, Tacklind J, Rutks I, et al. *Delirium: Screening, Prevention, and Diagnosis – A Systematic Review of the Evidence.* Washington, DC: United States Department of Veterans Affairs (2011).

50. Inouye SK. Prevention of delirium in hospitalized older patients: risk factors and targeted intervention strategies. *Ann Med.* (2000) 32:257–63. doi: 10.3109/07853890009011770

51. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Delirium Care Clinical Care Standard [Internet]. Sydney, NSW: ACSQHC (2021).

52. Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists and Faculty of Pain Medicine. *Acute-Pain-Management-Scientific-Evidence.* <edition>5th-edit. Sydney, NSW: ANZCA (2020).

53. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare. Opioid Analgesic Stewardship in Acute Pain Clinical Care Standard 2022 [Internet]. Sydney, NSW: ACSQH (2022).

54. Abou-Setta AM, Beaupre LA, Rashiq S, Dryden DM, Hamm MP, Sadowski CA, et al. Comparative effectiveness of pain management interventions for hip fracture: a systematic review. *Ann Intern Med.* (2011) 155:234–45. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-4-201108160-00346

55. Kenyon-Smith T, Nguyen E, Oberai T, Jarsma R. Early mobilization posthip fracture surgery. *Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil.* (2019) 10:2151459319826431. doi: 10.1177/2151459319826431

56. Said CM, Delahunt M, Ciavarella V, Al Maliki D, Boys AM, Vogrin S, et al. Factors impacting early mobilization following hip fracture: an observational study. *J Geriatr Phys Ther.* (2021) 44:88–93. doi: 10.1519/JPT.00000000000284

57. Sheehan KJ, Goubar A, Martin FC, Potter C, Jones GD, Sackley C, et al. Discharge after hip fracture surgery in relation to mobilisation timing by patient characteristics: linked secondary analysis of the UK National hip fracture database. *BMC Geriatr.* (2021) 21:694. doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02624-w

58. Agency for Clinical Innovation. Care of the Confused Hospitalised Older Person, Resources and Useful Links [Internet]. Sydney, NSW: Agency for Clinical Innovation (2020).

59. Clinical excellence Commission. *Partnering with Patients, Top 5 Initiative.* (2014). Accessed online at: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/ 0009/192672/TOP-5-Flyer.pdf (accessed October 14, 2022).

60. Hunter CL, Ni Chroinin D, McEvoy L, Chuan A. Delirium reduction by analgesia management in hip fracture surgery (DRAM-HF): exploration of perceived facilitators and barriers. *Aust J Ageing*. (2021) 40:e332–40. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12991

61. Dale S, Levi C, Ward J, Grimshaw JM, Jammali-Blasi A, D'Este C, et al. Barriers and enablers to implementing clinical treatment protocols for fever, hyperglycaemia, and swallowing dysfunction in the quality in acute stroke care (QASC) project-a mixed methods study. *World Evid Based Nurs*. (2015) 12:41–50. doi: 10.1111/wvn.12078

62. Knops AM, Storm-Versloot MN, Mank AP, Ubbink DT, Vermeulen H, Bossuyt PM, et al. Factors influencing long-term adherence to two previously implemented hospital guidelines. *Int J Qual Health Care.* (2010) 22:421–9. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzq038

63. Francke AL, Smit MC, de Veer AJ, Mistiaen P. Factors influencing the implementation of clinical guidelines for health care professionals: a systematic meta-review. *BMC Med Informat Decision Making*. (2008) 8:38. doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-8-38

64. Zwerver F, Schellart AJ, Knol DL, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. An implementation strategy to improve the guideline adherence of insurance physicians: an experiment in a controlled setting. *Implement Sci.* (2011) 6:131. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-131

65. Sockalingam S, James SL, Sinyi R, Carroll A, Laidlaw J, Yanofsky R, et al. A flipped classroom approach to improving the quality of delirium care using

an interprofessional train-the-trainer program. J Cont Educ Health Profess. (2016) 36:17–23. doi: 10.1097/CEH.00000000000025

66. Shikino K, Ide N, Kubota Y, Ishii I, Ito S, Ikusaka M, et al. Effective situation-based delirium simulation training using flipped classroom approach to improve interprofessional collaborative practice competency: a mixed-methods study. *BMC Med Educ.* (2022) 22:408. doi: 10.1186/s12909-022-03 484-7

67. Fischer F, Lange K, Klose K, Greiner W, Kraemer A. Barriers and strategies in guideline implementation-a scoping review. *Healthcare (Basel Switzerland).* (2016) 4:36. doi: 10.3390/healthcare40 30036

68. Ní Chróinín D, Ní Chróinín C, Beveridge A. Factors influencing deprescribing habits among geriatricians. *Age Ageing*. (2015) 44:704–8. doi: 10. 1093/ageing/afv028

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY Hui-Bin Huang, Tsinghua University, China Jesus Rico-Feijoo, Hospital Universitario Río Hortega, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Si Bo Liu ⊠ icu2000@163.com Jin Jie Liu ⊠ vip2lij@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 22 August 2022 ACCEPTED 20 December 2022 PUBLISHED 09 January 2023

CITATION

Liu GL, Wu GZ, Ge D, Zhou HJ, Cui S, Gao K, Sun WJ, Yu DH, Liu SB and Liu JJ (2023) Efficacy and safety of ciprofol for agitation and delirium in the ICU: A multicenter, single-blind, 3-arm parallel randomized controlled trial study protocol. *Front. Med.* 9:1024762. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.1024762

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liu, Wu, Ge, Zhou, Cui, Gao, Sun, Yu, Liu and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Efficacy and safety of ciprofol for agitation and delirium in the ICU: A multicenter, single-blind, 3-arm parallel randomized controlled trial study protocol

Guo Liang Liu^{1†}, Guo Zhi Wu^{1†}, Dong Ge^{1†}, Heng Jie Zhou¹, Song Cui¹, Kai Gao¹, Wei Jia Sun², Dong Hai Yu³, Si Bo Liu^{1,4*†} and Jin Jie Liu^{5,6*†}

¹Intensive Care Unit, Dalian Municipal Central Hospital Affiliated Dalian University of Technology, Dalian, China, ²Department of Pharmacy, Dalian Municipal Central Hospital Affiliated Dalian University of Technology, Dalian, China, ³Department of Anesthesiology, Dalian Municipal Central Hospital Affiliated Dalian University of Technology, Dalian, China, ⁴Intensive Care Unit, Beijing Friendship Hospital Affiliated Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ⁵Department of NO.2 General Medicine, Dalian Municipal Central Hospital Affiliated Dalian University of Technology, Dalian, China, ⁶Neurological Intensive Care Unit, Beijing Tiantan Hospital Affiliated Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Background: Agitation is very common in the intensive care unit (ICU). The causes include pain, delirium, underlying disease, withdrawal syndrome, and some drug treatments. The practical goal of ICU treatment is to find an appropriate sedation regimen to reduce pain, restlessness, and delirium. Previous trials have examined the use of dexmedetomidine, but no trials have evaluated the efficacy and safety of ciprofol, a new sedative drug.

Methods: This study was a multicenter, single-blind, 3-arm parallel randomized controlled trial. ICU patients aged \geq 18 years with agitation and delirium who met the eligibility criteria were included. The main outcome was the proportion of patients who needed additional study medication or midazolam due to agitation within 4 h after the first intravenous injection of the study medication. The secondary outcomes included the pass rate as indicated by a Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale (RASS) score < +1, the effectiveness rate of improving delirium symptoms, the number of recurrences of agitation within 24 h, the incidence of rescue treatment, the dose and cost of analgesic and sedative drugs, the length and cost of ICU stay, and the 30-day survival period. The safety evaluation included the incidence of adverse events (hypotension, bradycardia, hypoxia, etc.) and the rate of endotracheal intubation. The subjects were randomly assigned to receive ciprofol, dexmedetomidine, or normal saline at a ratio of 1:1:1. The rates of

additional drug administration within 4 h after the first injection of the study drug in the three groups were 40, 50, and 90%, respectively. A total sample size of 81 subjects was required to reach 90% power and an α of 0.05. Considering a 20% loss rate, 102 patients were enrolled and randomly assigned to the three groups in equal proportions.

Ethics and communication: This trial was approved by the Ethics Committee of Dalian Municipal Central Hospital. The communication plan includes presentations at scientific conferences, scientific publications, and presentations to the public through non-professional media.

Clinical trial registration: www.ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier ChiCTR220006 2799.

KEYWORDS

ciprofol, agitation, delirium, intensive care unit, sedation

Introduction

Agitation is very common in the intensive care unit (ICU). The causes include pain, delirium, underlying disease, withdrawal syndrome, and some drug treatments. The incidence of agitation varies among ICUs, but 12-70% of critically ill patients develop agitation (1). Agitation is closely related to adverse outcomes. For example, an increased duration of mechanical ventilation and prolonged hospital stay put patients at risk of life-threatening symptoms (2). The economic impact of unplanned removal of medical devices caused by agitation in a single ICU is estimated to exceed \$250,000 per year (3). The economic impact of delirium is even greater: more than 164 billion dollars annually in the USA and more than 182 billion dollars annually in 18 European countries (4). Due to the serious negative impacts of agitation and delirium on the prognosis of ICU patients and the heavy burden these conditions impose on the health system, the prevention and treatment of agitation and delirium have become urgent problems in the field of intensive care medicine (5).

The practical goal of ICU treatment is to find an appropriate sedation regimen to reduce pain, restlessness, and delirium. Ciprofol (HSK3486) is a novel 2,6-disubstituted phenol derivative that, similar to propofol, binds to γ -aminobutyric acid- α (GABAA) receptors (6). In a phase 2 study of ICU patients requiring mechanical ventilation (NCT04147416), the success rate of sedation using ciprofol was 100%, with rapid recovery, no significant accumulation, and good safety (7). However, there is no evidence for the sedative effect and safety of ciprofol for ICU patients with agitation and delirium who are not mechanically ventilated. This study aimed to confirm the efficacy and safety of ciprofol in short-term (4–24 h) shallow sedation (RASS –2 to +1) in ICU patients with agitation and delirium and followed up patients for 30 days to investigate the survival, cognition, and recurrence of delirium in these patients.

Study design

This study was a multicenter, randomized, single-blind, parallel-controlled study involving 5 centers/hospitals. This trial was fully approved by the Ethics Committee of Dalian Municipal Central Hospital (20201-094-01). The trial was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (ChiCTR2200062799)¹ with the listed primary and secondary endpoints. The study was conducted in accordance with the clinical trial protocol (and any revisions), the Declaration of Helsinki (current revision), the *Guidelines for analgesia and sedation treatment in intensive care unit of Chinese adults*, and *Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Pain, Agitation/Sedation, Delirium, Immobility, and Sleep Disruption in Adult Patients in the ICU (2, 8).* The implementation time for the study was expected to be 2 years. The technical route is shown in Figure 1.

Research environment

The patients were registered and treated in the ICUs of 5 centers/hospitals in China: (1) Dalian Municipal Central Hospital Affiliated Dalian University of Technology, (2) Beijing Friendship Hospital Affiliated Capital Medical University, (3) The Second Hospital of Dalian Medical University, (4) Jinzhou Municipal First People's Hospital, and (5) Central Hospital of Zhuanghe City.

Patient selection

We used detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria consistent with those described in a previous research report (9). Based on

¹ http://www.chictr.org.cn/showproj.aspx?proj=174945



the inclusion and exclusion criteria, patients were enrolled and randomly assigned to receive continuous intravenous sedation with ciprofol, dexmedetomidine, or normal saline.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients with agitation or active delirium in the ICU were expected to need sedation for 4–24 h after randomization. (2) The expected sedation goal was within the range of the Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale (RASS) (-2 to +1). (3) The age range of the patients was 18–85 years, and no sex restriction was applied. (4) The body mass index (BMI) of each patient was between 18 kg/m² and 30 kg/m². (5) Patients or their family members fully understood the purpose and significance of the trial, voluntarily agreed to participation within 24 h of admission to the ICU, and signed informed consent, including providing contact information.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients with mechanical ventilation; (2) patients with known psychiatric disorders or cognitive impairment; (3) patients with known allergies to eggs, soy products, ciprofol, or dexmedetomidine and those with contraindications to ciprofol, dexmedetomidine, opioids, and analgesic drugs; (4) patients who received sedation in other ward within 1 day before being transferred to the ICU; (5) patients with a medical history or evidence indicating that they were at increased risk of harm from sedation/anesthesia; (6) patients with advanced-stage tumors; (7) patients with a history of alcohol or drug abuse; (8) pregnant women and lactating women; (9) patients receiving blood purification treatment during the use of ciprofol or dexmedetomidine (as such treatment may affect the pharmacokinetics and efficacy of ciprofol or dexmedetomidine); (10) participation in other clinical trials within 1 month before screening; (11) inability to evaluate efficacy and adverse reactions due to incomplete data and inconsistent evaluation criteria; and (12) patients who the researchers decided did not meet the criteria for inclusion in clinical trials for various reasons.

The levels of sedation and delirium were assessed using the RASS and the Confusion Assessment Method for the ICU (CAM-ICU) (10, 11). Agitation was defined as RASS $\geq +2$, and active delirium was defined as CAM-ICU positive with RASS $\geq +2$.

Test group

To comprehensively determine the efficacy and safety of ciprofol, this study included a blank control group receiving normal saline and a drug control group receiving dexmedetomidine at a ratio of 1:1:1. Dexmedetomidine was selected as the control drug because it is a continuous infusion sedative drug recommended by many guidelines. In many countries, including the USA and China, it is usually used for long-term sedation in the ICU (2, 8, 12). The replacement block randomization method was used (the block size was set to 6), and the subjects were randomly assigned to receive saline, ciprofol, or dexmedetomidine at a ratio of 1:1:1.

This study was designed to be single-blind. The patients and their families and the case report form (CRF) data analysis researchers did not know the identities of the patients in the experimental groups. Because the ICU patients were critically ill, the clinicians and CRF data collection researchers could not be blinded. The clinicians were mainly responsible for deciding when to begin sedation, adjust the dose, and end sedation.

At the time of registration and after signing the consent form, detailed information about prior sedation and analgesic treatment, baseline demographics, delirium occurrence, and disease severity were recorded.

Study drug management

Researchers confirmed that the RASS of each patient reached $\geq +2$ before starting to administrate the study drug. Prior to drug administration, the CAM-ICU was used to assess the patient's delirium status. The sedatives used before study registration were discontinued before the start of the study drugs.

In the experimental group, continuous intravenous pump injection of ciprofol was performed with a loading dose of 0.1 mg/kg and a maintenance dose of 0.05–0.8 mg/kg/h. The control group received a continuous intravenous pump injection of dexmedetomidine for sedation, with a loading dose of 0.1 mcg/kg and a maintenance dose of 0.03–0.7 mcg/kg/h. The specific study drug use is shown in Table 1.

The RASS sedation assessment scale (RASS) was used to assess the level of sedation and to control the rate of drug administration. The sedation goal was RASS -2 to +1 points. When the RASS score exceeded the target range, the drug infusion rate was increased or decreased until the target RASS score was reached. If the sedation was too deep (RASS -3 to -5 points), the infusion of the study drug was stopped until the patient returned to the acceptable sedation range. Sedation assessment was performed at least every 4 h, and the dose of the study drug was adjusted by the clinical medical staff according to the RASS score and recorded in the nursing record.

Patients in the two groups who were not sufficiently sedated by study drug titration were given midazolam at a dose of 0.01-0.05 mg/kg. The injection time was 3 min, and the drug was administered again at 15-min intervals until sufficient sedation (RASS -2 to +1) was achieved. The maximum dose within 8 h was 4 mg. The lowest maintenance dose of the study drug was infused continuously for 4 h in patients with RASS scores < +1, which indicated that a subject no longer needed sedation, thus warranting discontinuation of study drug infusion. At this time, the CAM-ICU was used to re-evaluate the patient's delirium.

Many guidelines highlight the importance of analgesic treatment, given that it is the basis of sedation treatment (2, 8, 13). Analgesics were used according to a standardized procedure. All subjects were monitored using the Critical-Care Pain Observation Tool (CPOT), and fentanyl analgesia was used to maintain a CPOT score of < 3 (14). Analgesia with a small dose of fentanyl (0.5-1.0 µg/kg) was performed once every 15 min as needed. Fentanyl analgesia was also given before expected harmful stimuli, such as fiberoptic bronchoscopy or arteriovenous catheterization. The use of fentanyl patches was prohibited. The use of other sedatives or analgesics was prohibited during the study. The total time of drug administration (including the loading dose and the maintenance dose) was at least 4 h \pm 30 min, and the longest time was not more than 24 h \pm 30 min. The study drug infusion was stopped if the investigator believed it was in the patient's best interest to discontinue the drug.

During the drug administration process, circulatory and respiratory functions were always monitored, and airway

Study drug	Loading dose	Maintenance dose	Allowed top-up dose during maintenance administration			
Ciprofol group	0.1 mg/kg, intravenous infusion (undiluted), administration time 30 s	Start maintenance at 0.3 mg/kg/h, dose can be up- or downregulated at 0.05–0.1 mg/kg/h; range of the maintenance dose: 0.05–0.8 mg/kg/h	0.05 mg/kg each time, each top-up should have at least a 2-min interval			
Dexmedetomidine group	0.1 mcg/kg, intravenous infusion (dilute with 0.9% sodium chloride solution to a concentration of 4 mcg/ml), administration time 10 min	Start maintenance at 0.2 mcg/kg/h, dose can be up- or downregulated at 0.03–0.1 mcg/kg/h; range of the maintenance dose: 0.03–0.7 mcg/kg/h	0.1 mcg/kg each time, each top-up should have at least a 15-min interval			

TABLE 1 Administration of the study drug.

assistance measures, artificial ventilation and other resuscitation devices were readily accessible. Symptoms before and after drug administration and their fluctuations were recorded. When adverse reactions occurred, the symptoms, drug doses, intervention measures, and medication time were recorded.

Ciprofol was acquired from Haisco Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd., and formulated as 2 ml:50 mg (lot number 20220302). Dexmedetomidine was obtained from the Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group and formulated as 2 ml:200 mcg (lot number 22071431).

Effectiveness evaluation

The primary endpoint was the proportion of patients who needed additional study medication or midazolam due to agitation within 4 h after the first intravenous injection of the study medication.

The secondary endpoints were as follows: (1) the proportion of patients who achieved a RASS score < +1 within 4 h after the first intravenous injection of the study medication; (2) the effective rate for improving delirium symptoms; (3) the number of recurrences of agitation within 24 h; (4) the proportion of patients who underwent tracheal intubation and received emergency drugs within 24 h; (5) the dose and cost of analgesic and sedative drugs; (6) the duration and cost of the ICU stay; and (7) short-term mortality of patients when followed up for 30 days.

Safety evaluation

The incidence of adverse reactions (including respiratory depression, hypoxia, hypotension, hypertension, tachycardia and bradycardia symptoms, and elevated blood bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase, and triglyceride) and the rate of tracheal intubation during medication were evaluated. Two ICU specialists and two neurologists defined each subject's adverse reactions in detail based on the drug instructions and the evidence reported in previous studies (7, 15).

- Definition of absolute and relative hypotension: systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg or a decrease of more than 20% of that before medication or diastolic blood pressure < 50 mmHg.
- Definition of absolute and relative hypertension: systolic blood pressure > 180 mmHg or more than 20% higher than that before medication or diastolic blood pressure > 100 mmHg.
- Definition of absolute and relative bradycardia: heart rate < 40 beats/min or more than 20% lower than that before medication.

- Definition of absolute and relative tachycardia: heart rate
 120 beats/min or more than 20% higher than that before medication.
- Definition of absolute and relative respiratory depression: respiratory rate < 8 breaths/min or lower than baseline by more than 25%.
- 6) Definition of absolute and relative hypoxia: $SpO_2 < 90\%$ or lower than baseline by 10%.
- Definition of elevated blood bilirubin: blood bilirubin
 > 25% higher than that before medication.
- Definition of elevated alanine aminotransferase: alanine aminotransferase > 25% higher than that before medication.
- Definition of elevated triglycerides: triglycerides > 25% higher than that before medication.

For any risks that occurred during the study, the investigator promptly provided correct and reasonable individualized medical treatment to the subjects according to the specific conditions of the subjects to protect the rights and interests of the subjects to the maximum extent. The investigators conducted follow-up surveys of all adverse events (including serious adverse events), with regular follow-up according to the disease condition until the final outcome of the adverse events. The follow-up process and the outcome of the adverse events were recorded. Emergency orotracheal intubation is indicated in any situation in which definitive control of the airway is needed. New England Journal of Medicine (NEJM)recommended indications include cardiac or respiratory arrest, failure to protect the airway from aspiration, inadequate oxygenation or ventilation, and impending or existing airway obstruction (16).

Data management and monitoring

All data were collected during the clinical trial. All raw data were recorded on the online data collection form by the appropriate researchers, and the accuracy of the data input was confirmed by two people. The data were processed in an anonymous and encrypted manner, and a limited number of people were allowed to access the data. The data were coded using the unique identification associated with the individual study participants. The decision to lock the database was made by the chief investigator, database administrator, and statistical analyst in charge of the statistical analysis. The research coordinator at each center supervised the conduct of the study. In addition, this experiment was closely monitored by a certified external auditor to ensure that the research activities were conducted in accordance with the protocol, clinical practice guidelines and applicable regulatory requirements. The data will be stored in double backup mode for at least 5 years after the end of the study.

Study quality control and supervision

We established a quality assurance system, and a designated coordinator will guide the investigators when conducting clinical trials in accordance with the protocol, clinical practice guidelines, and applicable regulatory requirements. The coordinator was responsible for reviewing the original data records and case report forms, investigating any violations, ensuring that researchers have a detailed and accurate understanding of the research program, and assessing whether the procedures were correctly implemented. Any quality problems were relayed to the main researcher, and appropriate measures were taken immediately to solve the problems.

When the number of subjects reached half of the expected sample size, a mid-term evaluation was conducted. The drugs' clinical index data were preliminarily analyzed, the risk-benefit relationship of the trial drugs was comprehensively weighed in terms of effectiveness and safety, and a major decision was made regarding whether to "continue the trial," "continue the trial after adjusting the scheme," or "terminate the trial." If problems were found and the protocol needed to be modified or adjusted, all relevant information was submitted to the Ethics Committee for approval before implementation.

Statistics

This study was a clinical randomized controlled trial. The three groups were a blank control group, a ciprofol group, and a dexmedetomidine group, with a ratio of 1:1:1. The rate of additional drug administration within 4 h after the first injection was the main outcome indicator. According to the pre-experiment results, the rates of additional drug administration in the three groups were 90, 40, and 50%, respectively. The type I error (false-positive) was set to 0.05, and the efficacy reached 90%. The total sample size of the three groups calculated by PASS (version 15.0.5) was N = 81 cases. Considering a loss rate of 20%, the total number of subjects required for the final three groups was 102, with at least 34 subjects in each group.

The analysis was performed according to intention-totreat analysis including all randomized participants, and the analysis was performed in their randomized groups, regardless of the actual treatment received. For continuous numerical variables, the numbers, means, medians, standard deviations, minimums, maximums, and coefficients of variation (CVs, if applicable) were analyzed using the independent sample *t*-test or Wilcoxon rank sum test. Categorical variables were given as rates (percentages) and were analyzed using the Pearson X^2 test or Fisher's exact probability method. The baseline was defined as the last non-missing observation data collected before the first use of the study drug. The normality of the data was examined using the Shapiro–Wilk test and the Q-Q plot in SPSS. We used SPSS (version 26.0) for analysis. All statistical inferences were performed using two-sided tests. The statistically significant test level was set as 0.05, and the confidence interval (CI) of the parameters was estimated using the 95% CI.

Analysis of the main effectiveness results

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the efficacy and safety of ciprofol for agitation and delirium in the ICU. The main effectiveness index was the comparison of the rate of additional drug administration within 4 h after the first injection, which corresponded to qualitative data and was analyzed using the Pearson X^2 test or Fisher's exact probability method.

Analysis of secondary effectiveness results

Study drug use, the number of recurrences of agitation within 24 h, the dose and cost of analgesic and sedative drug application, and the length and cost of the ICU stay were assessed using the independent sample *t*-test or the Mann-Whitney test. The proportion of patients who achieved a RASS score < +1 within 4 h after the first intravenous injection of the study medication, the effective rate for improving delirium symptoms, and the proportions of patients who received tracheal intubation or use of emergency medicine within 24 h in the two groups were compared using the X^2 test.

Safety analysis

The Pearson X^2 test was used to compare the incidence of adverse events between the two groups, and the adverse events in this study were tabulated.

Discussion

As China's first innovative class 1 intravenous anesthetic drug, there are very few clinical trials related to ciprofol. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first clinical trial to investigate the applicability and safety of ciprofol as a continuous pumpin sedative in ICU patients with agitation and active delirium, especially in patients with non-mechanical ventilation.

Dexmedetomidine is a high selectivity α -adrenergic receptor agonist with analgesic and sedative effects. The positive effects of dexmedetomidine have been widely reported, including reducing the incidence of postoperative delirium, prolonging sleep time, delaying the occurrence of delirium, and shortening the duration of delirium in elderly patients (17–20). Although delirium is not among its indications, some domestic and foreign guidelines recommend dexmedetomidine for the treatment of delirium (13, 21). However, the adverse events of dexmedetomidine should not be ignored, which mainly include cardiovascular system reactions, respiratory system reactions, neuropsychiatric disorders, and others (22, 23). Two recent meta-analyses clearly indicate that dexmedetomidine is associated with a greater risk of bradycardia and hypotension in various ICU patients (24, 25). Considering that ICU patients often have multiple diseases and organ function damage or failure to varying degrees, ICU doctors are always concerned during the medication process. Effective and safe sedative and delirium control drugs have long been goals of ICU physicians.

Ciprofol has a shorter half-life than dexmedetomidine. The plasma concentration of ciprofol showed three-phase elimination, and the corresponding half-lives were 0.54 min $(t_{1/2}, \alpha)$, 6.26 min $(t_{1/2}, \beta)$, and 105 min $(t_{1/2}, \gamma)$, respectively (26). Ciprofol is an alkyl phenolic compound. Phase II UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) and phase I CYP2B6 are the main metabolic enzymes for ciprofol. Ciprofol is rapidly oxidized in the body or combined with glucuronic acid and sulfuric acid, and its metabolites are inactive (27). Therefore, unlike dexmedetomidine, clinicians do not have to consider the cumulative effect of sedatives.

Because ciprofol has a higher lipid solubility than propofol, the concentration of free molecules in the emulsion is significantly lower than that of propofol, which may reduce injection pain. In an experiment in which hypnosis was induced in rats and dogs, ciprofol had a higher therapeutic index than propofol. At the same dose, the hypnotic efficacy of ciprofol was approximately 4-5 times that of propofol (27). Similar results were observed in healthy subjects in phase I clinical trials (6). Compared with propofol, the average dose per hour, the average loading dose, and the average maintenance dose of ciprofol for sedation during colonoscopy were approximately fivefold lower, and the incidence of cardiovascular adverse events was lower (7). The dosage required for sedation is lower, which reduces the amount of lipid infusion, thereby reducing the adverse reactions caused by excessive lipid infusion for prolonged sedation, such as hypertriglyceridemia or propofol infusion syndrome.

In summary, these findings demonstrate that this drug has great potential as a new sedative drug in the ICU. If the drug shows the same beneficial properties in critically ill patients as in previous studies, it may become a new choice for patients and clinicians.

Ethics statement

This trial was approved by the Ethics Committee of Dalian Municipal Central Hospital. Patients or their family members fully understood the purpose and significance of the trial, voluntarily agreed to participation within 24 h of admission to the ICU, and signed informed consent, including providing contact information.

Author contributions

GL, GW, and DG: methodology, software, formal analysis, investigation, and writing—original draft. HZ, SC, and KG: methodology, software, formal analysis, and investigation. WS and DY: methodology, validation, data curation, and supervision. SL and JL: conceptualization, writing—reviewing and editing, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Dalian High-Level Talents Innovation Support Plan (grant number 2021RQ029) and the Open Project Program of Key Laboratory for the Genetics of Developmental and Neuropsychiatric Disorders, Ministry of Education (grant number 2019GDND03).

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Prof. Da Wei Liu from the Intensive Care Unit of Peking Union Medical College Hospital for helping with manuscript writing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Aubanel S, Bruiset F, Chapuis C, Chanques G, Payen JF. Therapeutic options for agitation in the intensive care unit. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med.* (2020) 39:639–46. doi: 10.1016/j.accpm.2020.01.009

2. Devlin J, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C, Needham DM, Slooter AJC, Pandharipande PP, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:e825–73.

3. Fraser G, Riker RR, Prato BS, Wilkins ML. The frequency and cost of patientinitiated device removal in the ICU. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2001) 21:1–6. doi: 10.1592/ phco.21.1.1.34444

4. Inouye S, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. *Lancet*. (2014) 383:911–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60688-1

5. Wilson J, Mart MF, Cunningham C, Shehabi Y, Girard TD, MacLullich AMJ, et al. Delirium. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2020) 6:90. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00223-4

6. Hu C, Ou X, Teng Y, Shu S, Wang Y, Zhu X, et al. Sedation effects produced by a ciprofol initial infusion or bolus dose followed by continuous maintenance infusion in healthy subjects: a phase 1 trial. *Adv Ther.* (2021) 38:5484–500. doi: 10.1007/s12325-021-01914-4

7. Teng Y, Ou M, Wang X, Zhang W, Liu X, Liang Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of ciprofol for the sedation/anesthesia in patients undergoing colonoscopy: phase IIa and IIb multi-center clinical trials. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* (2021) 164:105904. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2021.105904

8. Society Of Critical Care Medicine Chinese Medical Association. Guidelines for analgesia and sedation treatment in intensive care unit of Chinese adults. *Zhonghua Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue.* (2018) 30:497–514.

9. Liu Y, Chen C, Liu N, Tong L, Nie Y, Wu J, et al. Efficacy and safety of ciprofol sedation in ICU patients with mechanical ventilation: a clinical trial study protocol. *Adv Ther.* (2021) 38:5412–23. doi: 10.1007/s12325-021-01 877-6

10. Gusmao-Flores D, Salluh JI, Chalhub R, Quarantini LC. The confusion assessment method for the intensive care unit (CAM-ICU) and intensive care delirium screening checklist (ICDSC) for the diagnosis of delirium: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical studies. *Crit Care.* (2012) 16:R115. doi: 10. 1186/cc11407

11. Sessler C, Gosnell MS, Grap MJ, Brophy GM, O'Neal PV, Keane KA, et al. The richmond agitation-sedation scale: validity and reliability in adult intensive care unit patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2002) 166:1338–44. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2107138

12. Cortés-Beringola A, Vicent L, Martín-Asenjo R, Puerto E, Domínguez-Pérez L, Maruri R, et al. Diagnosis, prevention, and management of delirium in the intensive cardiac care unit. *Am Heart J.* (2021) 232:164–76. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2020. 11.011

13. Baron R, Binder A, Biniek R, Braune S, Buerkle H, Dall P, et al. Evidence and consensus based guideline for the management of delirium, analgesia, and sedation in intensive care medicine. Revision 2015 (DAS-Guideline 2015) - short version. *Ger Med Sci.* (2015) 13:19.

14. Gélinas C, Johnston C. Pain assessment in the critically ill ventilated adult: validation of the critical-care pain observation tool and physiologic indicators. *Clin J Pain.* (2007) 23:497–505. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e31806a23fb

15. Lee S, Sung IK. Comparison of dexmedetomidine with on-demand midazolam versus midazolam alone for procedural sedation during endoscopic submucosal dissection of gastric tumor. *J Dig Dis.* (2015) 16:377–84. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12254

16. Kabrhel C, Thomsen TW, Setnik GS, Walls RM. Videos in clinical medicine. Orotracheal intubation. N Engl J Med. (2007) 356:e15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMvcm063574

17. Turan A, Duncan A, Leung S, Karimi N, Fang J, Mao G, et al. Dexmedetomidine for reduction of atrial fibrillation and delirium after cardiac surgery (DECADE): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:177–85. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30631-0

18. Djaiani G, Silverton N, Fedorko L, Carroll J, Styra R, Rao V, et al. Dexmedetomidine versus propofol sedation reduces delirium after cardiac surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesiology*. (2016) 124:362–8. doi: 10.1097/ALN. 000000000000951

19. Woodhouse R, Burton JK, Rana N, Pang YL, Lister JE, Siddiqi N. Interventions for preventing delirium in older people in institutional long-term care. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2019) 4:Cd009537. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD009537.pub3

20. Jin Z, Hu J, Ma D. Postoperative delirium: perioperative assessment, risk reduction, and management. *Br J Anaesth.* (2020) 125:492–504. doi: 10.1016/j.bja. 2020.06.063

21. Tang B, Wang XT, Chen WJ, Zhu SH, Chao YG, Zhu B, et al. Experts consensus on the management of delirium in critically ill patients. *Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi*. (2019) 58:108–18.

22. Keating GM. Dexmedetomidine: a review of its use for sedation in the intensive care setting. *Drugs.* (2015) 75:1119–30. doi: 10.1007/s40265-015-0419-5

23. Liu S, Zhao R, Yang R, Zhao H, Ji C, Duan M, et al. Are dexmedetomidine and olanzapine suitable to control delirium in critically ill elderly patients? A retrospective cohort study. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2021) 139:111617.

24. Ng K, Shubash CJ, Chong JS. The effect of dexmedetomidine on delirium and agitation in patients in intensive care: systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis. *Anaesthesia.* (2019) 74:380–92. doi: 10.1111/anae.14472

25. Heybati K, Zhou F, Ali S, Deng J, Mohananey D, Villablanca P, et al. Outcomes of dexmedetomidine versus propofol sedation in critically ill adults requiring mechanical ventilation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br J Anaesth.* (2022) 129:515–26. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2022.06.020

26. HP Group. Instruction Manual of Ciprofol Injection (Edition Date: 2022.03.28). Xingcheng: China State Food and Drug Administration (2022).

27. Liao J, Li M, Huang C, Yu Y, Chen Y, Gan J, et al. Pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of HSK3486, a novel 2,6-disubstituted phenol derivative as a general anesthetic. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:830791. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022. 830791

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhongheng Zhang, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, China

REVIEWED BY Jesus Rico-Feijoo, Hospital Universitario Río Hortega, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Danielle Ní Chróinín 🗵 Danielle.NiChroinin@health.nsw.gov.au

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 17 October 2022 ACCEPTED 10 February 2023 PUBLISHED 30 March 2023

CITATION

Ní Chróinín D, Alexandrou E and Frost SA (2023) Delirium in the intensive care unit and its importance in the post-operative context: A review. *Front. Med.* 10:1071854. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1071854

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ni Chróinín, Alexandrou and Frost. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Delirium in the intensive care unit and its importance in the post-operative context: A review

Danielle Ní Chróinín^{1,2}*, Evan Alexandrou^{1,2,3} and Steven A. Frost^{4,5}

¹Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ²South Western Sydney Clinical School, UNSW Sydney, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ³Centre for Applied Nursing Research, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Western Sydney University and Ingham Institute of Applied Medical Research, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ⁴School of Nursing, Faculty of Science, Medicine and Health, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia, ⁵SWS Nursing and Midwifery Research Alliance, Ingham Institute of Applied Medical Research, Liverpool, NSW, Australia

The burden of delirium in the intensive care setting is a global priority. Delirium affects up to 80% of patients in intensive care units; an episode of delirium is often distressing to patients and their families, and delirium in patients within, or outside of, the intensive care unit (ICU) setting is associated with poor outcomes. In the short term, such poor outcomes include longer stay in intensive care, longer hospital stay, increased risk of other hospital-acquired complications, and increased risk of hospital mortality. Longer term sequelae include cognitive impairment and functional dependency. While medical category of admission may be a risk factor for poor outcomes in critical care populations, outcomes for surgical ICU admissions are also poor, with dependency at hospital discharge exceeding 30% and increased risk of in-hospital mortality, particularly in vulnerable groups, with high-risk procedures, and resource-scarce settings. A practical approach to delirium prevention and management in the ICU setting is likely to require a multi-faceted approach. Given the good evidence for the prevention of delirium among older post-operative outside of the intensive care setting, simple non-pharmacological interventions should be effective among older adults post-operatively who are cared for in the intensive care setting. In response to this, the future ICU environment will have a range of organizational and distinct environmental characteristics that are directly targeted at preventing delirium.

KEYWORDS

delirium, post-operative, intensive care unit, nursing, multidisciplinary, cognitive impairment

Introduction

The burden of delirium in the intensive care setting is a global priority (1, 2). Delirium is an acute neurocognitive disorder that is characterized by a fluctuating level of consciousness with impaired attention and cognition (3). Delirium affects up to 80% of patients in intensive care units (4). An episode of delirium is often distressing to patients and their families, and in patients within, or outside of, the intensive care unit (ICU) setting, and it is associated with poor outcomes, in the short term, which includes longer stay in intensive care, longer hospital stay, and increased risk of hospital mortality in patients (5–11). Longer term sequelae include cognitive impairment and dependency in activities of daily living (6, 9, 12–16). In the Australian healthcare setting, it has been estimated that

an episode of delirium increases hospital stay by, on average, 2.7 days (17), and in the ICU-based Deli I study, patients experiencing an acute episode of delirium stayed, on average, an extra 6 days longer in hospital (18).

Delirium in the intensive care setting

Each year, there are approximately 175,000 admissions to Australian adult intensive care units (ICUs); this number has been increasing by 6% each year since 2011 (19). While there is considerable variability in the intensive care unit admissions depending on geographic location (20), intensive care unit beds and usage appear to be increasing (20). The majority of patients admitted to intensive care will survive ICU (19, 20); however, as many as one in five patients will experience an acute episode of delirium (21), and being older and frail increases the risk (2, 11, 22–24). The direct healthcare costs associated with delirium and longer hospital stay alone would be approximately \$255 million annually in the Australian intensive care setting, excluding the cost due to the loss of healthy life, which has been estimated to be double that of direct healthcare costs (17, 25).

While the medical category of admission may be a risk factor for poor outcomes (26, 27) in critical care populations, outcomes for surgical ICU admissions are not particularly optimistic, with dependency at hospital discharge exceeding 30% (28) and average in-hospital mortality in the order of approximately 2.5-5% but exponentially higher in older patients or those undergoing highrisk procedures (28-31). Thirty-day mortality among non-cardiac surgical patients reaches almost 40% (32); even higher mortality rates have been observed in resource-limited settings (33). A recent study indicated that 28% of 350,000 admissions across 238 ICUs in the United States represented a primary surgical diagnosis (28). While encouraging trends were noted in terms of mortality and length of stay for some surgical cohorts, functional decline appeared to be increasing over time (28). Factors such as delirium, prolonged immobilization, and mechanical ventilation may all contribute to functional decline and other poor outcomes in surgical and general ICU populations, exacerbated by underlying risk factors such as age, frailty, comorbidity, and cognitive impairment (28, 34-36). Although not specific to those requiring intensive care admission, post-operative delirium is reported in upward of 65% of patients (37, 38). Identification of those who have the highest risk may facilitate the implementation of targeted interventions (39). The risk for the development of post-operative delirium may be conceptualized as relating to pre-operative (baseline) factors, intra-operative factors related to the surgery and anesthetic, and post-operative factors (38). A recent study highlighted the potential to predict delirium in older (aged ≥70 years) surgical patients undergoing elective cardiovascular, orthopedic, or general surgery (40), with surgery type, multimorbidity, renal failure, polypharmacy, ASA, cut-to-suture time, and cognitive assessment allowing an ability to predict delirium with an AUC of 0.8 (40). This information is helpful not only just in planning care but also in discussing risk with patients and families and managing expectations. Furthermore, embedding assessment in formal multi-faceted structures such as comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) may reduce post-operative delirium in older patients such as those undergoing vascular or hip fracture surgery (41, 42).

The good news is that high-quality evidence suggests that at least 30% of episodes of hospital-acquired delirium are preventable, including, for example, in post-operative hip fracture cohorts (3, 43, 44). Multi-component, multidisciplinary interventions have been shown to reduce the incidence of delirium, in general wards, postoperative, and aged care settings (3, 45-48). However, evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to reduce the burden of delirium in the intensive care has been inconclusive (49-54), and none of these intensive care studies focused purely on post-operative populations. Gaps are in part attributable to a lack of focus on the effective implementation and dissemination of evidence into practice (55-57). There is a lack of good evidence supporting the use of pharmacological interventions to prevent delirium in the intensive care setting. A recent Cochrane systematic review (45) concluded that "the effects of other pharmacological, sedation, environmental, and preventive nursing interventions is unclear and warrants further investigation," while a meta-analysis of bundle interventions likewise failed to show an association with delirium prevalence or duration (58). Nonetheless, previous trials, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses have shown promise in terms of the effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions to reduce the burden of delirium in the hospital and critical care settings (43-47, 52).

A recent review of pharmacological therapy in the ICU highlighted the significant limitations of existing trials, with heterogeneity in terms of agents used, primary outcome measures, timing of treatment, and delirium diagnosis (59). Among the available pharmacological agents, dexmedetomidine has some evidence supporting its benefit in reducing post-operative delirium in older patients undergoing elective non-cardiac surgery (60). A slightly more recent meta-analysis of 14 melatonin/ramelteon studies suggested that these formulations might significantly reduce delirium in surgical (49% risk reduction) and ICU (34%) patient groups (61), but optimum duration, dosing, and formulation are yet to be identified.

In addition to delirium prevention, early recognition of delirium is key. Improving detection through the use of screening tools (3, 62, 63) may facilitate improved diagnosis, which can in turn trigger prompts to guide investigation and management (3, 64, 65). Simple screening tools may in fact be utilized to assist in the diagnosis of delirium in the intensive care setting. The Confusion Assessment Method (CAM) and its ICU version have been validated as a reliable (kappa = 0.96; 95% CI 0.91-0.99) and valid (sensitivity 0.81-0.82 and specificity 0.99) tool to diagnose delirium in the intensive care setting (66-68). Hypoactive delirium, which is common in older patients, is associated with a poorer prognosis than the hyperactive form (3) but is more likely to be under-recognized (69), highlighting the need to maintain an appropriate index of suspicion in older patients. While DSM-V criteria for the diagnosis of delirium no longer explicitly refer to the level of arousal for the diagnosis of delirium, the level of arousal is fundamental to the assessment of attention and cognition and should be included in the assessment of the potentially delirious patient (70). The issue of coma is also pertinent to the ICU setting, and it is worth noting that a diagnosis of delirium is precluded in patients with a severely reduced level of arousal such as coma (71).

TABLE 1 Non-pharmacological interventions reduce the risk of delirium.

Component	Intervention
Cognitive impairment.	Establish a baseline using the validated CAM, CAM-ICU assessment tool and use orientation techniques (14, 53, 74).
	All patients will be re-orientated to time/place/people/event such as reason for hospitalization, at regular intervals (53, 75-77)
Sensory functions.	Optimise sensory function for vision and hearing by ensuring glasses and hearing aids are available and appropriately used when patient is awake. Families will be reminded to have these items available, and nurses will ensure their appropriate use (78, 79)
	Use appropriate communication technique (verbal/written/pictures) to compensate sensory loss and overcome language barriers (76, 79, 80)
Environmental interventions	Provide visible clock, calendar and schedule for each patient (74–77, 80–85)
	Provide sleep management (night light, foot massage, back massage) (74, 76, 77, 84)
	Provide comfortable physical environment (reducing noise, persistent nursing, the limited movement to other beds, beds areas, and allow to bring home favorites) (16, 78, 79, 81, 84–90)
	Remove physical restraints as soon as feasible, contingent to patient's safety (16, 87, 90)
	Arrange familiar people to visit and encourage family visitors to stay longer and frequently when possible, especially for patients with non-English speaking background and during planned sedation weaning (76, 80, 91)
Early therapeutic interventions	Encourage early mobilization and plan mobility schedule (74, 92)
	Provide appropriate nutrition; keep fluid and electrolyte balance (67)
	Assessing and addressing pain management effectively and early (87, 93)
	Careful use of sleeping pills, anticholinergics and opiates (87)
	Avoid hypoxia.
	Early detection and management of infection.
	Removal of unnecessary catheters (87, 94)
	Routinely screen alcohol history and commence Alcohol Withdrawal Assessment where appropriate (87)

Thus, a practical approach to delirium prevention and management in the ICU setting is likely to require a multi-faceted approach. Some examples of non-pharmacological interventions to reduce the risk of delirium are presented in the Table 1. Environmental factors may also be a focus of risk-reduction strategies, with design modifications potentially targeting sound and light, floor planning, and room arrangement, aiming to reduce stressors and positively influence the patient experience (4). Harnessing the expertise and manpower of family members, to assist with aspects of care such as orientation and memory cueing, cognitive stimulation, and sensory checks, may also be feasible and acceptable (72).

Implications for clinical practice

Good quality evidence suggests that at least 30% of episodes of delirium among older adults admitted to the hospital are preventable, with interventions being delivered by an interdisciplinary team of nursing, medical, and allied health clinicians (3). There is consistent evidence that these multi-component interventions are effective in preventing delirium, in general wards and aged care settings (43, 45). However, evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to reduce the burden of delirium in the intensive care has been inconclusive. While and small single-site, non-pharmacological multi-component interventional studies have shown promising results (45), larger studies, often among patients at high risk, have not shown a clear benefit (43, 49). In particular, older cardiothoracic surgery patient appears to be resistant to intervention in the ICU, even when other similar-aged surgical patients can have the risk of reduced post-operative delirium (43). Importantly, several significant organizational and design changes to the intensive care setting have been proposed, as "the future of intensive care: delirium should no longer be an issue" (73).

Conclusion

Given the good evidence for the prevention of delirium among older post-operative outside of the intensive care setting, simple non-pharmacological interventions should be effective among older adults post-operatively cared for in the intensive care setting. In response to this, the future ICU environment will have a range of organizational and distinct environmental characteristics that are directly targeted at preventing delirium.

Author contributions

DN, EA, and SF were responsible for drafting, editing, and finalization of the manuscript. All authors agreed to be accountable for the content of the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. La Cour KN, Andersen-Ranberg NC, Weihe S, Poulsen LM, Mortensen CB, Kjer CKW, et al. Distribution of delirium motor subtypes in the intensive care unit: a systematic scoping review. *Crit Care*. (2022) 26:53. doi: 10.1186/s13054-022-03931-3

2. Salluh JI, Wang H, Schneider EB, Nagaraja N, Yenokyan G, Damluji A, et al. Outcome of delirium in critically ill patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2015) 350:h2538. doi: 10.1136/bmj.h2538

3. Inouye SK, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. *Lancet.* (2014) 383:911–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60688-1

4. Luetz, A, Grunow, JJ, Mörgeli, R, Rosenthal, M, Weber-Carstens, S, Weiss, B, et al. Innovative ICU Solutions to Prevent and Reduce Delirium and Post-Intensive Care Unit Syndrome. *Seminars in respiratory and critical care medicine*. (2019) 40:673–86. doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1698404

5. Dolan MM, Hawkes WG, Zimmerman SI, Morrison RS, Gruber-Baldini AL, Hebel JR, et al. Delirium on hospital admission in aged hip fracture patients: prediction of mortality and 2-year functional outcomes. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2000) 55:M527–34. doi: 10.1093/gerona/55.9.M527

6. Ely EW, Shintani A, Truman B, Speroff T, Gordon SM, Harrell FE Jr, et al. Delirium as a predictor of mortality in mechanically ventilated patients in the intensive care unit. *JAMA*. (2004) 291:1753–62. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.14.1753

7. Kennedy M, Helfand BKI, Gou RY, Gartaganis SL, Webb M, Moccia JM, et al. Delirium in older patients with COVID-19 presenting to the emergency department. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2029540. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.29540

8. Ní Chróinín D, Francis N, Wong P, Kim YD, Nham S, D'amours S. Older trauma patients are at high risk of delirium, especially those with underlying dementia or baseline frailty. *Trauma Surg Acute Care Open*. (2021) 6:e000639. doi: 10.1136/tsaco-2020-000639

9. Ouimet S, Kavanagh BP, Gottfried SB, Skrobik Y. Incidence, risk factors and consequences of ICU delirium. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:66–73. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0399-8

10. Radinovic K, Markovic-Denic L, Dubljanin-Raspopovic E, Marinkovic J, Milan Z, Bumbasirevic V. Estimating the effect of incident delirium on short-term outcomes in aged hip fracture patients through propensity score analysis. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2015) 15:848–55. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12358

11. Sanchez D, Brennan K, Al Sayfe M, Shunker SA, Bogdanoski T, Hedges S, et al. Frailty, delirium and hospital mortality of older adults admitted to intensive care: the Delirium (Deli) in ICU study. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:609. doi: 10.1186/ s13054-020-03318-2

12. Abelha FJ, Luís C, Veiga D, Parente D, Fernandes V, Santos P, et al. Outcome and quality of life in patients with postoperative delirium during an ICU stay following major surgery. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:R257–7. doi: 10.1186/cc13084

13. Andrews L, Silva SG, Kaplan S, Zimbro K. Delirium monitoring and patient outcomes in a general intensive care unit. *Am J Crit Care*. (2015) 24:48–56. doi: 10.4037/ajcc2015740

14. Balas MC, Deutschman CS, Sullivan-Marx EM, Strumpf NE, Alston RP, Richmond TS. Delirium in older patients in surgical intensive care units. *J Nurs Scholarsh.* (2007) 39:147–54.

15. Hideaki S, Subrina J, Takeshi U, Taro M, Hiroko K. Severity of delirium in the ICU is associated with short term cognitive impairment. A prospective cohort study. *Intensive Crit Care Nurs.* (2015) 31:250–7. doi: 10.1016/j.iccn.2015.01.001

16. Mehta S, Cook D, Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Meade M, Fergusson D, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes of delirium in mechanically ventilated adults*. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:557–66. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000727

17. Pezzullo L, Streatfeild J, Hickson J, Teodorczuk A, Agar MR, Caplan GA. Economic impact of delirium in Australia: a cost of illness study. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e027514. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027514

18. Brennan K, Sanchez D, Hedges S, Al Sayfe M, Shunker SA, Bogdanoski T, et al. A nurse-led intervention to reduce the incidence and duration of delirium among adults admitted to intensive care: A stepped-wedged cluster randomised trial. *Austr Crit Care.* (2022). doi: 10.1016/j.aucc.2022.08.005

19. Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society. *Centre for outcome and resource evaluation 2020 report*. Camberwell, Australia: Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society (2020).

20. Wunsch, H, Angus, DC, Harrison, DA, Collange, O, Fowler, R, Hoste, EA, et al. Variation in critical care services across North America and Western Europe. *Critical care medicine*. (2008) 36:2787–e9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318186aec8

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

21. Ankravs MJ, Udy AA, Byrne K, Knowles S, Hammond N, Saxena MK, et al. A multicentre point prevalence study of delirium assessment and management in patients admitted to Australian and New Zealand intensive care units. *Crit Care Resusc.* (2020) 22:355–60. doi: 10.51893/2020.4.OA8

22. Bagshaw SM, Stelfox HT, Mcdermid RC, Rolfson DB, Tsuyuki RT, Baig N, et al. Association between frailty and short- and long-term outcomes among critically ill patients: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *CMAJ*. (2014) 186:E95–E102. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.130639

23. Darvall JN, Bellomo R, Paul E, Subramaniam A, Santamaria JD, Bagshaw SM, et al. Frailty in very old critically ill patients in Australia and New Zealand: a population-based cohort study. *Med J Aust.* (2019) 211:318–23. doi: 10.5694/mja2.50329

24. Flaatten H, De Lange DW, Morandi A, Andersen FH, Artigas A, Bertolini G, et al. The impact of frailty on Icu and 30-day mortality and the level of care in very elderly patients (>/= 80 years). *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:1820–8.

25. Caplan, GA, Teodorczuk, A, Streatfeild, J, and Agar, MR. The financial and social costs of delirium. *European geriatric medicine*. (2020) 11:105–12. doi: 10.1007/s41999-019-00257-2

26. Le Gall, JR, Lemeshow, S, and Saulnier, F. A new Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS II) based on a European/North American multicenter study. *JAMA*. (1993) 270:2957–63. doi: 10.1001/jama.270.24.2957

27. Zimmerman, JE, Kramer, AA, McNair, DS, and Malila, FM. Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) IV: hospital mortality assessment for today's critically ill patients. *Critical care medicine*. (2006) 34:1297–310. doi: 10.1097/01. CCM.0000215112.84523.F0

28. Vakayil, V, Ingraham, NE, Robbins, AJ, Freese, R, Northrop, EF, Brunsvold, ME, et al. Epidemiological trends of surgical admissions to the intensive care unit in the United States. *The journal of trauma and acute care surgery*. (2020) 89:279–88. doi: 10.1097/TA.00000000002768

29. Lamarche, Y, Elmi-Sarabi, M, Ding, L, Abel, JG, Sirounis, D, and Denault, AY. A score to estimate 30-day mortality after intensive care admission after cardiac surgery. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. (2017) 153:1118–1125.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016.11.039

30. Reis, P, Lopes, AI, Leite, D, Moreira, J, Mendes, L, Ferraz, S, et al. Predicting mortality in patients admitted to the intensive care unit after open vascular surgery. *Surgery today.* (2019) 49:836–42. doi: 10.1007/s00595-019-01805-w

31. Sanchez, D, Brennan, K, Sayfe M., AL, Shunker, SA, Bogdanoski, T, Hedges, S, et al. Frailty, delirium and hospital mortality of older adults admitted to intensive care: the Delirium (Deli) in ICU study. *Crit Care*. (2020) 24:609.

32. Ekeloef, S, Thygesen, LC, and Gögenur, I. Short- and long-term mortality in major non-cardiac surgical patients admitted to the intensive care unit. *Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*. (2019) 63:639–46. doi: 10.1111/aas.13319

33. Bunogerane, GJ, and Rickard, J. A cross sectional survey of factors influencing mortality in Rwandan surgical patients in the intensive care unit. *Surgery*. (2019) 166:193–7. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.010

34. Bagshaw, SM, Stelfox, HT, Mcdermid, RC, Rolfson, DB, Tsuyuki, RT, Baig, N, et al. Association between frailty and short- and long-term outcomes among critically ill patients: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *CMAJ*. (2014) 186:E95-102.

35. Guidet, B, de Lange, DW, Boumendil, A, Leaver, S, Watson, X, Boulanger, C, et al. The contribution of frailty, cognition, activity of daily life and comorbidities on outcome in acutely admitted patients over 80 years in European ICUs: the VIP2 study. *Intensive care medicine*. (2020) 46:57–69. doi: 10.1007/s00134-019-05853-1

36. Menges, D, Seiler, B, Tomonaga, Y, Schwenkglenks, M, Puhan, MA, and Yebyo, HG. Systematic early versus late mobilization or standard early mobilization in mechanically ventilated adult ICU patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Critical care* (*London*, *England*). (2021) 25:16. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03446-9

37. Inouye, SK. Delirium after hip fracture: to be or not to be? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. (2001) 49:678–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49133.x

38. Bilotta, F, Lauretta, MP, Borozdina, A, Mizikov, VM, and Rosa, G. Postoperative delirium: risk factors, diagnosis and perioperative care. *Minerva anestesiologica*. (2013) 79:1066–76.

39. Wilson, S, Sutherland, E, Razak, A, O'Brien, M, Ding, C, Nguyen, T, et al. Implementation of a Frailty Assessment and Targeted Care Interventions and Its Association with Reduced Postoperative Complications in Elderly Surgical Patients. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*. (2021) 233:764–775.e1. doi: 10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2021.08.677 40. Eschweiler, GW, Czornik, M, Herrmann, ML, et al. Presurgical Screening Improves Risk Prediction for Delirium in Elective Surgery of Older Patients: The PAWEL RISK Study. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2021) 13:679933. Published 2021 Jul 27. doi: 10.3389/ fnagi.2021.679933

41. Partridge, JS, Harari, D, Martin, FC, Peacock, JL, Bell, R, Mohammed, A, et al. Randomized clinical trial of comprehensive geriatric assessment and optimization in vascular surgery. *The British journal of surgery*. (2017) 104:679–87. doi: 10.1002/ bjs.10459

42. Shields, L, Henderson, V, and Caslake, R. Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment for Prevention of Delirium After Hip Fracture: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. (2017) 65:1559–65. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14846

43. Deeken F, Sanchez A, Rapp MA, Denkinger M, Brefka S, Spank J, et al. Outcomes of a delirium prevention program in older persons after elective surgery: a stepped-wedge cluster randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2022) 157:e216370. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2021.6370

44. Chuan, A, and Sanders, RD. The use of dexmedetomidine to prevent delirium after major cardiac and non-cardiac surgery. *Anaesthesia*. (2021) 76:1296–9. doi: 10.1111/ anae.15494

45. Burton JK, Craig L, Yong SQ, Siddiqi N, Teale EA, Woodhouse R, et al. Non-pharmacological interventions for preventing delirium in hospitalised non-Icu patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2021) 11:Cd013307. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013307. pub2

46. Hshieh TT, Yang T, Gartaganis SL, Yue J, Inouye SK. Hospital elder life program: systematic review and meta-analysis of effectiveness. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2018) 26:1015–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2018.06.007

47. Hshieh TT, Yue J, Oh E, Puelle M, Dowal S, Travison T, et al. Effectiveness of multicomponent nonpharmacological delirium interventions: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2015) 175:512–20. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.7779

48. Chuan, A, Zhao, L, Tillekeratne, N, Alani, S, Middleton, PM, Harris, IA, et al. The effect of a multidisciplinary care bundle on the incidence of delirium after hip fracture surgery: a quality improvement study. *Anaesthesia.* (2020) 75:63–71. doi: 10.1111/anae.14840

49. Bannon L, Mcgaughey J, Verghis R, Clarke M, Mcauley DF, Blackwood B. The effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions in reducing the incidence and duration of delirium in critically ill patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2019) 45:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s00134-018-5452-x

50. Girard TD, Exline MC, Carson SS, Hough CL, Rock P, Gong MN, et al. Haloperidol and Ziprasidone for treatment of delirium in critical illness. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 379:2506–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1808217

51. Herling SF, Greve IE, Vasilevskis EE, Egerod I, Bekker Mortensen C, Moller AM, et al. Interventions for preventing intensive care unit delirium in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 11:Cd009783. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009783.pub2

52. Kang J, Lee M, Ko H, Kim S, Yun S, Jeong Y, et al. Effect of nonpharmacological interventions for the prevention of delirium in the intensive care unit: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Crit Care*. (2018) 48:372–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.09.032

53. Moon KJ, Lee SM. The effects of a tailored intensive care unit delirium prevention protocol: a randomized controlled trial. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2015) 52:1423–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.04.021

54. Rood PJT, Zegers M, Ramnarain D, Koopmans M, Klarenbeek T, Ewalds E, et al. The impact of nursing delirium preventive interventions in the ICU: a multicenter cluster-randomized controlled clinical trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2021) 204:682–91. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202101-0082OC

55. Eccles MP, Mittman BS. Welcome to implementation science. Implement Sci. (2006) 1:1. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-1-1

56. Fixsen D, Naoom S, Blase K, Friedman R, Wallace F. *Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature*. Tamps, FL: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, National Implementation Research Network (2005).

57. Proctor EK, Powell BJ, Mcmillen JC. Implementation strategies: recommendations for specifying and reporting. *Implement Sci.* (2013) 8:139. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-139

58. Zhang, S, Han, Y, Xiao, Q, Li, H, and Wu, Y. Effectiveness of Bundle Interventions on ICU Delirium: A Meta-Analysis. *Critical care medicine*. (2021) 49:335–46. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004773

59. Korenoski, A, Li, A, Kane-Gill, SL, Seybert, AL, and Smithburger, PL. Pharmacologic Management of Delirium in the ICU: A Review of the Literature. *Journal of intensive care medicine*. (2020) 35:107–17. doi: 10.1177/0885066618805965

60. Janssen, TL, Alberts, AR, Hooft, L, Mattace-Raso, F, Mosk, CA, and van der Laan, L. Prevention of postoperative delirium in elderly patients planned for elective surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical interventions in aging*. (2019) 14:1095–117. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S201323

61. Khaing, K, and Nair, BR. Melatonin for delirium prevention in hospitalized patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of psychiatric research*. (2021) 133:181–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.12.020

62. Kean, J, and Ryan, K. Delirium detection in clinical practice and research: critique of current tools and suggestions for future development. *Journal of psychosomatic research.* (2008) 65:255–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2008.05.024

63. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare, 2006. Delirium Clinical Care Standard. [Internet]. Sydney.

64. ACSQHC, 2021. Available at: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/sites/default/files/2021-11/delirium_clinical_care_standard_2021.pdf

65. Fu, S, Lopes, GS, Pagali, SR, Thorsteinsdottir, B, LeBrasseur, NK, Wen, A, et al. Ascertainment of Delirium Status Using Natural Language Processing From Electronic Health Records. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences.* (2022) 77:524–30. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa275

66. Ely EW, Inouye SK, Bernard GR, Gordon S, Francis J, May L, et al. Delirium in mechanically ventilated patients: validity and reliability of the confusion assessment method for the intensive care unit (CAM-ICU). *JAMA*. (2001) 286:2703–46. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.21.2703

67. Inouye SK, Van Dyck CH, Alessi CA, Balkin S, Siegal AP, Horwitz RI. Clarifying confusion: the confusion assessment method. A new method for detection of delirium. *Ann Intern Med.* (1990) 113:941–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-113-12-941

68. Shi Q, Warren L, Saposnik G, Macdermid JC. Confusion assessment method: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2013) 9:1359–70. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S49520

69. Hoch J, Bauer JM, Bizer M, Arnold C, Benzinger P. Nurses' competence in recognition and management of delirium in older patients: development and piloting of a self-assessment tool. *BMC Geriatr.* (2022) 22:879. doi: 10.1186/s12877-022-03573-8

70. European Delirium Association, & American Delirium Society. The DSM-5 criteria, level of arousal and delirium diagnosis: inclusiveness is safer. *BMC medicine*. (2014) 12:141. doi: 10.1186/s12916-014-0141-2

71. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).

72. Mitchell, ML, Kean, S, Rattray, JE, Hull, AM, Davis, C, Murfield, JE, et al. A family intervention to reduce delirium in hospitalised ICU patients: A feasibility randomised controlled trial. *Intensive & critical care nursing*. (2017) 40:77–84. doi: 10.1016/j. iccn.2017.01.001

73. Kotfis K, Van Diem-Zaal I, Williams Roberson S, Sietnicki M, Van Den Boogaard M, Shehabi Y, et al. The future of intensive care: delirium should no longer be an issue. *Crit Care.* (2022) 26:200. doi: 10.1186/s13054-022-04077-y

74. Balas MC, Vasilevskis EE, Olsen KM, Schmid KK, Shostrom V, Cohen MZ, et al. Effectiveness and safety of the awakening and breathing coordination, delirium monitoring/management, and early exercise/mobility (ABCDE) bundle. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:1024–36. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000129

75. Colombo R, Corona A, Praga F, Minari C, Giannotti C, Castelli A, et al. A reorientation strategy for reducing delirium in the critically ill. Results of an interventional study. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2012) 78:1026–33.

76. Guo Y, Fan Y. A preoperative, nurse-led intervention program reduces acute postoperative delirium. *J Neurosci Nurs.* (2016) 48:229–35. doi: 10.1097/JNN.0000000 000000220

77. Patel J, Baldwin J, Bunting P, Laha S. The effect of a multicomponent multidisciplinary bundle of interventions on sleep and delirium in medical and surgical intensive care patients. *Anaesthesia*. (2014) 69:540–9. doi: 10.1111/anae.12638

78. Allen J, Alexander E. Prevention, recognition, and management of delirium in the intensive care unit. *Aacn Adv Crit Care*. (2012) 23:5–11; quiz 12–3.

79. Zaubler TS, Murphy K, Rizzuto L, Santos R, Skotzko C, Giordano J, et al. Quality improvement and cost savings with multicomponent delirium interventions: replication of the Hospital Elder Life Program in a community hospital. *Psychosomatics*. (2013) 54:219–26. doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2013.01.010

80. Guo Y, Sun L, Li L, Jia P, Zhang J, Jiang H, et al. Impact of multicomponent, nonpharmacologic interventions on perioperative cortisol and melatonin levels and postoperative delirium in elderly oral cancer patients. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* (2016) 62:112–7. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2015.10.009

81. Brummel NE, Girard TD. Preventing delirium in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Clin.* (2013) 29:51–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2012.10.007

82. Elliott R, Mckinley S, Cistulli P, Fien M. Characterisation of sleep in intensive care using 24-hour polysomnography: an observational study. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:R46. doi: 10.1186/cc12565

83. Hu RF, Jiang XY, Chen J, Zeng Z, Chen XY, Li Y, et al. Non-pharmacological interventions for sleep promotion in the intensive care unit. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2015) 2018:CD008808. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008808.pub2

84. Stuck A, Clark MJ, Connelly CD. Preventing intensive care unit delirium: a patient-centered approach to reducing sleep disruption. *Dimens Crit Care Nurs*. (2011) 30:315–20. doi: 10.1097/DCC.0b013e31822fa97c

85. Young J, Murthy L, Westby M, Akunne A, O'mahony R Guideline Development Group. Diagnosis, prevention, and management of delirium: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ*. (2010) 341:c3704. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3704

86. Barr J, Fraser GL, Puntillo K, Ely EW, Gelinas C, Dasta JF, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of pain, agitation, and delirium in adult patients in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med.* (2013) 41:263–306. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31 82783b72

87. Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C, Needham DM, Slooter AJ, Pandharipande PP, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/ sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:e825–73. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003299

88. Kamdar BB, King LM, Collop NA, Sakamuri S, Colantuoni E, Neufeld KJ, et al. The effect of a quality improvement intervention on perceived sleep quality and cognition in a medical ICU. *Crit Care Med.* (2013) 41:800–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182746442

89. Mistraletti G, Pelosi P, Mantovani ES, Berardino M, Gregoretti C. Delirium: clinical approach and prevention. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol.* (2012) 26:311–26. doi: 10.1016/j.bpa.2012.07.001

90. Vidan MT, Sanchez E, Alonso M, Montero B, Ortiz J, Serra JA. An intervention integrated into daily clinical practice reduces the incidence of delirium during

hospitalization in elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2009) 57:2029–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02485.x

91. Bellelli G, Moresco R, Panina-Bordignon P, Arosio B, Gelfi C, Morandi A, et al. Is delirium the cognitive harbinger of frailty in older adults? A review about the existing evidence. *Front Med.* (2017) 4:188. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00188

92. Schweickert WD, Poholman MC, Pohlman AE, Nigos C, Pawlike AJ, Esbrook CL, et al. Early physical and occupational therapy in mechanically ventilated, critically ill patients: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:1874–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60658-9

93. Smith M, Meyfroidt G. Critical illness: the brain is always in the line of fire. *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:870–3. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4791-3

94. Jackson P, Khan A. Delirium in critically ill patients. Crit Care Clin. (2015) 31:589–603. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2015.03.011

Frontiers in Medicine

Translating medical research and innovation into improved patient care

A multidisciplinary journal which advances our medical knowledge. It supports the translation of scientific advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools that will improve patient care.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



